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STRUCTURE OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

. Two Primary Functions: Conducting Elections and Enforcing of the NLRA

The National Labor Relations Act (NLRA) gives the National Labor Relations Board
(NLRB) jurisdiction over two types of proceedings: 1) representation proceedings; and 2) unfair
labor practice proceedings.

1. Representation Proceedings

The NLRB oversees elections among employees to determine whether they wish to be
represented by a labor union. Employees at a work site can “petition” the NLRB to hold an
election if 30% of the employees who would be involved in the election (bargaining unit) request
an election or authorize the union to represent them. The NLRB hears and adjudicates claims
arising out of NLRB conducted elections.

1. Unfair Labor Practice Cases
A. Unfair Labor Practices

An unfair labor practice (ULP) is an action by an employer or a union that interferes with
the rights of employees under Sections 7 or otherwise contravenes the prohibitions listed in
Section 8 of the NLRA.. Section 7 of the NLRA guarantees employees the right to support, or
not to support, a union, to engage in collective action in support of a union, and to bargaining
collectively with their employer.

Common Employer ULPs:

= Harassing, disciplining or terminating an employee in retaliation for being a union leader.

= Failing to provide a union with information necessary for processing a grievance.

= Refusing an employee’s request for a union steward during a disciplinary investigation.

= Making a unilateral change in a “mandatory subject of bargaining”—a change in employees’
wages, benefits, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment.

Common Union ULPs:

= Breaching the “duty of fair representation” by handling a grievance arbitrarily,
discriminatorily, or in bad faith.

= Harassing a non-member because of the employee’s non-member status.



B. Enforcement of the NLRA

The NLRB serves as prosecutor throughout the course of a ULP case, and serves as judge
at the evidentiary hearing and the first appeal.

C. Prosecution of ULPs: Regions and the General Counsel

The Regions throughout the United States, and the General Counsel in Washington, DC,
are responsible for prosecuting employers and unions who engage in unfair labor practice

conduct.

1.

The Regions:

Point of contact for the public.

Each Region has a geographic jurisdiction. Most Regions have one office; a
handful of Regions also have “Resident Offices” in other cities.

At the Regions, NLRB Agents and NLRB Attorneys investigate allegations of
unfair fair labor practices. After the investigation, the Region decides whether
to prosecute an employer or union for the alleged unfair labor practice
conduct.

Regions also investigate whether to seek an injunction to prevent employers
and unions from engaging in unlawful conduct while ULP cases are litigated.
Regions try cases at the trial and during the appeal to the Board.

The NLRB publishes two “Casehandling Manuals™ on its website at
www.nlrb.gov. The Casehandling Manuals provide detailed and helpful
explanations of how Regions are supposed to handle cases.

The General Counsel:

Appointed by the President with approval of the Senate.

Located at NLRB headquarters in Washington, DC.

Oversees the enforcement of the unfair labor practice provisions of the NLRA.
Determines policy on prosecution of ULPs through memoranda that are
binding on the Regions.

Advises Regions on complicated or novel issues of law.

Approves Regions’ decisions to seek injunctions to prevent employers or
unions from engaging in unlawful conduct while ULP cases are litigated.
Reviews decisions by Regions to dismiss ULP charges and to enter into
settlement agreements.

Handles appeals of ULP cases to federal courts.



D. Adjudication of ULPs: ALJs and the NLRB

If a Region decides to prosecute a ULP, there will be a hearing before an Administrative
Law Judge (ALJ). After the ALJ renders a decision, the matter can be appealed to the five-
member Board of the NLRB.

1.

Administrative Law Judges:

The “Division of Judges” is independent of the Regions.

The ALJ creates the record—the only person that hears testimony or accepts
other evidence.

Issues a decision, and if merit found to Region’s allegations, issues an order to
remedy the unfair labor practice.

ALJ’s decisions can be appealed to the five-member Board of the NLRB.

The Board:

Five-member Board.

Appointed by President and confirmed by the Senate.

In ULP cases, reviews ALJ decisions.

Generally will not upset the finding of fact of the ALJ. Instead, it will only
sustain an appeal if there is an error of law.

Decisions can be appealed to the United States Courts of Appeal, and the
Supreme Court.

Decisions not “self enforcing.” If employer or union refuses to comply with
order, the General Counsel must go to federal court to get order enforcing the
Board’s order.



HANDLING UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE CHARGES

Preparation for Filing the ULP Charge

Prior to filing ULP charge:

Identify when you knew or should have known about the alleged unfair labor practice
conduct. There is a six-month statute of limitations.

Investigate your ULP to ensure that you have a good ULP. Everything that is unfair
is not an “unfair labor practice.” Locals that lose credibility with their Regions by
filing numerous meritless ULPs have difficulties when they have good ULPs.

Have your evidence ready to present. Evidence will most likely be a witness who is
willing to give an affidavit, or documents. Regions are evaluated on the number of
calendar months they spend investigating ULP charges and often become impatient if
your lack of preparation delays the process. Avoid filing a charge at the end of the
month if possible.

Filing the Charge

Filing a ULP charge with a Region begins the ULP proceeding.

ULP forms are available at www.nlrb.gov or at Regional offices.

Language alleging ULP can be one sentence and need not contain a thorough
statement of the allegation.

Generally, allege all claims arising out of same set of facts in same charge.

For example: If a discharge was a ULP because it was in retaliation for union activity,
and because it was a unilateral change in the discipline policy, you allege both a
retaliatory discharge and a unilateral change. If your charge only alleges that the
termination was unlawful under one theory, under certain circumstances you will not
be able to proceed on the other theory later.

Call by telephone or visit your Region’s “information officer” for assistance in filing
a ULP charge.

You can amend your ULP charge later if necessary.

Once you have filed your ULP charge, you become the “Charging Party” and the
Postal Service becomes the “Respondent.”

You may also include a position statement laying out any pertinent facts or law. A
position statement is not necessary.

You can request that the Region seek a “10(j)” injunction. Under 10(j) of the NLRA,
a Region may seek an injunction in federal court to prevent a party from engaging in
the alleged unfair labor practice while the parties wait for a trial and a decision.
Regions do not routinely seek 10(j) relief.



I11.  Board Investigation of Charge

The Regional Director will assign a Board Agent or Board Attorney to investigate the
ULP charge. Generally, you will hear from the Region within a week of when you filed your
charge. The investigator will generally request the union’s evidence before he does anything
else.

= Timely respond to the requests of the investigator.

* Prepare witnesses’ testimony before sending them in to give affidavits. You will
normally not be allowed to sit with a witness when the investigator takes the
witness’s affidavit.

= Tell witnesses to be firm with the investigator if their affidavits mischaracterize their
testimony. Lazy investigators may purposefully draw up a bad affidavit so that the
Region can dismiss the charge.

= Individuals who give affidavits should ask for a copy of the affidavit so that the
union can get a copy.

= Ask the investigator if he wants additional evidence.

Once you have presented your evidence to the Region, the Region will contact the Postal
Service.

= Stay in touch with the investigator so that before the Regional Director makes his
decision you have an opportunity to respond to any defenses raised by the Postal
Service.

= During the course of the investigation, the investigator will usually ask the Postal
Service if it wants to enter into a settlement agreement to resolve the ULP charge.

IV.  Determination of Merit by Regional Director

After conducting his investigation, the investigator will sit down with the Regional
Director to explain the case to him. The Regional Director will then make a finding concerning
the ULP charge.

A. Finding of No Merit

If the Regional Director finds that the ULP charge was without merit, the investigator
will offer you two options:

=  Withdraw the charge. Withdrawing the charge is generally without prejudice, so that
the union may refile the ULP charge so long as it is within the six-month statute of
limitations. The union may choose to withdraw a charge if it believes that it can
uncover new evidence that would sway the Region. The union may not appeal the
Region’s finding of no merit if it accepts a withdrawal.

= Take a short-form or long-form dismissal. A short-form dismissal does not explain
why the Region found no merit. A long-form dismissal explains why the Region



found that the union’s ULP charge was meritless. A party may appeal a Regional
Director’s finding of no merit to the Office of Appeals in Washington, DC. The
success rate is under 3%.

B. Finding of Merit
If the Regional Director finds that the ULP charge was meritorious:

= Before and after the complaint issues, the Region will attempt to settle the case.

= The Region will issue a “complaint” against the Postal Service and set a date for a
hearing before an ALJ.

= The Region may also seek 10(j) relief.

V. Settlement of ULP Charges

The Regions are generally eager to settle any charge that it finds meritorious. There are
three general types of settlement:

= Non-Board Settlement. A settlement between the union and the Postal Service
where, as part of the settlement, the union agrees to withdraw its ULP charge. The
Regional Director must approve the agreement.

= Informal Settlement. A settlement between the NLRB and the Postal Service. But, if
the Postal Service violates the settlement, the Region cannot enforce the agreement.
The Region’s only recourse is to proceed to a trial on the merits.

= Formal Settlement. A settlement between the NLRB and the Postal Service. If the
Postal Service violates the settlement, the Region may enforce the settlement
agreement. The Region does not need to litigate the merits of the ULP charge to
prove that the Postal Service engaged in an unfair labor practice.

Regions will generally settle ULP cases with employers with informal settlement
agreements. But, if an employer is a recidivist, it may insist on a Formal Settlement. Similarly,
a “non-admissions” clause that states that the employer is not admitting guilt by entering into the
settlement agreement is not supposed to be included in settlement agreements if the employer is
a recidivist.

A Region does not need the consent of the union or other charging party to settle a ULP
case. A union or other charging party may appeal a decision by a Region to enter into a
settlement agreement to the General Counsel’s office. Appeals have a low success rate.

VI.  Trial before an ALJ
If a Region issues a complaint and is unable to settle the case, the Postal Service will be

required to file an answer responding to the allegations in the Region’s complaint. The trial will
be heard before an ALJ. An attorney from the Region will handle the case. The union can also



have its own counsel who can make arguments and present witnesses at the trial. As discussed
before, any decision may be appealed to the Board, and then to the federal courts.

VII. Deferral of ULP Charge to Arbitration

If a Region determines that a ULP charge is of “arguable merit,” it may refuse to resolve
the ULP charge, and instead defer the charge to arbitration for resolution by an arbitrator.

Not all ULP charges are appropriate for deferral under NLRB precedent. Regions do not
defer to arbitration charges alleging that an employer has refused to provide bargaining or
grievance information. Regions do not defer to arbitration charges alleging a limited number of
other violations of the NLRA, including retaliation against employees for filing ULP charges.
Additionally, Regions do not defer to arbitration charges that are “inextricably intertwined” with
charges which are not deferrable. Thus a union seeking to avoid deferral of a unilateral change
charge can ask the employer for information concerning the unilateral change—if the employer
fails to provide the information and the union alleges the failure as a ULP, the Region may find
that the unilateral change allegation is “inextricably intertwined” with the information request
allegation, and therefore refuse to defer either allegation to arbitration.

A Region will defer a charge if:

= The allegations in the charge appear to be covered by, and are likely to be
resolved through, the contractual arbitration procedure;

= The employer and the union have a collective bargaining agreement currently in
effect that provides for final and binding arbitration; and

= The employer is willing to arbitrate the allegation and waive any contractual time
limits.

A union may appeal the decision of a Region to defer a charge to the General Counsel in
Washington, DC. Such appeals have a very low success rate. The Region will also agree to
defer a charge if both parties agree to arbitrate the allegation in the ULP.

If the Region determines that a charge is appropriate for deferral, it will follow up with
the union to see that it has filed a grievance and is pursuing arbitration. If the union fails to
pursue the grievance, the Region will dismiss the ULP charge. Once the grievance has been
filed, the Region will periodically contact the union to inquire into the status of the arbitration.

Once the deferred allegation has been arbitrated, the union can request that the Region
review the award. The Region will defer to the arbitration award even if the arbitrator ruled in a
way that is inconsistent with NLRB precedent. The Region will defer to the arbitrator’s award if
the Region finds:

= The allegations tried in the arbitration were parallel to the allegations in the ULP
charge and the arbitrator was presented with the facts generally relevant to the
ULP charge;



= The arbitration hearing appeared to have been “fair and regular”; and
= The award is not “repugnant” to the NLRA.

If the Region finds that the arbitrator’s award does not meet the above three standards, it will
revoke the deferral and resume the processing of the ULP charge. If the Region finds the
arbitrator’s award does meet the above three standards, a union may appeal the finding to the
General Counsel in Washington, DC. Such appeals have a very low success rate.

Although the NLRB’s deferral policy is often frustrating—after all unions file charges
with Regions because they want them to investigate the charges, not because they want to
arbitrate the charges—the policy can save an untimely grievance. For example, if an employer
ignores a provision of the contract but the union misses the time limit for a grievance, the union
can still file a ULP charge alleging a unilateral change in working conditions if the charge is
within the NLRA’s six month statute of limitations—if the Region finds that the charge is
arguably meritorious, it will pressure the employer to arbitrate the allegation and waive
timeliness arguments.

A union may file both a grievance and a ULP charge over the same act by an employer
where the act violates both the collective bargaining agreement and the NLRA. Even if the
union is confident that its ULP charge will be deferred to arbitration, there is still an advantage to
filing the ULP charge. First, the Region may put pressure on the employer to settle the ULP
charge prior to the Region’s decision to defer the charge. Second, the arbitrator will then be
charged with examining whether the employer’s act violated not just the collective bargaining
agreement, but also the NLRA.



WEINGARTEN RIGHTS

I Employees’ Right to a Weingarten Representative

If a union-represented employee reasonably believes that an investigatory interview may
lead to his or her discipline, the employee is entitled to have a union representative present
during the interview. NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 256-267 (1975); but see IBM
Corp., 341 NLRB 1288, 1288 (2004) (holding that non-union represented employees do not have
a right to Weingarten witnesses). The right to a Weingarten representative exists only in
investigatory interviews; an employee is not entitled to a Weingarten representative in a meeting
where management announces discipline if “the employer has reached a final, binding decision
to impose certain discipline on the employee prior to the interview.” Baton Rouge Water Works
Co., 246 NLRB 995, 997 (1979); see also Success Village Apartments, Inc., 347 NLRB No. 100,
slip op. at 7 (2006).

Although an employee has the right to a union representative under Weingarten, an
employer is under no obligation to affirmatively advise an employee of his or her Weingarten
rights. United States Postal Service, 241 NLRB 141, 152 (1979). An employee’s right to a
union representative under Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 257, arises only if the employee requests a
union representative. When faced with a request for a union representative, an employer has
three options: (1) grant the request; (2) discontinue the interview; or (3) offer the employee the
choice between continuing the interview unaccompanied by a union representative or having no
interview at all. Id. at 258-259; Postal Service, 241 NLRB at 141; Meharry Med. College, 236
NLRB 1396 (1978). But once an employee has requested a union representative, an employer
may proceed with an interview only if it grants the request for a union representative, if it
informs the employee of his or her right to discontinue the interview, or if the employee is
otherwise aware of his or her right to discontinue the interview. Postal Service, 241 NLRB at
141; Meharry, 236 NLRB 1396.

An employee’s right to a union representative at a disciplinary interview extends to
investigatory interviews into criminal matters, see e.g. Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 256-567,
including investigatory interviews conducted by the United States Postal Inspection Service,
United States Postal Service v. NLRB, 969 F.2d 1064, 1067 and 1072 (D.C. Cir. 1992); see also
United States Postal Service, 241 NLRB 141, 141 (1979) (holding that even where the
Inspection Service provides an employee notice of his or her Miranda rights, employees are still
entitled to a union representative).

The National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) has held that a Postal Service employee is
not entitled to union representation during a “fitness for duty” examination. See United States
Postal Service, 252 NLRB 61, 61 (1980).

The requesting employee and his or her union are entitled to select which union
representative will serve as the employee’s Weingarten representative, provided that there are no
extenuating circumstances and the selected representative is available at the time of the meeting.
Barnard College, 340 NLRB 934, 935 (2003); Anheuser-Busch, Inc., 337 NLRB 3, 8 (2001)
enfd.338 F.3d 267 (4th Cir. 2003). When there are two union representatives available to serve



as Weingarten representatives, it is the union’s prerogative to decide which union representative
will serve as the Weingarten representative. Anheuser-Busch, 337 NLRB at 8 (holding that short
delay in availability of one union representative did not justify employer refusal to allow
employee the representative of his choice where allegations against employee did not require
immediate action).

1. Rights of Weingarten Representatives

A Weingarten representative has a right to consult privately with an employee prior to the
start of a meeting, and to interrupt a meeting to consult privately with the employee. The
Supreme Court recognizes that an employee facing a disciplinary interview has a right to a
“knowledgeable union representative.” Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 263. As a result, the
Weingarten representative and employee may consult privately so that the representative is
familiar with the circumstances under investigation and with the employee’s view of the matter.
Climax Molybdenum Co., 227 NLRB 1189, 1190 (1977), enforcement denied, 584 F.2d 360
(10th Cir. 1978); Postal Service, 969 F.2d at 1067, 1071.

A Weingarten representative has a right to actively assist an employee while the
investigatory interview is being conducted. Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 263; Barnard College, 340
NLRB at 935. An employer may not require a union representative to be a silent observer to the
disciplinary interview and it may not prohibit a union representative from speaking out. Barnard
College, 340 NLRB at 935 (citing Talsol Corp., 317 NLRB 290, 331-332 (1995) enfd. 155 F.3d
785 (6th Cir. 1998)). A Weingarten representative may present the employee’s version of
events, clarify the facts, assist the employee in articulating an explanation, advise an employee
appropriately of the employee’s right to consult with an attorney, and offer justifications and
mitigating factors. See Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 262-263.

During the course of an investigatory interview, an employer is not required to bargain
with a union representative over any discipline that the employer is considering, Weingarten, 420
U.S. at 259-260, and the union representative is not entitled to interfere with the employer’s right
to conduct its investigation. Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 258; Yellow Freight System, 317 NLRB
115, 123-124 (1995); see also Barnard College, 340 NLRB at 935, 942. The Supreme Court and
the NLRB have held that employees and their Weingarten representatives are not entitled to an
“adversarial” hearing during investigatory interviews. See New Jersey Bell Tele. Co., 308 NLRB
277,279 (1992) (upholding employer’s ejection of steward from interview after steward advised
employee to refuse to answer the employer’s repetitious questions more than once); see also
Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 263; Barnard College, 340 NLRB at 935; Yellow Freight System, 317
NLRB 115, 123-124 (1995). Similarly employees and their Weingarten representatives are not
entitled to present witnesses on an employee’s behalf during an investigatory interview. Coyne
Cylinder Co., 251 NLRB 1503, 1504 fn.6 (1980). But a Weingarten representative may interrupt
an employer representative in the course of representing an employee, see e.g. United States
Postal Service, 288 NLRB 864, 868 (1988), and may object to questions reasonably perceived as
harassing, see New Jersey Bell, 308 NLRB at 279-280.
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SHOP STEWARDS’ RIGHTS

I Rights of Union Representatives

The rights of union representatives extend beyond the rights of Weingarten
representatives discussed above. The NLRB recognizes that an employee acting in his or her
status as a union representative stands on equal footing with an employer representative. Crown
Central Petroleum Corp., 177 NLRB 322 (1969), enfd. 430 F.2d 724 (5th Cir. 1970); see also
Indiana & Mich. Elec. Co., 273 NLRB 1540, 1545 (1985) (holding that “the master-servant
relationship does not carry over to the dealings between the employer and the employee when
the employee is acting as a union representative.”) As a result, an employer generally may not
discipline an employee for intemperate comments made in the course of grievance handling. See
e.g. United States Postal Service, 250 NLRB 4, 4 fn.1 (1980) (holding that discipline of steward
for referring to foreman as “horse’s ass” during discussion of potential grievance was unlawful);
United States Postal Service, 251 NLRB 252, 252 (1980).

Although an employer generally cannot discipline a union representative for intemperate
comments made in the course of handling a grievance, the NLRB holds that certain conduct “is
so opprobrious” as to allow an employer to discipline a union representative. In determining
whether an employer can discipline a union representative for conduct occurring the course of
representing an employee the NLRB examines several factors: (1) the place of the discussion; (2)
the subject matter of the discussion; (3) the nature of the employee’s outburst; and (4) whether
the outburst was, in any way, provoked by an employer’s unfair labor practice. Atlantic Steel
Co., 245 NLRB 814, 816 (1979); see e.g. Bloomfield Health Care Cntr., 352 NLRB No. 39, slip
op. at 3 (2008) (holding discipline unlawful where conduct occurred in break area where work
could not be disrupted, parties were discussing right of representative to be in work area, no
profanity was used, and representative was provoked by employer’s unlawful conduct); Datwyler
Rubber and Plastics, Inc., 350 NLRB No. 58, slip op. at 2 (2007).

A union representative also has the protection of a “stewards’ privilege.” An employer
may not interrogate a union representative concerning his or her discussions with an employee
the union representative represents, nor may it threaten a union representative who refuses to
turn over his or her grievance notes. Cook Paint & Varnish Co., 258 NLRB 1230, 1231-1232
(1981). But the stewards’ privilege is not absolute, and a union representative may be
subpoenaed and compelled to testify concerning such matter before a grand jury or in court.
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INFORMATION REQUEST ULPS

. The Postal Service Must Provide a Broad Spectrum of Information

Upon a request by a union, an employer must provide information that is necessary for
the union to process grievances, administer a collective bargaining agreement, or collectively
bargain. NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 U.S. 432 (1967); NLRB v. Truitt Mfg. Co., 351 U.S.
149 (1956); Disney Park and Disney’s California Adventure, 350 NRLB No. 88, slip op. at 2-3
(2007). The obligation to provide information includes information necessary for a union to
determine whether it will file a grievance. Disney Park, 350 NLRB No. 88, slip op. at 2.

A union is presumptively entitled to information concerning bargaining unit employees’
wages, hours, and terms and conditions of work. Disney Park, 350 NLRB No. 88, slip op. at 2.
A union does not have to justify its request for such information because the information is
presumptively relevant to the union’s duties as the representative of the bargaining unit. See e.g.
Good Samaritan Hosp., 335 NLRB 901, 918 (2001); Yeshiva University, 315 NLRB 1245, 1247
(1994). Other information requests are governed by a “broad discovery-type standard.” Disney
Park, 350 NLRB No. 88, slip op. at 2; Acme Industrial, 385 U.S. at 437. Under this broad test for
relevancy, a union is entitled to any information that is of probable use to the union in carrying
out its responsibilities to represent its members. Sheraton Hartford Hotel, 289 NLRB 463, 463-
464 (1988). If the “information has some bearing on the issue between the parties” it must be
supplied. U.S. Postal Service, 289 NLRB 942, 942 (1988) enfd, 888 F.2d 1568 (11th Cir. 1989).
“[T]he legal standard concerning just what information must be produced is whether or not there
is a ‘a probability that such data is relevant and will be of use to the union in fulfilling its
statutory duties and responsibilities as the employees’ exclusive bargaining representative.’”
U.S. Postal Service, 337 NLRB 820, 822 (2002) (quoting Asarco, Inc., 316 NLRB 636, 643
(1995), enfd. in relevant part 86 F.3d 1401 (5th Cir. 1996); see also United Postal Service, 332
NLRB 635, 636 (2000) (“even potential or probable relevance is sufficient to give rise to an
employer’s obligation to provide information”); Conrock Co., 263 NLRB 1293, 1294 (1982),
enf’d, 118 LRRM 2968 (9th Cir. 1984) (“Information of even probable or potential relevance to
the union’s duties must be disclosed.”).

An employer must furnish the requested information in a timely manner absent a valid
defense. Woodland Clinic, 331 NLRB 735, 736-737 (2000). “An unreasonable delay in
furnishing such information is as much of a violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act as a refusal to
furnish the information at all.” 1d. Even if an employer intends not to provide a union with

information, it must “provide the [u]nion with some timely legitimate explanation for its
refusal.” U.S. Postal Service, 332 NLRB at 636.

Although a union in entitled to information, it is not entitled to have the information
presented to it in the exact form desired by the union.
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1. Confidentiality Defense

Substantial claims of confidentiality may justify an employer’s refusal to furnish
information. Detroit Newspaper Agency, 317 NLRB 1071, 1072-1074 (1995). A union will be
entitled to information that an employer alleges is confidential only if the need of the union for
the information outweighs the legitimate confidentiality interests of the employer. Detroit
Edison Co. v. NLRB, 440 U.S. 301 (1979). The NLRB does not accept blanket claims of
confidentiality; an employer must justify such claims. Detroit Newspaper, 317 NLRB at 1072;
U.S. Postal Service, 289 NLRB at 942; see also McDonnell Douglas Corp., 224 NLRB 881, 890
(1976). To trigger the balancing test under Detroit Edison, an employer must first timely raise
its confidentiality claim. Detroit Newspaper, 317 NLRB at 1072-1074. Further, even if
information is confidential, the employer cannot simply deny the request; rather, it must bargain
for an accommodation of its concerns, for example, by offering to enter into a non-disclosure
agreement. See Tritac Corp., 286 NLRB 522, 522 (1987) (an employer “cannot simply raise its
confidentiality concerns, but must also come forward with some offer to accommodate both its
concerns and its bargaining obligation); see e.g. U.S. Postal Service, 332 NLRB 635, 648 (2000);
Silver Brothers Co., Inc., 312 NLRB 1060 (1993); Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., 261 NLRB 27
(1982).

When unions have requested OWCP records the Postal Service has refused to respond
citing confidentiality concerns. OWCP records are covered by the Postal Service’s Privacy Act.
The Board has rejected the Postal Service’s Privacy Act defense. See e.g. U.S. Postal Service,
289 NLRB at 944-945. In fact, the Postal Service’s Privacy Act regulations found in the
Administrative Support Manual provide that medical records can be disclosed to a union.

I1l1.  Filing Information Request ULPs

The General Counsel issued a memorandum concerning information request ULP charges
against the Postal Service. OM-03-18. In the memorandum, the General Counsel requests that
ULP charges contain: 1) the identity of the requester; 2) the person to whom the request was
directed; 3) whether the request was oral or in writing; 4) a description of the requested
information sought that was not provided; and 5) the general proffered reason for the request
(e.g. contract administration, grievance processing or collective bargaining).
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H
U.8. Postal Service v. NL.R.B.
C.AD.C,1992.

United States Court of Appeals, District of
Columbia Circuit.
UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE, Petitioner,
V.
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD, Re-
spondent,

American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIQ, and
East Bay Area Local, American Postal Workers
Union, AFL-CIO, Intervenors.

No. 91-1373.

Argued May 18, 1992,
Decided June 30, 1992,

The United States Postal Service (USPS) petitioned
for review of determination by National Labor Re-
lations Board (NLRB) that USPS committed unfair
labor practice when postal inspector denied em-
ployee the opportunity to consult with his union
steward prior to interrogation concerning employ-
ee’s alleged misconduct. NLRB filed cross-
application for enforcement of its remedial order
requiring USPS to post corrective notices at all
USPS union-represented facilities. The Court of
Appeals, Ruth Bader Ginsburg, Circuit Judge, held
that: (1) even if Court lacked jurisdiction over
USPS petition seeking review of NLRB order,
Court could consider USPS's objections to NLRB's
decision in ruling on NLRB's cross-application; (2)
union was not entitled to raise issue of whether
USPS was barred by preclusion principles from
challenging nationwide scope of NLRB's remedy;
(3) NLRB reasonably determined that USPS com-
mitted unfair labor practice; and (4) NLRB's re-
medial order was not excessive.

Cross-application granted.
West Headnotes

[1] Labor and Employment 231H €~°1931

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXIIJ) Judicial Review and Enforce-
ment of Decisions of Labor Relations Boards
231HXII(J)2 Enforcement by Courts
231Hk1931 k. Scope of Inquiry in
General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak717 Labor Relations)
In ruling on cross-application by National Labor
Relations Board (NLLRB) for enforcement of its re-
medial order, Court of Appeals had authority to
consider objections by United States Postal Service
(USPS) to NLRB's decision, even if federal courts
lacked jurisdiction over USPS petition seeking re-
view of NLRB order. 39 U.S.C.A. §§ 1208(a),
1209(a).

[2] Labor and Employment 231H €~>1921

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXIII) Judicial Review and Enforce-
ment of Decisions of Labor Relations Boards
23 1HXII(J)2 Enforcement by Courts
231Hk1921 k. Parties. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak710 Labor Relations)
Union could not raise issue as to whether United
States Postal Service (USPS) was barred by preclu-
sion principles from challenging nationwide scope
of remedy imposed by National Labor Relations
Board (NLRB), but rather that position could be
raised only by NLRB.

[3] Statutes 361 €2219(8)

361 Statutes
361VI Construction and Operation
361VI(A) General Rules of Construction
361k213 Extrinsic Aids to Construction
361k219 Executive Construction
361k219(6) Particular Federal Stat-
utes
361k219(8) k. Labor Relations
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and Standards. Most Cited Cases

Court of Appeals would give deference to “special
competence” of National Labor Relations Board
(NLRB) in construing phrase “concerted activities
for * * * mutual aid or protection” in NLRA, on re-
view of NLRB's determination that United States
Postat Service (USPS) committed unfair labor prac-
tice when postal inspector denied employee the op-
portunity to consult with his union steward prior to
interrogation concerning employee's alleged mis-
conduct. National Labor Relations Act, § 7, 29
U.S.C.A. §157.

[4] Labor and Employment 231H €=1469(1)

231H Labor and Employment
231HXM Labor Relations
231HXII(G) Unfair Labor Practices
231Hk1467 Interrogation of Employees
231Hk1469 Particutar Conduct
231Hk1469(1) k. In General. Most
Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak367 Labor Relations)
National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) acted
reasonably in construing NILRA provision estab-
lishing right of employees to engage in concerted
activities for mutual aid or protection to mean that
United States Postal Service (USPS) committed un-
fair labor practice when postal inspector denied em-
ployee the opportunity to consult with his union
steward prior to interrogation concerning employ-
ee's alleged misconduct. National Labor Relations
Act, §7,29U8.C.A. § 157

[5] Labor and Employment 231H €-°1468

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
23 1HXIKG) Unfair Labor Practices
231Hk1467 Interrogation of Employees
231Hk1468 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
(Formerly 232Ak361 Labor Relations)
In evaluating credibility of employee charged with
misconduct, fact that employee has exercised right
under NLRA to consult with union representatives

prior to interrogation by employer's representatives
can be weighed. National Labor Relations Act, § 7,
29 U.S.C.A. § 157,

{6] Labor and Employment 231H €~>1755

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXII{I) Labor Relations Boards and Pro-
ceedings
231HX1(I)6 Weight and Sufficiency of
Evidence
231Hk1755 k. Interrogation of Em-
ployees. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232AkS555 Labor Relations)

Labor and Employment 231H €-~1931

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations

231HXIKY) Judicial Review and Enforce-

ment of Decisions of Labor Relations Boards
231HXII(J)2 Enforcement by Courts
231Hk1931 k. Scope of Inquiry in
General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak718 Labor Relations)

Substantial evidence supported administrative law
judge's finding that, had union steward been al-
lowed to consult with employee, there was only a
possibility that she would have advised employee to
remain silent or otherwise refuse to cooperate, even
though union publication stated that best possible
advice to employee during such situation was to re-
main silent; therefore, Court of Appeals would not
reach question of whether it would have been in-
cumbent upon National Labor Relations Board
(NLRB), upon proof of union-enforced policy of
noncooperation, to excuse denial by United States
Postal Service (USPS) of consultation prior to
postal inspector's interrogation concerning employ-
ee's alleged misconduct. National Labor Relations
Act,§ 7,29 US.C.A. § 157

[7] Labor and Employment 231H €~>1831

231H Labor and Employment
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23 1HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(I) Labor Relations Boards and Pro-

ceedings
231HXII(D 10 Orders
231Hk1830 Posting of Notice of Order
231Hk1831 k. In General. Most
Cited Cases

(Formerly 232Ak624.1, 232Ak624 Labor Rela-
tions)
Upon determining that United States Postal Service
(USPS) committed unfair labor practice when
postal inspector denied employee the opportunity to
consult with his union steward prior to interroga-
tion concerning employee's alleged misconduct,
National Labor Relations Board (NLRB) acted
within its remedial discretion in requiring the post-
ing of corrective notices at all USPS union-
represented facilities, where collective bargaining
agreement provision recognizing right to union par-
ticipation in such interrogations applied to union
members nationwide, and inspection service manu-
al which expressly ruled out leave to confer gov-
erned all inspectors wherever they undertook an in-
vestigation. National Labor Relations Act, § 7, 29
U.S.CA. § 157

*1065 **65 On Petition For Review and Cross-
Application For Enforcement of an Order of The
National Labor Relations Board (No. 32-CA-10209).
Douglas N. Letter, Atty., Dept. of Justice, with
whom Stuart M. Gerson, Asst. Atty. Gen., Jeffrica
Jenkins Lee and Jacob N. Lewis, Aftys., Dept. of
Justice, and Karen A. Intrater, Associate Gen.
Counsel, Jesse L. Butler, Asst. Gen, Counsel, James
A. Friedman and Robert P. Sindermann, Jr., Attys.,
U.S. Postal Service, Washington, D.C., were on the
brief, for petitioner William Kanter, Atty., Dept. of
Justice, and Stephen E. Alpren, Washington, D.C.,
also entered appearances for petitioner.

William M. Bernstein, Atty., NLR.B., with whom
Jerry M. Hunter, Gen. Counsel, and Aileen A. Arm-
strong, Deputy Associate Gen. Counsel, Washing-
ton, D.C., were on the brief, for respondent.

Anton G. Hajjar, Washington, D.C., was on the

brief for intervenors.

Before: RUTH BADER GINSBURG, HENDER-
SON and RANDOLPH, Circuit Judges.

Opinion of the Court filed by Circuit Judge RUTH
BADER GINSBURG.

**66*1066 RUTH BADER GINSBURG, Circuit
Judge:

In NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 95
S.Ct. 959, 43 LEd2d 171 (1975), the Supreme
Court upheld a National Labor Relations Board
(Board or NLRB) decision interpreting section 7 of
the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29
US.C. § 157,™ to secure to employees the right
to union representation at an investigatory inter-
view that the employee reasonably believes may
result in disciplinary action. The dispute before us
concerns the propriety of the Board's reading of the
section 7 right affirmed in Weingarten to cover pre-
interview consultation between employee and union
representative.

FNI. Section 7 establishes the right of em-
ployees, inter alia,“to engage in ... concer-
ted activities for ... mutual aid or protec-
tion.”

In the ruling under review, the Board determined
that the United States Postal Service (USPS) com-
mitted an unfair labor practice ™2 in March 1989
when Postal Inspectors, following a USPS nation-
wide policy, denied an employee the opportunity to
consult with his union steward prior to an interroga-
tion concerning the employee's alleged misconduct.
The NLRB's remedial order directed the Postal Ser-
vice to cease and desist from interfering with the
employee-union representative consultation right
recognized in the Board's decision, and it required
the Postal Service to post remedial notices at all
USPS union-represented facilities.

FN2., Section 8(a)(1) of the NLRA,
29U.8.C. § 158(a)(1), makes it an unfair
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labor practice for an employer “to interfere
with, restrain, or coerce employees in the
exercise of rights guaranteed in section 7.”

We conclude that the NLRB has advanced a per-
missible construction of the NLRA, one that is con-
sistent with the language of the statute and with the
Supreme Court's Weingarten decision. The Board's
interpretation therefore warrants our respect. We
furthermore conclude that, in view of the nation-
wide policy followed by the Postal Inspectors, the
Board acted within its large remedial discretion in
requiring the posting of corrective notices at ail
USPS union-represented facilities. Accordingly, we
enforce the NLRB's order in full.

[. FACTS AND NLRB PROCEEDINGS

Benjamin Salvador, a member of the American
Postal Workers Union (Union or APWU), began
working for the Postal Service in 1977, At the time
of the episode in suit, he was employed as a
“business reply” clerk at the Fremont, California
Post Office. Confronted by his supervisor in March
1989 with apparent inaccuracies in a postal custom-
er's account balance, Salvador attributed the dis-
crepancies to a temporary bookkeeping manoeuver
he was trained to use to cope with a time bind, The
supervisor, evidently not satisfied that the errors
were innocent, contacted the Postal Inspection Ser-
vice.

Postal Inspectors are USPS employees. They serve,
however, as federal law enforcement officers, with
authority to carry weapons, make arrests, and en-
force postal and other laws of the United States.
Seel8 U.S.C. § 306l. The Inspection Service un-
dertakes investigations only when criminal conduct
is suspected. If an investigation reveals no crime,
the Inspectors turn over the evidence they have
gathered to USPS management, without recom-
mendation or evaluation. Management then decides
whether the evidence warrants disciplinary action.

On March 9, 1989, Salvador was summoned, just

after his lunch break and without advance warning,
to a training/supply foom, where two waiting In-
spectors informed him that their inquiry concerned
his *“job.” The collective bargaining agreement
between USPS and APWU provided: “If an em-
ployee requests a steward or Union representative
to be present during the course of an interrogation
by the Inspection Service, such request will be
granted.” Salvador accordingly asked for the at-
tendance of his union steward, Anne Rodrigues.
The interview was deferred for forty-five minutes
to an hour, pending Rodrigues' attendance, during
which time Salvador was kept in isolation in the
training*1067 **67 /supply room. When Rodrigues
arrived, she immediately and repeatedly requested
permission to confer privately with Salvador before
the interview resumed. The Inspectors refused her
request. Their refusal followed official instructions
contained in USPS's Inspection Service Manual; the
Manual declared it USPS nationwide policy to deny
all requests for pre-interrogation consultation
between employees and their collective bargaining
representatives.

The interview proceeded, and Salvador answered
all questions asked of him. Rodrigues also particip-
ated in the interview, although when Salvador first
requested her presence, he was told she could at-
tend only “as a witness” to the interrogation. The
record does not disclose what action was taken re-
garding Salvador after the investigation concluded.

Shortly after Salvador's interview, the Union
lodged an unfair labor practice charge and, in April
1989, the NLRB Regional Director issued a com-
plaint concerning the denial of Rodrigues’ request
for pre-interview consultation with Salvador. The
Postal Service denied that an unfair labor practice
had occurred and contended that, in any event, the
matter had been remedied by a notice the Service
had voluntarily posted in five different locations at
Fremont Post Office installations. This notice, un-
signed, acknowledged the Union's charge alleging
the failure of the Postal Service “to grant employ-
ees the right to confer with their union representat-
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ive before an investigatory interview™ and stated,
specifically:

We will not prohibit employees from conferring
with their union representative, npon request, where
the employee has invoked his or her right to have
union representation present at an investigatory in-
terview conducted by agents of the Inspection Ser-
vice which the employee reasonably believes could
lead to discipline. We also will not prohibit such
union representative from participating in any such
interview to the extent permitted by the Supreme
Court's Weingarten decision.

In proceedings before an administrative law judge
(ALI), the Regional Director stressed that, in Sal-
vador's case, the Postal Service had repeated a pre-
viously adjodicated unfair labor practice. Less than
a year carlier, the Board had determined that, in
April 1982, at the very same Fremont Post Office,
the Service had violated an employee's section 7
right when a Postal Inspector refused to let a union
representative confer with the employee prior to an
investigatory interview. See United States Postal
Serv.,288 NLRB 864 (Apr. 29, 1988). Despite that
unappealed ruling, the Postal Service had retained
in its Inspection Service Manual, the companywide
instruction requiring denial of “all requests for con-
sultations between employees and their [union] rep-
resentatives prior to any interview by a Postal In-
spector.” Stipulation at 1-2, NLRB v. United States
Postal Serv., No. C 89 2734 FMS (N.D.Cal., Aug.
1989) (Application for Enforcement of NLLRB Sub-
poena).

The Postal Service, in response to the Regional Dir-
ector's complaint, urged containment of the
Weingarten precedent to union presence at an inter-
rogation; the Service pressed, particularly, the inap-
propriateness of spreading a right of prior consulta-
tion to criminal investigations. The Service further
argued that even if the right to a representative re-
cognized in Weingarten could be construed to in-
clude a right to prior consultation, the latter right
should not be allowed in Salvador's case because
APWU had a policy of noncooperation.

The ALJ, applying Board precedents, upheld the as-
serted section 7 employee right to consult privately
with a union representative prior to a management
interview implicating discipline. See Climax Mo-
lybdenum Co., 227 NLRB 1189 (1977), enforce-
ment denied, 584 F.2d 360 (10th Cir.1978); Pacific
Tel. & Tel. Co., 262 NLRB 1034, 1048 (1982),
enfd, 711 F.2d 134 (9th Cir.1983). Furthermore,
the ALJ noted, the Board had very recently, in an
unappealed decision, rejected the Postal Service
plea that a consultation right should not be avail-
able in a criminal investigation conducted*1068
**48 by the Inspection Service. See United States
Postal Serv.,288 NLRB at 866. The proof did not
bear out, the ALJ found, that Rodrigues, pursuant to
Union instructions, would have counseled Salvador
against cooperation with the Postal Inspectors. Fi-
nally, in view of the USPS policy announced in the
Inspection Service Manual, the ALJ recommended
that the Postal Service be ordered (1) to cease and
desist on a nationwide basis from engaging in the
consultation denials declared unlawful, and (2) to
make a nationwide posting of USPS's Notice to
Employees that

WE WILL NOT refuse to permit union representat-
ives to consult with employees prior to investigat-
ory interviews conducted by Postal Inspectors
which the employees reasonably believe will result
in disciplinary action and WE WILL NOT refuse to
permit employees to speak with union representat-
ives prior to such interviews.

The Board, in a June 21, 1991 decision, affirmed
the ALI's rulings, findings, and conclusions and ad-
opted his recommended order. United States Postal
Serv., 303 NLRB No. 75 (1991). In footnotes, the
three-member panel added these qualifications.
First, Chairman Stephens “expresse[d] no opinion
on the Board's interpretation of [Weingarten 1, but
joined his colleagues “for institutional reasons.”
Second, in Member Raudabaugh's view, if a union,
contrary to what the evidence showed in this case,
in fact had a policy “of routinely telling employees
to refuse to cooperate with an investigation,” then
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“an employer might well be privileged to forbid
prior consultation.” Finally, Member Cracraft noted
that, “[a]lthough this is the second occasion in
which the [Postal Service] has committed this viol-
ation, ... these violations both occurred at [USPS's]
Fremont, California facility 7 years apart.” Because
no evidence showed “that the unlawful conduct has
been carried out or disseminated to employees at
any other facilities,” she “would not order employ-
erwide posting of the notice,” but would have lim-
ited the remedy *to the Fremont, California facil-
ity.” Id. at 1-2, nn. 4 & 5.

I1. DISPOSITIONS

A, Jurisdiction

1] The Union, as intervenor, maintains that federal
courts lack jurisdiction over this-or any-Postal Ser-
vice petition seeking review of an NLRB order. The
Postal Reorganization Act (PRA) places Postal Ser-
vice labor relations under the governance of Na-
tional Labor Relations Act provisions. See39
US.C. § 1209(a).™* APWU maintains, however,
that NLRA section [0(f), 29 U.8.C. § 160(f), which
provides for court review of Board orders on peti-
tion of an aggrieved party, is not among the incor-
porated provisions. An unconstrained reading of
section 1209(a)'s incorporation language, the Union
explains, would draw in NLRA section 1({e), 29
U.S.C. § 160(e), which governs NLRB enforcement
petitions. But NLRB enforcement petitions are au-
thorized by a discrete PRA provision, 39 US.C. §
1208(a), which states: “The courts of the United
States shall have jurisdiction with respect to actions
brought by the [NLRB] under this chapter to the
same extent that they have jurisdiction with respect
to actions under title 29.” There would have been
no need for section 1208(a), APWU concludes, if
section 1209(a) encompassed judicial review peti-
tions. See 2A SUTHERLAND ON STATUTORY
CONSTRUCTION § 46.06, at 119 (Singer, 5th ed.,
1991) (statutes should be “construed ... so that no
part will be ... superfluous™).

FN3. 39 US.C. § 1209(a) prescribes that
postal  employee-management  relations
“shall, to the extent not inconsistent with”
other PRA provisions, follow the NLRA
model. The “principal exception™ is that
postal employees are barred from striking.
SeeH.R.Rep. 91-1104, 91st Cong., 2d Sess.
10, reprinted in 1970 US.C.C.AN. 3649,
3658,

APWU's jurisdictional argument is difficult to re-
concile with the declared purpose of Congress to
place Postal Service industrial relations under the
regime governing “nationwide enterprises in the
private sector.” SecH.R.Rep. No. 91-1104, 9lst
Cong., 2d Sess. 13 (1970), reprinted in 1970
U.S.C.C.A.N. 3662. Nor can we seriously entertain
the contention that separation-
of-powers-of-powersoncernsicial*1069  **69  re-
view. Cf.5 U.S.C. § 7123 (providing for judicial re-
view of Federal Labor Relations Authority de-
cisions). Nevertheless, we pretermit the Union's
charge that Congress precluded USPS's petition for
review, The Board has cross-applied for enforce-
ment of its order, and that application falls squarely
within 39 U.S.C. § 1208(a}. In ruling on the cross-
application, we have authority to consider the re-
sponding party's objections to the Board's
decision.FN4 See Ford Motor Co. v. NLRB, 305
U.S. 364, 370, 59 S.Ct. 301, 305, 83 L.Ed. 221
(1939); FLRA v. U.S. Dep't of Commerce, 962 F.2d
1055, 1058 (D.C.Cir.1992).

FN4. 39 US.C. § 1208(a) gives federal
courts jurisdiction in actions brought by
the NLRB “to the same extent that they
have jurisdiction ... under title 29,” and 29
US.C. § 160(e) defines that extent as
“jurisdiction of the proceeding and of the
question determined therein” (Emphasis
added.)

B. Issue Preciusion

[2] Intervenor APWU makes a further threshold ar-
gument. The Union acknowledges that the Postal
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Service is not barred by preclusion principles from
challenging the nationwide scope of the Board's
remedy, but asserts that a prior adjudication, United
States Postal Serv.,288 NLRB 864 (1988), is con-
clusive on the merits of the unfair labor practice
charge. That prior adjudication also involved the
Fremont, California Post Office; it both upheld the
section 7 consultation right reasserted here, and dis-
posed of defenses raised again by the Postal Ser-
vice. The Postal Service, APWU underscores,
failed to seek judicial review of the 1988 NLRB de-
cision. Essentially, the Union argues, the Service,
having deliberately passed up its first opportunity,
should not be accorded a second chance for court
review,

The Union's preclusion plea would have been
worthy of consideration had the NLRB made it
See, e.g., Lockheed Shipbuilding & Construction
Co., 278 NLRB 18 {1986). But courts do not force
preclusion pleas on parties who choose not to make
them, and APWU is not positioned to determine the
Board's litigation strategy. See Society Hill Civic
Ass'n v. Harris, 632 F.2d 1045, 1060 (3d Cir.1980).
Perhaps because it prefers to have a judicial re-
sponse to the questions this case presents, the
NLRB raised no prior adjudication bar to the Postal
Service's objections. Cf. Poulin v. Bowen, 817 F.2d
265, 868-69 (D.C.Cir.1987) (agency that waived
application of “administrative res judicata” may not
assert that doctrine as alternate basis for its de-
cision). In short, we reject APWU's endeavor to
achieve disposition of this case on a “rationale [not]
set forth by the agency itself.” See Fort Stewart
Schools v. FLRA, 495 U.S. 641, 652, 110 S.Ct.
2043, 2049, 109 L.Ed.2d 659 (1990); SEC v. Chen-
ery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 93-95, 63 S.Ct. 454,
461-62, 87 L.Ed. 626 (1943).

C. Merits

[3] The Postal Service initially recognizes that
“[jludicial deference to reasonable interpretations
by an agency of a statute that it administers is a
dominant, well settled principle of federal law.” See

National R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Boston & Maine
Corp., 503 U.S. 407, 112 S.Ct. 1394, 1401, 118
L.Ed.2d 52 (1992). As stated in the leading case, *if
the statute is silent or ambiguous with respect to the
specific issue, the question for the court is whether
the agency's answer is based on a permissible con-
struction of the statute.” Chevron, USA, Inc. v. Nat-
ural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S.
837, 843, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 2781, 81 L.Ed.2d 694
(1984). “If the agency interpretation is not in con-
flict with the plain language of the statute, defer-
ence is due.” National R.R. Passenger Corp., 112
8.Ct. at 1401 (citing K Mart Corp. v. Cartier, Inc.,
486 U.S. 281, 292, 108 S.Ct. 1811, 1818, 100
L.Ed.2d 313 (1988)).

This case does not fall within the standard Chevron
analysis, the Postal Service maintains, because the
Board's decision reflects its interpretation of a Su-
preme Court precedent construing the NLRA, ie.,
NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 95 S.Ct.
959, 43 LL.Ed.2d 171 (1975). “[B]efore reaching the
issue of deference to the *1070 **70 Board,” the
Service urges, “a reviewing court must first determ-
ine whether the NLRB's construction is consistent
with [the puiding Supreme Court] precedent.” Brief
for the Petitioner/Cross-Respondent at 25. The
Board's decision here, USPS centrally argues, is ir-
reconcilable with Weingarten. In making this argu-
ment, the Postal Service emphasizes Lechmere, Inc.
v. NLRB, 502 U.8, 527, 112 S.Ct. 841, 117 L.Ed.2d
79 (1992), in which the Court held a Board decision
incompatible with the statutory construction pre-
cedent the Court had set in NLRB v. Babcock &
Wilcox Co., 351 U.S. 105, 76 S.Ct. 679, 100 L.Ed.
975 (1956). See also Maislin Indus., U.S., Inc. v.
Primary Steel, Inc., 497 U8, 116, 110 S.Ct. 2759,
2768, 111 1L.Ed.2d 94 (1990) (“Once we have de-
termined a statute's clear meaning, we adhere to
that determination under the docirine of stare decis-
is, and we judge an agency's later interpretation of
the statute against our prior determination of the
statute's meaning.”).

Weingarten upheld the Board's judgment that an
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employee had a section 7 right to the presence of a
union representative during an investigatory inter-
view. The Postal Service points out, however, that
the Weingarten decision acknowledged “‘contours
and limits” to the statutory right. 420 U.S. at 256,
95 S.Ct. at 963. The Court in Weingarten spoke of
protection against interference due “legitimate em-
ployer prerogatives,” id. at 258, 95 S.Ct. at 964,
and observed that “[a] knowledgeable union repres-
entative could assist the employer ... [in] getting to
the bottom of the incident occasioning the inter-
view,” without “transformfing] the interview into
an adversary contest.” Id. at 263, 95 5.Ct. at 966.

The careful Weingarten balance between employer
prerogative and employee right, the Postal Service
charges, has been upset by the NLRB in this case
and in prior Board decisions recognizing a pre-
interview consultation right. By failing to accord
proper weight to the employer's interest in gather-
ing information needed to detect and check wrong-
doing, the Service asserts, the Board has demon-
strated its misunderstanding of Weingarten's inter-
pretation of section 7.

We find unpersuasive the Postal Service's attempt
to fit Weingarten and this case into the Babcock/
Lechmere mold. Babecock, the guidepost decision on
allowing nonemployee organizers onto an employ-
et's property, held a Board construction of section 7
impermissible. The Lechimere Court read Babeock
as saying, in Chevron terms, that Congress had dir-
ectly spoken to the question at issue. Lechmere, 112
§.Ct. at 848. Babcock had tightly circumscribed the
Board's authority under the NLRA to order nonem-
ployee access to an employer's premises. The
Board, according to the Lechmere majority, had de-
parted from Babcock's “straightforward teaching.” Id.

Weingarten, in contrast, far from upsetting an
NLRB order and correcting a Board error, spoke
with approval of NLRB-shaped “‘contours and lim-
its” to the statutory right, 420 U.S. at 256, 95 S.Ct.
at 963. Key to the Weingarten decision is this ob-
servation:

It is the province of the Board, not the courts, to de-
termine whether or not the “need” [for union assist-
ance at an investigatory interview] exists in light of
changing industrial practices and the Board's cumu-
lative experience in dealing with labor-management
relations.... [Tlhe Board's construction here, while
it may not be required by the Act, is at least per-
missible under it....

Id. at 266-67, 95 5.Ct. at 968. Weingarter thus did
not rein in the Board, as Babcock did. The preced-
ent set in Weingarten, instead, is fully consistent
with the Board's recognition in this case that Con-
gress, in enacting section 7, did not ‘“directly
[speak] to the precise question at issue,”Chevron,
467 U.S. at 842, 104 S.Ct. at 2781,i.e., the scope of
union assistance appropriate at an investigatory in-
terview. We thus face a case in which deference is
due to the Board's “special competence™ in constru-
ing the section 7 phrase, “concerted activities for ...
mutual aid or protection.” See Weingarten, 420
U.S. at 266, 267, 95 8.Ct. at 968, 968.

**71 [4] *1071 We turn, accordingly, to the ques-
tion whether the Board's unfair labor practice de-
termination qualifies as “reasonable,” see Chevron,
467 U.S. at 844, 104 S.Ct. at 2782; and we hold
that the Board's judgment measures up to the ap-
plicable standard.

The NLRB determined that the employee's
Weingarren recognized right to the assistance of
*“la] knowledgeable union representative,” see420
U.S. at 263, 95 5.Ct. at 966, sensibly means a rep-
resentative familiar with the matter under investiga-
tion. Absent such familiarity, the representative will
not be well-positioned to aid in a full and cogent
presentation of the employee's view of the matter,
bringing to light justifications, explanations, exten-
vating circumstances, and other mitigating factors.
See Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 262-63, 95 5.Ct. at 966
(“A single employee confronted by an employer in-
vestigating whether certain conduct deserves dis-
cipline may be too fearful or inarticulate to relate
accurately the incident being investigated, or too ig-
norant to raise extenuating factors.”); Climax Mo-
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Iybdenum, 227 NLRB at 1190 (prior consultation
allows union representative “to learn [employee's]
version of the events and gain familiarity with
facts™).

This case is illustrative. Union steward Rodrigues
testified that, on other occasions when she was
called to attend investigative interviews, she knew,
“prior to going into the meeting,” just “what was
going on, what the situation was about.” Prior to
the start of Salvador's March 9, 1989 interview,
however, Rodrigues knew only that Salvador, with
whom she had been acquainted since her early days
as a postal worker, was “an honest employee and
[she] couldn't bring the two together: him embezz-
ling funds-and that's why [she] would have gone in
and got his story.”

Significantly, in the only court case declining to ex-
tend the section 7 right confirmed in Weingarten to
a plea for pre-interview consultation, ample time
had been provided after notice, and before the inter-
view, to allow the employees subject to investiga-
tion to arrange a conference. See Climax Molyb-
denum Co. v. NLRB, 584 F2d 360, 363 (10th
Cir.1978) (17 1/2 hours distanced time employees
were advised of pending investigation and time it
took place). The court therefore held:

The employer is under no obligation to accord the
employee subject to an investigatory interview with
consultation with his union representatives on com-
pany time if the interview date otherwise provides
the employee adequate opportunity to consult with
union representatives on his own time prior to the
interview. Thus, we do believe that Weingarten re-
quires that the employer set investigatory inter-
views at such a future time and place that the em-
ployee will be provided the opportunity to consult
with his representative in advance thereof on his
own time.

Id. at 365 (emphasis added). In the case before us,
as in Pacific Tel. & Tel. Co. v. NLRB, 711 F.2d
134, 137 n. 4 (9th Cir.1983), no time at all had been
allowed for a conference. See also United States

Postal Serv.,288 NLRB at 866.

[5] Management is not stripped, we note, of effect-
ive control of employee misconduct by allowing
employee-union representative consultation in ad-
vance of interrogation. The employer remains in
command of the time, place, and manner of the in-
terview, and can concentrate on hearing the em-
ployee's account, with “no duty to bargain with the
union representative” at the interview. See
Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 260, 95 S.Ct. at 965, The
fact of prior consultation, moreover, can be
weighed in evaluating the employee's credibility.
Nor can we agree that obstruction necessarily is
promoted by consultation. One might equally fore-
cast, as the Board observed, that an uninformed
representative would attempt to obstruct the inter-
rogation “as a precautionary means of protecting
employees from unknown possibilities.” Climax
Molybdenum Co., 227 NLRB at 1190.

Nor was the Board obliged to except Postal Inspect-
or interrogations from the consultation right at issue
based on the potentially criminal character of the
conduct that Inspectors investigate. Weingarten
protections have been consistently accorded*1072
**T2 to private sector employees suspected of crim-
inal conduct. See, e.g., Exxon Co. 223 NLRB 103
(1976). Furthermore, the results of inspections,
when no criminal proceedings ensue, are routinely
turned over to management for possible use in dis-
ciplinary actions. See ALJ Decision at 2, United
States Postal Serv., 303 NLRB No. 75 (June 21,
1991). Mindful of the deference due to the Board,
we uphold as reasonable the NLRB's judgment that
neither “public safety” nor “legitimate employer
prerogatives” mnecessitate the suggested exemption
of Inspector interviews, and the attendant
“sacrifice” of the statutory right of postal employ-
ees. See United States Postal Serv., 241 NLRB at
142 & n. 12, ™5

FN5. A question was raised at oral argu-
ment, and in subsequent submissions to the
court, concerning the potential con-
sequences of an employee's telling her uni-
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on steward the whole story. A steward, un-
like a lawyer, can be compelled to testify
in court as to his knowledge of criminal
conduct, and postal employees are obliged,
by regulation, to report to USPS miscon-
duct of which they are aware. These con-
siderations were not aired before the
Board. Whatever impact they might have
on the union representative-employee con-
versation, we cannot find, on the current
record, that they supply a reason for the
employer to deny the opportunity for prior
consultation. Cf.Climax Molybdenum, 227
NLRB at 1190 (denied opportunity to con-
sult beforehand, steward might advise em-
ployee silence at interview, despite em-
ployee's innocence).

[6] The Postal Service next urges that it was AP-
WU's policy to have Union stewards tell inter-
viewees at Inspection Service interrogations “to re-
main silent”, such advice, USPS urges, could only
frustrate, not advance the objective of uncovering
truth. The Postat Service supports this point by cit-
ing pages from an APWU 1986 publication: A
Guide for the Craft Employee in Dealing with the
U.8. Postal Inspection Service. The Guide contains
these lines:

Q. What are your rights during an interrogation by
the inspection service in which you could possibly
be the subject of a criminal investigation?

A. The best possible advice to an employee during
this type of situation is to remain silent. Advise the
inspector that you intend to seek legal counsel.
Then when you have engaged the services of an at-
torney you will cooperate with the investigation....

Guide at 20-21. Asked whether she would have fol-
lowed the Guide and counseled Salvador's silence,
Rodrigues ultimately clarified that if Salvador ad-
mitted “he had done wrong ..., I would have told
him to remain silent and to let us handle it from
there.” But if he had told her he was innocent, she
would have told him he had “nothing to hide.” ™6

FN6. The ALJ found Rodrigues a credible
witness. See ALJ Decision at 7, United
States Postal Serv.,, 303 NLRB No. 75
(June 21, 1991).

No evidence was introduced to show that the Guide
was distributed generally to Union members or that
the Union otherwise maintained a noncooperation
policy. Nor was there any showing that Rodrigues
or any Union steward had ever advised noncoopera-
tion with the Inspection Service. At the interview
itself, Rodrigues made no effort to urge silence
upon Salvador. To the contrary, she assisted the In-
spectors in eliciting the facts from him. Viewing
the record as a whole, the ALJ found that, had
Rodrigues been allowed to consult with Salvador,
“there was only a possibility that she would have
advised him to remain silent” or otherwise refuse to
cooperate. The evidence supporting that finding
qualifies as “substantial.” See29 U.S.C. § 160(e).
We therefore do not reach the question whether it
would have been incumbent upon the Board, upon
proof of a union-enforced policy of noncooperation,
to excuse an employer's consultation denial. Cf.
Climax Molybdenum, 584 F.2d at 363-64 (denying
enforcement of Board's order where union had a
policy of noncooperation pursuant to which union
officials, including the official who requested the
pre-interview consultation, “had urged [employees]
not to cooperate with management in any investig-
atory interviews”).

[7]1 The Postal Service ultimately argues that the
remedy is overbroad. Taking into account that it has
been charged only twice with the unfair labor prac-
tice in question,,*1073 **73 that the two episodes
occurred, several years apart, at the same facility,
and that it had voluntarily posted notices at that fa-
cility, the Service resists nationwide relief. The
ALJ, however, whose decision the Board adopted,
properly relicd upon these features of the case: (1)
the collective bargaining agreement provision re-
cognizing the right to Union participation in In-
spection Service interrogations applies to APWU
members nationwide; and (2) the Inspection Service
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Manual, which expressly rules out leave to confer,
governs all Inspectors, wherever they undertake an
investigation. Nor do we agree that cause for re-
straint is supplied by the Service's commission of a
second violation at the Fremont Post Office, despite
the cease and desist order the Board had issued re-
garding that facility less than a year earlier.

In sum, Congress allowed the Board large discre-
tion to impose remedies that “will effectuate the
policies of [the NLRAL” See29 U.S.C. § 160(c).
We have no warrant on the facts before us to de-
clare the Board's relief order excessive. See Virgin-
ia Elec. & Power Co. v. NLRB, 319 U.S. 533, 540,
63 8.Ct. 1214, 1218, 87 L.Ed. 1568 (1943); Consol-
idated Freightways v. NLRB, 892 F.2d 1052, 1055
(D.C.Cir.1989).

IIE. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION

In Weingarten, the Supreme Court approved as con-
sistent with NLRA section 7 the Board's recogni-
tion of a right to a union representative's attendance
at investigatory interviews. The NLRB has since
determined that the right recognized in Weingarfen
and the statutory purposes underlying that decision
are best effectuated by allowing employees to con-
sult with their union representatives prior to the oc-
currence of an interview; and the Board has exten-
ded that protection to Postal Service employees
whose conduct is subject to investigation by the
Postal Inspection Service.

Noting the court's clear statutory authority to enter-
tain NLRB enforcement petitions and our obliga-
tion to review the reasoning actually relied upon by
the agency, we find the Board's decision a
“permissible” and “reasonable” construction of sec-
tion 7, one in no way foreclosed by the Weingarten
decision. The Board was unpersuaded either that
the Union in this case maintained a policy of coun-
seling noncooperation or that the Union represent-
ative, Anne Rodrigues, had pre-interview consulta-
tion been allowed, would have counseled the inter-
viewee, postal employee Benjamin Salvador, to re-

main silent. The record supports these Board as-
sessments. We therefore leave for another day and
case the question whether an established union
policy of counseling noncooperation should excuse
an employer's refusal to allow pre-interrogation
consultation. The Postal Service's currently-main-
tained policy, as stipulated by the parties, directs
Inspectors, nationwide, to deny all pre-interview
consultations. That policy, combined with USPS's
evident disregard of a prior Board order, warranted
the nationwide cease and desist directive and notice
posting remedy approved by the Board. Accord-
ingly, the cross-application for enforcement of the
NLRB's order is

Granted.

C.AD.C,,1992,

U.S. Postal Service v. N.L.R.B.

969 F.2d 1064, 140 LRR.M. (BNA) 2639, 297
U.S.App.D.C. 64, 61 USLW 2024, 122 Lab.Cas. P
10,253
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United States Postal Service and American Postal
Workers Union, AFL-CIO. Cases 1-CA-
15630(P), 1-CA-15894(P), and 1-CA-16286(P)

September 9, 1980

DECISION AND ORDER

On May 28, 1980, Administrative Law Judge
Robert Cohn issued the attached Decision in this
proceeding. Thereafter, the General Counsel and
the Charging Party filed exceptions and supporting
briefs, and the Respondent filed an answering brief.

The Board has considered the record and the at-
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and
briefs and has decided to affirm the rulings, find-
ings, and conclusions of the Administrative Law
Judge, as modified herein, and to adopt his recom-
mended Order.

We agree with the Administrative Law Judge
that, on the record in this case, the “fitness for
duty” examinations in question were not part of a
disciplinary procedure and do not fall within the
purview of Weingarten.! Thus, while the examina-
tions were prompted by personnel problems such
as excessive absenteeism because of alleged illness
or injury, and the examinations might lead to rec-
ommendations respecting the employees’ future
work assignments, there is insufficient evidence es-
tablishing that these examinations were calculated
to form the basis for taking disciplinary or other
job-affecting actions against such employees be-
cause of past misconduct. Noteworthy also is the
absence of evidence that questions of an investiga-
tory nature were in fact asked at these examina-
tions. In addition these particular medical examina-
tions do not meet with the tests set forth in the
Weingarten line of cases, or the rationale underly-
ing these tests which envision a “confrontation” be-
tween the employee and his employer.? According-
ly, we need not decide in the instant case what
weight, if any, should be given to the Administra-
tive Law Judge's findings that the physicians per-
forming the examinations had no authority to
impose or recommend discipline, and that the re-
quested union representatives had insufficient medi-
cal qualifications to enable them to be of assistance
to the physicians. We also need not determine, in
this case, as urged by the General Counsel, wheth-
er, in an appropriate case, it might be appropriate
and feasible to provide union representation during
the interview portion of an examination while ex-

' NLRB v. J Weingarten, Inc., #10 U.S. 251 (1975).

? Id. a1 260. We note also that since the examinalions here were limited
to the establishment of personal medical information concerning the em-
ployee, the Respondent did not have the option of proceeding on its
own, withou! the examination, to obuin this information. CF. id. at 258-
159

252 NLRB No. 14

cluding the representative from the “hands on"
physical examination.

We also agree with the Administrative Law
Judge that the remarks concerning the Union made
by Dr. Doyle during his examination of employee
Norman Fugere, Jr., and his questioning of Fugere
as 1o why he wanted the union representative with
him at a physical examination, did not violate Sec-
tion 8(a){l) of the Act. Although a supervisor by
reason of his supervision of nurses and administra-
tive personnel employed in Respondent’s medical
unit, Dr. Doyle was not acting in a supervisory ca-
pacity with respect to Fugere. In addition, his
question and his remarks were manifestly the out-
come of a personal irritation at what he regarded
as the union representative’s intrusion into the ex-
amination, an incident which had resulted in a
heated altercation between the doctor and the rep-
resentative immediately prior to the doctor's re-
marks to Fugere. Although Fugere was ordered to
report for the examination, nothing Dr. Doyle said,
in these circumstances, carried the imprimatur of
Respondent’s management or could reasonably be
construed as a threat of retaliation by Respondent
for the exercise of a Section 7 right. Therefore, we
find it unnecessary to pass on the Administrative
Law Judge's conclusion with respect to the neces-
sity for a remedial order if an 8(a)1) violation
were found, and we adopt his recommendation that
this allegation, and the complaint in its entirety, be
dismissed.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10{c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the National Labor Re-
lations Board adopts as its Order the recommended
Order of the Administrative Law Judge and
hereby orders that the complaint be, and it hereby
is, dismissed in its entirety.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

RoBERT COHN, Administrative Law Judge: This con-
solidated proceeding was heard before me at Boston,
Massachusetts, on November 15, and December 12-14,
1979, pursuant to due notice. The principal issue to be
resolved is whether the United States Postal Service
(herein the Respondent) violated Section 8(a)(1) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended Cherein the
Act), when it refused to allow a representative of the
Charging Party (American Postal Workers Union AFL-

1 AN dates hereinafter refer to the calendar year 1979, unless otherwise
indicated.
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CIO—herein the Union) to accompany employees during
their fitness for duty examination interviews.2

Subsequent to the hearing, counsel for the General
Counsel and counsel for the Respondent filed helpful,
post-hearing briefs, which have been duly considered.?

Upon the entire record in the case, and from my ob-
servation of the demeanor of the witnesses,* I make the
following:

FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS®
I. THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

A. Background and Setting of the Issues

As previously stated, the principal issue in this case is
whether the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act by refusing to allow, upon an employee's request,
his union representative to accompany him (or her)}
during a "fitness for duty examination.”®

The facility of the Respondent involved in the instant
proceeding is located in Boston, Massachusetts, where it
is known as the South Postal Annex. This facility serves
the Respondent’s employees in Massachusetls, Maine,
New Hampshire, Vermont, and Rhode Island, In the
South Postal Annex, the Respondent maintains a medical
unit, staffed by two full-time physicians, Dr. Edward
Handy, the area medical officer, and Dr. Joseph Doyle.
The cxaminations at issue herein are conducted by either
of the above-named physicians, both of whom are ac-
knowledged to be supervisors within the meaning of the
Act, inasmuch as they, in facl, supervise the registered

t The original charge in Casc 1-CA-15630 was filed February 14; the
original charge in Case 1-CA~158%4 was filed April §; the charge in Case
I-CA-186286 was filed June 29. On August 8, the Regional Director for
Region § of the Natlonal Labor Reintions Board issued his order cemaoli-
dating the cases, issuing a second amended complaint and notice of heas-
ing. Al the hearing and in ils brief, the Respondent prolested that the
complaint was not valid 4o the extent that it slleged violations of rhe Act
respecling one of the alleged discriminatees since “the amended charge
or the original complain issued on employee Walier 1. Ulrban made no
mention of any violation of Section 5(a}1) and (3) of the National Labor
Relatioms Act by disciplining Mr. Urban." The Respondent also moved
that those portions of the second amended complaint be dismissed re-
apecting Urban since he appealed his suspension through the grievance
procedure and, therefore, this proceeding should be deflerred to the pro-
cedure under the contract.

I do not deem it necessary 1o discuss and resolve these procedural mai.
ters since [ have found no violstion of the Act on the merits of Urban’s
case.

! Also, on March 11. 1980, counsel for the Respondent filed 2 motion
1o correct the hearing transcript in certain respects. No objections having
been filed, the motion is hereby granted.

¢ CI. Bithop and Malco, Inc., d/b/a Walker's, 159 NLRB 1159, 1161
(1966).

* There is no issuc as to the jurisdiction of the National Labor Rela-
tions Board in this manier, the Board having such jurisdiction by vinue of
the Postal Reorganization Act.

The complaint alieges, the shawer admits, and 1 find that at all times
material, the Union is u labor organization within the meaning of Sec.
2(5) of the Act, and wilhin the meaning of the Postal Reorganization
Act,

® A “Fiwness for duly examination,” may be described, essentislly, as n
physical caamination conducted by one of the Respondent’s staff physi-
cians, and comprising, in addition to a "hands on" physical examination
of the employee’s anstomy, questions and discussion by the physician of
the employee’s medical and work history. It is normally requested by the
Respondent in order to ascertzin whether an employee is fully fit for
duty, it for only light duty, or not it for any duty.

nurses and administrative personnel who are employed in
the medical unit. The record reflects thai, in addition to
conducting the examinations al issue herein, the medical
unit also provides first aid treatment and medical care for
iniured or ill employees at the facility, conducts physical
examinations for prospective employees, and clearance
examinations following an illness or injury.?

The fitness for duty examination on which the instant
proceeding is focused is pormalty initiated by an adminis-
trative officer of the Respondent (such a3 a posimaster)
when a personnel problem arises in his jurisdiction which
involves or requires a medical opinion. For example,
some of the alleged discriminatees in the instant matter
were scheduled for such examinations because of assert-
ed excessive absenteeism due to alleged illness or injury;
i.e., to determine the nature and scope of any such illness
or injury. It should be noted that prior 10 the scheduling
of such an examination the file of the affected employee
is forwarded to the administrative assistant in the medical
unit who makes the determination that a medical prob-
lem is involved and can only be resolved through a fit-
ness for duty examination, Once this delermination is es-
tablished, a date and time for the examination is mutually
agreed upon, and the employee is then scheduled for
such examination at the medical unit in Boston.

The affected employee may have a friend, relative, or
representative accompany him to the examination, and
there may be, if desired, a discussion prior to the exami-
nation among the doctor, patient, and his representative.
However, it is the policy of the Respondent not to allow
a third party {except an attending nurse, when needed)
to be present during the actual examination itself. This
policy is based primarily on the need for complete
candor, confidentiality, and lack of intrusion between the
doctor and the patient. However, after the examination is
completed it is the Respondent’s policy to allow a dis-
cussion among the doctor, patient, and his representative
at that time.

Following the examination, the physician will, in due
course, write a report making his findings and recom-
mendations to the requesting official. Such report may,
for example, find no injury or iliness and recommend full
duty; find that any such illness or injury would necessi-
tate only light duty; or perhaps recommend further spe-
cialized physical examination.®

The record is clear that the examining physician at the
medical unit has no authority to mete out any form of
discipline or punishment to the employee-patient, nor
does the record reflect that he ever recommends such a
course of action to the administrative officer. The most
that the record shows of a circumstance which comes
closest 10 such a recommendation is, for example, should
an cmployee have a record of excessive absenteeism
based on asserted illness, the examining physician may

7 The record shows that during an annual period, the medical umt han-
dles approximately 23,000 individual medical complaints.

® The collective-bargaining agreement beiween the Respondent and
the Charging Party provides a procedure for the appointment of a third
physician where there is & disagreement between the employee’s physi-
cian and the physician desighiated by the Respondent concerning the
medicat condition of an employee who is on a light duly assignment. See
It. Exh. 1, pp. 32-33,
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find insubstantial medical evidence to sustain such a posi-
tion; however, there is no evidence that the examining
physician has ever recommended any form of discipline
to be imposed as a consequence of such a circumstance.

B. Facts and Concluding Findings as 1o Weingarten
Allegations

The amended complaint herein alleges that on various
dates between January 8 and June 25, the Respondent
denied requests of six named employees, “to be repre-
sented by the Union during interviews which said em-
ployees had reasonable cause to believe would result in
disciplinary action or otherwise have an adverse impact
on their employment.” [t is further alleged that notwith-
standing the fact that the Respondent had denied the said
employees’ request for representation, the above-named
doctors proceeded to conduct such interviews on or
about the said dates. It is further alleged in paragraph 7
of the complaint that some of the named employees suf-
fered adverse consequences such as discharge or disci-
pline as a consequence of the interviews conducted by
the physician.®

The Respondent acknowledged its policy, set forth
above, which denies permission for union representation
during the filness for duty examinations, for the reasons
stated. The General Counsel relies on the doctrine enun-
cialed by the Board and the United States Supreme
Court in NL.R.B. v. J Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.8. 251,
(1975), in support of his position on this aspect of the
casc. The Respondent argues that Weingarren, which
arose in a commercial or industrial’® context, is not ap-
plicable, and should not be invoked in a physician-patient
interview such as is involved in the instant case. I agree
with the Respondent for the reasons discussed infra.

Bricfly summarized, the facts in Weingarten are that an
employee at one of its stores was accused of a small theft
of money from a cash register, and company ofTicials in-
vestigated. When they called the employee in for an in-
terview concerning alieged violations of company policy,
the employee asked that a shop steward accompany her,
but the store manager denied her request. This refusal,
where the employee has a reasonable fear that discipline
will result, was what the Board and the Court found to
constitute an invasion of employees’ Section 7 rights, in
violation of Section 8(a)1) of the Act.!! The Supreme
Court, in Weingarten, approved the Board's shaping of
the “contours and limits of the statutory right” as fol-
lows:

* Al Ihe hesring, counsel for the General Counsel acknowledged (hat
il il were found that the interviews were not conducied unlawfully, the
various consequences alleged in par. 7 of the complaint would not consti-
tute violations of the Act.

19 See companion case of [mternational Ladies® Garmet Workers® Union
v. Quolity Manufaciuring Company. 420 U.S. 276 (1973).

't In Quality, where the employer was & manufacturer of women's
clothing, the controversy involved a wage dispute between the employee
and mansgemenl. The employec's request to have her union steward
present st 8 mecting with the president, where she feared thal discipline
would ensue, was denied.

First, the right inheres in 7's guarantee of the
right of employees to act in concert for mutual aid
and protection.

» * ] ] -

Second, the right arises only in situations where
the employee requests representation. In other
words, the employee may (orego his guaranteed
right and, if he prefers, participate in an interview
unaccompanied by his union representative,

Third, the employee’s right to request representa-
tion as a condition of participation in an interview is
limited to situations where ihe employee reasonably be-
lieves the investigation will reswlt in disciplinary action
. . . .[Emphasis supplied.]

L] L] . . .

Fourth, exercise of the right may not interfere
with legitimate employer prerogatives. The employ-
er has no obligation to justify his refusal to allow
union representation, and despite refusal, the em-
ployer is free to carry on his inquiry without inter-
viewing the employee and thus leave to the employ-
ee the choice between having an interview unac-
companied by his representative, or having no inter-
view and foregoing any benefits that might be de-
rived from one. . . .

[ ] L] [ ] ] *

Fifth, the employer has no duty to bargain with
any union representative who may be permitted to
attend the investigatory interview. . . . “The repre-
sentative is preseni o assist the employee, and may ar-
tempt to clarify the facts or suggest other employees
who may have knowledge of them. The employer, how-
ever, is free to insist that he is only interested, at that
time, in hearing the emplayee’s own account of the
matter under investigation."[Emphasis supplied.]

Considering the facts of the instant case in the light of
the contours set forth above, it would appear that such
contours or limits simply did not contemplate covering
the kind of medical interview involved herein. Thus, the
third test requires that the employee reasonably believes
that the investigation will result in disciplinary action,
We may assume, for purposes of discussion, that the em-
ployees involved herein reasonably belicved that there
was a possibility that the fitness for duty examination
might have an adverse impact on their employment.t?
However, it would seem to unduly expand the ordinary
meaning of the word “discipline”—at least as it is under-
stood in labor relations parlance—to make it fit into the
instant situation. That is to say, the use of the term “dis-
cipline’ in the industrial context normally means a pun-
ishment or penalty which is imposed on an employee for

12 Severel of the employees testified that they had heard from other
employees that the latier had been suspended or not allowed 10 perform
certain Lasks, or consequences of that nature, as a consequence of the fit-
ness far duly examination.
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violation of an employer's policy, practice, or plant
rules.!? There is no evidence in the instant record that
any one of the six employees involved herein, or any
other employee, was required to undergo the fitness for
duty examination as a part of any “disciplinary program”
as that term is usually defined. They were simply called
for the examination in order to determine whether or not
they were physically and/or mentally capable of carry-
ing on the duties to which they were assigned. The doc-
tors, unlike the supervisory or managerial personnel in-
volved in Weingarten and its progeny (see fn. 19, infra)
had no authority to either impose discipline or even to
recomtnend it and did not do so. To be sure, in the case
of any individual employee, the results of the examina-
tion could have an adverse impact on their employment;
i.e.,, their hours could be shortened, they might not be
able to perform the work which they believed them-
selves capable, or, in the extreme case, it could be rec-
ommended that he (or she) be suspended for lack of abil-
ity or capacity to perform the job. However, this is not
“discipline” in the sense of punishment for the breach of
a rule or practice but, rather, a resolution of a medical
problem for the health and safety of the employee, his
fellow workers, and possibly the public with which the
employee may come in contact.

It is recognized, of course, as the General Counsel
points out, that the procedure might be utilized by an un-
scrupulous employer to rid itself of an unwanted cmploy-
ee by having the employer’s physician make medical
findings which would necessarily result in the dismissal
of the employee. However, there is no evidence of such
a Machiavellian intent here. The fact that an employee
might be discharged or suspended as a result of not com-
plying with the physician's recommendation, with which
the administrative officer agrees, does not make the fit-
ness for duty examination into an interview which the
employee fears might result in disciplinary action within
the meaning of the Weingarten doctrine,

Nor does the fitness for duty examination fit comfort-
ably within the above-quoted fourth contour enumerated
by the Supremc Court in Weingarten. This test empha-
sizes the freedom of the employee to refrain from partici-
pating in an interview while af the same time relinquish-
ing any benefit which might be derived therefrom; by
the same token, the employer would then be free to act
on the basis of information obtained from other
sources.’ Like the situation emanating from an alleged
breach of a rule or practice of the employer, the employ-
er may decide to proceed with discipline based on the in-
formation he has absent the investigatory interview
which the employee has declined. However, unlike that
situation, the Respondent here has evidenced no desire to
discipline or penalize the employee called for a medical
examination, but rather to simply ascertain the physical

13 See the definition in Webster's Third New Internstionst Dictionary:
“4: punishment: a3 a: chastisement self-inflicted as mortification or /m-
posed a5 o pemance or as a penalty”™; Black's Law Dictionary, 5th Edition,
defines the term as: “lnstruction, comprehending the communication of
knowledge and training to observe and el in sccordance with tules and
orders, Correction, chastisement, punishmeni, penalty.” (Emphasis sup-
plied.)

Y4 Mobi! Oil Corporation, 196 NLRB 1052 (1972) {quoted with approv-
al by the Supreme Court in Weingarien).

and/or mental ability or capacity of the employee to per-
form tasks to which he may be assigned. Certainly, it
may not be reasonably assumed that an employer, with-
out ulterior motives,’® normally wishes to rid itself of
otherwise competent employees who have not conducted
themselves in such a manner as to warrant dismissal or
other consequences of a disciplinary nature.

Finally, it seems clear that the instant situation does
not fit the fifth test of the Supreme Court, above-quoted.
Thus, it is apparent that the Court thought that the sanc-
tioning of a union representative at the type of interview
there under consideration would be of assistance not
only to the employee (since the union representative may
attempt to clarify the facts or suggest other employees
who may have knowledge of them), but also "“to make
certain that the employer does not initiate or continue a
practice of imposing punishment unjustly.”!®* The Courl
goes on to point out that “A single employee conironted
by an employer investigating whether certain conduct
deserves discipline may be too fearful or inarticulate to
relate accurately the incident being investigated, or too
ignorant to raise extenualing factors.” (Emphasis sup-
plied.)!? Again, it is apparent that the Court was point-
ing out the desirability of collective action in a situation
premised upon the employee’s fear of discipline due to
an alleged breach of a rule or practice in the plant. Here,
it woutd seem highly questionable, to say the least, that a
lay union representative would be of much assistance to
a physician conducting a physical exarnination.’®

But the General Counsel and the Charging Party
argue that the union representative in the instant case
may be of assistance to the employee with respect to the
questions posed by the physician relating to work histo-
ry, family history or, for example, questions relating to
how an injury occurred, etc. However, the record herein
is clear that the fitness for duty examination does not
lend itself to such a truncated procedure. Thus, while it
is apparently the customary procedure for the examining
physician to initiate the fitness for duty examination by
asking certain questions relating to the above-mentioned
subjects, and then proceeding to the “hands on” physical
examination, it is usuel and customary for the physician
to pursue such questions and discussion during the
“hands on" physical after the doctor has learned more
respecting the employee-patient’s anatomy and his physi-
cal abilities. It would, therefore, not be feasible to at-
tempt to divide the fitness for duty examination into two
parts in order that a union representative might be pres-
ent for the part relating to work history and the like.

Based on all of the foregoing, 1 am convinced and,
therefore, find that the fitness for duty examination al
issue here wus not within the contemplation of the deci-

'® There is na evidence or contention here thal the Respondent, which
is in & collective-bargaining relationship with the Charging Union, har-
bors a general antiunion bias.

1430 US 231

11 Id.

1% There is na contention in the instant case that the union representa-
tives requested by the alleged discriminatees had any medical qualifica-
tions.
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sion in Weingarten and its progeny.'® [ shall therefore
recommend that the complaint, insofar as it is based
upon the asserted right of the alleged discriminalees to
have a union representative present during their fitness
for duty examinations, be dismissed.

C. Alieged Independent 8{a)(1) and (3) Violations

The amended complaint (paragraph 8) alleges that
during the fitness for duty examination conducted by Dr.
Joseph B. Doyle of employee patient Norman R. Fugere,
Jr., on or about June 25, the doctor made certain coer-
cive remarks and engaged in interrogation concerning
union activities in violation of Section 8(a}(1) of the Act.
It is also alleged in paragraph 9 that through the conduct
of the fitness for duty examination on said date, the Re-
spondent “subjected its employee Norman R. Fugere,
Jr., to an accusatory, coetcive and intimidating inter-
view.” It i3 further alleged in paragraph 10 that the Re-
spondent engaged in such conduct described in para-
graph 9 because Fugere "joined, supported, or assisted
the Union, and engaged in concerted activities for the
purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or
protection, and in order to discourage employees from
engaging in such activities or other concerted activities
for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutua)
aid or protection.” By its duly filed answer, the Re-
spondent denies having engaged in any unlawful con-
duct.

For several years prior to the events giving rise to the
instant controversy, Fugere had been employed by the
Respondent at its Woonsocket, Rhode Island, postal fa-
cility as a distribution clerk (mail sorter). In October
1978, he received an injury to his knee. Later, in Janu-
ary, there was an operation performed on the knee, and
Fugere did not work from that time until approximately
7 months later. On or about June 6, he wrote a letter to
his postmaster in Woonsocket informing him that he
would be available to return to work on June 20, but his
work schedule would be limited to 2 hours per day due
to the order of his doctor. The postmaster, upon check-
ing with Fugere's physician, assertedly received conflict-
ing reports respecting the limitation on Fugere's ability
to work full time. On that basis, as well as the postmas-
ter's expressed doubt as to whether a knee injury should
cause an absence for as long a term as existed, requested
a fitness for duty examination for Fugere.3®

The fitness for duty examination was scheduled for—
and took place—on June 25. A few days prior thereto,
Fugere contacted Union Representative Smyrnios and
requested that the latter accompany him to the examina-

1% See, e.g. Amoco Chemical Corporation, 237 NLRB 394 (1978),
Sourth n Bell Teleph Company, 117 NLRB 122} {1971}, Climax
Molpbdenum Company, 227 NLRB 1189 (1977); Alfred M. Lewis, Inc, 229
NLRB 757 (1917, Genmeral Electric Company, 240 NLRB 497 (1979);
Crood Hope Refineries, Jac., 245 NLRB No. 39 (1979}, Roadway Express,
Inc., 246 NLRB No. |BO {1979); Baton Rouge Water Works Company, 246
NLEB NMo. 161 (1979).

0 The nolice to Fugere stated the reasan: * to determine your fitness
for duty in view of continucus absence since December 1978, stiributed
to an alleged injury on duty.”

tion. Smyrnios agreed and, in fact, accompanied Fugere
to the medical unit on that day.2?

When Fugere was called for examination by Dr.
Doyle, Smyrnios accompanied Fugere into the doctor's
office, and Fugere requested that Smyrnios be allowed to
represent him during the examination. Doyle refused,
citing the Respondent’s policy. After some rather acri-
monious discussion, Smyrnios did leave, but under pro-
test. Fugere also indicated that he was submitting to the
examination under protest since he felt that failure to
submit to the examination might result in some form of
discipline to him.

Following Smyrnios’ departure, according to Fugere's
testimony, Doyle turned to him and stated as follows: "I
don't know why you brought him with you. You came
here to jump down our throats and I'm not going to
aliow it." Fugere further lestified that Doyle asked him
why he thought the Union was needed, and that Doyle
opined that *“the Union should not bother with people
like me. The Union should stick with the drunks and
dope addicts where they belong.” Later in the interview,
according to Fugere. Doyle stated that while Doyle did
not give out disciplinary action, Fugere deserved it, and
then “We'll see what the Union will do for you.™2?

Doyle denied making the above-quoted statements
except that, on cross-examination, he did indicate that it
was probable that he asked Fugere why he had Smyrnios
at the examination.

The credibility issue here has been a difficult one.
Fugere impressed me as being one who approached the
fitness for duty examination with great apprehension and
concern based upon his apparent belief that the Respond-
ent had ordered the same in an attempt to justify subse-
quent disciplinary action, if not worse—as a basis for es-
tablishing an intent on the part of Fugere to defraud the
Respondent—that is, by making claims based on asserted
injury which were not true. Dr. Doyle impressed me as
being an outspoken individual who, while not harboring
an antiunion intent in general, was positive in his opinion
that union representation had no place in a medical inter-
view. In addition, it is clear that Doyle did not appreci-
ate Smyrnios’ militant and intrusive attitude on this
point. Accordingly, 1 believe, and therefore find, that
following Smyrnios’ departure from the room, Doyle
asked Fugere why he wanted Smyrnios with him, and
probably opined in strong language that Doyle was of
the view that it was not in the best interest of either the
Respondent or Fugere that a union representative be
present during the interview. Doyle might very well
have, in his agitated state, gone on to suggest other arcas
where unions should interest themselves such as with

2! The record reflects that, &t prior union mectings, Smyrnios had es-
pressed the viewpoint that the Weingarien docirine encompassed the fit-
ness for duty examination and encouraged employees who were called
for such examinations lo request union representation. As a consequence,
he had been to the medical unit in a representalive capacily an prior oc-
casions, and knew some of the personnel, including the doctors, em-
ployed there. However, he had never been allowed to accompany en em.
ployes-patient during a fitness for duty examination.

2 11 should be naled thal the doctor did mot in his report to the post.
master recommend any discipline for Fugere, but did recommend [ull
duty.
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drunks and dope addicts. However, [ do not believe that
Doyle directed Fugere not to talk to the Union or said
that employees do not need a union. However, given the
antagonistic circumstances extant in the interview, 1 be-
lieve it likely that Doyle made the statement attributed
to him by Fugere that while Doyle did not give out dis-
ciplinary action that Fugere deserved it, and then “We'll
see what the Union will do for you.”

While | have found that Doyle made some of the
statements attributed to him by Fugere which were de-
rogatory toward union representation and Fugere, [ am
not convinced that such constituted a violation of the
Act in the circumstances of this case. That is to say, as
previously noted, each participant came into the inter-
view with an emaotional chip on his shoulder, filled with
suspicion and antagonism toward each other. The state-
ments of the doctor made under such circumstances
were either emotional exclamations as a consequence of
intrusive conduct of the union representative ®3 or were
- basically his own opinion and were therefore protected
by Section B(c) of the statute.?* Moreover, even if it be
found that some of the statements made by the doctor to
Fugere in the particular circumstances of this case con-
stituted interference, restraint, and coercion within the
meaning of Section 8(a)(1) of the Acl, I do not believe it
wonld serve a nseful purpose to issue a remedial order.
This for the reason that, since 1 have found that the
Weingarten doctrine does not apply o the fitness for
duty examinations, there will be no repetition of events
which would lead to the kind of utterances made by the
doctor on this cccasion; i.e., there would be no atlempt
by an employee-patient 1o have a union representative
present at the examination. Accordingly, there is no need
for an order to cease and desist from such conduct in the
future.

Finally, 1 find a lack of substantial evidence to support
the allegation in paragraph 9 that the Respondent sub-
jected Fugere 10 “an accusatory, coercive and intimidat-
ing interview" because he engaged in union or other

13 Gee, e.g., Wilmington Heating Service. Ine., 171 NLRB 68 {1988),
4 See, ¢.8.. Hospital Service Corporation d/b/a Blue Cross, 219 NLRS )
(1975).

concerled activities, and in order to discourage other em-
ployees from engaging in such activities. Although there
were certain coercive and intimidatory statements made
by the doctor in the interview, as above-described, 1 find
that they were as a result oft (1) Fugere's desire to have
a union representative present during the examination,
which is not a right protected by Section 7; (2) that the
doctor believed that Fugere was in fact malingering with
respect to the seriousness of the injury he sustained and
his ability to perform essentially sedentary duties; and (3)
because of the intrusion and militancy of the union repre-
sentative on the occasion, which clearly upset the
doctor. None of the above fall within the tests of viola-
tion of Section B(a)1) and/or (3) of the Act.

In the light of all of the foregoing factors, 1 am unable
to conclude that there is substantial evidence to sustain
the allegations of paragraphs ¢ and 10 of the complaint,
and will therefore recommend that they be dismissed.

CONCLUSIONS OF Law

i. The National Labor Relations Board has jurisdiction
over the Respondent by virtue of the Postal Reorganiza-
tion Act,

2. The Union is a labor organization within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act and within the meaning of
the Postal Reorganization Act.

3. The Respondent did not, as alleged in the amended
complaint, engage in conduct violative of Section 8{a)}(1)
and (3) of the Act.

Upon the basis of the foregoing findings of fact and
conclusions of law, and upon the entire record, and pur-
suant to Section 10(c) of the Act, | hereby issue the fol-
lowing recommended:

ORDER?®
The complaint is hereby dismissed in its entirety.

5 [n the event no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of
the Rules and Regulations of the National Labor Relations Board, the
findings. conclusions, and recommended Order herein shall, as provided
in See. 10248 of the Rules snd Regulations, be adopied by the Board and
become its findings. conclusions, and Order, and all objections thereto
shalt be deemed waived for 2ll purposes.
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United States Postal Service and Eddie L. Jenkins.
Case 13-CA-16195-P

March 19, 1979
DECISION AND ORDER

By CHAIRMAN FANNING AND MEMBERS PENELLO
AND TRUESDALE

On September 19, 1978, Administrative Law Judge
Nancy M. Sherman issued the attached Decision in
this proceeding. Theteafter Respondent filed excep-
tions and a supporting briet.!

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3(b) of the
National Lahor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its au.
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the record and the at-
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and brief
and has decided to affirm the rulings. findings.? and
conclusions of the Administrative Law Judge, as fur-
ther explained herein, and to adopt her recommended
Order.

The Administrative Law Judge found that Respon-
dent violated Section 8(a}(1) of the Act by requiring
employee Eddie L. Jenkins to submil to an interview
with Postal Service inspectors, which the employee
reasonably feared might result in disciplinary action,
while denying his request for union representation at
the interview. Respondent has excepted to the Ad-

! Respondent has requested oral argument. This request is hereby denied,
a5 ihe record, the exceptions. and the heiel adequately presents the issues and
the positions of the parties.

 Respondent asseris that the Administrative Law Judge's resolution of
credibility, findings of facl, and conclusions of law are the result of bias.
After a cartful examination of the entire record, we are satisfied that this
allegation is without merit, There is no basis for finding thai bias and partial-
ity existed merely because the Administrative Law Judge resolved important
factual conflicts in favor of the General Counsels witnesses, As the Supreme
Court stated in N.L R.B. v. Pittsburgh Steamship Company, 337 U5, 656, 659
{1949), “|T]mal rejection of an opposed view cannot of itself impugn the
integrily or competence of a trier of fact.” Furthermore, it is the Board's
established policy not 1o overrule an Administrative Law Judge’s resolutions
with respect to credibility unless the clear preponderance of all of the rel-
evant evidence convinces us that the resolutions are incorrect. Srandard Dry
Wall Products, Inc., 91 NLRB 544 (1950), enfd. 188 F.2d 362 (3d Cir. 1951).
We have carefully examaned the record and find no basis for reversing her

Molybdenum Company, a Division of Amaox, Ine., 227 NLRB 1189 (1977), in
support of her statement that “both Miranda and ¥eingarien tights include
the righ! to preinterview consuliation with the representative.” Member
Penello, for the reasons discussed in his dissenting opinion in Climax Mofeh-
denum, would not rely on that case to suppart the decision hersin. While
expresang no view on Climax Molybdenum, Member Truesdale finds the
facts in that case inapposite 10 those here and. accordingly, places on reli-
ance on thal decssion in affirming the Adrminisirative Law Judge.

I addition. in recommending thay Respondent be ordered to rescind 1he
warning notce issued 10 Jenking and to reimburse Teabuns for the $216.95
deducted from his salary, the Adminisirative Law Judge relied on Southwess-
ern Bell Teigphone Company, 227 NLRB 1223 {1977). Member Penello agrees
with the Admimstrative Law Judge's recommeaded remedy, but in doing so,
he would not rely on Southwestern Bell Telephone Compnny, in which he
dissented.

24! NLRB No. 18

ministrative Law Judge's finding that the rendition to
an employee in a criminal investigation of his rights
under Miranda v. State of Arizona® does not supersede
or satisfy the rights under N.L.R.B. v. J. Weingarten,
Inc,* which might also attach to such an investiga-
tion. We find no meril in this exception, for the rea-
sons discussed below.

There is no dispute in the instant case that Jenkins
reasonably feared that the February 2. 1977, inter-
view with Postal Inspectors Hagedorn and Strachan
might result in his discipline. Tn addition, the credited
testimony reveals that Jenkins requested a union rep-
resentative during the February 2 interview and that
he was told by Inspector Hagedorn that Union repre-
sentatives were nol permiited to attend such criminal
investigations.

Under Weingarien, once an employee makes such a
valid request for union representation.® the employer
is permitted one of three options: (1) grant the re-
quest, (2) discontinue the interview ® or (3) offer the
employee the choice between continuing the inter-
view unaccompanied by a union representative or
having no interview at all.” Under no circumstances
may the employer continue the interview without
granting the employee union representation, unless
the employee voluntarily agrees to remain unrepre-
sented gafter having been presented by the employer
with the choices mentioned in option (3) above or if
the employee is otherwise aware of those choices?

In the instant case, after Jenkins requested union
representation Respondent not only denied his re-
quest but also failed to offer Jenkins the option of
continuing the interview unaccompanied by a union
represenitalive or having no interview at all.* Rather,
Respondent merely continued with the interview. Un-
der these circumstances, it is clear that Jenkins did
not waive his Weingarten rights, and, thus, Respon-
dent viclated Jenkins' Section 7 right to union repre-
sentation at the February 2 interview.

Respondent nevertheless contends that it satisfied
its oblipations under Weingarten by informing Jen-
kins of his Miranda rights and, in addition, that Jen-
kins in effect waived his Weingarten rights by signing
the Miranda waiver. We find no merit in these con-

1384 U.S. 46 (1966).

4420 U S. 251 (1975).

3 Compare Coca-Colo Bouling Co. of Los Angefes, 227 NLRB 1276 (1977},
where 2 majorily of the Board concluded that an employee's request for
union represenialion was not valid, since he knew that a particular union
steward was unavailable for severnl days and failed to request an aliernative
representative.

8 See Amoro Oil Company, 238 NLRD No. 84 (1978).

1See Meharry Medical College, 236 NLRB 1396 (1978),

¥ See Super Valu Xenia, o Division of Super Value Siorer. Inc, 336 NLRB
1581, 1590-91 (1978).

9 There is no evidence to indicate thal fenkins was otherwise aware that he
could choose 10 discontinue the interview or 1o proceed with the inlerview
without 2 union representalive,
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tentions, We arc in complele agreement with the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge's analysis of the significant
differences in foundation and scope of Mirandu and
Weingarten vights, and we adopt her conclusion that
“Jenkins' Weingarten rights were unaflected by any
rights he may also have possessed or heen accorded
under Mirandu.” The fact that Jenkins signed the Ai-
randa waiver at the outset of the interview is com-
pletely irrelevant to his subsequent assertion of his
Weingarten rights, since we have found that at the
time Jenkins requested his union representalive. Re-
spondent failed to offer Jenkins the option of continu-
ing the interview unaccompanied by a union repre-
sentative or having no interview at ali, Thus, Jenkins
never expressed a willingness to waive his Weingarien
rights afier his assertion of such rights, nor was he
even given the opportunity to do s0.'

Respondent further contends that if an employee is
afforded the right to have a union representative pre-
sent during a criminal investigation conducted by
postal inspectors, there might exist a significant inter-
ference with “legitimate employer prerogatives,”!! as
well as societal prerogatives, in having the Federal
laws dealing with postal offenses properly investi-
gated. Although we are not unmindful of the serious
nature of the offenses which the Postal [nspection
Service is charged with investigating, the fact remains
that in the inslant case. Respondent administratively
disciplined 43 security police officers for unauthorized
purchases under the uniform-allowance program, and
in each case the discipline was based on evidence ob-
tained as a result of the criminal investigation con-
ducted by the Postal Inspection Service. The only em-
ployee who was accorded a separate administrative
investigation was Jenkins, but. as the Administrative
Law Judge correctly found, the “letter of warning”
issued to Jenkins was based on evidence derived from
the criminal investigation. Thus, were we to accepl
Respondent’s argument that “legitimate employer
prerogatives” and the public safety require the exclu-
sion of all union representatives from criminal investi-
gations conducted by the Postal Inspection Service,
while at the same time permitting Respondent to ad-
ministratively discipline employees based on the
fruits of such criminal investigations, we would in ef-
fect be nullifying the Weingarten rights of any Postal
Service employee who might he administratively dis-
ciplined as the result of a criminal investigation. Such
an outcome is clearly repugnani to the historical de-

" We also note that the question as o whether Jenkins did 1n facl waive
his Miranda cights is not free from douby, in light of the evidence that at the
time Jenkins signed the Miranda waiver, he wits ld it was merely a furmal.
ity and that when Jenkins later requested tegal counseling, such request was
denied.

WNLREB v.J Weingerten, Inc., suprar at 258, fn. 4.

velopment by the Board of the principle, approved by
the Supreme Court in Weingarien, that Section 7 cre-
ates a statutory right in an employee to refuse to sub-
mit withoul union representation to an interview
which he reasonably fears may result in his disci-
pline.’’ Accordingly, we reject the Respondent’s con-
lention as heing wholly without merit.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10{c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended. the National Labor Rela-
tions Board adopts as its Order the recommended Or-
der of the Administrative Law Judge and hereby or-
ders that the Respondent. United States Postal
Service, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns,
shall take the action set forth in the said recommend-
ed Order.

N 8ee Exxon Company, U.S.A., 223 NLRE 203 (1975 (viclation found
where the investigation involved alleged criminal canduct by the employee);
Hilinois Bell Telephone Company, 221 NLRB 989 (1975) (violation found
where the investigation involved alleged theft of company property by the
empluyee, and it was conducted by employer’s security representative); De-
troit Edisun Compauny., 217 NLRB 622 {1975) {viclation found where the
investigation involved alleged irregularities in travel reimbursement claims
by the employer. and it was conducted by the employer's secunty depart-
ment )

DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nancy M. SHerMAN, Administrative Law Judge: This
case was heard in Chicago. Illinois, on May 15 and 16,
1978, pursuant to a ¢harge filed on February 7, 1977, and a
complaint issued on June 16, 1977. The issue presented is
whether Respondent United States Postal Service violated
the Postal Reorganization Act (the PRA) and Section
8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations Act, as amended
(the NLRA}. by requiring the Charging Party, employee
Eddie L. Jenkins. 0 submit to an interview, which he rea-
sonably feared would lead to disciplinary action against
him, while denying his alleged request for union representa-
tion during the interview. The General Counsel contends
that Jenkins was entitled to such representation under
NLRB. v. J. Weingarren, Inc.. 420 U.S. 251 (1975). The
Postal Service contends, inter alia, that any such right was
sufficiently satisfied by the Postal Service's action in alleg-
edly affording Jenkins rights under Miranda v. State of Ari-
rona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Upon the entire record, including my observation of the
witnesses, and after due consideration of the briefs filed by
counsel for the General Counsel (the General Counsel) and
lhe Postal Service, | hereby make the following:

FINDINGS OF Fac
I JURISDICTION

At all times material, the Board has had junsdiction over
this matter by virtue of Section 1209 of the PRA, The Fed-



eration of Postal Security Police (the Union) is a labor or-
ganization within the meaning of the NI.RA.

1, THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LAROR PRACTICES

A. Buckground

The Postal Service maintains a Postal Inspection Service
which is responsible for, inrer alia. enforcement of postal
laws, plant and personnel security. and internal audits, Iis
responsibililies include carrying vut investigations and pre-
senting evidence to the Department of Justice and United
States attorneys in investigations of a criminal nature and
the performance of operating inspections and audits for the
Postal Service. 39 CFR 224.7. The Postal Inspection Service
is headed by the postal inspector in Washington, D.C.
Among the officials reporting directly to him is Regional
Chief Inspector Carl E. Lawrence. whose office is in Chi-
cago, Illinois, but whose duties encompass 13 Midwestern
States. Among the officials reporting directly to Lawrence is
the postal inspector in charge of the Chicago division, Roh-
ert N. Moore, whose office is alse in Chicago but whose
duties encompass northern [llinois and portions of lowa
and Indiana. Among the personnel under Moore's jurisdic-
tion are ahout 106 postal inspectors and ahouwt 290 security
police officers, Directly under Maoaote are, inter alia, an
assistant inspector in charge Jor fraud and prohibited mail-
ings (Henrickson) and an assistant inspector in charge for
security and internal crimes. who during the period here
involved was Dobbins. Directly under Dobhins were per-
sons classified as security officers in charge. Direcily under
each such security officer in charge are lieulepants: at the
Chicage main post office, there are three lieuterants. each
of whom is responsible for a particular 8-hour shift out of
the 24-hour day. Under the lieutenants are persons classi-
fied as sergeants. and under them are employees classified
as security police officers. At all times relevant here. the
Union has represented the security police officers in the
Chicago division. Some of the securily officers’ duties are
summarized infra al footnote 30.

The Postal Service requires all security officers 1o wear
“approved uniform items.” at feast some of which are ac-
ceptable as ordinary civilian dress. Among such itlems ace
“[bllack, lace type shoes as preseribed in Postal Service
Manual.”! The security force manual given 1o each seceurity
police officer when he enters on duty states that upon
gradualion from the security force training course, each em-
ployee will receive a first-year uniform allowance of $250,
and that thereafler he will receive a uniform allowance of
$154 a year (see fn. 2 infra). Administratively, this uniform
allowance is handled by giving each employee a card or
cards which resemhle checks., Alter selecting “approved
uniform™ items from a vendor approved by the Postal Ser-
vice. the employee signs a statement that the merchandise
conforms to Postal Service regulations and gives a stub
from the card to the vendor. who sends the stub to the
Postal Service 1o get paid. Many. if not al, of these vendors
also sefl items which are not on the Postal Service’s “ap-

! Such items sl inelude black leather belis, black gloves. neckiies. fur
caps, howts, rubbers. and galoshes.
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proved uniform items™ list 1o persons who are nol necessar-
ily uniformed posial service personnel. An employee who
fails to use up his entire uniform allowance in 1 year loses
the unused amount. At all times here relevant, the security
police have been covered by a bargaining agreement which
contains provisions for wniform allowances.” The Postal
Services's security force manual provides, irer alia, *Pay-
ments shall not be claimed and may nol be made for any
items of clothing that do not confurm with the detailed
male or female specifications and styles lor the employees”
calegory of employment.”

In early January 1977 Moore received a report from
Postal Inspector McCloud that examination of uniform-al-
lowance records showed that several security police officers
were purchasing unusual numbers of shoes from one ven-
dor. McCloud further advised Moore of a report from one
such officer that these purchases had been encouraged by
the vendor. In late January or eurly February Moore di-
rected Posta) Inspector Wilhur E. Holmes, Jr.. w conduct
an investigation into possible conspiracy by the vendor and
pussible intent to defraud by the secunty police officers. In
order to conduct this investigation. Holmes had about
seven Iwo-man t¢ams of postal inspectors conduct inter-
views of the 75 security police officers who were the subjects
of the investigation. Among these 75 security police officers
wirs the Charging Party. Eddie L. Jenkins, who has been
employed by the Postat Service as a security pulice officer
since ahow 1972

B. Jenkins® Interview With Postal Inspectors Strachan and
Hagedorn

Among the postal ingpectors assigned o the investigation
were John §. Strachan and Timothy W. Hagedorn. They
arranged through Jenkins’ supervisor to have Jenkins report
ta the security office on Febroary 2. 1977, That day Jen-
kins' superior, Lieutenant Lomax. gave Jenkins a slip with
his name on it and. in the presence of Sergeant Magee.
mstructed Jenkins to leave his gun, belt. baton. and hand-
cuffs in his locker and to go to the security office. This was
the first occasion on which Jenkins had been directed 10
leave his gun belt in his locker befure going o the security
office,

When Jenkins came into the security office. Strachan and
Hagedorn showed him their credentials and itsked him to

v Postal Inspecior Moore so tesufied. He further restified thai
prive to the heanng he filed an affidavit with the Board and attitched thereto
vertamn provisions of the collective-bargasning agreement. This affidavit and
these attachments were altached ¢ Respondent's preheanng September
1977 and May 1978 mobons for summary jwdgment, both of which were
denced by the Board and which weee offered by the General Cogosel, and
recenved i evidence withont objectiun, as part of the formal pleadings. Sec
GO Bahs, 10y and Tip). See. XXVIIE of she agreement in quesiwon deals
with uniform altowanves. | need not and do not Jetermine the extent, 1l any.
o which these attachments may he regarded as probative evidenve,

? Such conduct might have violiated 18 U.S.C §§371 1Canspiray 1o com-
mi offense ur to defraud United States™). 1001 (0 matter withun Junisdiction
of a United Stares department o agenvy. making or using document g with
false. livubious, or frsudulent statement). 003 fuse of a False document to
support a mones demond agaanst Unied States), 171 Misappropriation of
postal funds™), or 1712 (Fadsificalion of posial return 1o increase compenss
non”™y, Such vifenses ure ponmshablie by fine e some inataaces up to 310,000
Al or inprsenaend B e iisldhoes up Lo S vears)
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sit down. In order 1o make sure that Jenkins was the person
the inspectors were supposed 1o interview, and in order “to
get [Jenkins] to start talking in an atmosphere of conversa-
tion,” Strachan or Hagedorn asked Jenkins whether he was
married, whether he had any children, and how Jong he had
been working on the job. Jenkins answered all these ques-
tions. Hagedorn then told Jenkins that Hagedarn and Stra-
chan were investigating various security police officers that
might be involved in misuse of the uniform allowance and
that Jenkins might be one of them. Hagedorn asked Jenkins
not 1o reply at this point. Hagedorn went on to inquire if
Jenkins was familiar with the Miranda decision (384 U.S.
436). As a security police officer, Jenkins had status as a law
enforcement officer and had the power to make arrests (see
fn. 30 infra). In being trained 5 years earlier for his job as a
securily police officer, Jenkins had been told to give Miran-
da warnings when someone was placed under arrest, bul he
had never in practice had occasion to give any such warn-
ing and had forgotten much of what he had been taught in
this connection. Hagedomn read Jenkins, and asked him to
sign, the fallowing document:

Before you are asked any questions you must under-
stand your rights, You have a right to remain silent,
Anything you say can be used against you in court.
You have the right to talk to a lawyer for advice before
we ask you any questions and to have him with you
during questioning. If you cannot afford a lawyer, one
will be appointed for you beflore any questioning if you
wish. If you decide {0 answer questions now without a
lawyer present, you will still have the right to stop an-
swering at any iime. You also have the right 10 stop
answering at any time unti! you talk to a lawyer.

[ have read this statement of my rights and T under-
stand what my rights are. [ am willing to make a state-
ment and answer questions. | do not want a lawyer. |
understand and know what I am doing. No promises
or threats have been made to me and no pressure or
coercion of any kind has been used against me.

Jenkins said that “the only time you read the Miranda
decision to anyone is when they are under arrest. Am |
under arrest?’ Hagedorn said he was not and that it was
*“just a formality.” Jenkins then signed the document.

Strachan then produced nine vouchers, which bore dates
between April 30, 1973, and Aprit 23, 1976, a period of
almost 3 years. Euch of these vouchers was signed by Jen-
kins and stated that he had purchased shoes conforming 1o
Postal Service requirements. The vouchers covered the pur-
chase of 13 pairs of shoes.! Hagedorn said that “we know™
all those shoes were not for the job and asked Jenkins how
many pairs e had bought for his own persenal use. Hage-
dorn said that Jenkins might as well tell them because they
were going 10 subpena the records of the store where Jen-
kins bought most of the shoes. and if Hagedorn and Stra-
chan found out he was lying, it could be hard vun him. Jen-
kins said that he thought he shouid have some kind of legal
counseling before answering any more questions and asked
whether he could get a lawyer. Hagedorn said that he could

4 Vouchers which included the shoe size variously specified 9M, 913, 9-1/2,
9-1/2D, and 10E. The price per pair varied from about 317 (June 1976) o
$30.95 (March 1976).

obtain one at his own expense, but it would be foolish 1o get
a lawyer because a lawyer could not sit in on an investiga-
tion. Jenkins said, *'. . . so this is an investigation? Hage-
dorn said, "Yes.” Jenkins said, *. . if I can't get a lawyer in
on the investigation, can I get a union steward in?" Hage-
dorn said that a union steward cannot sit on an investiga-
tion. {n a series of guestions, he asked Jenkins to name the
union steward, the chief sieward, the president, and the
assistant steward. In response, Jenkins named each of them,
including two referred to herein as John Doe and Richard
Roe (see fn. 16 infra). All of them worked on Jenkins'
*“tour™ (shifY). Jenkins said, “, .. just a minute ago you read
me my rights and said I could have legal counselling, Now
you are saying | can’t have legal counselling.” Hagedorn
said, “, . . [D]o you think you should have legal counselling
for defrauding the government?" Jenkins denied defrauding
the Government and asked how long the investigation had
been going on. Hagedorn said that it had been going on for
3 months.! Jenkins asked who was being investigated.
Hagedorn said that anybody that had a uniform allowance
was being investigated.® Strachan asked how many pairs of
shoes Jenkins had bought for the job. Jenkins, Strachan,
and Hagedorn went through nine vouchers, two of them
issued by Kale Uniforms and seven of them issued by a firm
referred to herein as the X Company (see fn. 17 infra). Jen-
kins, Hagedorn. and Strachan all initialed each voucher
where Jenkins could authenticate his signature and was
sure that he had not paid the voucher from his own funds.
All of the vouchers so initialed were issued by the X Com-
pany, and they covered a total of 11 pairs of shoes, 2 of
them having been bought on March 13, 1975, and 3 having
been bought on June 30, 1975, Jenkins declined to identify
his signature on or initial one of the Kale Uniform vouch-
ers, dated almost 4 years earlier, on the ground that it had
been issued some time apo. Hagedorn said, ™. . . you are so
God damp stupid you can’t identify your own signature on
the voucher.” Jenkins said that he did not appreciale Hage-
dorn's “cussing at" him. Strachan told Hagedorn 10 “cool
down hecause everybody's nerves were on edge.” Jenkins
said that 10 of the [ pairs of shoes covered by X Company
vouchers had been purchased from the X Company for his
personal use. Hagedorn and Strachan thereupon added up
the total amount of the X Company vouchers, divided this
total by t1 to determine the average price per pair of shoes,
and multiplied this average by 10, They reached the asith-
netic result of $240.90. Strachan then ook a premimeo-
graphed form, typed in Jenkins' name and the amount,
typed tn an additional sentence, signed the form, and gave
it to Jenkins, The form as given o Jenhins stated, in mate-
nal part (emphasis to indicate portions typed in by Stra-
chan):

Subject: Demand for Payment

This letter is demand for payment of $240.90 for
ilems purchased and paid for through the uniform al-
lowance program. These items do not comply with
Postal Service uniform specifications for your employ-
ment calegory. They were purchased by you for per-

$ The invesligation was already wn progress when Moore became division
poslal inspector i January 1977.
¢ In facy, Lhe investigalion was imued o securny pohice ofticers,



UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE 145

sonal use, Payment by certified check or money order
should be made within 15 days from this date”

Jenkins said that if it was illegal for the employees to
purchase shoes from the X Company on their uniform al-
lowance, why had the vouchers been approved, and why
had this not been stopped 4 years apo. when it started?
Strachan or Hagedorn asked whether anyone had told Jen-
kins to go to the X Company. Jenkins said, “No.” Strachan
or Hagedorn asked whether Jenkins had heard any locker
room talk and, when Jenkins said “No,” asked him whai
had happened. He said that he had shopped al the X Com-
pany before he had started working at the post office and
that when an X Company salesman learned during a con-
versalion with Jenkins where he was working, the salesman
told him that he could buy shoes on his uniform allowance,
Strachan said that this corresponded with whal everybody
else had said. Hagedorn asked Jenkins to wnite a statement
about whether he had seen any postal employees at the X
Company the first time he wenl there and how he had
found out about X Company’s arrangements about selling
shoes to Postal Service employees. Jenkins refused o write
any statement. Strachan and Hagedorn asked whether Jen-
kins knew of any supervisors that were buying shoes at the
X Company and whether any supervisor had told him
about going down there, Jenkins said “No". Hagedorn and
Strachan said that the investligation was secret and told Jen-
kins not to talk with anyone about it, including "security™
or the X Company. Jenkins told Hagedorn that Jenkins had
paid out of his own pocket for some of the shoes listed on
the vouchers, because when the vouchers came through he
had no more money left on his uniform allowance, and the
store had sent him a letter that he owed this money because
the Postal Service had not paid it. Hagedorn said that he
and Strachan had no way of verifying this, Upon termina-
tion of the interview, Jenkins was “‘excused.” Abhout Febru-
ary 4, 1977, Hagedorn and Strachan. in accordance with
the general practice followed during the uniform-allowance
investipation, gave their handwritten field notes of this in-
terview to Postal Inspector Holmes.

My findings as to this February 2 conversation are based
on a composite of and inferences from the vouchers, the
“Demand for Payment,” and credible portions of the testi-
mony of Jenkins. Hagedorn. and Strachan. 1 do not credit
Hagedorn's and Strachan's denials that Jenkins asked for a
union steward, for demeanor reasons, because both postal
inspectors admitted that Hagedorn asked Jenkins to name
his union representatives, and because [ regard as some-
what improbable Hagedorn's explanation (uncorroborated

? The Postal Service's memorandum in supporl of its prehearing motions
for summary judgment asserts that the “*Demand for Payment” was autho-
rized by 39 US.C. §2601(s), 39 CFR 946.1(g) (see fin. 31 infra). and Art.
XXV] of the bargaining agreement. According to the attachmenis 1o this
memorandum (se¢ (n. 2 supra), An. XXV reads as fotlows:

Section 1. The parties agree that continued public confidence in the
Service requires The proper care and protection of the L. §. P, 5. prop-
erly, posial funds, and the mails. In advance of any money demand
upon an employee, he must be informed in writing and the demand
must include the reasons therefor.

Section 2. An employee shall be financially liable for any loss or
damage to property of the Employer including leased properly and ve-
hicles only when Lhe Joss or damage was the result of the willful or
deliberate misconduct of such emplayee.

by Strachan, who could not recall the context of Hage-
dorn's inquiries) that he asked these questions in order to
“maintain rapport” with Jenkins and because he knew that
he and Strachan were going to interview union representa-
tives accused of the same violation. To the extent that it is
inconsistent with my findings in the preceding paragraphs, |
do not credit Strachan’s testimony that Jenkins did not ask
for a lawyer, Hagedorn's testimony that Jenkins never
asked for legal counseling and was not denied the right to
obtain a lawyer, or Strachan’s denial that Jenkins was told
that a lawyer would not be able to sit in on the investiga-
tion, for demeanor reasons and in view of Hagedormn's testi-
mony that toward the middle of the interview, Jenkins said
that he might need a lawyer and that Hagedorn said he
could have one at his own expense il he wished. In view of
the probabilities of the situation, I do not accept Jenkins'
testimony that before signing the Miranda form he said,
“Seems like I should have some sort of legal counselling,”
and T accept Hagedorn's denial. However, for demeanor
reasons, I do not accept Strachan's testimony that Jenkins
signed the Miranda form without hesitation. | do not accept
Hagedorn's testimony that Jenkins initialed the vouchers
for shoes he admittedly purchased for personal use, in view
of Hagedorn's further testimony that Jenkins said 10 pairs
of the shoes he bought from the X Company were for his
personal use and the fact that Jenkins intialed X Company
vouchers for 11 pairs of shoes. | do not credit Hagedorn's or
Strachan’s denial of Jenkin's testimony that Hagedorn
called him stupid and “cussed” him for being unable to
authenticate his signature on a 4-year-old voucher. for de-
meanor reasons and because Strachan did not corroborate
Hagedorn's testimony that Jenkins did not question the au-
thenticity of his signature on any of these documents. My
findings that Jenkins failed to initial vouchers which he
thought ke might have paid for himself is based on an infer-
ence drawn from the fact that the two he failed to initial
each involved one pair of shoes from Kale Uniforms; he in
fact had paid at least one of these vouchers himself (see sec.
II. C infra). and both Jenkins and Strachan testified that
Jenkins said he had paid some of the vouchers out of his
own pocket—according to Strachan, vouchers for two or
three pairs. In crediting Jenkins' testimony to the extent
indicated. 1 have taken into account his obviously untruth-
ful disclaimer of knowledge that he had arrest powers. My
credibility findings would not be altered were [ to give to
Jenkins' admissions to Hagedorn and Strachan about buy-
ing shoes for personal use the same weight that I would give
them by assuming with Respondent that Jenkins did not
ask for his Weingarten rights. In any event, see fn. 41 infra.

C. Jenkins' Second Interview With Postal Inspectors
Hagedorn and Strachan

After this interview, Jenkins located at his home certain
documents which showed that he had paid out of his own
pocket one of the nine vouchers produced by Hagedorn and
Strachan during the February 2 interview-—namely, a
$23.95 voucher issued by Kale Uniforms in April 1976. A1
Jenkins request. on Fehruary 3 he again went down to see
Hagedorn and Strachan. Hagedorn again read and asked
Jenkins to sign a Miranda form, identical to the form signed
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by Jenkins on February 2. Jenkins refused but said that he
understood his Miranda rights.

Jenkins then showed the proof ol payment 10 Hagedorn,
Hagedorn said that he would not reduce the size of the
“Dremand for Payment™ unless Jenkins leit the documents
with Hagedorn and Strachan or permitied them to make
copies. bul Jenkins refused on the ground that there might
be something incriminating against me.” Jenkins did not
request union representation during this interview.

D. Events Preceding Jenkins' Interview With Security
Officers in Charge Cruse and Seott

On February 7. 1977, Jenkins filed his charge herein, al-
leging that the Postal Service, in violation of the PRA and
Section 8(a)( 1) of the NLRA, had “[s]ince on or about Feb-
ruary 2, 1977 .. . denied Eddie L. Jenkins union representa-
tion.” On February 9. 1977. this charge was received by an
agent of Richard Froelke, counsel for the Postal Service,

On February 15, 1977, Jenkins received a “Demand for
Payment,” signed by Postal Inspector Holmes, which
stated:

This memorandum s demand for payment of
$216.95 for items purchased and paid for through the
uniform allowance program, which items do not com-
ply with Postal Service uniform specifications for your
employment category. This memorandum rescinds the
earlier letter of demand dated February 2, 1977,

The amount is reduced based on a review of the
invoices you submitted for payment under the uniform
allowance program during uniform allowanve year be-
ginning March 10, 1976 {sic: ¢f. fn. 12 infra). The total
invoices submitied for paynient exceeded your maxi-
mum allowance by $23.95 und the last invoice generat-
ing the excess wus for unauthorized items.

Paymem by certified check or money order should
he made within 13 days from thix date,

The $23.95 reduction had heen authorized by Holmes per-
sonally.

A day or two later Jenkins told Strachan and Hagedorn
that Jenkins would pay this amount in a lump sum. Jenkins
then decided that rather than pay in a lump sum, he would
have the money taken out of his paycheck in installments.
On Febtuary 18, at Jenkins® request, he went down to see
Strachan and adwvised him of this decision. Jenkins did not
request union representation during this interview. That
same day Jenkins sighed an “Authorization for Payrall De.
duction te Liguidate Indebtedness™ form which read. in
part (cmphasis to indicate nonpnnted portions of docu-
ment):

[ acknowledge that [am indebted (o the U, Postal
Service in the amount of $2/6.95. Since it will be o my
financial advantage, | respectfully request that | he
permitted to liquidate this indebtedness in the follow-
ing manmner:

L] L L] * *
2. A balance of 32/4.95 1o be deducted in § equal

instaltments of $4.2.4¢ from my salary checks . ., bepm-
ning with the check due ... £-78-77 andd continuing

urttil the debt is liquidated. Reimbursement fur unaurho-
rized purchases under the wniform aflowance program.

I hereby certify that the foregoing stalements are
true and correct 1o the best of my knowledge and be-
lief. and they are made of my own free will and at my
own direction,

Jenkins credibly (estified that he signed this decument *be-
cause they told me 1 had to pay the money back so | didn't
wanl to pay it out of my pocket so I told them to take it out
of my check.” When Postal Service counsel then asked, “So
you agreed 1o this arrangement? There is no guestion in
your mind about that, is there?.” Jenkins credibly replied,
“Well, 1 had to.”

The deductivas so authorized were duly made, with the
final deduction made on April 15, 1977, Jenkins testified at
the hearing that the word “reimbursement”™ means “pay
back.”

Meanwhile, Postal Service attorney Froelke got in touch
with an assistant to Division Postal Enspector Moore ahout
I*ebruary 10 and with Moore himself about March 25, Dur-
ing this latter meeting, Froelke advised Moore of the con-
tention that the merits of the instant charge were governed
by Weingarten (420 U.S. 251). Postal Inspector Holmes,
who was in charge of the investigation regarding uniform
allowances, testified that about this same time Assistant in-
spector in Charge Henrickson instructed him to return the
uaiform-invoice file regarding Jenkins back 10 the person-
nel section because a separate administrative investigation
would be conducted by someone else. Holmes further testi-
fied that he thereupon returned these documents 0 Ms, AL
Spencer. a security force program analyst whose immediate
superior was Dobbins, the assistanl inspector in charge for
security and inlernal crimes. Henrickson, Spencer. and
Dobbins did not testity. By letter to Moore dated May 12,
1977, Regional Chief Inspector Lawrence stated:

This has reference 1o your request tor procedural
instructions regarding the possible misuse of uniform
allowance tunds by Security Force personnel,

Hecause of the unusual circumstances of this case
and specifically the puosition taken by the Postal Ser-
vice in its preliminary statement 1o [the Board's Re-
gional Office in the instant case]. Mr. Froclke's advice
as expressed in his April 15, 1977, memorandum
should be tollowed. In this regard, 1t is supgested that
the Inspection Service manager selected o supervise
the administrative investigation shoukl be une who
neither was involved in the criminal mvestigation nor
has any responsibilities in copnection with the process-
ing of grievances under the contract.

Further, should the employee reguest union sepre-
septution during any investigalive iferview. such re-
quest shoold be granted. notwathstanding the fact that
Security Foree lubor contracts do not contain a Memo-
randum of Understanding regarding union representa-
tion like that relating to the 1975 National Agreement
with other postal crafs.

Ln view of the wnavailability of grand jury testimony
and subpoenaed documents, evidenee upon which dis-
ciplinary action may be taken will, of necessity. have
to be developed independent of the criminal investiga-
tiom through interviews of involved personnel. exami-
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nation of inferna! Postal Service documents relating to
the uniform program, ete. If, of course, indictments are
handed down. the indicted employees may be placed
on indefinite suspension under the discipline procedure
in Section 3 of Article XV of the Federation of Postal
Security Police contract. which permits the Postal Ser-
vice to immediately remove an employee [rom a pay
status where there is reasonable cause 1o believe that
the employee is guilty of a crime tor which a sentence
of imprisonment can he imposed. It is further sug-
gested that all notices of charpes prepared in their case
be coordinated with Mr. Froelke's office.

National Headquarters is continuing to assess the
impact of recent NILRB decisions interpreting Wein-
garten an the Postal Service's long-standing policy re-
garding union representation during investigatory in-
terviews and as soon as 3 dedision is reached as 10 what
legal ohligations these Board decisions impose upon
the Postal Service. a policy statement will he dissemi-
nated to atl affected Postal Service elements.

Muoore testilied that during Holmes™ investigation of the
uniform-agllowance program. on twoe or three oceasions
Holmes described 1o Moore the overal] progress of the in-
vesligation, hul never related 1o him specitic data as to spe-
cific conduet of speaific security police officers. Moore fur-
ther testified that as of his conversation with attoroey
Froelke un March 25, Moore did not have in his possession
any ol the criminal data developed by Holmes' group with
respect (o Jenkins personally, and, so far as Moore knew, as
of that date neither the assistant inspector in ¢charge fur
security and internal enimes {Dobhins) nor any direct super-
visor of security police ofticers had any such data. [ addi-
tion, Moure testified that, so far as he knew. and laying
Jenkins to one side, none of the security police personnel
interviewed in connection with the uniform-allowance in-
vestigation requested union representation.”

Muoore testified that after receiving Lawrence’s May 12
letter, he instructed Hearickson, the assistant inspector in
charge for rraud and prohibited mailings. to cause the con-
duct of an administrative investigation of Jenkins® use of his
uniform allowance. $till according to Moore, he instructed
Henrickson to have the investigalion conducted by two su-
pervisors wha had no knowledge whatever of the investiga-
tion heing conducted and not to afford such supervisors any
of the material collecied in connection with the criminal
investigation. The two supervisors sclected were Security
Officers in Charge P, E. Cruse and R. H. Scoti. Moore had
no personal knowledge of what they were told to do. Hen-
rickson, Cruse, and Scotl did not testify.

E. Jenking' Imterview With Security Officers in Charge
Cruse und Scott

On May 27. Licutenant Lomax instructed Jenkins 1o wait
m Lomax’s vftice for Security Otficer in Charge Cruse, who

! However. Holmes Tater reported to Mowre that an unduelosed nunther
had refused w dicuss the yaforn-allowanee nubier affer receving their
Muranda rights, See infra,

* As disvussed infra, such material was in Holmes' office files v in the
powsessan af the grand yury. Moore testificd that sone of this maderaad wonld
be m Jenkiny” perasnanel Tulder,

waitted 1o talk with Jenkins, A few minutes later Cruse
came into Lomax’s office and escorted Jenkins to Cruse's
office. where Cruse said they had to wait for Secority Offi-
cer in Charge Scott, Jenkins and Cruse discussed sports un-
til, about 1/2 hour later. Scott came in with a briefease.
Scott sat at one end of Cruse’s desk and pulled ot some
papers. Cruse sat at the other end, pulled out Jenkins' file,
and said that Cruse and Scott had 1o guestion Jenkins
about vouchers for shoes he bought at the X Company.
Jenkins said that he had already been through this investi-
pation once with the postal inspectors and saw no reason
why he had to o through the matter again. Cruse said that
he had orders to guestion Jenkins. Jenkins asked who had
issued these orders. Cruse said that he did not know and
that he “just had a piece of paper on his desk to question™
Jenkins. Jenkins said that he wanted a union steward 10 he
preseni. Cruse asked the identity of the union steward on
duty. Juhn Doe was “off.” and Jenkins said it was Gentry
Daniels. Cruse then called for Daniels.

After Daniels had arrived, Cruse again said that he had
to ask Jenkins about shoes he bought from the X Company.
Jenkins said that he wanted to talk to Daniels privately.
Cruse told them 1o go into the hall 1o discuss what they had
o say. When they went out into the hall Daniels said that
Jenkins did not have to say anything and that Daniels did
not see why Jenkins had to go back through the investiga-
tion again. After the two returned to Cruse’s office. Jenkins
again asked Cruse why he was questioning Jenkins. Cruse
said that he had orders to question Jenkins, Jenkins asked
whether Cruse would be questioning anyone else. Cruse
said that “we™ had already questioned one security police
officer and would be questioning vthers.* Daniels said that
he Jdid not see why Jenkins had o go through this. Jenkins
asked Cruse whether he had had knowledge of the investi-
gation when it had been conducted in February. Cruse said
that the investigation had been just about over when he
heard about it, that the postal inspectors did not usually tell
him anything, that they had not told him anything about
the investigation, and that he knew nothing about their in-
vestigation of Jenkins. Cruse told Jenkins to explain what
happened when he went to see the inspectors. Jenkins gave
him an aceount which included the Miranda warning mat-
ter and the fact that Jenkins had asked for and been denied
4 union steward.

Cruse snd Scoit then started asking Jenking guestions
from lists they had in front of them. From time to time
Scott prefaced a question with: . ., [D]id the inspectors ask
you this?” Jenkins said “Yes,” and Scott said, ™. . . [W]ell, |
will go on to the next one” The record fails 10 show the
subject matter of these particular guestions. Daniels an-
swered some of the questions asked by Cruse. including
questions regurding the relative quality and price of shoes
(see fn. 4 supra)" Cruse asked Jenkins why he had nal

" Na “adiministrative investigation™ was condueted of any ather employ-
ees regarding the unform-allowance matler.

" The Postal Servive’s hnel states that Jenkins was annoyed by the fact
thai Daniels answered some of these guestons. While the Postal Service's
cuntenton may be jusufied by a reading of the cold record, when 1 watched
Jenkins teshfy about the matter | did aot conclude that Danels’ conduct
annoyed Jenkins in any respeet There o an evadence that fenkins ever asked
DPaniels to be guet o to feave
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bought any shoes recently.? Jenkins said, *1'd be a fool to
buy some shoes now. The inspector still has this investiga-
tion going on.” Scott asked Jenkins whether he had bad
feet, and Jenkins said **No." Cruse asked how much money
he had paid back, and Jenkins told him. Afier Cruse and
Scott had finished questioning Jenkins and he was prepar-
ing 10 leave, he asked Cruse what was going to happen
“pehind all this” and whether Jenkins would be suspended
or fired or “something like that.” Cruse said. *. . . [D]on’t
worry, nothing's going to happen.” Jenkins and Daniels
then left the office.

My findings as 10 what happened during this May 27
conversation are based on Jenkins' uncontradicted testi-
maony, At the time of the hearing, Cruse and Scott were still
working for the Postal Service, at locations a short distance
from the hearing room, but they did not testify.® Respon-
dent's brief nonetheless attacks as unworthy of belief Jen-
kins' uncontradicted testimony that he told Cruse and Scott
that during the February 2 interview he had asked for and
been denied the presence of a union steward, on the ground
that this allepation is not set forth in Jenkins' prehearing
affidavil although Jenkins said he told the Board agent
about the matter. I do not regard this omission as sufficient
to warrani my discrediting Jenkins in this respect, because
any directly contradictory testimony which existed would
be readily available to Respondent but was not produced.

On June 7, 1977, Cruse and Scott submitted to Moore an
“Investigative Memorandum™ regarding investigation of
Jenkins' uniform invoices. This document was not offered
to show the truth of the matters asserted therein. The
memarandum states that Jenkins tald them he had prom-
ised (0 pay the Postal Service 3216 in connection with the
postal inspectors’ investigation, but had not admitted to the
inspectors that he had made illegal purchases on his uni-
form allowance. Also, the memorandum states that Jenkins
said all the shoes he purchased met Postal Service specifica-
tions, so far as he knew, There is no specific probative evi-
dence that Jenkins made either statement to Cruse and
Scott. The memorandum contains further assertions as to
which there is no probative evidence. Thus, the memoran-
dum states that Jenkins was told that the Cruse-Scott inves-
tigation was a management inquiry, that it had no relation-
ship to the postal inspectors’ investigation, and that a
Miranda warning and waiver were not necessarv because
Cruse and Scott were conducling a management inquiry
and not a criminal investigation. Further, the memorandum
states that upon being given the purpose of the interview,
steward Daniels said he had no objection and that “it was
evident” to Daniels that Jenkins “was being evasive and

1 As to each employee, the I-yenr period within which the annual uniform
allowance must be used or lost runs from the anniversary date of the employ-
ee's hiring. Jenkins' anniversary date was March 10. So far as the record
shows, as of the May 27, 1977, date of his interview he had bought ne shoes
under his uniform allowance since June 1, 1976, when he bought two pairs.
Since March 10, 1976, he had bought four pairs under his uniform alfow-
ance, including onc pair in April 1976 from Kale Uniforms for which he
eventually paid out of his own pocket (see sec. 11, C supra).

YW 0n the second day of the hearing, counsel for the General Counsel
stated on (he record without denial that both Scout and Cruse had been
present during the first day of the hearing. Jenkins, Hagedom, and Sirachan
testified on that day. Because neither Cruse nor Scott was identificd to me, 1
do not know whose lestimony they heard. Before the firat witness testified,
and over the objection of Respondent’s counsel, | granted the General Coun-
sel's motion 10 sequesier the witnesses.

giving vague answers.” Also. the memorandum states thal
Jenkins said he bad thrown out all of the shoes, except
those he was wearing, which he had bought with his uni-
form allowance and that he refused to give a written state-
ment on the ground that he had not given one to the postal
inspectors.

Furthermore, the memorandum states that Cruse and
Scott decided to interview Jenkins because Cruse and Scott
had inspected his uniform-voucher file, and it appeared to
show irregularities, However, dusing this interview Cruse
told Jenkins that Cruse had been ordered to conduct the
interview by someone whose identity he did not know, The
memorandum states that when asked how long Jenkins
wears a pair of shoes, he replied that he bad bad feet and
had to wear comfortable shoes. However, during this inter-
view Jenkins had in fact denied having bad feet. The
memorandum states that when asked why he had not
bought any shoes recently or since June 1, 1976, Jenkins
said that he did not know. However, Jenkins had in fact
told Cruse and Scott that Jenkins had not bought any shoes
recently because of the pending uniform-allowance investi-
gation.™

‘The memorandum begins with the assertion that on May
23 Cruse and Scott were instructed to conduct a manage-
meni investigative inquiry of Jenkins’ uniform vouchers,
and “[njo other information was given us at that time.” The
memorandum is dated L1 days after Cruse's and Scott’s
interview with Jenkins. Division Postal Inspector Moore
testified that this memorandum constituted his only per-
sonal knowledge of what Cruse and Scout had available to
lock at when they conducted their investigation of Jenkins.

F. The Postal Service's Contacts With the United Srates
Altorney

The uniform-allowance investigation covered 75 security
officers, both supervisory and nonsupervisery. On the basis
of this investigation, Postal Inspector Holmes concluded
that 44 security officers, including Jenkins, had improperly
used their uniform allowances. On various occasions be-
tween March and June 1977, Holmes forwarded to the
United States Attorney for the Northern District of INineis
all of the investigative notes of all the postal inspectors as-
signed to help Holmes in the investigation. These notes in-
cluded the field notes of Inspectors Hagedorn and Strachan
about their interview with Jenkins. Holmes also retained
copies of these Jenkins notes in his office. In consequence of
a subpena issued at the instance of Postal Service counsel,
these notes were tendered to such counsel, but they are not
in the record.

G. The Letters of Warning Issued in Conneciion With the
Uniform-Allowance Investigation

In connection with the uniform-allowance investigation.
Inspector Holmes wrote 43 investigative memorandums,
each dealing with a particular member of the security force,

4 The investigalion had begun on an undisclosed dale before January I,
1977. However, none of the security officers was interviewed before Febru-
ary 1977, and Jenkine' May 27 remarks aside, there is no evidence thal he
knew aboul the investigation before lis own interview on February 2, 1977,
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to Division Postal inspector Moore. Each memorandum
stated that the particular individual had purchased "unau-
thorized pairs of shoes™ on his uniform allowance. Holmes'
June 29, 1977, memorandum of transmittal states, “All
memorandums are based on voluntary admissions in writ-
ing and/or orally.,” The sums involved ranged from about
$20 to about $284 per person. with a 1otal amount of about
$3.121, over a period of a little more than 4 years." Among
the persons who were the subjects of these memorandums
were a security officer in charge (not Cruse or Scolt), two
sergeants (not including Magee), and three union stewards
{including John Doe and Richard Roe,' bul not Daniels).
Holmes testified that no investigative memorandum was
written about Jenkins, and his name is not included in the
43-person hist attached to the memorandum of transmittal.
Holmes® memorandum of transmittal further stated; “After
the investipation met with a high degree of success for re-
petilive purchases, the investigation was expanded to cover
singular instances of purchases at [the X Company"’]. Addi-
tional success in this area indicated that Security Police
Officers generally using other licensed vendors may have
specifically visited [the X Company). intending 10 make un-
authorized purchases.” The February 2 Jenkins interview
was conducted by Hagedorn and Strachan on the second
day of their interviews as one of about seven lwo-man
teams, Holmes' memorandum of transmitial concluded
wilh the following paragraph:

The investigation includes about twelve files of indi-
viduals whe may have made unauthorized purchases
and who are suspected of making false negative state-
ments or who declined to discuss the matter afler re-
ceiving their Miranda rights. These files were retained
for the possibility of proving unauthorized purchases
by the material obtained from the vendor through a
grand jury subpoena, However, this is not possibie be-
cause the United States Attorney advised that subpoe-
naed documents cannot be used administratively, and
aiso because the documents do not appear (o be com-
plete and may work only in an isolated instance, Ex-
gmples of these suspicious files are a Security Officer in
Charge who spent §1(8.00 of his uniform allowance at
one time at [the X Company] for five pairs of shoes
which could not be produced because his dog chewed
them all up; another Security Police Officer who pur-
chased fourteen pairs of shoes on his uniform allow-
ance on & total of seven occasions within {wenty-six
months is ¢employed in a sedentary indoors position of
Communications Room duties. It is suggested that
these files receive administrative consideration in the

13 Some of these purchases were for thoes which did not conform 10 Postal
Service requirements bul which may in fact have been bought for and used
on the job because the wearers believed them fo be permitted.

1 Whether these slewards had actually misused their uniform altowances
was not materinl 10 the issues here and was nol litigaled, To avoid possible
unfairness to their reputations, they are referred to herein as John Doe and
Richard Roe. Holmes' memorandum states that one of them failed 10 com-
ply with or respond to the letler of demand and a followup letter of demand.

17 Because of implied allegations in the record thet this firm may have
been involved in fraudulent activity and because the truth of 2nv such alle-
gations is immnierial (o 1he issues herein and was not liligated. to avord
possible unfaimess to the reputation of 1hat firm, it is referred 1o herein as
the X Company.

same manner as the Security Police Officer Eddie len-
kins malter.

Moore testified that the June 7 Cruse-Scoltt memoran-
dum regarding their interview with Jenkins was referred ta
the security section for “preparation of disciplinary sction”
by it and hy Jenkins' supervisor. Jenkins' immediate supe-
rior was Lieutenant Lomax. Jenkins' squad leader was secu-
rty supervisor Joseph P. Pizzurro. Under the letterhead
"United States Postal Service:Office of the Inspecior in
Charge/Chicago.” and the date Taly 22, 1977, the [ollowing
“Letter of Warning™ signed by Pizzurro was issued to Jen-
kins, who refused Pizzurra’s request o sign it

The official Letter of Warning s being issued ta v ou
for the following reason,

Between April 30, 1973, and June 1. 1976, vou pur-
chased a total of thirteen (13) pairs of shoes that were
charged to your uniform allowance, Five (5) pairs of
the referenced shoes were purchased hetween March
13, 1975, and June 30. 1975, During an interview with
SOICs [Security Officers in Charge] Paul Cruse and
Richard Scott on May 27. 1977 you acknowledped
that you are reimbursing the U5, Postal Service in the
amount of $216.00 for non-uniform shoes purchased
during the referenced perind.

Your atlention is directed to Part 1 of the Securiy
Force Manual which states that all Securily Polive Of-
ficers must be thoroughly familiar with the contents of
the Security Force Manual as well as Postal laws and
regulations pertaining to the area of responsibility cov-
ered. Il is expected that you will familiarize voursell’
with the authorized uniform ilems as listed 1 the Secu-
rity Force Manual Part 4 and Postal Service Manual
SubChapter 420, Part 422, I you have some yuestion
as to whether a particular item is authonized. please
call on me or you may consult with your other supervi-
sors and we will assist you where possible. However, |
must warn you that future infractions such as vutlined
above will result in more severe disciplinary action
being taken against you including suspensions or re-
moval from the Postal Service.

You may appeal this Letter of Warning in accord-
ance with Artiwcle XV of the Bargaining Agreement
within 10 days from the date you receive this letter.

Pizzurro did not testifv. When asked 1o account for the 6-
weck interval hetween Moore's receipt of the June 7. 1977,
Cruse-Scott report and the issuance of the July 22, 1977,
letter of reprimand to Jenkins, Moore testified. “At that
time we {were]" still waiting for the release of the criminal
investigative results from the grand jury on the other secu-
rity police officers and supervisors who . . . had commitied
similar offenses as Mr. Jenkins had committed and 1
wanted to . .. weigh all the evidence and w invoke lair and
equitable disciplinary procedures against the entire person-
nel that was involved.” Attached to the Postal Service's mo-
tions for summary judgment is an affidavit from Postal In-
spector Holmes, dated September 9, 1977, which siates,
inter alia, “The investigation has been continued by the
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LInited States Attorney through an impaneled Grand Jury.
L am still to dote personally involved in this investigation
and am therefore unable to supply any further information
in connection therewith.” As ol the May 1978 date of the
hearing before me. no prosecutions had been initiated
against any sccurity personnel, including Jenkins, Moore
testified that he believed, bul was not sure, that the grand
jury had released il the matenal connected with the inves-
tigation. The record otherwise fails 10 show when this hap-
pened or when the Postal Service Jound out about it. On
July 22, 1977, the date of Jenkins' letter of warning, the
following letler was sent over Pizzurro's signature 1o a secu-
rity police officer not involved in the instant proceeding:

This official letter of warning is being issued to you
for the following reason.

You have misused your uniform allowance by the
purchase of non-uniform items in violation of the Se-
curity Foree Manual. Pact 4, and Postal Service Man-
ual, Sub-Chapter 420. Part 422.715. Specifically. on
July 28 1976, you purchased two (2} pairs of shoes
that do not conlorm to the specifications for the Secu-
rity Furee Pulice Officer Uniform as detailed in Secu-
rity Force Manual, Part 4. and Postal Service Manual,
Part 422.41(i). You further certified that the statement
ol charges submited by the vendor on 7 28-76. fur
thase items was correct amnd just,

Your allention is direcled (o Part I of the Security
Force Manual which states that all Security Police OI-
ficers must be thoroughly Familiar with the contents of
the Securily Force Manual as well as Postal laws and
regulations pertaining to the area of responsibility cov-
ered. 1L is expected that you wil familiarize yourself
with the authorized uniform items as listed in the Secu-
rity Jorce Manual, Part 4, and Postal Service Manual
Sub-Chapter 420, Pant 422, 1f you have some question
as W whether a particular item is authorized, please
cull on me or you maty consult with your other supervi-
sors and we will assist you where possible, However, |
must warn you that future infractions such as outlined
ahave will result in more severe disciplinary action
being taken against you including suspensions or re-
moval ltom the Pustal Service,

You may appeal this letter of warning in accordance
with Article XV of the Bargaining Agreement within
10 days from the date you receive this letter.

The parties stipulated that this is one of 42 substantially
identical letters issued on July 22, 1977, o security police
officers by their immediate supervisors under Division
Postat Inspector Moore's authorization and that these 42
letters were issued as o resull of the inspectors’ investigation
ol these employees in February and March 1977.% Moore

S0 ul The 43 employees {nut & wmon representativel named in Postal
Inspector | lidmes’ June 29, 1977, memuorandum had died.

Attached to the General Counsel's September 1977 upposition tw Respon-
dent's matien for sumimary judgment are’purported copies of twe adiitional
letiers of warning nut wiherwise in the tecord, oac of them Lo union repre.
sentative Richard Rew. Although vtherwise substanually the same as those
reproduced in the text, both of these are signed by “Randolph . T.omax,
Seeurily Supervisor in Charge.” nferentially the siime person as the Lieuten-
anl Lomax who was Jenkins' smmediate superior and directed him to atlend
the Hagedorn-Sirachan interocw.

testified that he sent out these 43 letters after “reviewing a
representative number” of the investigative memorandums
which Holmes had forwarded to him with the June 29
memorandum  of transmittal. However. because these
memorandums did not include any investigatory memoran-
dum about Jenkins. | infer thut Moore must also have con-
sidered the June 7 Cruse-Scott memorandum. As previously
noted, when sending Moore the files attached to the June 29
memorandum of transmittal, Holmes had retained the files
of about 12 security officers, including some who had re-
fused 1o discuss the matter afier receiving their Miranda
rights. None of these 12 ever received a leiter of warning.

On August 10, 1977, steward John Doe filed a grievance
on Jenkins® behalf. The form stated the grievance as fol-
jows: “He had made restitution for whatever wrong that
was done. He was led to helieve that no action would be
taken against him after restitution was made.” The griev-
ance further alleged that the discipline violaled article XVI
of the collective-bargaining apreement® and was untimely
and. ay t the remedy expected, stated, “Rescind the letier
of warning.” The grievance form does not call for the griev-
ing employee's signature, and Jenkins did not sign the
grievance. In support of that grievance, Jenkins supplied
steward Doe with a wrilten statement which asserted that
during the May 27 interview, Cruse and Scott had told him
they had orders to question Jenkins again about the shoe
purchases; that when lenkins said he had already under-
gone a postal inspectors” invesugation, Cruse said he knew
nothing about that: that Cruse said he would interview uth-
ers besides Jenkins but he was the only one called into
Cruse's office; and that Jenkins told Cruse that the inspec-
tors had “made [Jenkins) pay back the money (or the
shoes.” Jenkins' supporting statement did not deal with
whether Jenkins actually owed the $216.95 which had been
deducted from his pay and paid to the Postal Service pursu-
anl 1o his written authorization (see fn. 41 infra), nor, so far
as the record shows, did the grievance itself.

On August 23, 1977, Postal Inspector Witkowski sent
Moore a memarandum which stated that Witkowski had
discussed Jenkins' grievance with steward John Doe on Ay-
gust 15, 1977. This summary, which was not received in
evidence 10 prove the truth of the matter asserted, describes
the union position as follows:

SPO [security pulice officer] Jenkins was singled out
and had 1o go through a second different type of inves-
tigation concerning misuse of his uniform allowance.
Why was Jenkins singled out to he coerced? The Inves-
tigative Memorandum prepared by SOICs Paul Cruse
and Richard Scott states they were instructed to con-
duct & management inquiry. On what basis, who in-
structed them? They must have gotten their informa-
tion from somewhere—probably the previous
investigation conducled by the Inspection Service.
Why didn’t Mr. Jenkins' letter of warning pertain to
the firsl investigation?

Mr. Jenkins has a hearing next month concerning

2 Avcording 4o the avachments o the Postal Servive's prehearing motions
i summary judgment {fn. 2 supra). this article deals with just cause and
procedures for discipling. The arlicle does not in lerms refer to letters of
Warning.



the Inspector's investigation.” 11 that hearing results in
a finding in Favor of Mr. Jenkins, then any action taken
apainst him would be null and void. Therefore, he
should not have been issued the letter of warning at
this time.

The summary further describes management’s position as
follows:

Disciplinary action taken against SPO Jenkins was
based solely on the management investigation con-
ducted by SOICs Paul Cruse and Richard Scott. Any
previous investigation which may have been conducted
was not furnished Messrs. Cruse and Scou.

While no admission of the purchase of non-uniform
shoes on the umiform allowance was made by SPO Jen-
kins to SOIC Cruse and Scott. he acknowledged that
he was repaying the Postal Service an amount of
$216.00. Also, the grievance form submitted by the
union states that SPO Jenkins "made restitution for
whatever wrong that was done. He was led 1o believe
that no action would be taken against him after restitu-
tion was made.”

By letter dated August 23, 1977, Moore stated, “Griev-
ance denied. Disciplinary action taken was warranled and
considered timely in this case.” This grievance could have
been. but was not, appealed to binding third-party arbitra-
tion (see fn. 39 infra).

Moore testified that in preparing and issuing his decision
on the grievance, he relied on Witkowski's memorandum,
whose recommendation Moore adopted verbatim. Witkow-
ski did not testity, Moore further testified that so far as he
knew. in the Poslal Service's handling of Jenkins' grievance,
no data from Inspector Holmes™ criminal task force regard-
ing Jenkins were used. Holmes testified thal he never pre-
pared an investigative memorandum regarding his ¢criminal
investigation of Jenkins, and Moure testified that he never
received any such memorandum from Holmes. Holmes tes-
tified that he retained Strachan's and Hagedorn's notes of
their interview with Jenking in Holmes® office; that they had
not been made available to Moore: that nobody. including
Scott or Cruse, had ever asked 10 see them; and that Scott
and Cruse had never contacted Holmes regarding Jenkins.
Scott and Cruse did not testify. Hagedorn and Strachan
testified on the Postal Service’s behalfl, but they were not
asked whether they had ever discussed Jenkins' case with
Scott or Cruse.

Three or four other employees filed grievances regarding
their respective July 22 letters of warning. All were denied
at the first step, and none of them was appealed.

H. Analysis and Conclusions

Weingarien held that an employee has a stalutory right to
refuse to submit without union representation to an inter-
view wilh an employer represeniative which he reasonably
fears may result in his discipline. 420 LS. a1 256-267. Lay-
ing to one side the fucts that Jenkins' employer is the Postal
Service and that the employer agents who interviewed him

3 tnferentially. the hearing in the instant case. That hearing was witially
scheduled for Seplember 19, 1977, It was posiponed on September 16. 1977,
and on various suhsequent dates
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on February 2. 1977, were postal inspectors, the Postal Ser-
vice does not appear w0 question the General Counsel's con-
tention that Weingarien nights would attach (o this inter-
view, which Jenkins' superior directed him to auiend and
which he did not leave until the inspectors excused him.
because Jenkins reasonably feared this interview would re-
sult in his discipline. | agree. Before asking Jenkins abuout
the uniform-allowance matter, Postal Inspector Hagedorn
told him that Hagedorn and Postal [nspecior Strachan were
investigaling various security police officers that might be
involved in misuse of the uniform allowance and that Jen-
kins might be one of them. Moreuver. Hagedorn then re-
minded Jenkins of the Mirande decision {384 1LS. 43e).
which deals with the rights of an individual who is sub-
jected to custodial police interrogation regarding his sus-
pected commission of a crime. Furthermore, Jenkins® supe-
rior had required him to leave his gun. gun heli. and
handcuffs in his locker before proceeding to the interview,
and letters of warning resulted from more than half of the
postal inspeciors’ interviews with other security officers dur-
ing the uniform-allowance investigation.

The Pustal Service principally contends that as (o the
February 2. 1977, interview, no statutory rights under
Weingarten existed as to Jenkins because. as to that inter-
view, he allegedly was entitled 10 and allegedly was af-
forded constitutional rights under Meranda, supra, 384 LS.
436. 1 agree with the General Counsel that Jenkiny' alleged
entitlement to and alleged receipt of Mirandu rights are im-
material 1o the existence of Weingurien rights. It is true that
Miranda and Weingarten share one very similar ethical
foundation—namely. the beliel’ that a lone individual s
subiected to unfair pressures when he is compelled. without
heing given the right to informed assistance, to submit to an
interview about his alleged shortcomings with trained inter-
rogators empowered to cause him 1o sufler adverse conse-
quences therefor. Perhaps because of this commuon ethical
foundation, both Mirande and Weingaren rights include
the right to preinterview consultation with the representi-

However, the foundations, and therefore in sigmificant re-
spects the scope. of Mirunda rights and Wemgarten nights
are otherwise different. Thus, Weingarten rights are statu-
tory rights created by the NLRA with respect 1o paossible
adverse action relating w employntent, not with respect o
possible criminal liability, and do not have as thar sole
purpose the pratection of the individual employee who
seeks representation. Rather, Wemgarren contemplates that
the union representative will safeguard “not only the par-
ucular employee’s inlerest, but also the interests of the en.
tire bargaining unit by exercising vigilance o nmake certain
that the employer does not initiate or continue @ pragctice o’
imposing punishment unjustly. The representatine’s pres-
ence is an assurance to other employees in the barganing
unit that they, tou, can obtain s aid and protection ir
called upon 10 attend a hike interview ™ 420 U5 ar 260
261. Further, although during a Weingarten interview the
union representative is present to assist the emplovee and is
expected 1o provide the employee with a witness to what

B Chimax Molvbdenum Company, a P I, 227 NLRB

VIR {1977); Miramdu, 384 U7S ol 444 d45.
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actually happerned during the interview, the union repre-
sentative can properly elicit facts favorable to the employer
as well as to the employee and is not expected to render the
interview an adversary proceeding.® Moreover. Weingarten
is designed partly to empower the union representative to
discourage unmeritorious grievances. 420 US. at 262-264.
in consequence of this Weingarten mix of individual em-
playee rights under Section 7 of the Act and any statutory
rights and interests possessed by the unjon institutionally.
the Weingarten class of cases implicitly hold that the em-
ployer is under no obligation affirmatively to advise the
employee of his Weingarten rights. For similar reasons, al-
though an employee has the statutory right to refuse to
begin a Weingarren interview without a union representa-
tive and to refuse to continue it upon the employer's rejec-
tion of an initial request during the interview for such a
representalive the Weingarien class of cases implicitly
hold that if such reguests are pranted, the employee must
proceed with the interview. On the other hand, Miranda
rights are aspects of the rights to counsel and against self-
mncrimination which the Constitution affords to individuals
as such in connection with criminal investigations. The in-
terrogators are required affirmatively to advise the interro-
gated person of his Miranda rights. 384 U.S. at 478-479,
Moreover. the attorney at a Miranda interview is expected
to act as a wholehearted advocate for his client (subject. of
course, to his obligations as officer of the court) and may
not ethically subordinate his client’s interest 1o the interests
of the bargaining unit or its representative. Also, the inter-
rogated person may terminate his own participation in the
interview at any time, even when the interview is attended
by the counsel whom he requested. Miranda, 384 LS. at
444445

Nor can it be said thal the Mirandu protections are in all
respects “greater” than the Weingarten protections, Whiie
an attorney would likely be more familiar than a union
representative with the employee’s rights under the criminal
law. a union representative would likely be more familiar
with the emplovee's bargaining agreement rights regarding
the uniform allowance, retention of his job, and the disci-
plinary and grievance-arbitration nrocedure. Furthermore,
the union representative costs the employee no money, the
represenlative is ordinarily (as here) immediately available,
and the employee is likelv to have had some firsthand op-
portunity to assess the represenlative’s competence. (On the
other hand, the employee would have to affirmatively seek
out an altorney. might well have difficulty finding one
whose abilities he ¥new something about, and would prob-
ably have to pay him. Respondent suggests that representa-
tion by a lay union steward during a criminal investigation

N Weingarien, 420 U.S. a1 260, 262-263; Climax Molybdenum, 227 NLRB
a1 1190; Keysione Steel & Wire, Division of Keystone Consohdated Industries,
e, 217 NLRB 995 {1975).

# However, the Board has recently held that Weingerten rights are pos-
sessed by employees who ate not in a union-represented bargaining unit.
Glomar Plastics, Ine., 234 NLRB 1309 (1978).

1 Weingarien, 420 U.S. at 256-259; Mobil (W Corporation, 136 NLRB
1052 {1972), enforcement denied 482 F.2d 842 (Tth Cir. 1973) (per then
Circuit Judge John Paul Stevens). Portions of the Board's Mobil decision
were quoled with approval in Weingarten, supra.

* Compare the “Miranda ™ form uscd by the Postal Service, which siales,
snter ofio, “You alse have the righl to stop answering at any lime until you
talk o a fawyer,’

might disadvantage the employee. This contention is some-
what difficult to reconcile with the Postal Service's further
contention, discussed infra, that affording the employee the
right to such participation might intecfere with the effec-
tiveness of the postal inspectors’ investigation. In any event,
the choice of whether 10 be represenied by a union steward,
an attorney, both, or neither during an investigation is nor-
mally confided 10 the employee and/or his bargaining rep-
resentative rather than to the employer who is conducting
the investigation of the employee. See National Can Corpo-
ration, 200 NLRB 1116, 1123 (1972).

In my discussion up to this point, I have assumed with
Respondent that Jenkins was entitled to Miranda rights
during the February 2 interview and that he was afforded
such rights. However, | am by no means easy with respect
to either assumption. It is true that, at least in some circum-
stances, interrogation by a postal inspector does not consti-
tute a purely private interrogation, where Miranda is inap-
plicable, but instead may render relevant a determination
as 1o whether Miranda attached and was satisfied.?” How-
ever. Miranda rights exist only after a person has been
taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of
action in any significant way, or where special circum-
stances exist which render the law enforcement officials’ be-
havior such as 10 overbear the person's will to resist and
bring about a coafession no! freely self-determined,® Dur-
ing the February 2 interview in the instant case, Jenkins
was lold that he was not under arrest, and it is at least
arguable that Miranda rights were not generated by the fact
that Jenkins {himself a law enforcement officer) had come
pursuant to the instructions of his superior on the job and
by that superior’s instructions to leave Jenkins' gun and
handcuffs in his locker prior 1o the interview.® Further-
more, when Jenkins asked during the interview whether he
could get a lawyer, Hagedorn said that the interview was an
investigation and that a lawyer could not sit in on an inves-
tigation and further asked whether Jenkins thought he
should have legal counseling for defrauding the Govern-
menl. It is at least arguable that at that point Jenkins was
improperly denied any Miranda rights which the circum-
stances of Lhe interview may have generated. Miranda, 184
U.S. at 444-445, Indeed, if Miranda rights were generated
by the circumstances of the February 2 interview, Jenkins

1 United States v. Brurson, 349 F.2d 348 (Sth Cir. 1977}, cert. denied 434
U.5. 842; cf. United Staves v. Gardner, 516 F.2d 334, 339340 (Tth Cir, 1975);
United States v, Pare-Pla, 549 F.2d 660, 663 (9th Cir. 1977, cert. denied 431
U.S. 972,

B Beckwith v. United States, 425 U S, 341 (1976); United States v. Fitzger-
ald, 545 F.2d 578, 580-381 (Tth Cir. 1976).

Steachan's and Hagedom's action in reading & purporied Miranda warn-
ing to Jenkins at the February 2 interview is entitled to virtually no weight in
determining whether a Miranda waming was constitutionally required. They
also read a purporied Miranda warning 10 him &t the February 3 interview,
which was held at Jenkins' own requesl. Moreover, Strachan testified, “Our
instructions with regard (o Miraada is that Miranda comes into applicalion
during a criminal investigation al {the] point {whenj the interview revolves 1o
an accusalorial position with respect Vo questions asked the individual in the
interview. [n other words, before you ask specific questions about an individ-
ual's involvement in an alleged violation. Mirunda [rights are] to be advised
to the wdividual.” Strachan did not tefer an all 1o the custedial or refated
circumslances of the interview.

1 See Oregon v. Mathiason, 97 5.Ct. L1, 713-714 (1977); Fitzgerald, 545
F.2d 578; Barfield v. State of Alabama, 551 F.2d {114 (5ih Cir. 1977).
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may at least arguahly have been entitled 10 Miranda rights
(which admitiedly he was not afforded) during his May 27
interview with Cruse and Scott ahout alleged violation of
Postal Service rutes regarding the uniform allowance. Jen-
kins attended this interview, as well ax the February 2 inter-
view, because his superior instructed him to do so; and as
members of the Postal Service security police force, Cruse
and Scott had the power to enforce Postat Service rules and
regulations and to make arrests {(including arrests of postal
employees) which could involve the use of handcuffs.®

In view of my ultimate conclusion herein that Jenkins'
Weingarten rights were unaffected by any rights he may
also have possessed or been accorded under Miranda, 1
need not and do not determine whether, as to the February
2 interview. he possessed Miranda rights and they were
honored. However, 1 do regard as militating against the
Postal Service's Miranda defense herein its implicit require-
ment that in each instance involving an interview by posial
inspeciors {if indeed not by security officers as well), the
employee, the interrogators, and the Board must determine
whether Miranda attached (and. perhaps. whether it was
satisfied) before they can delermine whether Weingarten
rights existed. Cf. fn. 28 supra. No like problem was pre-
sented in Mt Vernon Tanker Company v. N.[.R. B.. 549
F.2d 57} {9th Cir. 1977). on which the Postal Service heav-
ily relies. The Court there held, as an alternative basis for
rejecting the Board's finding of a Weingarten violation, that
while “at sea™ a seaman does not have the statutory right te
refuse 1o submit t¢ a master’s orders 1o allend a Weingart-
en-type invesligatory interview without union representa-
tion. Whether a seaman is or is not "at sea” is a good deal
easier to determine, for the seaman and the master as well
as the Board, than whether Mirandy attaches and is satis-
fied. A more significant difference between Mt Vernon
Tanker and the inslant case is the nature of the interests
which. in the Court’s view, exclude Weingarten rights while
a vessel is at sea. The Court relied on Federal law, which
charges the ship’s master with responsihility for the safety
of ship. cargo, and crew and. in order Lo enable him to
discharge this responsibility. gives him authority to main-
tain strict discipline. including the authority summarily to
punish willful disobedience al sea by placing the disobedi-
ent seaman in irons and on bread and water. In the instant
case the interest which allegedly excludes Weingurten is the
public interest in the postal inspectors’ discharge of their
power by statute and regulation to enforce, against the gen-

¥ The Conde af Federal Regulations provides, *Members of the LS. Posial
Service seurity force shall exercise the powers of special policemen prosided
by 40 U.5.C. 318 and shall he responsible for enforcing the regulations in this
section in a manner that will protect Postal Service property.” 39 CFR
232.6{p). Section 232.6 forbids conduct on postal property which includes
disorderly conduct, carrying weapons or explosives. gambling. use of alcohol
or drugs, creating hazard to persuns or things, dangerous dnving, and de.
struction of property. 40 L.S,C, §318 gives special policemen, on Federal
property. the powers of sheriffs and constables {excepl service of civil pro-
cess) to enforce laws far the protection of persons and property, to prevent
brezches of the peace, 1o suppress affrays or unlawful assemblies, and o
enforce certain administrative rules and regulat ons Rather similar prov.
sions are included in the Posta) Service's security force manual, which erro-
neously refers to 40 U.S.C. £18 rather than §318. The sccurily force manual
specifically empowers secunity personnel “to enforce Postal Service rules and
regulations” and contamns tnstruclions regarding use of frce in arrests, spe-
cifically including arrests of postal service employees. and regarding use of
handeufls.

eral public as well as against postal employees, laws regard-
ing property of the United States in the custody of the
Postal Service, the use of the mails, and other posial of-
fenses.” The laws enforced hy postal inspectors. unlike or-
ders issued by the master of a ship, are enforced through
conventional civil and criminal procedures and do not in-
volve the safety at sea of human beings, ships, and cargo.
Of course, Weingarten rights exiend to interviews regarding
alleged criminal acts. Indeed, Weingarten itself involved a
grocery store employee who was accused of fraudulently
underpaying for groceries and of eating lunches al a store
facility without paying for them. See also Mobil Qil. 196
NLRB 1052,

Furthermore, the Postal Service's conduct evinces a con-
clusion hy it that adherence to Weingarten does not in fact
impair ¢ffective performance of the postal inspectors’ du-
ties. Thus, Holmes” memorandum about the uniform-allow-
ance investigation to Moore on June 29, 1977, some 3
weeks after Holmes received the report from Security Offi-
cers Cruse and Scott about their interview with Jenkins in
Union Steward Daniels’ presence, suggests that the files of
12 security officers who during interviews with the posial
inspectors had been given their Miranda rights and who
had then declined to discuss the uniform-allowance matier
or were suspected of making false negative statements could
not be handled by use of documents obtained through
grand jury subpena and should “receive adminisirative con-
sideration in the same manner as the . . . Jenking matter.”
Further. the Postal Service issued 1o Jenkins, after the
Cruse-Scott interview where he was afforded Wemgarien
rights and allegedly without regard to anything developed
during his interview with Postal Inspectors Hagedorn and
Strachan, substantially the same [etter of warning which it
issued to 42 other employees on the hasis of interviews with
the postal inspectors where no union representalive was
present. Moreover. Regional Chief Inspector Lawrence's
May 1977 letter 1o Division Postal Inspector Moaore indi-
cates that the Postal Service's 1975 national agreement with
other postal crafts contains an express provision affording
the right to union representation during at least certain
kinds of investigative interviews. Indeed, page 11 of the
Postal Service’s "Verified Memorandum in Supprt of Mo-
tion for Summary Judgment.” filed in September 1977 and
in May 1978, avers, "Respondent Postal Service [has) recog-
nized [the] general principle [of Weingarter| in our national
crafl bargaining units since 1973 —way before the Supreme
Court endorsed the Board’s construction of Section 7 of the
AcL”

For the foregoing reasons 1 reject the Postal Service's
defenses 1o the complaint 1o the extent that such defenses
rely on the Supreme Court’s Miranda decision.

In its brief the Postal Service also suggests in passing that
it was under no duty to comply with any requesi for union
representation made by Jenkins. because union representa-

IR LUS.COR3061. 39 LSO §260NaX 11 39 CFR 2325, 946.14g). These
powers include the power to make and dishurse collections regarding 1m-
properly paid money orders, customs duty. damage by the public 1o postal
equipment, <., charges embezzled by an employee. certain kinds of rev.
enues, discrepancies in postmasters” accounts, salary overpaymenis, of im-
proper payments of uniform allowances.

# However, this was pot m fact done (fn. 10 supra)
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lives may hive heen subjects of the very investigation &i-
rected patrtly against Jenkins. Moreover, among, the secunly
oflicers whe eventually received letlers of witrning 1n vonse-
quence of this investipation were two of e umon represen-
tatives whom Jenkins identified 1o the postal inspectars dur-
ing the February 2 imerview. Yowever. there is no clann o
evidence that any iovestgation was ever direcled al the
other two whom he named or at the stewinrd who atiended
Jenkins' May inlerview; nor did Jenkins express preierence
for any particular umon representative. 1 note, morcover,
that two security ollicers in chitrge conducted Jenkins’ see-
ond interview, ahthongd anuther seauntity ollicer o charge
later received a letter of warning in connection with the
uniform-allowance  investigation and sull another was
found by Postal Tnspector Hualotes ws have spent $118 of his
uniform allowince at voe e sl the X Company for five
pairs of shoes whivh could net be produced because his doyg
allegedly chewed them up. Under these oireumstances | ose-
ject any reliance by the Postal Service on the fact that the
unitorm-allowance investigation included union stewands.
Ct. Serviee Technology Corporation, o subsidion of LTV
Aeroypace Corporation, 196 NLLRE 845 (1972 Coca-Cola
Botrling Co. of Loy Angefes, Y27 NLRB 1276 (1977).

For the lorepatng reasous | eanglude that the Postal Sev-
vice vinlated the PRA and Scetion 8ta)]y of the NI RA Iy
requiring Jeakins g salind g his Fobraay 20 1977, v
view with the postal bispectors while denyimg has regaiest
lor union representation at the mterview.

Concrostons ar | aw

I. The Board has junsdiction over thus mater by vitoe
of Scction 1204 of the PRA.

2 The Union is o fabaor organsization wilhin the meaning
al the NLRA.

3. The Postal Service violated Sectum Ba) )y of the
NLRA on Febriuy 201977, by requining emplovee Lddie
1. Jenkins to subnul 1o an imterview with Postal Seiviee
inspectors, whach he reasonably feared iaght resnde i fus
discipline, while denying Tus request lor noian epresentic
to L the taterview.

Ty Resieny

Having Tound that the Postal Service has vwlated dhe
NERA in certam respects, T oshall reconuneid that it be
required 1o cease and desist theeelrom and Tram Dke o
refated conduet itnd ty post appropaizte noiices. Fhe guoes-
tion remains of whal afienuuive el il any, shonid be
provided o Jenkins individually.

Initially, 1 consider whai reliel woutd be approprate of
(e May 27 werview with Crusg wod Seutt bad never Teen
held and it no gnevanee et ever been Hled m connecinn
with Jenkins I ey 1 ocengarron cases the Beand withest
discussion alfirded no remedy Tor emplovees who suttered
adverse personnel action as e end resull ol events which
inchuded interviews regarding alleged cplovee deticiencies
during which  Weingurtenrequired  union vepresentabion
was welisel See, egl, Mobil (6, 196 NERB TOS): Hictaon
Fedison Compenne, 217 NERB 622 (1975y: Kevstone Steet &
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Wire, 217 NLRB W5 Huowever, i more recent decisions,
the Boand has required the restortion ol the status guo ante
by requiring affirmative correction of such personnel action,
Suthwestern Bell Telephon: Compeany, 227 NLRB 1223
(1977) (reinstatement with backpay for employees dis-
charged or suspended for makmg false claims that a fellow
cimplosec’s ey was work relawdy Certifried Grocers of
Cedtfornie, 227 NLRB E2V 1019773 (hackpay and excision of
liyoll notace 1o an employee Tand off for 2 weeks because of
fow productien).

SHE laying o one side the May 1977 iterview and the
Anpust YT pricvanee proveeding, tlese decisions plamly
require an order that the July 22 winnmng notiee be re-
moved from Jenkins lile, Contrary 10 the Postal Service, |
conehude thiat they also call fur an wider requiving the re-
payient w Jenkms of the $216.95 deducted rom has salury
purssant o lenbins” writlen authorizaton. The employers”
conduel n Ve snskant case, s Sowthwestern Bell, and in
Cordifivd Uirocers was found unfawlul for the very reason
taenong vthers) tsatat ihe employer had permitted a union
representabive o participate an the Weingarten-type inter-
view, the adverse personne) acoon which the employer ac-
tually 100k after the interview nagbt not have been taken or
anght have been dess severe. See Weingarten, 423 VLS, at
162 204 AL Teast unless tie emplover can aftirmatively
show that he would Tise ke the same action even i the
uniog representative bad been permintted to attend. the
daubts created by his own unlawlul condact about what he
would have done should in farness Be resolved against
Tine? Liegaird as untietonious (e Postal Servive’s conten-
tion thant e showid not be required to retuen the $216.95 10
Jephme becise (hs payment by lnm did not constitae
discipline and was pasd porsuanmt o iy writen asthernzi-
tonn. Dvision Postal Tnspector Moore testified that if Jen-
ks had not complied wath the Postal Service’s densand for
payment. e eould” have been suhieet o disciplinary ac-
ton: il mdeed, Moore did not knew whethes Jeokis
would have been fed af e had o paad ™ Moreover, i
Jenhims dhd wot i Gaet owe some or all o the $216.95, or
even 1 e belesed e disd nat, the eflect on him of having o
pavs 1L wits tdistiogeishabbe Tiom the effect ol a line, The
Poata] Serveed™s contention 1at this paysent did not con-
sutuge disapling bevause Tenkims m kel owed the money
anplicnly resolves mothe Postd Service's Tavor the doabis
crealad by the Postal Savice's untint libor pracuces.

gl Heasd B ands cands egred the cetiectnm t adverse personne!
acion nopscd on ceployees o punnde them Tor sefuseng o submil o a
1 eugee fou Ly e mtervies st e representation inother words, for
tefusang teabaednn o Seeoon T ogh The reasetimyg Which suppons affirma-
inve vk ot hend o persowined rehion does net pecessanly aaill for ke
el l whee, an e e cinplong asseris that the advernse peisoninel action
was I ontae allepsd vmplesce defiven s %lach was the sahjest of the
nteisies

N RR G Ko
sened MR TR

o Boend, B WL L 82 XT3 Cye, 1938, et
feviviens Wrcoapan, e 224 KRB 7220 00 TRY
1 bideed. o Jombams’ reguest o wnan Fepecsenttian ad ed Flage-
dusree ol Suachan to enescrse the Hemgaries parne ted option ol tesmnat-
iy the mterview st bt posnt, e Postad Seecone aoht lase ireated Jenkins
ke the ewplavees who cliamned thew Yiegenda Dpbt of sidence and agannst
wihenn se i s e recerd showe s vosieon was ever aken. Jeah iy vise

ivite, o etters o woarnig were toued onls oo cmplosees who adantted
wisising 1hen nifore ai

Y Vhie frm sepaed By Jenbazss stgee That te aetl anzed anangements for
paneesave e benbgos' e el vaage”

dibes
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The Postal Service contends that i any event no aflioma-
e reliet shoukd be afforded to Jenkins on the basis of the
February 2 interview with the postal inspectors because al
the May 27 interview with the security ofticers during
which Jenkins was afforded B eingarren cighis amd becanse
the July 22 letter of warning issued 1o Jenkins was allegedh
wssued without regard o the Februars X intenvaew, (1
course. all of the evidence regarding the Postal Service's
rea] basis For issning the Fuly 22 letter les solev wathim the
knowledge of Postad Service management peesonnel and the
Pastal Service's own records. The only subsimaal evidenee
produced by the Postal Service i suppost of afs contention
that Jenkins™ interview with Postal Inspectors Fleedom
and Strachan did not affect the decixion o issue the letter of

arning consists of certun portions of Moores and
Holmes™ testimony, As previonsiy noted. Postad Tnspecteor
Holmes, with some corrohoration by Mooge sestificd that
Holmes had never prepared anomvestigntive aremaisadum
regarcdhng s crivinal investigation of Jeakims and g ne-
hody had ever asked 10 see Hagedorn®s and Strachan™ tichd
notes, which Holmes had retained in s olfice. Fursher.
Hulmes testified that Crose and Scott neves contacted him
regarding Jenkins. Alsa, Moore testified (e so e as he
knew. i the Postal Servives handhag of Jenkins” gngvangy.
na data about Jenkins from Holmes' crimimal tsk foree
were used. For demeanor reasons | hebieve that Holmes and
Moore were truthiul in so testifving. Howeser, Junng the
May 27 interview Crase asked Jenking wha il happened
during the February 2 interview, and Jenkims rephed: Scon
skipped questions on s poepated st alier aacertaning
from Jenkins thit the sime guestions o been ashed da
ing the February 2 interview: and Cruse ad, ni effeet, that
Jenkins was not painy 1o b diseiphaed s consequence ol
the May 27 interview . Mareover. the lesier of swatinny even-
tually issued to Jenhus had the sane date anid esenbally
the same contents as the fetters of warnimg 1o others adnut-
tedly ssued on the Dasis of the postel ippecton micrvicws,
Further, € ruse and Scott had 11 davs between thep May 27
mterview with Fenkiny amd the June 7 date of their memo-
randum ta discuss the Febroary 2 ierview with Hagetorn
and Strachan. and there 1s no testimonial denial that such
conversalions aecurred Y Alses i prporiedly deseribing
the May 27 conversdion. the memorandum contained
some assertions which were imacenrate and some whose
source the record fuils o show  Inaddition, Supervasor Pa-
zurre was not called as o watness ke specy the evdence on
which he based s July 22 lettet of repinmand to Jenhins,
and Postal Taspector Withowsh was nor ealled as o witness
to specily the evidence vn vlieh fis busesd Ty Ao 13
recommendation that Jeakiny” letter of warming be osus-
tained. which recommuendation was adapted by MMoore on
the bhasis of Witkowsky's mwemorandum, Faadlv, Jenkins
February 18 suthorization lor the imialiment deduction o
$216.95 from his pascheckhs was refereed oo the Time 7
Cruse-Scott memorimdum. wis relewed en oo Pzzuree’s Juby

*There oo evidenes abawt whether otler Pocid Sevone personned ¢oudd
hiase seen thewe nedes without Halmes bnowle,
ohlined these notes by subpepa but elew ted nat s t¥er them ko evadenes

 As previonsly mated, ERpedernond Shoa Ban testdiod on thae Postal Ser
wice's behall, but thes were bt ashasd wi
Cruse and Seott were <l e tlye Poaad s
an wilnessts, bl they sere et cdle!

Posbis Setvee vonnsel

IS |

- b ble

cther wiaensenat

soe s et gl s

22 letter of warnimg. and was included in the sammarny of

nanagement’s position contained in Witkowski's August 18
memorandum o Moore regarding lenkins” grievance. The
pasments xo ntherized Bad all been made before the May
27 Cruse-Seoll mterview.,

On this state oF the record 1 deeline to find that the uly
22 letter of warnmimg was issued sind uphield without regard
to the Hagedorn-Strachan mterview. In the first plice. all
the relevant documents refer o Jenking” $21695 deducthion
authorzation. which stemvmed almost entirels from the
Hagedorn-Steachan mtervew and wax not atfected at all by
the Cruse-Seutt intervwew. FFurtbermore, the Postal Serviee's
fatture waxk ot watnesses Hagedorn and Strachan whether
they relaved an ocal report of their interview o Cruse,
Svofl. Pizzurro, or Witkowshi amd the Postal Senvice's fail-
e toeall these st fomr individuals as witoesses lead me to
mier tht such oral reponts were mide. Zapex Corporation,
JISNLRD 1236 01978 This inlerenee 1< strengthened by
Seoft’s abandomment of questions answered o the Hage.
dorn-Sorachan imterview and by the wholly onespliined
trcrepanvies hetaeen the contents of the Cruse-Seote inter-
view e the ceport thereol which they submitted 10 min-
spement Finadlv, the Posal Service has Failed toodischarge
s burden (e 3 sypred of estabbslung, that the letter of
warming and jts affirmance were not based at all on the
Hagedorn-Stachan uiterview, pirticabiely in view ol the
Postal Service™s connnued rebainee on Jenkins' deducuon
authorizaten, Cruse’s wssnmee to Jenkins thab he would
net he diseiplined in consegquence of the Cruse-Seott inter-
siewe amd the Lact rhat Jenkins” letier ol warning contins
nothipe on ds Bwe tocdistingnish at from the 42 fetters ad-
nuttedis Based on the postal mspecton interviews.

Farther, Respondent contends that na attiemative celiel’
should be afforded o Jeskaos, beeanse the gricvance fAled
an lis behalr did met chalicnge the propricty of the $216.95
“letter af demand™ whieh fenkins had complied with and
hecintse the pricvance regarding his letter of warng was
not Liken woarbitration ¥ This contention misconvaives the
reasons why Respendent’s conduetl was unbawtul, the rea-
swns for reguring Respondent to remedy i1, and Respon.

W regard as onivesi] Maare™s ignorance that the actans by s subor.
dinates whivht were epposed by bim wege u faen hased partls oo the Flge.
dora-Strachan aterview Jac ko 8§y ortwear Cerpocation, 211 NLRE BV,
W 1M

" Ll matenal atsachedd o Respotulent's prehearing nistuons for sumniany
pulpmen: e 2 sepray indiintes thag the “letier of demand™ and related
avliom were presable and sumbatonly arhetrable. and the Oeneral Connset
ees net appean o contersd otherwese Thas matersal alsy idicades that ad-
thaasgh an emploaee mon hle 4 pnevanee wsthout the Umon's partwipation,
sty (e U aion has the power ooappeal or procare arbitriuon of an adverse
determunzion. he record fats o show whether Jepking asked the Lonun o
appeal B preesamee veparding the letter of warning, Jenkios neser filed @
Lwsared eor an Reh i T HAT charge agaanst the Unian atlacking ws a bicach o
the slugy ot e representation the Lion's Liluee 1o appeak s sfesaiee
Huwever, such proveesh wasl the Eonen waould put al vane nat the
miertts o the vipevanee seoanst the Pasead Service but s hiether the Lnon's

watugt g cennecte with the goeviative was athirios . divimisatony, of w
hid Tath Carpenters fowva! Unwan 3 0108 0 Phe Law Cemgpan . fre ), 218
ST S8 (B2 e Seeedweorkers of mteetedn, Fovad taon 260 ik
SEUONLERM YO g9y CRerks aned Checkers Foead
Pompborenn e’y Jowvaaaon, AET CHY 18t fua
Coedod s PRENTRU ST S TTRL A e such an issue,
e wlitck Respommdent « Boesngrzen ssolanen smyposed on the postiare

dokens Npe b Comparagie. e

Ve PRyl

A dentans e makt weil bave entered mke o deosion toocan B prieys
e et ther
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dent’s rights after affording that remedy. Denial of Wein-
garten rights during an investigatory interview is unlawful
partly because such denial may render the evidence ad-
duced during the interview inaccurate or incomplete. Also,
once the employer makes a decision on the basts of such
defective evidence. “it becomes increasingly difficult for the
employee o vindicate himself. and the value of representa-
tion is correspondinply diminished. The employer may Lhen
be more concerned with justifying his actions than re-exam-
ining them." Weingarten, 420 U.S. at 263-264. In short,
Respondent’s untawful denial of Weingarten rights at the
initial investigatory interview vould have conlaminated, as
to any Jenkins grievance about the deduction or the warn-
ing letter, the entire funclioming of the grievance-arbitration
procedure, by aflecting to Jenkins' detriment the evidence
presented to Respondent which led it to issue the two de-
mands for payment and the letler of warning, which doco-
menis may have rendered Respondent disposed to discount
corrections or amplifications of the tainted evidence on
which Respondenl based its initial public commitment
about what action should be taken.® In this connection, 1
note that both demands for payment alleged that Jenkins
had purchased from his uniform allowance some items
which did not comply with Pustal Service uniform require-
ments and that Jenkins® letter of warning alleged that he
was reimbursing the Postal Service for “non-uniform
shoes.” These documents aside, there is no evidence what-
ever that Jenkins bought any shoes which did not conform
to Postal Service uniform specifications. Moreover. as a
practical malter, which party actually has in hand the dis-
puted $216.95 at the oulset of the investigation (as Jenkins
did before the February 1977 interview) may in itsell have
some effect on who has it at the end. After restoring the
status que ante, Respondent will be free, so far as the
NLRA is concerned, to conduct a lawful investigation of
Jenkins' use of his uniform allowance and, by using lawful
procedures, to take such consequent and lawfully motivated
personnel action as it wishes. While the evidence in the
record before me may well point to a misuse of Jenkins'
uniform allowance, this question was not fully litigated, and
available evidence favoring Jenkins may not have been of-
fered. s

®CI NLRB v. Acme Indwstrial Co, 385 US. 432 (1967Y; Morrisen.
Knudsen Company, 213 NLRB 280, fn. 2, 287 (1974), enfd, 521 F.2d 1404
(8th Cir. 1975).

i The Postal Service contends thay Jenkins should be discredited because
he “falsely signed certifications on uniform aliowance vouchers,” “conced-
edly misused his uniform allowance, [and] made volumtary restitution of the
money to escape criminal charges.” [ perceive no evidence thal Jenkins paid
the $216.95 to escape criminal charges rather than lo escape discharge or
other discipline. Also, for the reasuns stated in the text, it cannol be found or
assumed 1n the instanl case thal Jenkins improperly signed these vouchers.
Jenkins' statement 1o Hagedorn and Strachan about buying shoes for per-
sonal use was not made until after they told him, in effect, Lhat concealment
would be harder on him than admitting wrongdoing (which assertion was
tikely untrue; sec fn. 34 supra) and had denied his request For union repre-
sentalion (and. al least arguably, for a lawyer).

The Posial Service heavily relies on his deduction authorization, However.
whether or nos Jenkins had misused his uniform allowance, the fact remains
that the Postal Servicc had paid the amounts called for in the vouchers
which Jenkins signed and had charged such paymenis to his uniform allow-
ance. Accordingly, Jenkins' testimony, in effect, that in signing this authori-
zation he had agreed to “pay back™ the Postal Service is equally vonsistent
with a view by him thal he had misused his allowance and a view by him
that he had not. The words “I acknowledge that | am indebted to the Postal
Service” were printed on the form he signed. The reeord fails o show

Finally, Respondent contends that affirmative relief to
Jenkins s precluded by Section 10(¢) of the Act, which
provides, "No order of the Board shall require the reinstate-
ment of any individual who has been suspended or dis-
charged, or the payment o him of any back pay. if such
individual was suspended or discharged for cause,” OF
vaurse, Jenkins has not been suspended or discharged, and
my recommended Order docs not cal) for his reinstatement
or for any backpay. In any event, the Supreme Court has
held that Section 10ic) does not deprive the Board of power
to order reinstatement and backpay for employees dis-
charged because their employer thought their work could
be done more cheaply by an independent contractor and
therefore contracted out the work without complying with
bis legal duty to consult their bargaining representative,
even though it was not possible 10 say that if he had so
hargained, an agreement would have been reached under
which the employees would have been retained. Fibreboard
Paper Producis Corporation v. N.L.R.B.. 379 U.S. 203
(1964); see also Southwestern Bell, 227 NLRB 1223; Certi-
Sied Grocers, 227 NLRB 1211: Strachan Skhipping, 234
NLRB a1 513-514; Port Drom Cu., 180 NLRB 590 (1970);

Snited Steelworkers of America (Inter-Royal Corp.), 223
NLRB 1184 (1976).

For the foregoing reasons [ conclude thal the remedial
order should include excision of the letter of warning (rom
Respondent's records and fles and repayment 1w Jenkins of
the $216.95 deducted from his salary, with interest as pre-
scribed in Floride Steel Corporation, 231 NLRB 651
(19774

Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of
Jaw, and the entire record in the case, and pursuant o Sec-
tion 10{c) of the NLRA. | hereby issue the following recom-
mended:

ORDER#

Respondent, United States Postal Service. Chicago, Illi-
nois, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall:

}. Cease and desist from:

(a) Requiring any employee 1o take parl in an interview
without union representation if' such representation has
been requested by the employee and he reasonably fears
that the interview will lead to disciplinary action against
him,

b. In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed them by Section 7 of the National Labor Rela-
tions Act,

whether, without this language, the Postal Service would have accepled his
arrangement lo pay off by installments an amount which he allegedly al-
ready owed and which could likely have been covered by a single 2-week
paycheck. See fn. 3% supra. This authorization aside, at no time afier the
interview where he was denied Weingarten rights did Jenkins concede misus-
ing his uniform allowance.

*See, generally, /tis Phombing & Heuting Cu., 138 NLRB 716 (1962).

“n the event no exceplions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the
Rulcs and Regulations of the National Labor Relations Board, the findings,
conglusions, and recommended Order herein shall, as provided in Sec. [02.48
of the Rules and Regulations, be adopted by the Board and become its
findings, conclusions, and Order. and all objections theretu shall be deemed
waived for alt purposes,
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2, Take the following affirmative action which is neces-
sary 1o eftectuate the policies of the Act:

{a) Strike and physically remove from its records and
files any reference to the letter of warning issued 10 Eddie
L. Jenkins on July 22, 1977,

(b} Pay Eddie L. Jenkins 321695, with interest, as set
forth i that portion of this Decision entitled “The Rem-
edy.”

(¢) Post at its facilities in Chicago. [linais, copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix.”™ Copies of said no-
tice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Re-
gion 13, after heing duly sipned by Respondent’s represent-
ative, shall be posted by it immediately upon receipl
thereaf. and be maintamed by it for 60 consecutive days
thereafier, in conspictuous places. including all places where
notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasoniable
steps shall be taken by Respondent to insure that said no-
tices are not altered, defaced. or covered by any other mate-
rial.

{d) Nobfy the Regional Director for Region 13 in wril-
ing, within 20 days from the date of this Order. what steps
Respondent has tuken 1o comply herewith,

* In the event that (his Order s enforeed by a judpment ol o United Stales
Court uf Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posied hy Order of the
National Laber Relations Heard™ shall read = Pasted Pursuani to a Judgment
of the Umited States Court of Appeals Lnfurcing an Ordey of the Nutional
labor Relations Board”

APPENDIX

Nomice To EMPLOYEES
PosTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LAnor RFI ATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United Siates Government

Afier a hearing at which all parties had the opporiunity to
present evidence, it has been decided that we violated the

law. We have heen ordered 1o post this notice, We intend 1o
carry oul the order of the Board and abide by the follow-
g

W WILL NOT require any employee (o submit 10 an
interview with our representatives which he reasonahly
fears might result in his discipline while denying his
request for union representalion during the tnlerview,

WE wiLL NoT in any Hike or related manner interlere
with. restrain. or coerce emplovees in the exercise of
the rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Na-
tiopal Labor Relations Act, as amended,

It has been found that we issued a July 22, 1977,
letter af warping 1o Eddie L. Jenkins, and demanded
and received 3$216.95 from him. in consequence of vur
conclusions based partly on an interview with Jenkins
during which he was unlawfully denied umon repre-
sentation. Wi wiLl strike and physically remove from
our records and files any relerence to this letter of
warning and return the $216.95 to Jenkins, with inter-
esl. The National Labor Relations Act and the Board's
Order permit us to issue a second letter of warning w
Jenkins and o require ancther money payment from
him. both motivated by the same alleged vonduct by
him which led 1o the July 22, 1977, letter of warning
and the $216.95 payment by hin. by using means and
procedures which du not violate the National Labor
Relations Act, ax amended,

Usaieny Stares Posiat Serviy
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Mr. William Burrus

General Executive Vice President
fAmerican Postal Workers Unjon, AFL-CIO
817 14th Stresty-N.W.

Washington, DL 20005

Pezr Mr, Burrus:

Tnis replies to your May 10, 1982 letier to Senior Assistant Posimaster
Ezneral Josaph Morris concerning the role of siewards or union representa-
tives in investigatory interviews. Specifically, you expressed concern
that the Inspection Service has adopted a policy that union resresantatives
be limited to the role of a passive obsarver in such interviews.

“lease be assured that it is not Inspection Service policy that union
sepresentatives may only participate as passive observers. Ue Tully
recocnize that the representative's role or purpose in investicetory
interviews is to safeguard the interssts of the individual empicyes a5 well
as the entire bargaining unit and that the roie of passive observer may
sarve neither purpcse. Indeed, we believe that a union repressniztive may
properly attempt to clarify the facts, suggest other sourcss or -information,
and genarally assist the employee in articulating an explanetion. At the
same time, as was recognized in-the Texaco opinion you quoted, an Inspecior
has no duty to bargain with a union repressntative and may properly insist
on hearing only the employee's own zccount of the incident under investigation.

e are not unmindful of your rights and obligations as & collective bargzining
representative and trust that you, in turn, zpprecizie the obligations gnd'
respansibilities of the Inspection Service as the law enforcement arm ¢f the
U. §. Postal Service. In our view, the interests c¢f all can be proiecied

and furthered if both union representative and Inspector approzch investiga-
tory interviews in a good Faith effort to deal fairly and rezsonably with
exzch other.

Sincerely,

5
7 o et

T K. F]etcﬁer
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Texaco, Inc., Houston Producing Division and Qil,
Chemical and Atomic Workers International
Union, Local No. 4-367, AFL-CI0O. Case
23-CA-2271

November 20, 1967
DECISION AND ORDER
By MEMBERS FANNING, BROWN, AND ZAGORIA

On June 8, 1967, Trial Examiner Ivar H. Peter-
son issued his Decision in the above-entitled
proceeding, finding that the Respondent had not en-
gaged in and was not engaging in the unfair labor
practices alleged in the complaint and recommend-
ing that the complaint be dismissed in its entirety,
as set forth in the attached Trial Examiner’s Deci-
sion. Thereafter, the General Counsel and the
Union filed exceptions to the Trial Examiner's
Decision and supporting briefs.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3(b) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its
powers in connection with this case to a three-
member panel,

The Board has reviewed the rulings made by the
Trial Examiner at the hearing and finds that no
prejudicial error was committed. The rulings are
hereby affirmed. The Board has considered the
Trial Examiner’s Decision, the exceptions, briefs,
and the entire record, and finds merit in certain of
the exceptions of the General Counsel and the
Union. Accordingly, the Board adopts the findings
of the Trial Examiner ortly to the extent consistent
herewith.

On the morning of November 5, 1965,! Alaniz,
a company porter for some 20 years, was using
kerosene to spray weeds on company property. He
placed in his car a 2-gallon can of kerosene, con-
cededly belonging to the Company. At lunchtime
when Alaniz started to go home in the car, the
production foreman saw the can in the car, con-
fronted him concerning the kerosene, and
suspended him without pay. After lunch Alaniz at-
tempted to return to work, but was again told he
was suspended. At the time Alaniz was part of a
unit of employees represented by the Union.2 He
was not, though, a union member. Later in the day,
Whitten, the Union’'s field steward, learned of the
incident and called the foreman about the matter.
He requested that it be handled on the local level,
complained that the Union should have been
notified of the incident, and added that Alaniz

1 All dates refer to 1965

t The Umon s the recogmzed bargaimng agent of the following ap-
propriate unit

All hourly rated production and maintenance employees i the Com-
pany's South Texas Division (except clerical, adminstrative, technical,

168 NLRB No. 49

needed representation. The foreman replied that he
had already reported the matter to the Company’s
district superintendent and, thus, that the matter
was out of his hands. He also stated Alaniz did not
need union representation as he was not a union
member. Alaniz had, as noted, worked as a porter
for some 20 years, had something less than a fourth
grade education, could read English very little,
spoke Spanish at home, and testified in this
proceeding through an interpreter.

The company controller’s office undertook to in-
vestigate the matter and scheduled a meeting for
November 17. Alaniz was extended the opportuni-
ty to attend the meeting to defend himself. The
Union, on the ground that Alaniz was within its
recognized unit, requested the right to represent
him at the meeting. The request was denied, The
meeting was held as scheduled; Alaniz attended and
at the outset requested that the Union be permitted
to represent him. His request was also rejected by
the Company. One of its representatives stated
there would be no interview if Alaniz insisted on
union representation, adding that Alaniz was free to
go if he wished. However, Alaniz remained, was
questioned, and then was given a statement
prepared by the Company to sign. In the statement,
which he signed, Alaniz conceded he had taken 2
gallons of Company kerosene to spray weeds but
not “with the thought of stealing but only because
of the convenience,” promised to do his job in a
manner which would do credit to him, and asked
that consideration be given ‘‘on past service to Tex-
aco.” Alaniz was given a suspension of 24-1/2 days
(16-1/2 working days) without pay and restored to
duty on November 30. By letter dated December
3, the Company notified Alaniz that it felt the
suspension lenient and wholly justified and warned
him that any future similar or other disciplinary of-
fense would subject him to discharge.

During the period here involved there was in ex-
istence a company-union contract containing a
grievance procedure, Neither the Union nor Alaniz
filed a grievance at any time,

The complaint alleges in substance that the Com-
pany violated Section 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act by
refusing to allow a union representative to be
present at the November 17 meeting. The Trial Ex-
aminer concluded that the alleged B(a)(5) violation
could be found only if the meeting and its outcome
involved the adjustment of a grievance within the
meaning of Section %a) of the Act. But he found
tha no grievance had been raised concerning
Alaniz’ situation and that even assuming it had, the
meeting was not concerned with its adjustment.
There was, thus, in his view of the case no 8(a)(5)

and professional employees, all employees at the Houston garage and
warehouse, all Divisional employees, temporary chainmen and rodmen,
foremen, rotary drillers, head roustabouts, and all other supervisory em-
ployees)
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violation.? With respect to the alleged 8(a)(1) viola-
tion, he found no interference with Alaniz’ rights in
denying him union representation at the meeting
because he could have filed a formal grievance and
thereby assured himself such representation. In
view of his findings, the Trial Examiner recom-
mended the complaint be dismissed. We are of the
opinion, however, that the Trial Examiner took too
narrow a view of the issues before him.

As the record shows, the November 17 meeting
was not simply part of an investigation into some al-
leged theft and Alaniz was not invited to attend
solely to provide the Company’s representatives
with information. Rather the meeting was con-
cerned essentially with Alaniz and his alleged theft,
the facts of which were known to management
representatives some 2 weeks earlier, and more
specifically with the Company’s concluding its
‘‘case” against Alaniz in order to provide a
“record” to support disciplinary action, if deemed
appropriate. Thus it is clear that on November 17
the Company sought to deal directly with Alaniz
concerning matters affecting his terms and condi-
tions of employment. Yet, as noted, the employees
in the unit had selected the Union to deal with the
Respondent on such matters and there is no
evidence that either Alaniz — assuming he could
have done so — or the Union had waived to any ex-
tent the right of representation or had agreed to
channelize disputes concerning such right into the
procedures of the contract grievance provisions.
Consequently, we find in the circumstances here
that the Respondent’s refusal to respect Alaniz’
request that the bargaining representative be per-
mitted to represent him at the meeting interfered
with and restrained him in the exercise of his rights
guaranteed by Section 7 of the Act. Also in view of
Alaniz’ request for union representation at the
meeting and the Union’s evident willingness to
represent him— both conveyed to management — we
find that the Respondent’s refusal to deal with the
Union on that occasion transgressed its statutory
obligation to bargain with the Union concerning the
terms and conditions of employment of the em-
ployees it represents. Accordingly, we find that the
Respondent by the above conduct violated Section
8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act.

THE REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged
in unfair labor practices in violation of Section
8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act, we shall order that it
cease and desist therefrom and take certain affirma-
tive action designed to effectuate the policies of the
Act. It has been found that the Respondent unlaw-

1 Sec. 9(a) provides 1n part that an employee has the nght to present a
gnevance directly to his employer and have 1t adjusted without interven-
tion of the bargaming represepiative, providing “that the bargaiming
representative has been given the opportunty 1o be present at such adjust-
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fully denied the request of Alaniz for representation
by the Union and refused to deal with the Unicn at
the November 17 meeting. Consequently, the
meeting and its results are tainted by Respondent’s
unlawful activities, and it is, therefore, necessary in
order to provide a full and effective remedy to
recreate insofar as possible the status quo prior to
the meeting. Accordingly, we shall order the
Respondent to strike from its records any
references to the meeting and what occurred there,
including all copies of the statement signed by
Alaniz at the close of the meeting and the
December 3 letter of reprimand sent Alaniz. We
shall also order it to revoke its decision that Alaniz
be suspended for 24-1/2 days because of his alleged
misconduct on November 3, and so notify him. We
shall further order the Respondent to give Alaniz
the original (i.e., signed copy) of the statement he
signed on November 17, and notify him that it is
withdrawing and considering of no effect its letter
of reprimand dated December 3.

The General Counsel and Union request that we
also order the Respondent to make Alaniz whole
for such loss of pay and other benefits he suffered
as a result of his suspension. However, Respond-
ent's illegal conduct occurred after Alaniz was
suspended without pay and it is not alleged that the
suspension itself was unlawfully caused. Further-
more, that Respondent would have reinstated
Alaniz with backpay had it dealt with the Union on
November 17 is at best a speculative consideration
concerning the merits of Respondent’s disciplinary
action, and is not for us to resolve. However, the
possibility that Respondent’s unlawful conduct did
adversely affect Alaniz can be fully remedied by or-
dering in addition to those matters covered above
that Respondent meet with Alaniz and the Union
upon Alaniz' request within 5 days of the date of
this Decision and Order for a consideration de nove
of those matters dealt with at the November 17
meeting. We shall also order that the Respondent
take no further action with respect to Alaniz’ al-
leged misconduct until after the expiration of the
above specified 5-day period or, if Alaniz requests
a meeting, until after such meeting has been con-
cluded.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Respondent is engaged in commerce
within the meaning of Section 2{6) and (7) of the
Act,

2. The Union is a labor organization within the
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. At all times material, the Union has been the
exclusive representative of the employees in a unit,

ment.” That provision on its face 1s concerned with a situation where an
employee 1s not, contrary to the matter before us, seeking umon represen-
tanon. Consequently, finding the above part of Scc 9{a) inapplicable does
not dispose of the 8(a)}(5) issue before us
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of which Alaniz has been at such times a member,
appropriate for the purposes of collective bargain-
ing within the meaning of Section 9(a) of the Act.

4, By denying Alaniz his request that the Union
represent him at the November 17, 1965, meeting,
the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

5. By denying the Union the right to represent
Alaniz in accordance with his request at the
November 17, 1965, meeting, the Respondent vio-
lated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act,

6. The aforesaid unfair labor practices are unfair
labor practices affecting commerce within the
meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

7. All exceptions other than those relating to the
aforesaid unfair labor practices are without merit
and are hereby overruled.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10(c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the National Labor
Relations Board hereby orders that the Respond-
ent, Texas, Inc., Houston Producing Division,
Freer, Texas, its officers, agents, successors, and
assigns, shall:

1. ‘Cease and desist from:

(a) Refusing any employee in the unit of which
QOil, Chemical and Atomic Workers International
Union, Local No. 4-367, AFL-CIO, or any other
labor organization, is the legal bargaining represent-
ative permission to be represented by such labor
organization at any meeting convened by the Em-
ployer in which the employee is questioned about,
or required to defend himself against, his own al-
leged misconduct in the course of his duties or oc-
curring on, or in relation to, the Respondent’s pro-
perty where the employee requests representation
at the meeting by said labor organization.

(b) Refusing permission to Qil, Chemical and
Atomic Workers International Union, Local No.
4-367, AFL-CIO, or any other labor organization,
to attend any meeting and to represent any em-
ployee at such meeting who is a member of a unit of
which it is the legal bargaining representative where
the purpose of such meeting is to question the em-
ployee about or to require him to defend himself
against his own alieged misconduct in the course of
his duties or occurring on, or in relation to, the
Respondent’s property where the employee
requests representation at the meeting by said labor
organization.

(c) Inany like or related manner interfering with,
restraining, or coercing its employees in the exer-
cise of their right to self-organization to form labor
organizations, to join or assist the above-mentioned
Union or any other labor organization, to bargain
collectively through representatives of their own
choosing, and to engage in concerted activities for
the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual

aid or protection, or to refrain from any or all such
activities.

2. Take the following affirmative action which
is necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act:

(a) Strike and physically remove from its records
and files any reference to the meeting of November
17, 1965, and to decisions or actions based upon
that meeting, including all copies of the statement
signed by Alaniz on that date and all copies of the
letter of reprimand dated December 3, 1965; but
nothing in this Order shall be construed as adverse-
ly affecting Alaniz’ reinstatement on November 30,
1965,

(b) Revoke its decision, and notify Alaniz that it
has revoked said decision, that he be suspended
without pay for 24-1/2 days because of his alleged
misconduct-on November 5, 1965.

(c) Return to Alaniz the signed original state-
ment he signed on November 17, 1963, if it still has
possession of such statement, and notify him that it
is withdrawing and considering of no effect its letter
of reprimand dated December 3, 19635,

(d) Meet with Alaniz and the Union as his
representative for purposes of considering de novo
thosc matters dealt with at the November 17, 1965,
meeting if within 5 days of the date of issuance of
this Order Alaniz requests such a meeting, taking
no further action with respect to Alaniz’ alleged
misconduct on November 5, 1965, until after the
above-specified 5-day period or, if a meeting is
requested, until after said meeting has been con-
cluded.

(e) Post at its place of business, Freer, Texas,
copies of the attached notice marked **Appendix.”*
Copies of said notice, on forms provided by the Re-
gional Director for Region 23, after being duly
signed by Respondent’s authorized representative,
shall be posted by the Respondent immediately
upon receipt thereof, and be maintained by it for 60
consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous places,
including all places where notices 1o employees are
customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken
by the Respondent to insure that said notices are,
not altered, defaced, or covered by any other
material.

() Notify the Regional Director for Region 23,
in writing, within 10 days from the date of this
Order, what steps have been taken to comply

herewith.

* In the event that this Order 1s enforced by a decree of a Umited States
Court of Appeals, there shatl be substituted for the words “a Decision and
Order” the words “a Decree of the Umited States Court of Appeais En-
forcing an Order *

APPENDIX
NOTICE TO ALL EMPLOYEES

Pursuant to a Decision and Order of the National
Labor Relations Board and in order to effectuate
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the policies of the National Labor Relations Act, as
amended, we hereby notify our employees that:

WE wiLL NoT refuse any employees in the
unit of which Oil, Chemical and Atomic
Workers International Union, Local No, 4-367,
AFL-CIO, or any other labor organization, is
the legal bargaining representative permission
to be represented by such labor organization at
any meeting we hold with the employee for the
purpose of questioning him about, or having
(r;im defend himself against, his alleged miscon-

uct.

WE wiLL NoT refuse permission to Qil,
Chemical and Atomic Workers International
Union, Local No. 4-367, AFL-CIO, or any
other labor organization, to attend any meeting
and represent any employee who is 2 member
of a unit of which it is the legal bargaining
representative where an employee attends a
meeting set up by the Company for purposes
stated above and the employee requests the
Union be present to represent him.

WE wiLL remove from our files all papers
and other references to the November 17,
1963, meeting with employee Alaniz and
rescind all actions based in whole or in part
upon such meeting, except our actions shall not
affect his reinstatement on November 30,
1965,

WE wiILL upon the request of Alaniz meet
with him and the Union as his representative to
consider anew the matters taken up at the
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November 17, 1965, meeting, and shall take no
further action with respect to his alleged
misconduct until after such meeting, if he
requests it, has been held.

WE WILL NoT in any like or related manner
interfere with, restrain, or coerce our em-
ployees in the exercise of their right to self-or-
ganization, to form labor organizations, to join
or assist the above-named Union or any other
labor organization, to bargain collectively
through representatives of their own choosing,
and to engage in concerted activities for the
purpose of collective bargaining or other mu-
tual aid or protection, or to refrain from any or

all such activities.
TeExXACO, InC., HOuSTON
PropucING DiviSION
{Employer)
Dated By ) )
(Representative) (Title)

This notice must remain posted for 60 consecu-
tive days from the date of posting and must not be
altered, defaced, or covered by any other material,

If employees have any question concerning this
notice or compliance with its provisions, they may
communicate directly with the Board’s Regional
Office, 6617 Federal Office Building, 515 Rusk
Avenue, Houston, Texas 77002, Telephone
228-0611.
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United States Postal Service and American Postal
Workers Union, Columbus, Ohioc Area Local.
Case 9-CA-13926(P)

June 19, 1980
DECISION AND ORDER

By MeMBERS JENKINS, PENELLO, AND
TRUESDALE

On March 14, 1980, Administrative Law Judge
Leonard M. Wagman issued the attached Decision
in this proceeding. Thereafter, Respondent filed ex-
ceptions and a supporting brief.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section }(b) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its au-
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the record and the at-
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and brief
and has decided to affirm the rulings, findings, and
conclusions! of the Administrative Law Judge and
to adopt his recommended Order.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10{c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the National Labor Re-
lations Board adopts as its Order the recommended
Order of the Administrative Law Judge and
hereby orders that the Respondent, United States
Postal Service, Columbus, Ohio, its officers, agents,

' We hercby aflirm the Adminisirative Law Judge's conclusion that
the factual situstion at issuc in this proceeding is comparable to prior
cases wherein the Board has held that obscenities utiered by an employee
a3 part of the res gestar of concerted protecied activity were not so fla-
grant or cgregious as to remove the protection of the Act and warrant
the employee's discipline. E.g., Firch Baking Company, 232 NLRB 112
(1977); American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 211 NLRB 782 (1974); Thor
Power Tool Company, 148 NLRB 1379 {1964), enfd. 351 F.2d 584 (Tth Cir.
1955). We also specificaily reject the argument made in Respondent's ea-
ceptions that Aaniic Sieel Company, 245 NLRB No. 107 (1979), man-
dates a different conclusion.

In Atlantic Steel, a Board panel agreed to defer Lo an arbitrator’s deci-
sion Lhal the respondent had Iawlully discharged an employee for insub.
ordination. The employee had asked his foreman s question about over.
time assignments, had received an answer, and had then uttered an ob-
scene characterization of the foreman or his answer as the foreman
walked away. In finding that the arbitral decision upholding the employ-
cc's discharge was not repugnant to the Act, the majority emphasized
that his obscenily was unprovoked and wes made on 1he production floor
during his warking time. Apart from the procedural distinctions between
Board review of an arbitral award under Spielberg Menufacturing Compa-
my, 112 NLRB 1082 {1955), and Board review of an adminisirative law
judge's decision, Ailantic Steel is factually quite distinguishable from the
present case. Wilson, the discriminaice herein, had received supervisory
permission to discuss an employee's porential grievance, was engaged in
the formal investigation of that grievance in his capacity ss a steward,
snd uttered & single, spontancous obtcene remark, provoked st least in
part by the failure of the supervisor with whom Wilson was speaking 10
provide an immediste and direct answer 1o Wilson's inquiries. We agree
with the Administrative Law Judge that under these circumstsnces Wil-
son's ust of obscenc language was nol so egregious as (0 remove the
Act's protection from his grievance activities.

Member Jenkina did pot participate in the Atfantic Steel Decision, and
finds it unnecessary to distinguish that case.
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successors, and assigns, shall take the action set
forth in the said recommended Order.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LEONARD M. WaGMAN, Administrative Law Judge:
Upon a charge filed on May 31, 1979, by the American
Postal Workers Union, Columbus, Ohio Area Local, re-
ferred to below as the Union, the Regional Director for
Region 9 of the National Labor Relations Board (herein
called the Board), on behalf of the General Counsel,
issued the complaint herein on July 19, 1979, alleging
that the Respondent, United States Postai Service, violat-
ed Section 8(a}3) and (I} of the National Labor Rela-
tions Act, ss amended,’! by suspending employee Beiram
1. Wilson for 5 days without pay because he pressed a
grievance. Respondent, by its timely answer, denied
commission of the alleged unfair labor practices.

Uvon the entire record, including the testimonvy and
demeanor of the witnesses, and after consideration of the
briefs filed by the General Counsel and Respondent, I
make the following:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. JURISDICTION AND THE LABOR ORGANIZATION
INVOLVED

The Board has jurisdiction over the subject maiter of
the complaint by virtue of Section 1209 of the Postal Re-
organization Act.? The facility involved in this case is
Respondent's Air Mail Facility at Columbus, Ohia. It is
admitted, and I find, that the Union is a labor organiza-
tion within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

1. THE ALLEGED UNFALIR LABOR PRACTICES

A. The Facts

The Union is the recognized collective-bargaining rep-
rescntative of a unit of Respondent’s employees at its Co-
lumbus, Ohio, mail facilities, including the Air Mail Fa-
cility and the Main Post Office at 850 Twin Rivers
Drive, Article IV of the applicable current collective-
bargaining agreement between Respondent and the
Union is entitled “Grievance-Arbitration Procedure” and
provides in pertinent parts:

Section 1. Definition. A grievance is defined as a
dispute, difference, disagreement or complaint be-
tween the parties related to wages, hours, and con-
ditions of employment. A grievance shall include,
but is not limited to, the complaint of an employee
or of the Unions which involves the interpretation,
application of, or compliance with the provisions of
this Agreement or any local Memorandum of Un-
derstanding not in conflict with this Agreement.

Section 2. Grievance Procedure—Steps

129 US.C. §I5L, er seq.
1319 US.C. 8101, 1 teq.
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Step 1: (a) Any employee who feels aggrieved must
discuss the grievance with the employee's immedi-
ate supervisor within fourteen (14) days of the date
on which the employee or the Union first learned
or may reasonably have been expected to have
learned of its cause. The employee, if he or she so
desires, may be accompanied and represented by the
employee's steward or a Union representative. The
Union also may initiate a grievance at Step 1 within
14 days of the date the Union first became aware of
(or reasonably should have become aware of) the
facts giving rise to the grievance,

On Aprit 17, 1979,% part-time flexible employee James
Morgan, a bargaining unit employee who worked a 6-
hour shift (4:30 a.m.-10:30 a.m.) at Respondent's Colum-
bus, Ohio, Air Mail Facility brought a complaint to the
Union’s steward, Betram Wilson. Wilson, a 13-year em-
ployee of Respondent, was working as a claims and in-
quiry clerk at Respondent’s Main Post Office at B50
Twin Rivers Drive, Columbus, Ohio. The two met in a
hall at the Main Post Office after Wilson had obtained
permission from his supervisor to leave his work station,

Wilson's duties as the union steward included investi-
gation of employee complaints regarding supervisors,
warnings and other disciplinary action, discrimination,
and other matters affecting unit employees.

Part-time employee Morgan lold Wilson that, after
completing 6 hours of work at the Air Mail Facility, Re-
spondent toid him that he could have an additional 2
hours' work at the Main Post Office under conditions
which annoyed Morgan. Morgan complained, that after
a 15-minute drive from the Air Mail Facility, Respond-
ent required that he wait an additional 1 hour and 43
minutes before clocking in. Morgan sought relief from
what he considered to be an onerous condition, After
making the complaint, Morgan left Wilson,

Immediately upon Morgan's departure, Wilson tele-
phoned the Air Mail Facility and asked to talk to its
acting manager, Otto Gage. When Gage got on the tele-
phone, Wilson explained that he represented employee
James Morgan and went on to ask about the 2-hour wait
required before Morgan could clock in on his 2-hour
shift at the Main Post Office.

Wilson and Gage discussed the maiter at length. Gage
did not provide a direct answer. Instead, he reminded
Wilson that Morgan was a part-time employee and that
he, Gage, could “work him six hours and seand him
home.” The discussion moved to Morgan's entitlement 1o
the same treatment as other part-timers who worked 8-
hour shifts and some overtime.

Wilson pressed for an explanation of Morgan's 2-hour
wait. Gage explained that this break in Morgan's work
excused Respondent from paying him for his travel time.
Wilson testified that at hearing this explanation he “told
Mr. Gage that was a stupid, and asininc policy and . . .
hung the phone up.”

Gage's testimony does not contradict Wilson's account
until the final comment by Wilson. According to Gage,

3 Unless otherwise siated, sll dates herein occurred in 1979,

he heard Wilson end their exchange with: “You know
what, Mr. Gage? You are a stupid ass.”*

Following this conversation, Gage complained by
phone to his immediate supervisor about Wilson, That
evening, about 5-1/2 hours after the incident, Gage
drafted a memorandum to “Director, Processing Main
Post Office, 850 Twin Rivers Dr . . . ." giving his ver-
sion of his conversation with Wilson.

On or about May 4, Respondent issued a written
notice of suspension, which Wilson received on May 7.
The notice of suspension announced that Wilson was to
be suspended for "five (5) working days beginning: 8:30
AM, May 21 .. .." The notice went on to recite
Gage's account of the incident of ‘April 17, under the
heading “CONDUCT UNBECOMING A POSTAL
EMPLOYEE—ABUSIVE LANGUAGE."” Wilson suf-
fered the 5-day suspension without pay.

B. Analysis and Conclusions

The General Counse]l contends that the Postal Service
violated Section 8(a}(3) of the Act by suspending em-
ployee Betram H. Wilson for 5 days because he pursued
a grievance on behalf of the Union. The General Coun-
sel also argues that Respondent by this conduct also im-
paired its employees' Section 7 rights® and thereby vio-
lated Section B8(a}1}) of the Act. The Postal Service
urges that “onprovoked name-calling of another human
being for the pure purpose of ‘effect' was the reason for
Wilson's punishment, and that he was not entitled to the
Act’s protection at the time of his misconduct. I find that
Respondent™s treatment of Wilson ran afoul of his rights
under Section 7 of the Act for the following reasons.

In Prescott Industrial Products Company, 205 NLRB 51,
52 (1973), the Board provided the following guidance for
the instant case:

The Board has long held that there is a line beyond
which employees may not go with impunity while
engaging in protected concerted activitics and that
if employees exceed the line the activity loses its
protection, That line is drawn between cases where
employees engaged in concerted activities exceed
the bounds of lawful conduct in a moment of animal
exuberance or in a manner not motivated by im-
proper motives and those flagrant cases in which
the misconduct is so violent or of such character as
to render the employee unfit for further service.

Application of the Board's policy, as stated above, is
found in Thor Power Tool Company, 148 NLRB 1379,
1380 (1964), enfd. 35) F.2d 584, 587 (7th Cir. 1963).

* In view of my anslysis and conclusions below, | find it unnecessary
10 resolve this issue of credibility.

" Sec. Tt
Eemployees shall have the right 1o sclf-organization, to form, join, or
assist habor organizations, to bargain collectively through représenta-
tives of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted activi-
tiea for the purpose of colleclive bargaining or other mutual aid or
protection, and shall also have the right to refrain from any or ail
such activities except 1o the extent that such right may be affected
by an sgreement requiring membership in a labor organization as a
condition of employment as authorized in Sec. B{a}3).
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There, an employee who was a member of a union griev-
ance committee, lost his temper during an informal dis-
cussion of an employee's grievance, and referred to his
plant superintendent as “the horse’s ass.” The employer
thereafter discharged the employee because of this objec-
tionable remark. The Board concluded that the discharge
was untawful. In reaching this result, the Board observed
that the remark was “part of the res gesrae of the griev-
ance discussion . . , " {48 NLRB at 1380. The Board
also adopted the Trial Examiner’s balancing of the em-
ployee's right to the protection of the Act while discuss-
ing & grievance with the impropriety of accompanying
objectionable language, and the result favoring the em-
ployee. 148 NLRB at 1380, 1338-89.

Applying the Board's policy as exemplified in Thor
Power Tool, supra, I reach the same result here. Employ-
ee Wilson, acting in his capacity as the Union's steward,
was discussing a possible grievance on behalf of a uvnit
employee and, thus, was engaged in activily protected
by Section 7 of the Act. Cf. Huttig Sash & Dgor Compa-
ay, Inc, 154 NLRB 1567, 1571-72 (1965); Thor Power
Tool Company, supra, 148 NLRB 1380, 1388-89. Assum-
ing that Wilson used the words “stupid ass™ toward Su-
pervisor Gage, this utterance came in the course of that
discussion and, thus, was part of the res gestae.

Finally, assuming that Wilson used that improper lan-
guage, I find it to be no worse than that found in Thor
Power Tool, supra. Accordingly, 1 find that, by suspend-
ing Wilson for calling Gage a “stupid ass™ in the course
of discussing a possible grievance, Respondent violated
Section 8{(a){1) of the Act. In view of the remedy pro-
vided below, 1 find it unnecessary to determine whether
Respondent also violated Section 8(a)(3) of the Act by
suspending Wilson. Ad Art Incorporation, 238 NLRB
ti24 (1978), Merlyn Bunney and Clarence Bunney, part-
ners, d/b/a Bunney Bros. Construction Company, 139
NLRB 1516 (1962).

I1l. THE REMEDY

Having found that Respondent has engaged in certain
unfair labor practices, [ shall recommend that it be or-
dered to cease and desist therefrom, and to take other
appropriate actions to remedy its unfair labor practices. |
therefore recommend that Respondent be required 1o
make Bertram J. Wilson whole for wages lost by reason
of the S-day suspension levied upon him, with interest
thereon to be computed in the manner prescribed in F.
W. Woolworth Company, 90 NLRB 289 (1950), and Flor-
ida Steel Corporation, 231 NLRD 651 (1977).%

I further recommend that Respondent be reauired to
expunge and remove all records of and references to the
suspension from all of Respondent’s records, wherein
that suspension is now noted, and that Respondent be or-
dered to post an appropriate notice to employees.

* Sec, generally, fsis Plumbing & Heating Co., 138 NLRB 716 (1362},
The General Counsel’s request for 9-percent interest is rejecied in ac-
cordance with the Board's policy as set forth in Florida Steel Corporation.
supra.

CONCLUSIONS OF Law

1. The Respondent is an employer engaged in com-
merce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of
the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By interfering with, restraining, and coercing its em-
ployees in the exercise of rights guarantced them in Sec-
tion 7 of the Act, Respondent has engaged in unfair
labor practices within the meaning of Section 8{(a)}1) of
the Act.

4. The aforesaid unfair labor practices are unfair labor
practices affecting commerce within the meaning of Sec-
tion 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, conclusions of
law, and the entire record herein considered as a whole,
and pursuant to Section 10{c) of the Act, | make the fol-
lowing recommended:

ORDER?

The Respondent, Urited States Postal Service, Colum-
bus, Ohio, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns,
shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

(a} Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its em-
ployees in the exercise of their rights as guaranteed in
Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, as
amended, by suspending or otherwise punishing employ-
ecs because of the exercise of such rights.

() In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing its employees in the exercise of
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action designed to ef-
fecluate the policies of the Act;

(a) Make Bertram J. Wilson whole for any loss of pay
he suffered by reason of his unlawful 5.day suspension.
Said backpay shall be computed in the manner set forth
in the section of this Decision entitled “The Remedy.”

(b) Expunge and physically remove from its records
any suspension notices and any references thereto relat-
ing to the suspension of Bertram J. Wilson for 5 calendar
days beginning May 21, 1979.

(c) Preserve and, upon request, make available to the
Board or its agents, for examination and copying, all
payroll records, social security payment records, time-
cards, personne! records and reports, and all other rec-
ords necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due
under the terms of this Order.

(d) Post at its Columbus, Ohio, facilities copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix.”® Copies of said
notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for

? In the event no eaceplions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the
Rules and Regulations of the Nationsl Labor Relations Board, the find-
ings. conclusions, and recommended Order herein shall, as provided in
Sec. 102,48 of the Rules and Regulations, be adopied by the Board and
become its findings, conclusions, and Order, and all objections thereio
shall be deemed waived for all purposes.

* In the event that this Order is enforced by » Judgment of a United
States Court of Appeals, the words in \he notice reading “Posted by
order ot the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posied Pursu-
ant 1y & Judgment of the United Siates Court of Appeals Enforcing an
Order of the National Labar Helstions Board.”
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Region 9, after being duly signed by Respondent's au-
thorized representative, shall be posted by Respondent
immediately upon receipt thereof, and be mainlained by
it for 60 consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous
places, including all places where notices to employees
are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken
by Respondent to insure that said notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material.

(e) Notify the Regional Director for Region 9, in writ-
ing, within 20 days from the date of this Order, what
steps the Respondent has taken to comply herewith.

APPENDIX

NoTIiCE To EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BoARD
An Agency of the United States Government

After a hearing at which all sides had an opportunity to
present evidence and state their positions, the National
Labor Relations Board found that we have violated the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, and has or-
dered us to post this notice.

The Act gives all employees these rights:

To engage in self-organization

To form, join. or assist any union

To bargain collectively through representa-
tives of their own choice

To engage in activilies together for the pur-
pose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid
or protection

To refrain from the exercise of any or all such
activities.

WE wiLL NOT in any like or related manner in-
terfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the
exercise of rights guaranteed them in Section 7 of
the Act.

WE wiLL NOT suspend or otherwise punish any
employees for exercising such rights.

WE wiILL make Bertram J. Wilson whole for any
loss of pay he may have suffered by reason of his
suspension for 5 calendar days beginning May 21,
1979.

WE wiLL expunge and physically remove from
our records and files any suspension notices and any
references thereto relating to the suspension of Ber-
tram J. Wilson beginning May 21, 1979,

UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE



COOK PAINT AND VARNISH COMPANY AND PAINTMAKERS AND ALLIED TRADES
LOCAL 754 AFFILIATED WITH INTERNATIONAL BROTHERHCOD QF PAINTERS AND
ALLIED TRADES, AFL-CIO

Case 17-CA-8258
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

258 N.L.R.B. 1230; 1981 NLRB LEXIS 1429; 108 L.R.R.M. 1150; 1981-82 NLRB Dec.
(CCH) P18,433; 258 NLRB No. 166

September 30, 1981

CORE TERMS: steward, interview, discipline, grievance, questioning,
representational, notice, National Labor Relations Act, Administrative Law, posted,
spill, investigatory, interrogation, reqular, disciplinary action, union activities,
conversations, threatening, involvement, reiterated, plant, paint, duties, arbitration
proceeding, protected activities, arbitration hearing, rights guaranteed, written
material, union activity, blanket rule

[**1] SUPPLEMENTAL DECISION AND ORDER
By Fanning, Member; Jenkins, Member; Zimmerman, Member.

OPINION:

[#¥1230] On November 30, 1979, the National Labor Relations Board issued a
Decision and Order in the above-entitled proceeding, n1 adopting an Administrative
Law Judge's finding that Respondent Cock Paint and Varnish Company violated
Section 8(a)(1) of the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, by threatening
employees Jesse Whitwell and Douglas Rittermeyer with disciplinary action for their
refusal to submit to interrogation by Respondent's attorney and other
representatives concerning an incident involving another employee as to which
arbitration had been invoked. The Administrative Law Judge also found that
Respondent further violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by threatening Union Steward
Whitwell with discipline for refusing to submit to questioning by Respondent's
attorney and other representatives and refusing to submit written material to
Respondent concerning the same incident. In its Decisicn, the Board found that,
inasmuch as Whitwell was entitled to the protection of the Act as a regular employee,
it was unnecessary to pass on whether his role as union steward entitled him to
" additional [**2] protection. The Board ordered Respondent to cease and desist
from the conduct found unlawful and to take certain affirmative actions designed to
effectuate the policies of the Act. Thereafter, Respondent filed a petition for review of
said Order and the Board filed a cross-application for enforcement with the United
States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit.



On April 2, 1981, a panel of the court of appeals issued its decision, n2 declining to
enforce the Board's Order and remanding the case to the Board for further
proceedings. In its decision, the court determined that the interview of Rittermeyer,
a regular employee, did not violate Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. With respect to
Whitwell, however, the court noted that "very different considerations may be
relevant in considering the legality of an interview of a union steward that are not
present in the case of employees generally." n3 Accordingly, since the Board had
declined to pass on the issue of whether [*¥*3] Whitwell's position as union steward
entitled him to protections not available to employees generally, the court remanded
the case to the Board for further proceedings on that issue.

n2 648 F.2d 712 (D.C. Cir. 1981}.

n3 Id. at 725.

Thereafter, the Board informed the parties that they were entitled to file statements
of position on the issue remanded to the Board. Respondent filed a statement of
position,

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3(b) of the National Labor Relations Act, as
amended, the National Labor Relations Board has delegated its authority in this
proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board, having accepted the remand, respectfully recognizes the court's decision
as binding for the purposes of deciding this case.

The pertinent facts surrounding Respondent's interview of Union Steward Jesse
Whitwell are as follows. On February 2, 1978, employee Paul Thompson was involved
in an incident in Respondent's tank washing room which purportedly [**4] resulted
in Thompson slipping and injuring himself, Whitwell, who was union steward for the
area of Respondent's plant where Thompson worked, testified without contradiction
that his initial involvement in the incident came about when Thompson and Working
Foreman Mallot approached him to discuss a paint spill that had occurred in .

. Thompson's work area. Whitwell discussed the matter with Thompson and Mallot and
' got the problem "straightened out." Several minutes later, Mallot and Thompson
returned to Whitwell with a dispute as to whether Thompson should clean up the spill
or continue with his regular duties. Whitwell told Thompson to continue with his
regular duties and then sought out Floor Supervisor Ervin Woolery. Meanwhile,
Thompson allegedly fell in the area of the paint spill and requested permission to go
to the doctor. The record reveals no further discussions involving Whitwell on that
day concerning the Thompson matter. n4

n4 As was indicated by the Administrative Law Judge, it is unnecessary for resolution
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of this case to determine the merits of Respondent's actions concerning Thompson,
For our purposes, the significant facts concern Whitwell's role in the incident. For all
practical purposes, the actions of Whitwell are undisputed.

As a result of the February 3 incident, Respondent decided to discharge Thompson.
Toward this end, a meeting was held on February 6. The meeting was attended by
Whitwell, Union Business Representative Fixler, and several management
representatives. Those present at the meeting, including Whitwell, discussed the
February 3 incident and Respondent reiterated its decision to discharge Thompson.
On the sarme day, the Union filed a grievance on behalf of Thompson.

[*1231] Thereafter, the grievance was processed in accord with the parties'
collective-bargaining agreement., Whitwell, as steward for Thompson's department,
was directly involved in all three steps of the grievance which failed to result in a
resolution of the matter. Pursuant to the contractual grievance procedure, the Union
invoked binding arbitration. The arbitration hearing was scheduled for May 3, 1978.

On April 21, 1978, Whitwell was called into the office of General Superintendent
Keller. Already present were other management officials and William Nulton,
Respondent's labor reiations attorney. Nulton informed Whitwell that he was
preparing for the upcoming arbitration hearing and wished to question Whitwell as to
the [**6] February 3 incident. He told Whitwell that refusal to cooperate would
result in disciplinary action against him. Whitwell requested and was granted time to
discuss the matter with Business Representative Nash. Because Nash was not
available, Whitwell contacted Union Attorney Robert Reinhold who came to the plant
and accompanied Whitwell into Keller's office.

Upon resumption of the meeting, Nulton reiterated that Whitwell would be subject to
discipline if he refused to cooperate. Following a discussion and legal argument
between Reinheld and Nulton, Whitwell agreed to answer questions under protest.
According to Whitwell's uncontradicted testimony, Nulton then asked him a series of
questions pertaining to the events which occurred on February 3, Thompson's action
regarding the spili, and "conversations taking place between myself [Whitwell], Mr.
Thompson, Mr. Mallot, Mr. Woolery."

During the questioning, Whitwell revealed that he had kept contemporaneous notes

‘relating to the Thompson matter. Nulten then "ordered” Whitwell to produce them.

Whitwell refused, stating that the notes were part of his union notebook. Nulton then
told Whitwell to produce the notes by 8 a.m. of the following [**7] day. Whitwell
did not comply with the directive but, instead, sent the notes to the Thompson case
arbitrator. On the next day, Respondent made no further request for the notes. n5

nS With respect to the order to turn over the notes, we specifically adopt the

' Administrative Law Judge's finding that Nulton ordered Whitwell to produce them and

that Whitwell reasonably could not have viewed the directive as anything other than
a threat of discipline for failure to comply.
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In its decision, a majority of the court held: "As part of a contractual arbitration
procedure, an employer may conduct a legitimate investigatory interview in
preparation for a pending arbitration.” n6 It further held, however, that the
"interview may not pry Into protected union activities." n7 In the view of the court
majority, Respondent’s interview of Rittermeyer was a iegitimate investigatory
interview that did not pry into protected activities. With respect to Whitwell,
however, a majority of the court found that there may be "fundamental differences
[**8] between an interview of an employee and an interview of a union steward."
n8 While cautioning the Board against promulgating a "blanket rule" immunizing
stewards from investigatory interviews relating to pending arbitrations, the court
remanded the case to the Board to determine whether Respondent's interview of
Whitwell constituted a lawful investigatory interview or an unlawful prying into
protected union activities.

n6 648 F.2d at 723.

n7 Id.

n8 Id, at 724.

Upon review of the entire record, including the court's decision, we are of the view
that Respondent's interview of Whitwell, in the circumstances of this case, did
constitute an unwarranted infringement on protected union activity and,
consequently, violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

In reaching this conclusion, our initial inquiry involves examination of the role played
by Whitwell in the Thompson incident. From our review of the record, it is clear that
Whitwell's involvement in the Thompson [**9] incident arose solely as a result of
his status as union steward. In this regard, we note that Whitwell did not become
involved as a result of his own misconduct, Nor was Whitwell an eye-witness to the
events that resulted in Thompson's alleged fall and his subsequent discharge,

Instead, Whitwell initfally was approached in his capacity as steward by Thompsen

and Mallot who were engaged in a dispute over a paint spill. Whitwell conversed with
the two, attempting to "straighten out" the dispute. Several minutes later, Mallot and
Thompson returned to Whitwell to discuss further developments. At that point,
Whitwell gave his advice to Thompson and then sought out Supervisor Woaclery.
Meanwhile, Thompson returned to his work area where he allegedly slipped and
injured himself. Thus, Whitwell became involved in the incident ab initio as a result of
his role as union steward.

Following the incident,' Whitwell continued to act in a representationa! capacity.

Pursuant to the collective-bargaining agreement, Whitwell was Thompson's
designated representative at the first two grievance steps. In addition, as found by

76



‘the Administrative Law Judge, Whitwell acted in this representational capacity

[**10] at the third step of the grievance process as well. In short, from the
beginning [¥1232] of the Thompson incident, and up through each progressive
step of the grievance process, all of which occurred prior to the April 21 interview,
Whitwell's participation was a direct result of the execution of his duties as union
steward in representing Thompson.

Having determined that Whitwell's involvement in the incident arose and continued in
the context of his acting as Thompson's representative, our inquiry shifts to an
examination of the scope of Respondent’s interrogation to determine whether the
questions pried into protected union activities and interfered with the employees’
exercise of their Section 7 rights. In our view, the questioning exceeded permissible
bounds, pried into protected activities, and, accordingly, constituted an unlawful
interference with employee Section 7 rights.

As to the scope of Respondent's interrogation it is virtually undisputed, and we
specifically find, that Nulton sought to probe into, inter alia, the substance of
conversations between Whitwell and Thompson, Indeed, the scope of Respondent's
probing is highlighted by Nuiton's order to Whitwell to [**11] turn over the
contemporaneous notes concerning the incident which he had taken in his capacity
as steward. Significantly, the order was reiterated even after Whitweli informed
Respondent's representatives that the notes were part of his "union notebook" that
he regularly kept in carrying out his union functions.

Clearly, the scope of Respondent's questioning exceeded the permissible bounds
cutlined by the court and impinged upon protected union activity. For while questions
posed by Nulton may be termed "factual inquiries,” the very facts sought were the
substance of conversations between an employee and his steward, as well as the
notes kept by the steward, in the course of fulfilling his representational functions.
Such consultation between an employee potentially subject to discipline and his
union steward constitutes protected activity in one of its purest forms. To allow
Respondent here to compel the disclosure of this type of information under threat of
discipline manifestly restrains employees in their willingness to candidly discuss
matters with their chosen, statutory representatives. n9 Such actions by Respondent
also inhibit stewards in obtaining needed information from [**12] employees since
the steward knows that, upon demand of Respondent, he will be required to reveal
the substance of his discussions or face disciplinary action himself. In short,
Respondent's probe into the protected activities of Whitwell and Thompson has not
anly interfered with the protected activities of those two individuals but it has also
' cast a chilling effect over all of its employees and their stewards who seek to
candidly communicate with each other over matters involving potential or actual
discipline.

n9 In its brief, Respondent advances the argument that Whitwell, pursuant to the
bargaining obligations of Sec. 8(d), was obligated to turn over docurments in his
possession relating to the Thompson grievance. We find no merit in such a claim.
Initially, we note that, while the cases cited by Respondent do refer to a union's
obligation to supply relevant information for the purposes of collective bargaining,
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Respondent has advanced no case support for the unique proposition that notes kept
by a steward in the course of representing employees are subject to the
requirements of supplying relevant bargaining information. Yet, even if we were to so
hold, which we do not, we could not endorse Respendent's additional claim that the
Union's obligation to supply such information can be unilaterally enforced against a
steward by means of a threat of discipline for failure to comply. For if, indeed, the
information was relevant to collective bargaining and Respondent was entitled to
obtain it, our Act provides the appropriate mechanism for Respondent to assert its
rights. Respondent, however, rejected that course and sought to short circuit the
process through threats and coercion. We firmly reject the concept that an employer,
in its guest to obtain Information, may unilaterally determine the relevance of the
information and its entitlement to obtain the information and then set about
enforcing its determination through threats of discipline.

----------------- End Footnotes- - - -~ «------ .-~ [*%¥13]

Finally, in view of the court's admonition against cur promulgation of a "blanket
rule," we wish to emphasize that our ruling in this case does not mean that all
discussions between employees and stewards are confidential and protected by the
Act. Nor does our decisicn hold that stewards are, in all instances, insulated from
employer interrogation. We simply find herein that, because of Whitwell's
representational status, the scope of Respondent's questioning, and the impingement
on protected union activities, Respondent’s April 21, 1978, interview of Jesse
Whitwell violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10(c) of the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the
National Labor Relations Board hereby orders that the Respondent, Cook Paint and
Varnish Company, Kansas City, Missouri, its officers, agents, successors, and
assigns, shall:

1

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Threatening union shop stewards with discipline for refusing to submit to
questioning by Respondent's counsel or other representatives, or to submit written
material kept in the course of the steward's representation of employees, concerning
any matter involving a unit employee when the steward is [**14] contractually
.bound or authorized to represent such employee in a grievance or arbitration
proceeding and the steward has acted in such representational capacity.

{b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining, or coercing employees
in the exercise of the rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

[*¥*1233] 2. Take the following affirmative action designed to effectuate the policies
of the Act:

(a) Post at its plant 3,'in North Kansas City, Missouri, copies of the attached notice

marked "Appendix." n10 Copies of said notice, on forms provided by the Regional
Director for Region 17, after being duly signed by an authorized representative of

78



Respondent, shall be posted by Respondent immediately upon receipt thereof, and
be maintained by it for 60 consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous places,
including all places where notices to employees are customarily posted, Reasonable
steps shall be taken by Respondent to insure that said notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material.

n10 In the event that this Order is enforced by a Judgment of a United States Court
of Appeals, the words in the notice reading "Posted by Order of the National Labor
Relations Board" shall read "Posted Pursuant to a Judgment of the United States
Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the National Labor Relations Board."

----------------- End Footnotes- - --------------- [**15]

{b) Notify the Regional Director for Region 17, in writing, within 20 days from the
date of this Order, what steps the Respondent has taken to comply herewith.

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES |
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

After a hearing at which all sides had an opportunity to present evidence and state
their positions, the National Labor Relations Board found that we have violated the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, and has ordered us to post this notice.

WE WILL NOT threaten union shop stewards with discipline for refusing
to submit to questioning by our counsel or other representatives, or to

. submit written material kept in the course of the steward’s
representation of employees, concerning any matter involving a unit
employee when the steward is contractually bound or authorized to
represent such employee in a grievance or arbitration proceeding and
the steward has acted in such representational capacity.

v WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, restrain, or

coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed them by
Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act.

COOK PAINT AND VARNISH [**16] COMPANY
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EEPORT OF THT GENTRAI. COUNSEI

This report covers selected cases of interest that were
decided during the period from March through September 20,
182%4. It discugses ¢ases which were decided upon a reguest
for advice from a Regional Director or on zppezl from =
Regional Director's dismissal of unfair lzbor practice
charges. It also summarizes cases in wnich I soungnt zng
obtzined Bozrd authorization to institute injunction
procesdings under Secticon 10(j) of the Act.

Frederick L. Feinstein
General Counsel




gatting the Employar to either sign a2 bargaining zgrsement

r cease doing business. The Union admitted as much when it
told the Employer that the "games would stop® if tha
Employer would sign a contract. In addition, the evidence
of unprotected substantial slow-down and sabotage sctivities
suppo- ed the conclusion that the Union was engaged in an

ressive campalgn to use the unprotected conduct of

na*tlal strikes to achieve its goals. The Union's campaign
ultimately succeeded in closing éown the Employer.

Ve further decided that, since the striking employees
had to have known that they were participating in = strategy
of intermittent strikes, each employee's conduct was
unprotected regardless of whether he or she engaged in one,
two, or all thres of the unprotected stoppages. As the
Bozrd stressed in Pacific Telephoms, supra, 107 NLRE at
1550, the employer there, faced with intermittent strikes
that were totally disrupting its business, "was not reguired
to pause during the hezt of the strike to examine into the

degres of kpowledge of ezch [striker], all of whom weyre
[aecting on behalf] the same Union. It was sufficiensy . . .
that each of the [strikers] was a participant in the strike

strategy...* 107 NLR: &t 1581-1E552. Accoru-ng-y, we decided
to dismigg the charges.

Niecimlineg af IImian Serowu=vs For Tofpaing
e Cogparirs with foniqvar Tnyecrioesd-n

In znother case considered during this pericd, we
concluded that an employer could not lawfully &is scipline a
union steward for refuszng to provide it with a written

coount of an employee's conduct witnessed as & result of

her pexformance of her duties as stewarc.

'The Emplover's plant manager hzd raguested the stewsxd
to attend a meeting, zlong with an employee and the
employee's supervisor, concerning possible discipline of the
enp‘oyee. At the end of the meeting the employee was
terminzted and the grocup left the oifice. As they walked
1n,o the adjoining hall, the employes allegedly told the
' plant manager that he was "a rotten, mo good bastard, [and
if *hﬂ emcloves) hzé his money right now (he'd] drag [the

managex] outside and kick his ." The plant manager
oid the superviscr =nd the stewars that he wanted
stztements from thenm s_-glng forth what the employes had
szid. When the steward objected she was advised that she
oulié be subject to discharge if she dif not provide the

rT
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statement, The steward thereupon submitted the statement as
direcred.

We concluded that the threat of discharge unlawfully
interfered with the individual's protected right to serve as
union steward. Althougsh the discharged employee's
intemperate remarks may not have been protected, the stewzrd
would never have witnessed the ocutburst but for her role as
steward. The outburst, which occurred as the parties were
leaving the plant manager's office, was not viewed as
separable from the events for which the steward's attendance
had been required, but rather, was considered as parc of the
"res gestae of the grievance discussion." ., Thor Power
Zoeol Companv, 14B NLRB 1379, 1380 (1854), enf'd., 351 F.24
584 (7th Cir: 1965). Further, even if the disciplinary
meeting were found to have ended pricr to the outburst, the
steward's role was consideved a continuous one, inasmuch as
the discharged employee still had a rzight tn file &
contractual grievance protesting his dischazys, and the
steward would likely be involved in that process. It was
therefore concluded that the threat occcuzrred during a time
when the individual was scting &s steward.

Further, the threat was deemad to have & chilling
effect on the steward's right to reprasent the dischargee
and other employees in an atmosphere free of coercion. 2
reguirement that stewards, under threat of discharge,
prepare written report$ on the conduct of employees they
have been requested to represent, clearly compromises the
steward's obligation to provide, znd an emplovee's right to
receive, effective representation. Employees will be less
inclined to vigorously pursue their grievances if they know
that the employer can reguire their representztive to
prepare reports on their conduct ar such mestings, incliuding
sponranecus cutbursts which may or may not be rrotected,

The Board has also recognized that employer efforts to
dictate the manner in which a union must present its
grievance position may have a stifling effect on the
grievance machinery and could "so heavily weigh the
mechanism in the employer's favor as to render it
ineffective as an instrument to satisfactorily resclve
grievances.® Hawaiian Hauline Service, Ttd,, 218 NLRB 765,
766 {1978}, enf*d., 545 2d €74 {9%th Cir. 1976) (employes
dischareed for calling the general manager a liar Juring a
crievance meeting on the employes's prior discipline.) By
vlacing the steward under threat cf discharge if she refused
to supply the statement the Employer was deemed to have
stifled vigorous opposition to its grievance/discipline
iecisions and to have hzavily weighted the grievance proecess
n its own favor.
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While acknowliedging that a union steward does not enjoy
zbsolute immunity from employer interrogztion, the Board, in
its decision on remsnd in Cook DPaint and VUz-nieh Co,., 255
NLRB 1230 (1981), held that an employer had unlawifull
threatered to discipline a steward for refusing to submit to
2 pre-arbitration interview ané refusing to make available
notes taken by the stewzrd while processing the grievance
that was being axbitrated. The Board noted that the stewarzd
had not been an eyewitness to the events, and that his
involvement occurred solely as a result of his processing
the grievance as union steward. The Eozrd then noted that
the netes sought by the employer were the substance of
conversations between the employee znd the steward, and that
such consultations were “protected activity in one of its
rurest forms." The Boaré concluded that to allow the
employer to compel disclosure of such information under
threat of disciplire manifestly restrained employees in
. their willingness to candidly discuss matters with their

representative. The Board added that such employer conduct
cast & chilling effect over all employess and stewards who
seek to communicate with each other over poteatial grievance
matters and zlso inhibited stewards in obtazining neededé
informatien since the stewsxrd weuld know that, upon demand
of the employer, he woulé be reguired to reveal the subject
of his discussions or fzce disciplinary action himself.

We concluded that while there were factual differences,
Cook Paint is consisten: with a finding that the Employer's
threat to the steward in the instant case violated the Act.
Thus, while ook Paint involved empleyer attempts to
Ciscover the contents of smployes communications to &
steward, both cases invclve the sencsitivity of a steward's
status vis-&-vis the employess he/she represents. Thusg,
like the steward in Conk tairt, the steward herein was not -
involved in the miscoaduct that was the subject of the
meeting or that occurred immediztely thereafter, was present
solely -because of her szztus as steward, andé was compelled
under threat of discharge to provide a written account of an
event to which there wsre other witnesses, making her
version merely cumulative., If an Employer were permitted to
threaten stewards with éiscipline for failing to cooperate
in employer investigaticms in circumstances such as t@ese,
it would place a2 stewaxé in 2 position of s?arp gongllct of
interests, having to choose between protecting his job and
providing effective and strenuous representation to the
employee he was chesen to represgent.

beccordingly, we authorized the
apprepriate Section E(gz) (1) complain

K
-
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4 DECISIONS OF NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BCARD

United States Postal Service and American Postal
Workers Union, Columbus, Ohic Area Local.
Case 9-CA-13926(P)

June 19, 1980
DECISION AND ORDER

By MEMBERS JENKINS, PENELLO, AND
TRUESDALE

On March 14, 1980, Administrative Law Judge
Leonard M. Wagman issued the attached Decision
in this proceeding. Thereafter, Respondent filed ex-
ceptions and a supporting brief.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3(b) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its au-
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the record and the at-
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and brief
and has decided to affirm the rulings, findings, and
conclusions! of the Administrative Law Judge and
to adopt his recommended Order.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10{c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the National Labor Re-
lations Board adopts as its Order the recommended
Order of the Administrative Law Judge and
hereby orders that the Respondent, United States
Postal Service, Columbus, Ohio, its officers, agents,

' We hereby affirm the Administirstive Law Judge's conulusion that
the factual situation at issae in this proceeding is comparable 10 prioe
cases wherein the Board has held that obscenities utiered by an employee
as part of the res gestae of concerted protecied aclivity were not so fla-
grant or egregious as lo remove the protection of the Act and warrant
the employee’s discipline. E.g., Firch Baking Company, 232 NLRB 172
(1972); American Telephone & Telegraph Co., 211 NLRB 782 (1974); Thor
FPower Tool Company, 148 NLRB 1379 (1964}, enfd. 351 F.2d 584 (Tth Cir.
1965). We also specifically reject the argument made in Respondent's ea-
ceplions that Atlantic Steel Company. 245 NLRB No. 107 (1979}, man-
dates a different conclusion.

In Atlantic Steel, 8 Board panel agreed to defer 1o an arhilrator’s decr
sion that the respondent had lawfully discharged an employee for insub-

dinati e employet had asked his foreman » question about over.
time assignments, had received an answer, and had then uttered an ob-
scene characterization of the foreman or his answer as the foreman
wilked away. In finding that the srbiirsl decision uphotding the employ-
ee’s discharge was not repugnant to the Act, the majority emphasized
that his obscenity was unprovoked and was made on the production floor
during his working time. Apart from the procedural distinctions between
Board review of an arbitral award under Spielberg Manufaciuring Compa-
ny, 112 NLRB 1080 (1953), and Board review of an administeative law
judge's decision, Atfantic Steel is factuslly quite distinguishable from Lhe
present case. Wilson, the discriminatee herein, had received supervisory
permission to discuss an employee's polentisl grievance, was engaged in
the formal investigation of thal grievance in his capacity as a steward,
and uttered s single, spontancous obscenc remark, pravoked at least in
part by the failure of the supervisor with whom Wilson was speaking (0
provide an immediste and direct answer 1o Wilson's inquiries. We sgree
with the Administrative Law Judge that under these circumstances Wil-
son's usc of obscene language was not so egregious as 1o remove the
Act’s protection from his grievance activities.

Member Jenkins did pot participate in the Atlantic Steel Decision, and
finds it unnecessary to distinguinh that case.

250 NLRB No. 2

successors, and assigns, shall take the action set
forth in the said recommended Order.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LEoNARD M. WAGMAN, Administrative Law Judge:
Upon a charge filed on May 31, 1979, by the American
Postal Workers Union, Columbus, Ohio Area Local, re-
ferred to below as the Union, the Regional Director for
Region 9 of the National Labor Relations Board (herein
called the Board), on behall of the General Counsel,
issued the complaint herein on July 19, 1979, alleging
that the Respondent, United States Postal Service, violat-
ed Section 8(a}(d) and (1} of the National Labor Rela-
tions Act, as amended,' by suspending employee Betram
J. Wilson for 5 days without pay because he pressed a
grievance. Respondent, by its timely answer, denied
commission of the alleged unfair labor practices.

Upon the entire record, including the testimony and
demeanor of the witnesses, and after consideration of the
briefs filed by the General Counsel and Respondent, ]
make the [ollowing:

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. JURISDHCTION AND THE LABOR ORGANIZATION
INVOLVED

The Board has jurisdiction over the subject matter of
the complaint by virtue of Section 1209 of the Postal Re-
organization Act.? The facility involved in this case is
Respondent’s Air Mail Facility at Columbus, Ohio. It is
admitted, and I find, that the Union is a labor organiza-
tion within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

11. THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

A. The Facts

The Union is the recognized collective-bargaining rep-
resentative of a unit of Respondent’s employees at its Co-
lumbus, Chio, mail facilities, including the Air Mail Fa-
cility and the Main Post Office at 850 Twin Rivers
Drive. Article IV of the applicable current collective-
bargaining agreement between Respondent and the
Union is entitled “Grievance-Arbitration Procedure’ and
provides in pertinent parts:

Section 1. Definition. A grievance is defined as a
dispute, difference, disagreement or complaint be-
tween the parties related to wages, hours, and con-
ditions of employment. A grievance shall include,
but is not limited to, the complaint of an employee
or of the Unions which involves the interpretation,
application of, or compliance with the provisions of
this Agreement or any local Memorandum of Un-
derstanding not in conflict with this Agreement.

Section 2. Grievance Procedure—Steps

128 ULS.C. 151, ef seq.
139 US.C §IGL, ef seq.
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Step 1: (2) Any employee who feels aggrieved must
discuss the grievance with the employee's immedi-
ate supervisor within fourteen (14) days of the date
on which the employee or the Union first learned
or may reasonably have been expected to have
learned of its cause. The employee, if he or she so
desires, may be accompanied and represented by the
employee's steward or a Union representative. The
Union also may initiate a grievance at Step | within
14 days of the date the Union first became aware of
(or reasonably should have become aware of) the
facts giving rise to the grievance.

On April 17, 1979, part-time flexible employee James
Morgan, a bargaining unit employee who worked a 6-
hour shift (4:30 a m.~10:30 a.m.) at Respondent’s Colum-
bus, Ohio, Air Mail Facility brought a complaint to the
Union’s steward, Betram Wilson. Wilson, a 13.year em-
ployee of Respondent, was working as a claims and in-
quiry clerk at Respondent’s Main Post Office at 850
Twin Rivers Drive, Columbus, Ohio. The two met in a
hall at the Main Post Office after Wilson had obtained
permission from his supervisor to leave his work slation.

Wilson's duties as the union steward included investi-
gation of employee complaints regarding supervisors,
warnings and other disciplinary action, discrimination,
and ather matters affecting unit employees.

Part-time employec Morgan told Wilson that, after
completing 6 hours of work at the Air Mail Facility, Re-
spondent told him that he could have an additional 2
hours' work at the Main Post Office under conditions
which annoyed Morgan. Morgan complained, that afier
a 15-minute drive from the Air Mail Facility, Respond-
ent required that he wait an additional § hour and 45
minutes before clocking in. Morgan sought relief from
what he considered to be an onerous condition. After
making the complaint, Morgan left Wilson,

Immediately upon Morgan's departore, Wilson tele-
phoned the Air Mail Facility and asked to talk to its
acting manager, Otto Gage. When Gage got on the tele-
phone, Wilson explained that he represented employee
James Morgan and went on to ask about the 2-hour wait
required before Morgan could clock in on his 2-hour
shift at the Main Post Office.

Wilson and Gage discussed the matter at length. Gage
did not provide a direct answer. Instead, he reminded
Wilson that Morgan was a part-time employee and that
he, Gage, could “work him six hours and send him
home.” The discussion moved to Morgan's entitlement 1o
the same treatment as other part-timers who worked 8-
hour shifts and some overtime.

Wikson pressed for an esplanation of Morgan's 2-hour
wait. Gage explained that this break in Morgan's work
excused Respondent from paying him for his travel time.
Wilson testified that at hearing this explanation he “told
Mre. Gage that was a stupid, and asinine policy and . . .
hung the phone up."

Gage's testimony does not contradict Wilson's account
until the final comment by Wilson. According to Gage,

7 Unless otherwise stated, all dates herein occurred in 1979,

he heard Wilson end their exchange with: “You know
what, Mr. Gage? You are a stupid ass.'

Following this conversation, Gage complained by
phone to his immediate supervisor about Wilson, That
evening, about 5-1/2 hours after the incident, Gage
drafted a memorandum to “Director, Processing Main
Post Office, 850 Twin Rivers Dr . . . .” giving his ver-
sion of his conversation with Wilson,

On or about May 4, Respondent issued a written
notice of suspension, which Wilson received on May 1.
The notice of suspension announced that Wilson was to
be suspended for “five (5) working days beginning: 8:30
AM, May 2i . ." The notice went on to recite
Gage's account of the incident of April 17, under the
heading "CONDUCT UNBECOMING A POSTAL
EMPLOYEE—ABUSIVE LANGUAGE." Wilson suf-
fered the 5-day suspension without pay.

B. Analysis and Conclusions

The General Counse! contends that the Posial Service
violated Section 8(a}3) of the Act by suspending em-
ployee Betram H. Wilson for 5 days because he pursued
a grievance on behalf of the Union. The General Coun-
sel also argues that Respondent by this conduct also im-
paired its employees’ Section 7 rights® and thereby vio-
lated Section 8(a}(1) of the Act. The Postal Service
urges that “unprovoked name-calling of another human
being for the pure purpose of ‘effect™ was the reason for
Wilson's punishment, and that he was not cntitled to the
Act’s protection at the time of his misconduct. 1 find that
Respondent’s treatment of Wilson ran afoul of his rights
under Section 7 of the Act for the following reasons.

In Prescoft Industrial Products Company, 205 NLRB 51,
52 (1973), the Board provided the following guidance for
the instani case:

The Board has long held that there is a line beyond
which employees may not go with impunity while
engaging in protected concerted activities and that
if employees exceed the line the activity loses its
protection. That line is drawn between cases where
employees engaged in concerted activities exceed
the bounds of lawful conduct in a moment of animal
exuberance or in a manner not motivated by im-
proper motives and those flagrant cases in which
the misconduct is so violent or of such character as
to render the employee unfit for further service.

Application of the Board's policy, as stated above, is
found in Thor Power Tool Company, 148 NLRB 1379,
1380 (1964), enfd. 351 F.2d 584, 587 (7th Cir. 1963).

In view of my analysis and conclusions below, 1 find it unnecessary
to resolve this isaue of credibility.
¢ Sec. T

Employees shall have the right to self-organization, to form. join, or
assist inbor organizations, to bargain collectively through representa-
tives of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted aclivi-
tics for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual sid ar
protection, and shall also have the right to refrain from sny or ail
such activities except to the extent thet such right may be sffected
by an agreement requiring memberthip in & labor organization &5 &
condition of employmen! as authorized in Sec. 8(a)X)).
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There, an employee who was a member of a union griev-
ance committee, lost his temper during an informal dis-
cussion of an employee's grievance, and referred to his
plant superintendent as “the horse’s ass.” The employer
thereafter discharged the employee because of this objec-
tionable remark. The Board concluded that the discharge
was unlawful. In reaching this result, the Board observed
that the remark was “part of the res gestae of the griev-
ance discussion . . . )" 148 NLRB at 1380, The Board
also adopted the Trial Examiner’s balancing of the em-
ployee’s right to the protection of the Act while discuss-
ing a grievance with the impropriety of accompanying
objectionable language, and the result favoring the em-
ployee. 148 NLRB at 1380, 1388-89.

Applying the Board’s policy as exemplified in Thor
Power Tool, supra, 1 reach the same result here. Employ-
ee Wilson, acting in his capacity as the Union's steward,
was discussing a possible grievance on behalf of a unit
employee and, thus, was engaged in activity protected
by Section 7 of the Act. Cf. Huttig Sash & Door Compa-
ny, Inc., 154 NLRB 1567, 1571-72 (1965), Thor Power
Tool Company, supra, 148 NLRB 1380, 1388-89. Assum-
ing that Wilson used the words “stupid ass" toward Su-
pervisor (3age, this utterance came in the course of that
discussion and, thus, was part of the res gestae.

Finally, assuming that Wilson used that improper lan-
guage, I find it 10 be no worse than that found in Thor
Power Tool, supra. Accordingly, I find that, by suspend-
ing Wilson for calling Gage a “'stupid ass™ in the course
of discussing a possible grievance, Respondent violated
Scction 8(a)(1) of the Act. In view of the remedy pro-
vided below, I find it unnecessary to determine whether
Respondent also violated Section 8(a)(3) of the Act by
suspending Wilson. Ad Arr Incorporation, 238 NLRB
1124 (1978); Merlyn Bunney and Clarence Bunney, part-
ners, d/b/a Bunney Bros. Construction Company, 13%
NLRB 1516 (1962).

Itl, THE REMEDY

Having found that Respondent has engaged in certain
unfair labor practices, [ shall recommend that it be or-
dered to cease and desist therefrom, and to take other
appropriate actions 10 remedy its unfair labor practices. 1
therefore recommend that Respondent be required to
make Bertram J. Wilson whole for wages lost by reason
of the 5-day suspension levied upon him, with interest
thereon to be computed in the manner prescribed in F.
W. Woolworth Company, %0 NLRB 289 (1950), and Flor-
ida Steel Corporation, 231 NLRB 651 (1977).%

1 further recommend that Respondent be required to
expunge and remove all records of and references to the
suspension from all of Respondent’s records, wherein
that suspension is now noted, and that Respondent be or-
dered to post an appropriate notice to employees.

Y Sce, generslly, Isie Plumbing & Heating Co., 138 NLRB 716 (1962).
The General Counsel's request for 9-percent interest is rejected in ac-
cordance with the Board's policy s sel forth in Florida Steel Corporation,
supra.

CONCLUSIONS OF Law

1. The Respondent is an employer engaged in com-
merce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of
the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By interfering with, restraining, and coercing its em-
ployees in the exercise of rights guaranteed them in Sec-
tion 7 of the Act, Respondent has engaged in unfair
labor practices within the meaning of Section 8(a)1) of
the Act.

4. The aforesaid unfair labor practices are unfair labor
praclices affecting commerce within the meaning of Sec-
tion 2(6} and (7) of the Act.

Upon the foregoing findings of fact, conclusions of
law, and the entire record herein considered as a whole,
and pursuant to Section 10(c) of the Act, I make the fol-
lowing recommended:

ORDER?

The Respondent, United States Postal Service, Colum-
bus, Ohio, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns,
shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Interfering with, restraining, or coercing its em-
ployees in the exercise of their rights as guaranieed in
Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act, as
amended, by suspending or otherwise punishing employ-
ees because of the exercise of such rights.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing its employees in the exercise of
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action designed to ef-
fectuate the policies of the Act:

(a) Mzake Bertram J. Wilson whole for any loss of pay
he suffered by reason of his unlawful 5-day suspension.
Said backpay shall be computed in the manner set forth
in the section of this Decision entitled “The Remedy.”

(b) Expunge and physically remove from its records
any suspension notices and any references thereto relat-
ing to the suspension of Bertram J. Wilson for § calendar
days beginning May 21, 1979,

(c} Preserve and, upon request, make available to the
Board or its agents, for examination and copying, all
payroll records, social securily payment records, time-
cards, personne! records and reports, and all other rec-
ords necessary to analyze the amount of backpay due
under the terms of this Order,

(d) Post at its Columbus, Ohio, facilities copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix."® Copies of said
notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for

? In the event no eaceptions are filed a3 provided by Sec. 102.46 of the
Rules and Regulations of the National Labor Relations Board, the find-
ings, conclusions, and recommended Order herein shall, as provided in
Sec. 102.48 of the Rules and Regulations, be adopted by the Board and
become s findings, conclusions, and Order, and all objections theretn
shall be deemed waived for all purposes.

* In the event that this Order is enforced by a Judgment of a United
States Court of Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by
order ot the National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursu-
ant to a Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an
Order of the National Labor Helstions Board,"
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Region 9, after being duly signed by Respondent’s au-
thorized representative, shall be posted by Respondent
immediately upon receipt thereof, and be mainiained by
it for 60 consecutive days thereafter, in conspicuous
places, including all places where notices to employees
are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken
by Respondent to insure that said notices are not altered,
defaced, or covered by any other material.

{e) Notily the Regional Director for Region 9, in writ-
ing, within 20 days from the date of this Qrder, what
steps the Respondent has taken to comply herewith,

APPENDIX

NoTICE To EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LAROR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

After a hearing at which all sides had an opportunity to
present evidence and state their positions, the National
Labor Relations Board found that we have violated the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, and has or-
deted us to post this notice,

The Act gives all employees these rights:

To engage in self-organization

To form, join, or assist any union

To bargain collectively through representa-
tives of their own choice

To engage in activities together for the pur-
pose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid
or protection

To refrain from the exercise of any or all such
activities,

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner in-
terfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the
exercise of rights guaranteed them in Section 7 of
the Act.

WE WILL NOT suspend or otherwise punish any
employces for exercising such rights.

WE wiLL make Bertram J. Wilson whole for any
loss of pay he may have suffered by reason of his
suspension for 5 calendar days beginning May 21,
1979,

WE wilLL expunge and physically remove from
our records and files any suspension notices and any
references thereto relating to the suspension of Ber.
tram J. Wilson beginning May 21, 1979.

UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE
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United States Postal Service and American Postal
Workers Union, AFL-CIO (San Angelo, Texas
Local). Case 16-CA--8366(P)

August 15, 1980
DECISION AND ORDER

By MEMBERS JENKING, PENELLO, AND
TRUESDALE

On February 19, 1980, Administrative Law
Judge Burton Litvack issued the attached Decision
in this proceeding. Thereafter, Respondent filed ex-
ceptions and a supporting brief.

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 3(b) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its au-
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the record and the at-
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and brief
and has decided to affirm the rulings, findings, and
conclusions of the Administrative Law Judge and
to adopt his recommended Order.

We agree with the Administrative Law Judge's
finding that Respondent viclated Section B{a}1) of
the Act by issuing warning letters to employees
O'Harrow and Woods in connection with a griev-
ance meeting held on February 2, 1979. In con-
cluding otherwise, our dissenting colleague argues
that, even if the events that culminated in the im-
position of discipline were part of the res gestae of
the grievance meeting, the employees’ “insubordi-
nate conduct” in ignoring an order to return to
work was ‘'so extreme’ as to render their conduct
unprotected. We find our colleague’s argument un-
persuasive.

In the first place, it is worth noting that the dis-
sent discounts almost out-of-hand the reason most
prominently advanced by Respondent for its con-
duct, i.e., the employees’ alleged “loud, abusive
and profane language,” and instead insists that the
reason Respondent acted was the employees’ al-
leged refusal to return to work. Apparently the dis-
sent recognizes that, in the circumstances here, Re-
spondent could not rely on the employees' lan-
guage as a lawful ground for imposing discipline;
hence, the dissent seeks 1o focus on the employees’
alleged “insubordination." However, the facts do
not support the dissent’s analysis.

In brief, this is not a case where employees ada-
mantly refused to leave the meeting room when
asked to pursue their grievance later and to return
to work, Nor is this a case in which the employees
tried to impede others who sought to leave, Here,
the two employees followed the two supervisors
back to the workroom floor. At least to this point
their only “insubordination,” if it can be called
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such, was in continuing to talk about their griev-
ance as they walked along., When the employees
and the supervisors reached the timeclock, Super-
visor Love turned and said, "I am giving you a
direct order. I want you to go back to work now.”
After what was by all accounts a momentary hesi-
tation, and apparently before Love had to repeat
the order, the two employees complied with it.

We agree with the Administrative Law Judge's
conclusion that to permit Respondent to bifurcate
the conduct in issue, as our colleague apparently is
willing to do, “would enable an employer by its
own whim to define the nature of protected activi-
ty . . . ." Moreover, from a practical standpoint,
some Jatitude must be given to participants in these
incidents. Indeed, although we might wish it other-
wise, it is unrealistic to believe that the principals
involved in a heated exchange can check their
emotions at the drop of a hat. Of course, employ-
ees can lose the protection of the Act by conduct
that fairly can be characterized as opprobrious or
extreme. In the instant case, however, neither ap-
pellation is warranted. Thus, as shown above, the
employees merely continued to dispute verbally the
merits of a grievance after tempers had run high on
both sides and after they were told to return to
work. As indicated previously, the interval be-
tween being told to go back to work and the em-
ployees’ compliance with that order was very brief
and was not marked by violence or abusive lan-
guage on their part. And Respondent does not con-
tend, nor does the record show, that the employ-
ees' conduct had any adverse impact on the work
of other employees, or otherwise had consequential
disruptive effects. Accordingly, we see no reason
to strip these employees of the protection afforded
them by the Act.

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10(c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the National Labor Re-
lations Board adopts as its Order the recommended
Order of the Administrative Law Judge and
hereby orders that the Respondent, United States
Postal Service, San Angelo, Texas, its officers,
agents, successors, and assigns, shall take the action
set forth in the said recommended Order.

MEMBER PENELLO, dissenting:

Contrary to my colleagues, [ would reverse the
Administrative Law Judge and find that Respond-
ent did not violate Section 8(a){(1) and (3) by issu-
ing warning leiters to employees Q'Harrow and
Woods for their insubordinate conduct in ignoring
direct orders to return to work at the end of a
grievance meeting. As no exceptions were fited to
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the Administrative Law Judge's recommendation
that the other allegations of the complaint be dis-
missed, I would dismiss the complaint in ifs entire-
ty.
The facts in this case may be stated briefly. Em-
ployees O'Harrow and Woods are president and
vice president, respectively, of the Local Union
which represents the employees at Respondent’s
facilities in San Angelo, Texas. In late January
1979, O'Harrow and Woods were warned verbally
on several occasions by their supervisor, Robert
Nichols, about talking while working next to each
other on the distribution line. On February 2, 1979,
they abserved John Love, manager af mail proc-
essing, talking to two other employees on the dis-
tribution line. Thinking that this demonstrated that
management had a double standard about employ-
ees talking while working on the distribution line,
they asked Supervisor Nichols to arrange a meet-
ing with Love about this problem. Love, Nichols,
O'Harrow, and Woods then met in a small confer-
ence room where grievance meetings are usually
held. Afier a heated discussion as to whether man-
agement had the right to talk to employees work-
ing on the distribution line, Love stated that the
mecting was over, ordered Q'Harrow and Woods
to go back to work, and stated thai they would
resume the meeting later when everyone had
caimed down. Love and Nichols then left the con-
ference room, but O'Harrow and Woods followed
them out into the distribution area stating that the
Union would not tolerate this situation. As neither
O'Harrow nor Woods had shown any signs of
complying with Love's first order that they return
to work, Love turned to them and stated, "l am
giving you a direct order . . . . I want you to go
back to work now.” ('Harrow and Woods did not
move or respond to this second ordet, but rather
continued to harangue Love and Nichols. When
Love started to repeat the order a third time,
O'Harrow and Woods finally stopped arguing and
walked away to their work stations.

On February 3, 1979, Nichols gave O'Harrow
and Woods warning letters, signed by Love, which
stated that they were being warned for insubordi-
nation, Specifically, both letters described the con-
versation at the meeting on February 2, 1979,
noting that O'Harrow had “used loud, abusive and
profane language,” both letters stated that Love
had terminated the meeting and had asked the em-
ployees to return to work, noting that neither em-
ployee had done so but rather they had ‘“‘kept
making attempts to interrogate Mr. Nichols and
[Mr. Love],” and both letters noted that Love had
to give them three direct orders to return to their
work assignments before they would do so.

1 agree with my colleagues that the Administra-
tive Law Judge was correct in finding that O'Har-
row and Woods were engaged in the informal reso-
lution of a potential grievance at the February 2,
1979, meeting and that they were thus essentially
insulated from discipline for insubordinate state-
ments made to management officials during this
protected collective-bargaining activity, unless
their conduct was so opprobrious or extreme as to
warrant the denial of such protection under the
Act. I also agree with my colleagues that the con-
duct of O’'Harrow and Woods during the grievance
meeting in the conference room was not so oppro-
brious or extreme as to deny them the protection
of the Act.! However, I disagree with the major-
ity's conclusion that the conduct of O’Harrow and
Woods after leaving the conference room at the
end of the meeting was not so opprobrious or ex-
treme that it became unprotected. Assuming, with-
out deciding, that the Admimstrative Law Judge
properly found that the events which occurred out-
side the conference room just after the mecting
ended were part of the res gestae of the grievance
meeting, 1 would conclude that the insubordinate
conduct of O'Harrow and Woods in ignoring
direct orders to return to work was, in the circum-
stances of this case, so extreme as to become un-
protected.

In my opinion, the behavior of O'Harrow and
Woods after Love terminated the grievance meet-
ing went beyond verbal insubordination, since they
engaged in overt acts by defying two of Love's
orders that they return to work. Furthermore, it
should be noted that their second refusal to return
to work as ordered occurred in a production area
during working time when other employees were
likely 10 be present.?2 Under these circumstiances,
their overt acts of defiance would clearly tend to
undermine Respondent's right to maintain order
and respect. Thus, their failure to return to work
when ordered to do so was not protected even
though they continued to discuss their grievance.
Therefore, 1 would find that Respondent did not
violate Section 8(a)}(1) and (3) of the Act when it
disciplined O'Harrow and Woods for ignoring sev-
eral direct orders to return to work.?

 In 1his connection, 1 note that their only misconduct was O'Harrow's
use of several profane wards and one abscene word. none of which were
used as epithels directed at the managemeni officials, and this misconduct
occurred in & private conference room out of the preseace uf ather em.
ployees.

? The Board has usually considered such factors relevant ta its deter-
mination as 1o whether an employee has lost the protecnon of the Act by
opprobrious conduct while engaged in protected ~ancerted activity. See,
t.g., Atlantic Sreel Company, 143 NLRE No. 107 (1779),

3 Although the warning letters issued o O'Harrow and Woods de.
scribed the events which occurred during the grievance meeting and

Connnved
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Moreover, it continues to disturb me that cases
of this nature are still congesting the Board's
docket and wasting the Board’s scarce resources, at
a time when the Board is struggling to cope with a
dramatically expanding caseload and a growing
backlog of cases awaiting hearing. This case should
never have been litigated to a Board decision;
rather it should have been deferred under Collyers
to the grievance and arbitration procedures agreed
upon by the parties in their collective-bargaining
agreement. The majority’s decision here illustrates
once again my colleagues’ lack of wisdom in nar-
rowing the application of Collyer. In view of the
national labor policy favoring collective bargaining
and the arbitration of disputes, the Board should
encourage the parties to resort to their existing
conltractual methods for private dispute resoiution
rather than promoting litigation before the Board
of such relatively minor issues. Accordingly, 1
would dismiss the complaint in its entirety.

refer to (YHarrow's use of “loud, abusive. and profance lunguage” at the
mecting, | would find that Respondent disciplined them solely because of
their failure 1o return o work when ordered (o do 50, 1 am convinced
that the referenves in the letiers 1o the events of the meeting were merely
mchisfed as huckground identifying the particular meeting involved and
giving Respondent’s position as iy the legitimate reasons for Love's ac-
launs in lerminating the meeting and ordering the employees back In
wark. | pote thal the record reveals that O'Harrow and Woods were -
volved in more thar ane grievance meeting an February 2, 1979, and that
the warning letter issued to Woods alse referred in identical warding to
OHarrow’s language at the meeting and 1o the uther events of the meet-
ing even though Waoods himsell had nat used any abusive or profane Jan-
guage or engaged in any insubordinate canduct during the meeting.

4 Collver fnsulated Wire. A Gulf und Western Systems Co., 193 NLRB
BYT (1971). My views op deferral have recently been resiated at length in
Roy Rebinsen, Inc.. d/b/a Roy Robinsen Chevroles, 228 NLRB 828 (1977).
and Member Walther's and my dissent in General American Transportation
Corporation, 218 NLRB BOB (1977).

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BUuRTON LITVACK, Administrative Law Judge: This
case was heard by me in San Angelo, Texas, on Septem-
ber 18 and 19, 1979, pursuant t0 a complaint issued by
the Regional Director for Region 16 on May 25, 1979,
pursuant to an original and a first amended charge filed
by American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIQ (San
Angelo, Texas Local), herein called the Local, on March
5, 1979, and April 30, 1979, respectively. The complaint
alleges, in substance, that United States Postal Service,
herein called Respondent, violated Section 8(a)1), (3),
and (5} of the National Labor Relations Act, herein
called the Act, by dealing directly with employees in
derogation of their designated representative for pur-
poses of collective bargaining, Section 8(a)(1} and (3) of
the Act by issuing warning notices to employees because
they engaged in union or other protected concerted ac-
tivities, and Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by threatening em-
ployees with discipline and the issuing of written repri-
mands because of their union membership, activities, and
desirés. Respondent filed an answer, denying the com-

mission of any unfair labor practices. All parties were al-
forded full opportunity to appear, to introduce evidence,
and to examine and cross-examine witnesses. Briefs were
fited by counsel for the General Counsel and by Re-
spondent and each has been carefully considered.

Upon the entire record in the case, and from my ob-
servation of the demeanor of the wilnesses, and having
carefully considered the post-hearing briefs, 1 make the
following:

FINDINGS OF FACT

[ JURISDICTION

The complaint alleges, the answer admits, and 1 find
that jurisdiction is asserted herein by virtue of Section
1209 of the Postal Reorganization Act, 39 U.S.C. § 101,
et seq., herein called the PRA,

1l. THE LABOR ORGANIZATIONS

Although the status of American Postal Workers
Union, AFL-CIO, herein called the Union, is not alleged
in the complaint, the record establishes that said entity
engages in collective bargaining with Respondent, has
negotiated successive collective-bargaining agreements
with Respondent on a national basis, with the most
recent of said agreements, effective from July 21, {978,
until July 20, 1981, and represents employees in the proc-
essing of grievances. Accordingly, I find that the Union
is a labor organization within the meaning of Section
2(5) of the Act. Unijted States Postal Service, 208 NLRB
948 (1974). Additionally, the complaint alleges, Respond-
ent admits, and | find that the Local is a labor organiza-
tion within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

111. 1SSUES

1. Whether Respondent, on or about February 3, 1979,
violated Section 8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act by issuing
written reprimands to employees because said employees
engaged in union or other protected concerted activities?

2. Whether Respondent, on or about February 2, 1979,
violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act by threatening to
write up employees because of their union membership,
activities, and desires?

3. Whether Respondent, on or about February 2, 1979,
violated Section 8(a)}(1} of the Act by orally threatening
to file insubordination charges against employees because
of their union membership, activities, and desires?

4. Whether Respondent, on or about March 28, 1979,
viclated Section 8(a)(1) and (5) of the Act by bargaining
directly with its employees?

IV, THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
A. The Alleged Threats and the Warning Notices

1. Facts

The record establishes that the San Angelo, Texas,
Post Office consists of two separate facilities, 2 main
building and a secondary facility called the Herring Sta-
tion, and that during the period January through March
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1979! Longino Monrcal was the postmaster, John Love
was the manager of mail processing, Robert Nichols was
the supervisor of mails, and Hubert D. Sanders was a
telief supervisor.? The record further establishes that the
Union has represented postal clerks and other employees
of Respondent for approximately 10 to 12 years, that the
Union has negotiated successive collective-bargaining
agreements with Respondent during the period, and that
the Local, as the agent of the Union and pursuant to the
national agreement, has negotiated local supplements to
said agreement with the San Angelo, Texas, postmaster.
It appears that beginning in November 1978, at approxi-
mately the time Monreal was appointed postmaster, and
continuing through March 1979 rclations between the
Local and the San Angelo post office management
gradually became strained and querulous. Thus, soon
after he assumed office, Monreal instituted more strin-
gent rules concerning the investigation and filing of em-
ployees grievances.? These changes, in turn, resulted in
the filing of several grievances by the Local and, 1 be-
lieve, significantly contributed to the rather tense work-
ing atmosphere which seems to have existed by Febru-
ary.

With the foregoing as background, R. P. O’Harrow, a
distribution clerk and presideat of the Local, and Jack
Woods, another distribution clerk and vice president of
the Local, testified that they were warned several times
in late January for talking to each other while working.
Both O'Harrow and Woods worked a 4 am. until 12.30
p.m. shift at the Herring Station facility and were sta-
tioned alongside each other on the distribution line. Ac-
cording to Woods, there was no work rule regarding
talking to other employees while working, such had
always been done, and no employee had ever been disci-
plined for talking while working. On February 2, O'Har-
row and Woods commenced working at 4 a.m. and, ac-
cording to Woods, by 5:30 a.m. supervisors had spoken
to him two times regarding talking to O'Harrow while
they were working. At approximately 5:30, O'Harrow
observed John Love walk to the end of the distribution
fine and engage employees Norman McClausky and
Kent Edborg in conversation. Believing that a double
standard existed regarding talking on the distribution
line, O'Harrow spoke i0 Robert Nichols, his supervisor,
and asked Nichols if he had time to discuss a grievance.
Nichols said that he did, and O'Harrow replied that he
needed Woods and Love in the discussion.*

' All dates herein, unless otherwise specified, are in 1979

* The compluinl alleges, the answer admits, and I find that Monreal,
Love, Nichols, and Sanders arc supervisors within the meaning of Sec.
A1) of the Act.

* It is undispuied that, commencing in or about November 1978, Posi-
master Monreal began instituting changes in the method whereby officisls
of the Local were permiltted 10 investigaie and process employee griev-
ances. Among the changes instituted by Monreal were requirements that
stewards state the amount of time necessary for the investigation of a po-
tential gricvance, that employees disclose to supervisors the nature of »
potential grievance before receiving permission to see their union repre-
sentative, that stewards could not type or “xerox” grievances while “on
the clock,” and that limitations were placed on the amount of time slew-
ards were permitied (o speak to potential grievants about problems. As
stated above, grievances were filed by members of the Local regarding
these changes.

4 Art. XV of the current collective-bargaining agreement between Re-
spondent and the Union sets forth the grievance-arbitration procedure.

A few minutes later, Woods, O'Harrow, Nichols, and
Love met in the small conference room in the back of
the Herring Station.® O'Harrow testified that he began
the meeting by asking Love if the latter were talking
business with the clerks at the end of the line. Lave re-
plied that he was not, and O'Harrow asked if Love were
“just passing the time of day?" Love replied that he was.
O’Harrow then asked Love if he thought it was right for
him to waste a clerk's time by standing there passing the
time of day when Woods and O'Harrow were “coun-
seled” a day or so before for daing the same thing. Love
replied that “he didn't have to answer my guestions and
that the meeting was terminated.” Love then turned to
Nichols and said “put those fellows back to work and
keep a close eye on them and if they get out of line,
write them up.” At that point, acccording to O'Harrow,
Woods asked if they were going to have a grievance dis-
cussion or were they returning to work. When Nichols
said nothing, Love turned to him and said, "This meet-
ing is terminated. Put them back to work.” On cross-ex-
amination, O’Harrow admitted that grievances usually
were discussed after 8:15 a.m, and that, during the con-
versation, Love questioned the manner in which O'Har-
row was talking to him.

Woods contradicted O'Harrow, testifying that he, and
not O'Harrow, initiated the meeting by requesting per-
mission from Nichols to have the meeting. According 1o
Woods, O'Harrow began the meeting by asking Love
why they were being reprimanded for talking while
Love was “chit-chatting with the employees about things
that didn't pertain to the post office business.” Love re-
plied that he could say anything he wanted to anyone
about anything for as tong as he wanted to and that he
did not have to take that kind of talk from O’Harrow,
Then, according to Woods, Love tumed to Nichols and
said, “Bob, put these two guys back to work, keep a
close eye on them, and if they get out of line, write them
up.”" Woods further contradicted O'Harrow, denying
that anyone said that the meeting was terminated.

John Love testified that he arrived at work on Febru-
ary 2 at approximately 5 a.m. and that, after checking for
personal mail, he walked to the end of the distribution
aisle and spoke to employees McClausky and Edborg for

During the initial step in the process, the aggrieved employee discusses
his grievance with his immedinie supervisor. According to the callective-
bargaining agreement, & union official may or may not be present. If the
grievance is unresolved a1 the initial step, it must be appealed in writing
to the head of the installation. Such constitutes step 2 of the grievance
procedure.

It was undisputed that, 1o initiate the grievance procedure, an individu-
al must receive permission from the supervisor to either discuss a poten.
tial grievance with a local official or to discuss an sctusl grievance with
his supervisor. However, the witnesses disagreed over what words initi-
ate the procedure. Thus, Jack F. Woods Lestified that he would use the
word “grievance™ only if the matter involved a viclation of the national
agreement, while he would use the word “problem” if the mumtter in-
volved anything iess serious. On the other hand, John Love testified that
employees always used the word “gricvance” if they desired 10 meel
with either a steward or their immediste supervisor, However, Love did
rdmit that on occasion employees will just state that they have a prob-
lem. In these casen, according to Love, the supervisor will follow by
asking if the matter involves & grievance.

% The conference room is & sparsely furnished room consisting of a
double desk, chairs s1 both ends of the desk, and & smali sioo) by one of
the walls.
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approximately 2 minutes. At approximately that same
time, according to Robert Nichols, he was called over
by O'Harrow and Woods who stated that they would
like to speak to Love. Nichols thereupon walked over to
Love and, according to Love, told the latter that Woods
and O'Harrow wanted a meeting because “they think
that we can iron out some of the problems we have been
having around here if we get together and have a little
discussion.” Love assented to the mecting, and, a few
minutes later, Nichols brought O'Harrow and Woods to
the conference room where Love was waiting for them.
According to both Love and Nichols, O'Harrow sat
down on one of the desk chairs, leaned back in the chair,
placed his legs on the desk, and clasped his hands around
the back of his head. Love and Nichols generally cor-
roborated each other as to what was said during the
meeting. Thus, they testified that O'Hasrow began the
meeting by asking Love, “What the hell were you talk-
ing to those two employees about?" Love asked O"Har-
row what he meant, and O'Harrow replied that he
wanted to know if Love was talking about official busi-
ness or "were you just bullshitting with the employees?
Love responded that he did not appreciate the way
O'Harrow was talking to him and asked O'Harrow not
to speak in that manner. O'Harrow thereupon accused
Love of evading the issues and responded that he would
speak to Love with “any language I damn well please in
here." O'Harrow then asked once again whether Love
was "just bullshitting with the employees.” Love re-
sponded that what he was talking about with the two
employees was not official business and that such was
none of O'Harrow's business either. At that point, both
Woods and O'Harrow stated that Nichols had spoken to
both of them about excessive talking and that, if manage-
ment were going to talk to the employees about exces-
sive talking, management had no right to talk to the em-
ployees. At that point, with O'Harrow and Woods re-
peating that management was unfair, Love announced
that the meeting was over, that he wanted O'Harrow
and Woods to go back to work, and that they would
resume the mecting when everyone had calmed down.
Love and Nichols then left the room. However, O'Har-
row and Woods followed, repeating that the Union
would nol tolerate what was happening. The four of
them reached the employee timeclock, and Love turned
to O'Harrow and Woods, stating, *I am giving you a
direct order. I want you to go back to work and I want
you to go back to work now.”" Neither O'Harrow nor
Woods moved; however, as Love attempted to repeat
the command, the two employees just stopped talking
and walked away. During the meeting, according to Ni-
chols, O’'Harrow and Woods were not yelling but rather
were “just talking loud" and they used no curse words
other than “bulishitting.” Finally, both Love and Nichols
denied that Love ordered Nichols to watch O'Harrow
and Woods and o write them up if necessary.

Robert Nichols testified that, at 8:15 that morning,
Woods approached him and said that he wanted to talk
fo his steward. Nichols replicd that Woods should go to
the conference room and that he would tell O'Harrow
about the meeting. Nichols thereupon proceeded to look
for O'Harrow but could not find him. Meanwhile, ac-

cording to O'Harrow, he was likewise searching for Ni-
chols in order to obtain permission to speak to Woods
about a grievance. While looking for Nichols, O'Harrow
passed through Love's office. According to O'Harrow,
Love asked if he could help. O'Harrow replied, "I don't
suppose so unless you know where Robert Nichols is.”
Love responded that he did not know where Nichols
was and asked why O'Harrow wanted him. O'Harrow
replied that he wanted to discuss a grievance, and Love
replied, 1 have already told him and Woods that ycu
cannot discuss the grievance.” According to O'Harrow,
he and Love then walked out of Love's office and were
joined by P. G. Ecomomidas, the customer service man-
ager. O'Harrow testified that he asked Ecomomidus why
he was not being given permission to discuss a grievance,
and Ecomomidas replied that he did not know. A1t that
point, according to O'Harrow, Monreal, the postmaster,
walked over to them and asked what the problem was.
After O'Harrow told him, Monreal suggested that they
go into the office.

By this time, according to O'Harrow, both Nichols
and Woods had joined them. Accordingly, Monreal,
Love, Nichols, Woods, and O'Harrow entered an office
where H. D. Sanders was already present. Monreal
began the discussion by asking Love what was wrong.
Love replied that he told O’Harrow that the latter could
not discuss a grievance. O'"Harrow asked Love why, and
Love replied, “the next time you put your finger in my
face and talk to me that way I am going to file insubor-
dination charges against you."" O'Harrow responded,
asking Love why he wanted o file insubordination
charges against him. Love replied, “You're not going to
talk to me that way and poke your finger in my face and
the next time you do it, I'm going to charge you with
insubordination.” To that, according to O'Harrow, he
said, “Why don't you go ahead and charge me with in.
subordination?"' Love responded, “I will the next time
you poke your finger in my face and talk in that
manner.” At that point, Monreal said that, since Nichols
had given O’Harrow and Woods permission to discuss
the grievance, he (Monreal) would permit them to go
ahead and discuss the grievance, and the meeting ended
at that point. On cross-examination, O'Harrow admitted
that he did not deny Love's accusation that he (O'Har-
row} put his finger in Love's face but averred that he
had no knowledge to what Love was referring.

Love testified to a different version of the facts. Thus,
according to Love, at approximately 8:30 a.m. on Febru-
ary 2, O’'Harrow came through his office walked into the
outer office, and then came back into Love's office.
Love asked if he could help. O'Harrow replied, “Whe
the hell made you the official helper around here”
O'Harrow then turned to leave again, but Love stood
up, stating *“What in the world is wrong with you.” At
that point, with Love standing no more than a foot from
O'Harrow, the latter turned around and said, while
pointing a finger at Love's face, “Get your ass back in
your office and get back there now.” According to
Love, he replied that G’Harrow could not speak to him
like that. O'Harrow responded by asking Love what the
latter was going to do about it. Love replied that he
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could give O'Harrow a warning letler or write him up.
O'Harrow then asked if Love had any witnesses, and
after Love said that he did not, O'Harrow replied that it
was Love’s word against his. Love responded that he
could still give O'Harrow a warning letter, and O'Har-
row turned and left the office.

Love further testified that, at approximately 8:45 am.,,
O'Harrow came back through his office carrying a brief
case. Ecomomidas was in Love's office, and Love asked
O'Harrow never to stick his finger in Love's face again
or talk to Love like he did previously. O'Harrow asked
if Love was threatening him. At that point, Ecomomidas
interrupted, saying that such was not a threat but that
Love just did not want O'Harrow talking like that.
O'Harrow responded by again pointing his finger at
Love and saying, “'1 will talk anyway I want t0.” Ac-
cording o Love, Monreal then entered the room and
asked what was going on. O'Harrow responded by
saying that Love was obstructing the grievance proce-
dure. Love replied that he did not want O'Harrow stick-
ing his finger in Love's face and talking to him like he
had dene. O'Harrow repeated that [.ove would not let
him discuss a gricvance. Monreal told him to go ahcad
and have the discussion, and the meeting ended ¢

Jack Woods testified 1o the following conversations on
the morning of February 2. At approximately 10 a.m,,
after the first class mail had been distributed, he and Ni.
chols were in the conference room waiting for O'Har-
row to arrive. John Love entered the room and told Ni-
chols that, unless Woods told him specifically what he
wanted to discuss, he would not allow Woods to speak
to O'Harrow. Woods replied that, under those circum-
stances, he did not want 10 have a meeting with O'Har-
row at that time and left the conference room to return
to work. Neither Nichols nor Love denied the occur-
rence of, or the substance of, this meeting. Woods next
testified that, at approximately 12 noon, he and O'Har-
row walked into Monreal’s office where Love and Eco-
momidas were already present. According to Woods, he
and O'Harrow asked Monreal for permission to have a
grievance meeting. Monreal said that they could have
the meeting because Nichols had previously given per-
mission. At that point, Love turned to O'Harrow and
said that, il he ever spoke to him that way again, he
(Love) would write him up for insubordination. O'Har-
row did not corroborate the occurrence of this meeting,
and Woods did not recall any 8:30 or 9 a.m. meetings
with Monreal on that day.

On February 3, Nichols gave O'Harrow a warning
lerter, dated February 2 and signed by Love. The letter
stated the following reasons for the warning:

¢ Love's lestimony was corraborated by other wilnesses, Thus, Hubert
Sanders testificd that, while he was sitting in an outer office during the
morming of February 2. he overheard Love say severa) times, "1 am
asking you, please, not 10 shake your linger in my face,” and that he
heard O'Harrow teply, “Whal are you going to do abowt 1™ He then
heard Love respond, "1 will write you up.” Also, Robert Nichals, who
testified that he was not present during any of the laiter conversations
berween Love and O'Harrow, testified that while he was searching for
(Harrow a1 approximalely 8:30 that morning, he heard Love sate, “1
asked you, please, Fat, don't put your finger in my fave again.’ Finully.
Monreal corroborated the version of the conversation given by Luve
afler Monreal entered the discussion with (¥Harrow.

1. Insubordination: Specifically on 2-2-79 you
and Full-time Clerk J.S. Woods . . . requested, thru
your immediate Supervisor R.L. Nichols, a meeting
between the four of us. At 05:05 this requested
meeting was held. At that time you questioned my
talking to employees on the work room floor, be-
cause you had bad a discussion with Mr. Nichols
that concerned excessive talking on the previous
day. You used loud, abusive, and profane language.
When 1 asked you to refrain from using such lan-
guage in our conversation, you stated, "I will use
any language that 1 damn well please.” At this point
I terminated the meeting and asked you and Mr.
Woods to return to your work assignment. You and
Mr. Woods did not comply with my request and
kept making attempts to interrogate Mr. Nichols
and myself. T had to give you and Mr. Woods three
direct orders to return to your work assignment
before you would do so.

2. Insubordination: Specifically on 2-2-79 at
08:30 you came into my office carrying an attache
case. You walked thru my office into the outer
office and returned. As you were leaving I asked if
I can help you and you replied, pointing a finger in
my face, “who appointed you helper around here?”
I stated that maybe you should return to your work
assignment and you told me “shut up and get back
into your office.” 1 asked you to remove your
finger from my face and to not talk 10 me in that
manner. You asked me what 1 was going to do
about it and I stated that 1 would give you a letter
of warning. You said “good, let's get it on."”

Alsa on February 3, Nichols gave a warning letter,
dated February 2 and signed by Love, to Jack Woods.
The letter stated the following reason for the warning:

Insubordination: Specifically on 2-7-79 you and
Full-time Clerk R. P. O'Harrow . . . requested thru
your immediate Supervisor R. L. Nichols a meeting
between the four of us. At 05:05 this requested
meeting was held. At that time Mr. O'Harrow's lan-
guage was loud, abusive, and profane. [ terminated
the meeting and asked you and Mr. O'Harrow to
return to your work assignment. You and Mr.
O'Harrow did not comply with my request and
kept making attempts to interrogate Mr. Nichols
and mysell. | had to give you and Mr. O'Harrow
three direct orders to return to your work assign-
ment before you would do so.

2. Conclusions

Paragraph 6(a) of the complaint alleges that Respond-
ent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act when Love alleg-
edly instructed Nichols to put O'Harrow and Woods
back to work, to watch them, and to write them up if
necessary, (PHarrow and Woeods attributed this state-
ment to Love during the 5.30 am. meeting in the Her-
ring Station conference room on February 2. Both Ni-
chols and Love specifically denied that Love made such
a statement. 1 credit their denials. Neither O'Harrow nor
Woods impressed me as forthright or truthful witnesses
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and both appeared vindictive toward Respondent be-
cause of the procedural changes which were instituted
by Monreal. Also, on some points, they specifically con-
tradicted each other and, on others, they could not cor-
roborate each other. Moreover, | found incredible
O'Harrow’s assertion that he did not know to what Love
was referring during their later conversation of that
morning when Love accused O'Harrow of shaking his
finger at Love and speaking in an insubordinate manner,
This is especially compelling, for O'Harrow neither
denied Love's accusation at the time nor demanded an
explanation as to what Love was talking about. Finally,
in contrast to O'Harrow and Woods, Love and Nichols
appeared to be honest and candid witnesses and general-
ly corroborated each other where necessary. According-
by, 1 credit the testimony of Love and Nichols regarding
this conversation and shall recommend that paragraph
6{a) of the complaint be dismissed.

As to paragraph 6(b) of the complaint, inasmuch as
Love admitted that, during his 8:3J0 a.m. conversation
with O'Harrow on February 2, he threatened O'Harrow
wilh a warning letter, the determination as to whether
said statement was violative cf Section 8(a}(1) of the Act
depends upon an aralysis of the surrounding circum-
stances. In this regard, for the aforementioned reasons
and inasmuch as his testimony was corroborated by
other witnesses, 1 credit Love as to this conversation and
specifically discredit the testimony of O*Harrow. Thus, 1
believe that Love uttered his threat (¢ O’Harrow only
after the latter shook his finger in Love's face and or-
dered Love to “get your ass back in your office and get
back there now" and after O'Harrow sarcastically de-
manded to know what Love could do about O’'Harrow
speaking in that manner. Further, while O'Harrow may
well have been searching for Nichols to ask permission
to investigate a grievance when he entered Love's office,
O’Harrow clearly was not engaged in protected activities
when he spoke 1o Love in the above-described insubordi-
nate manner. Moreover, there is no credible evidence
that Love uttered his threat in response to any protected
concerted activities in which O'Harrow may have been
engaged. Rather, I believe that Love was responding to
what he perceived as insubordination by an employee.
*“The right of an employer to maintain order and to insist
on a respectful attitude by his employees toward their
supervisor is an important one.” Court Square Press, Inc.,
235 NLRB 106, 109 (1978). Accordingly, I shall recom-
mend that paragraph 6(b} of the complaint be dismissed.

With respect to paragraphs &(c}, 7, and 8 of the com-
plaint, Respondent admits that warning notices, dated
February 2 and signed by John Love, were issued 10 em-
ployees O'Harrow and Woods but denies that said warn-
ing notices were issued in response to their altempis to
process a grievance. Analysis of the two warning letters
reveals that one of the reasons for the warning letter to
O'Harrow and the sole reason for the warning letter to
Wood was their conduct during the meeting with Love
and Nichols at 5:30 a.m. in the Herring Station confer-
ence room on February 2. In particular, the letters assert
that O'Harrow used "loud, abusive, and profane lan-
guage,” and that neither O'Harrow nor Woods complied
with Love's request to return to their respective work

assignments. In describing this meeting, counsel for the
General Counsel contends that "Q'Harrow and Woods
were atlempting to process a grievance,”" over supervi-
sors speaking to them regarding talking when working
while supervisors were permitted to interrupt the work
of other unit employees during worktime and engage in
nonofficial business. If, in fact, O'Harrow and Woods
were engaged in the processing of a grievance, the
Board has traditionally held that while employees are en-
gaged in collective bargaining, including the presentation
of grievances, they are essentially insulated from disci-
pline for statements made to management representatives
which, if made in another context, would constitute in-
subordination. Ryder Truck Lines, Inc., 239 NLRB 1009,
1010 (1978). Moreover, “the lack of . . . diplomacy does
not render conduct unprotected. Any attempt to dictate
the exact Janguage to be used in a collective-bargaining
atmosphere can only have the affect of stifling that bar-
gaining.” Hawaiian Hauling Service, Ltd., 219 NLRB 765,
766 (1975).

Respondent’s defense that O'Harrow and Woods acted
in an insubordinate manner during the 5:30 a.m. meeting
rests upon three bases. First, Respondent argues that
O'Harrow and Woods were not engaged in protected ac-
tivity and, more specifically, that the meeting was naot
for the purpose of adjusting a grievance. In support of
this argument, Respondent asserts that neither O'Harrow
nor Woods announced to Nichols that they wished to
hold a grievance meeting, that the proper parties for the
first step of the grievance procedure were not present,
that no grievance was ever filed over the incident, and
that the purpose of the meeting was solely to “dress
down" Love. While Respondent may be accurate that
the technical procedures of the contractual grievance
procedure were not followed, I nevertheless believe that
the parties were involved in grievance adjusting during
this meeting. Thus, Love admitted that, prior to the
meeting, Nichols told him that the purpose of the meet-
ing was that, “[Q'Harrow and Woods] think that we can
iron out some of the problems we have been having
around here if we get together and have a little discus-
sion.” Moreover, even if the technical procedures of the
grievance and arbitration machinery were not followed,
“the informal resclution of latent grievances is a recog-
nized, and indeed, essential component of . . . [a] griev-
ance procedure, Without such informal resolutions, there
is a risk of destroying the effectiveness of that procedure
by weighing it down with formalized grievances.” Ryder
Truck Lines, Inc., supra at 1011. Also, both Love and Ni-
chols admitted that the main subject of the meeting was
the complaint by Q'Harrow and Woods of unequal treat-
ment—clearly, I belicve, a grievable subject. Finally, |
believe that employees must be assured of being treated
as equals as much in informal meetings as informal ones
and that they must be confident of being able to speak
their minds without fear of discipline. If such fear exists,
I believe that effective and, indeed, meaningful collec-
tive-bargaining can never occur.

Respondent next argues that, even if the 5:30 am.
meeting constituted protected activity, O'Harrow and
Woods engaged in such “opprobrious conduct™ so as to
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lose the protection of Section 7 of the Act. While the
Board did recognize in Hawaitan Hauling, supra, that if
an employee engages in opprobrious conduct during col-
lective bargaining he may lose the protection of the Act,
it has never really defined the term "opprobrious.” How-
ever, in a recent decision, the Board held that it would
examine four factors in determining whether an employ-
ee's conduct at a grievance meeting would result in the
loss of the protection of the Act, Atlantic Steel Company,
245 NLRB No. 107 (1979). These factors include the lo-
cation of the meeting, the subject matter of the meeting,
the nature of the conduct, and whether any employer
unfair labor practices may have provoked the outburst
by the employee. Herein, while there is no evidence that
Respondent committed any unfair labor practices which
would have provoked the conduct of O'Harrow and
Woods, their actions can hardiy be classified as “extreme
behavior.” Sea-Land Service, Inc., 240 NLRB 1146 (1979)
(dissent of Member Penello). Thus, Nichols admitted that
the only curse word used by O'Harrow was “'bullshit-
ting"” and that neither O'Harrow nor Woods was shout-
ing but rather merely “talking loud.” Further, according
to Nichols, the word “bullshitting” was uttered by
O'Harrow during a question about what Love was talk-
ing to employees McClausky and Edborg that morning—
“well, was it official business or were you just bullshit-
ting with them?" Furthermore, the location of the meet-
ing was the conference room which, 1 believe, was cus-
tomarily used for grievance discussions, and [ have pre-
viously held that the meeting did, indeed, involve the in-
formal adjusting of a matter which was perceived by
O'Harrow and Woods as an employee grievance. Ac-
cordingly, while the conduct of O'Harrow and Woods
may have been reprehensible to Love, it cannot be classi-
fied as “opprobrious” or “extreme” so as to deny O'Har-
row and Woods the protection of Section 7 of the Act.
Sea-Land Service, Inc., supra, Ryder Truck Lines, Inc.,
supra, Thor Power Tool Company, 148 NLRB 1379 (1964).

Finally, Respondent asserts that O'Harrow and Woods
continued to argue with Love after the meeting had been
terminated and that employees do not have the right 1o
keep a supervisor captive to a barrage of "indiscriminate
rhetoric” after a grievance meeting has ended. In sup-
port, Respondent cites United States Postal Service, 242
NLRB No. 39 (1978). Contrary to Respondent, [ find
that decision by the Board to be inapposite as it involved
aliegedly unlawful discipline for the act of filing a griev-
ance, while the instant case involves discipline for con-
duct engaged in by union representatives during the proc-
essing of a grievance. Furthermore, Respondent has
seemingly bifurcated the conduct of Q'Harrow and
Woods, finding protected that which cccurred prior (o
Love's announcement and unprotected that which oc-
curred thereafter. Such an argument, however, would
enable an employer, by its own whim, to define the
nature of protected activity, and 1 believe that such an
argument is repugnant to the policies of the Act. More-
over, and contrary to the contention of Respondent, I
believe that the entire conduct of O'Harrow and Woods
during the 5:30 a.m. meeting was within the res gestae of
the grievance meeting. Adlantic Steel Company, supra.
Accordingly, 1 believe that the portion of the February 3

warning notice 1o O'Harrow which defines as insubordi-
nation O'Harrow's conduct during the 5:30 a.m. meeting
is violative of Section 8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act. Like-
wise, | believe that the February 3 warning notice to
Woods which cites Woods' conduct during the 5:30 a.m.
meeting as insubordinate is also violative of Section
B(a)1) and (3) of the Act, Ryder Truck Lines, Inc., supra;
Hawaitan Hauling Service, Lid., supra.

B. The Alleged *Direct Dealing™

1. Facts

According to the testimony of employee Louis C.
Loe, a mail clerk at the Herring Station, and Hubert D.
Sanders, a relief supervisor, Loe approached Sanders at
approximately 10:30 a.m. on March 22 and requested
permission to speak to O'Harrow. Sanders gave his per-
missicn and, thereafter, Loe and O'Harrow met in the
conference room in the rear of the facility. A few min-
utes later, as O'Harrow and Loe were just beginning
their meeting, Sanders entered the conference room and
announced that he had overlooked some procedura! mat-
ters. He turned to Loe and asked him for the nature of
the meeting and how long Loc believed the meeting
would fast. Loe responded that he had a medical prob-
lem but that he did not know how long the meeting with
O'Harrow would last. Thereupon, Sanders turned 1o
O'Harrow and asked the same gquestion. O'Harrow re-
plied that he did not know and told Sanders that, unless
the latter wished to discuss the grievance, he must leave
the room. At that point, an argument ensued between
O'Harrow and Sanders regarding the right of the latter
to inquire into the nature of the grievance and the esti-
mated time that it would take to investigate it. Finally,
O'Harrow stated to Loe that he was going to terminate
the grievance discussion because Sanders was interfering
with the process. Thereupon, Q'Harrow picked up his
brief case and left the conference room. Sanders and Loe
also left the room but continued their discussion outside.
Sanders told Loe that he did not want to do anything
which would interfere with Loe calling a doctor but that
he should not permit a procedural dispute between the
Local and management to interfere with his right to
present a grievance. According to Sanders, Loe replied
that he felt any sick leave discussions were questioning
his integrity and stated, *'I have tried it your way, now
I'm going to try it theirs.” The meeting essentially ended
at that point.

Approximately 5 or 6 days later, Loe was on his way
to the timeclock to punch out at the end of the day
when he met Sanders. According to Loe, Sanders initiat-
ed the discussion, stating, “Louie, 1 know you have a
health problem. 1 haven't seen your grievance and until 1
have seen your grievance, [ can't rule on it." Loe replied
that he would have to talk to O'Harrow. Sanders re-
sponded, “You don't need Pat . . . or anyone else to
represent you in a grievance. You c¢an come (0 me, we
can discuss it, and chances are we can work something
out.” According to Loe, he responded that he would
have to see O'Harrow and walked away. For the most
part, Sanders’ version of the conversation corroborates
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that of Loe. Thus, according to Sanders, he began the
conversation by asking Loe if he had filed a grievance.
Loe responded that he had not and, according to Sand-
ers, he replied, “You know, until you discuss this with
your supervisor, until he knows what the problem is,
there is nothing in the world that he can do for you. You
can sit down and talk to your supervisor about it. You
don't have to have the Union at step one to discuss a
gricvance, you can sit down and talk to your supervisor
and maybe you can work it out . . . .” Sanders testified
that Loe ended this conversation the identical way he
ended their earlier meeting, stating, “I have tried it your
way, now I'm going to try it theirs.”

2. Conclusions

Counsel for the General Counsel, without supplying
any case support, argument, or rationale, asserts that
Sanders’ conduct constituted direct dealing with bargain-
ing unit employees in violation of Section 8(a){(1) and (5)
of the Act. Respondent does not dispute that Sanders in-
vited Loe to discuss a grievance but contends that Sand-
ers' invitation was merely a restatement of the collective-
bargaining agreement. Respondent further argues that,
even if Sanders attempted to individvally bargain with
Loe, such should not be deemed unlawful inasmuch as it
had a negligible impact on the Local's ability to act as
the bargaining representative for Loe. As noted above,
step one of the contractual grievance and arbitration pro-
cedure contemplates & meeting between the grievant and
his immediate supervisor, and “the employee, if he or she
so desires may be accompanied and represented by the
employee's steward or a Union representative.” Thus,
the contract makes permissible, but not mandatory, that
an employee be accompanied by a union representative.
Moreover, analysis of the testimony of both Loe and
Sanders leads to the inescapable conclusion that Sanders
was, in fact, merely setting forth for Loe what the con-
tract provides—that, at the initial stage of the grievance
procedure, Loe would have to meet with Sanders and
that, if he so chose, Loe did not need a union representa-
live present when he spoke to Sanders.? Furthermore,
there is no evidence that Sanders pursued the matter
with Loe or coerced Loe into discussing the merits of
the grievance, that Sanders' actions in any way hindered
Loe in filing a grievance over his problem, or that either
Loe or the Local, on behalf of Loe, ever attempted to
file a formal grievance over Loe's problem. Accordingly,
1 do not believe that, by a preponderance of the evi-
dence, General Counsel has established that Respondent
violated Section 8(a)}(1) and (5) of the Act by dealing di-
rectly with bargaining unit employees. Accordingly, I
shall recommend that paragraph 13 of the complaint be
dismissed,

* Clearly, by the wording of the grievancec-arhitration provision of the
existing collective-bargaining agreement, the Union has exprussly waived
any mandalory right to be presenl during Drst-step geicvance meetings.
Such a waiver has beea sanctioned by the Board and the courts, The Duw
Chemical Company, 215 NLRB 910 {1974}, reversed on other grounds
United Steel Workers of America, AFL-CIO v. N.L.R.B., 536 F.2d 550 (3
Cir. 1976).

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The National Labor Relations Board has jurisdiction
over this matter by virtue of Section 1209 of the Postal
Reorganizational Act.

2. The Union and the Local are labor organizations
within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

J. By issuing a warning notice, which is partially based
on his conduct during the presentation of a grievance, to
employee R. P. O'Harrow, Respondent violated Section
8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act.

4, By issuing a warning notice, which is solely based
upon his conduct during the presentation of a grievance,
to employee Jack F. Woods, Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a)}(1) and (3} of the Act.

5. These unfair labor practices affect commerce within
the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

6. Respondent did not violate Section 8(a}1) and (5)
of the Act by dealing directly with its employees.

7. Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(1) of the
Act by threatening its employees with the imposition of
any disciplinary action or by threatening to write them
up because of their union membership, activities, and de-
sires.

REMEDY

Having found that Respondent engaged in unfair labor
practices, | shall recommend that it be ordered Lo cease
and desist therefrom and to take certain affirmative
action designed to effectuate the policies of the Act.
Having found that Respondent unlawfully issued a letter
of warning to employee Jack F. Woods, 1 shall recom-
mend that it be required to revoke and expunge from its
records all copies of said letter and take no action against
Woods based, in whole or in parl, on that warning letter.
Having also found that Respondent unlawfully issued a
letter of warning to employee R. P. O’"Harrow based, in
part, on his conduct during the presentation of a griev-
ance, I shall recommend that it be required to revoke
and expunge from its records those portions of all copies
of said letter which refer to O'Harrow's conduct during
the 5:30 a.m. meeting on February 2 at the Herring Sta-
tion and take no action against O'Harrow based, in
whole or in part, upon thar portion of the letter of warn-
ing which refers to O'Harrow's participation in said
meeting. 8

Upon the basis of the entire record, the findings of
fact, and the conclusions of law and pursuant to Section
10{c) of the Act, T hereby issue the following recom-
mended:

P | have previowsly concluded herein that O'Harcow was acling in an
insubordinate manner when he confromed Love in the fatter’s office at
B:30 a.m. on February 2. Accordingly. 1 concluded that Love's threal to
file churges based on that incident was not unkawful, Thus, insofar as the
February 1 warning matice refers 1o that incident, | find it to be lawful.
Muoreover, inasmuch as the two incidents appear to be separate and unre-
lated wnd as the later confrontalion appears 10 be wparate grounds for
insubardinution, 1 shull net order 1hat the enrire letter be revoked and ex-
punged from Respandent's records.
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ORDER?®

The Respondent, United States Postal Service, San
Angelo, Texas, its officers, agents, successors, and as-
signs, shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Issuing letters of reprimands to or threatening to
discharge or discipline employees because of their pro-
tected participation in grievance meelings.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of their
rights under Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action which is
deemed necessary to effectuate the policies of the Act:

{a) Revoke and expunge from its records the letter of
warning issued to Jack F. Woods on February 3, 1979,
and take no action against him based, in whole or in
part, on that reprimand.

(b} Revoke and expunge from its records those por-
tions of the letter of warning issued to R. P. O'Harrow
on February 3, 1979, which refer to his participation in a
5:30 a.m. meeting on February 2 at the Herring Station
and take no action against him based, in whole or in
part, on that portion of the letter of warning.

(c) Post at its San Angelo, Texas, facilities copies of
the attached notice marked “Appendix.”*? Copies of said
notice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for
Region 16, after being duly signed by Respondent’s au-
thorized representative, shall be posted by it immediately
upon receipt thereof, and be maintained by it for 60 can-
secutive days thereafier, in conspicuous places, including
all places where notices to employees are customarily
posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken by Respondent to
insure that said notices are not altered, defaced, or cov-
ered by any other material.

(d) Notify the Regional Director for Region 16, in
writing, within 20 days from the date of this Order, what
steps the Respondent has taken to comply herewith.

IT 15 FURTHER RECOMMENDED that the complaint
should be dismissed insofar as it alleges that Respondent
violated Section B(a)(1) and (5) of the Act by direct deal-
ing with its employees and that Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a}(1) of the Act by threatening to discipline em-
ployees or to write up employees because of their union
membership, activities, and desires.

* In the event no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the
Rules and Regulntions of the National Labor Relations Bonrd, the find.
ings, conclusions, and recommended Ozder herein shall, as provided in
Sec. 102,48 of the Rules and Regulations, be adopted by the Board and
become Its findings, conclusions, and Order, and all objections thereto
shall be deemcd waived for all purposes.

1% In the evenl that this Order is enforced by a Judgment of & United
States Court of Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by
Order of the National Labor Relations Board™ shall read “Posted Pursu-
ant to a Judgment of the United States Count of Appeals Enforcing an
Order of the National Labor Relations Board.”

APPENDIX

NoTicé To EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

After a hearing at which all sides had an opportunity to
present evidence and state their positions, the National
Labor Relations Board found that we have violated the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, and has or-
dered us to post this notice,

The Act gives employees the following rights:

To engage in self-organization

To form, join, or assist any union

To bargain collectively through representa-
tives of their own choice

To engage in activities together for the pur-
pose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid
or protection

To refrain from the exercise of any or all such
activities.

WE WiILL NOT issue letters of reprimand to our
employees or threaten them with discharge or disci-
pline because of their protected participation of
gricvance meetings.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner in-
terfere with, restrain, or coerce our employees in
the exercise of the rights guaranteed 10 them in the
Act.

We wiLL revoke and expunge from our records
all copies of the letter of warning issued to Jack F.
Woods on February 3, 1979, and wE WILL take no
action against Jack F. Woods based, in whole or in
part, on that letter of warning,.

WE wiLL revoke and expunge from our records
those portions of all copies of the letter of repri-
mand issued to R. P. O'Harrow on February 3,
1979, which refer to his participation in a grievance
meeting and WE wILL take no action based, in
whole or in part, on that portion of said letter of
warning.

UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE
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United States Postal Service and Patricia L, Moore,
Case 32-CA-1311{P)

September 30, 1980
DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN FANNING AND MEMBERS
JENKINS AND PENELLO

On March 26, 1980, Administrative Law Judge
David P. McDonald issued the attached Decision
in this proceeding. Thereafter, the General Counsel
filed exceptions and a supporting brief, and Re-
spondent filed an answering briel,

Pursuant to the provisions of Section }(b) of the
National Labor Relations Act, as amended, the Na-.
tional Labor Relations Board has delegated its au-
thority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The Board has considered the record and the at.
tached Decision in light of the exceptions and
briefs, and has decided to affirm the rulings, find-
ings, and conclusions of the Administrative Law
Judge only to the extent consistent herewith,

The Administrative Law Judge found that Re-
spondent suspended Union Steward Patricia Moore
solely because of insubordination to Supervisor
Ward on July 17, 1978. We find, contrary to the
Administrative Law Judge, that Moore was sus-
pended for engaging in protected union and con-
certed activily, in violation of Section 8{(a)(1) and
(3) of the Act.

Otis Ward was, at all pertinent times, a supervi-
sor on the 9-t0-5:30 tour at Respondent's Bulk Mail
Center involved herein. The incidents which led 1o
Moore's suspension occurred on July 17 when
Ward discovered employees Carson, Welch, and
Goepferl in break areas rather than at their work
stations after the final production count sheets had
been collected bul before the work shift had ended.
Ward addressed each of the employees separately,
telling them “officialty” that "you are not on your
Jjob,” warned them, “Don’t let it happen again,”
and subsequently entered disciplinary warnings in
their records. The employees then met with
Moore, their union steward, related what had tran-
spired with Ward, and requested her advice and as-
sistance. Moore agreed to investigate the incident
and then left her work station for the purpose of
conducting this unjon business without first obtain-
ing her supervisor's (Ward's) permission to do so as
reguired by the contract. Moore appeared as Ward
began to explain the work schedule to the employ-
ees and was told by Ward that “This is not union
business.”! Moore responded by asserting her right
to represent the employees. During the course of

' Ward sdmitted that he sssumed Moore was on union business he-
cause that was Ihe only time Moore spoke (v Ward.

252 NLRB No. 83

the argument which ensued, Ward gave Moore
several direct orders to return to her workplace,
Moore ignored the orders, protesting that she had
a right to remain with, and represent, the men.
Ward threatened to write her up if she did not
return to work, but Moore kept insisting that she
had a right to remain with the employees, telling
them that they did not have to speak with Ward
without the presence of their union steward.
Moore finally left, and Ward proceeded to instruct
the men that production work does not stop when
the production sheets are collected but continues
until 5:15, followed by 10 minutes of cleanup of the
work area for the employees on the next shift.
After the meeting, the employees told Moore that
they had not been disciplined. Moore inquired
whether Ward had said anything about writing her
up for disobeying him and requested their assist-
ance if he did so. On July 21, Respondent issued
Moore a 5-day suspension notice, effective July 26,
1978, alleging insubordination for refusing to obey
Ward's orders on July 17.

As previously noted, the Administrative Law
Judge found that Moore was suspended solely be-
cause of insubordination to Ward. He also found
no interference with the employees’ Section 7
rights because Ward's instructions to the three em-
ployees constituted a “run-of-the-mill shop-floor™
conversation which did not involve their protected
rights and, consequently, did not entitle them to
union representation, under the doctrine of
N.LR.B. v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251
(1975). He concluded, therefore, that Moore's at-
tempted intervention on the employees’ behalf was
not protected activity. Moreover, the Administra-
tive Law Judge noted Moore failed to comply with
the collective-bargaining agreement requirement
that she obtain permission from her supervisor
{Ward) before leaving her work station to engage
in union business.

We do not agree with the foregoing analysis of
the Administrative Law Judge. Assuming that
Ward's instructions to the employees did not in-
volve their Section 7 rights, his “official” warning
to them, which they, in turn, presented to Moore
as informal grievances, clearly involved those
rights and was the sole basis for Moore's interven-
tion. Moore’s effort to investigate those grievances
at the request of the disciplined employees was
within the scope of her official union functions and
constituted protected concerted activity.? Ward's

# In view of our disposition herein, we find it unnecessary 1o pass upon
the Administrative Law Judge's analysis if the applicability of the Wein-
garient doctrine. Contrary W the apparent assumplion of the Adminisira-
tive Law Judge, the protected nuture of a union steward's condugt is not

Continued
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opening statement to Moore, ie., this is not union
business, made it abundantly clear to Moore that
Ward was bent on preventing her from performing
her official duties and also plainly demonstrated the
futility of her requesling permission to engage in
union business. While we agree with the Adminis-
trative Law Judge that union stewards are not
immune from being disciplined for insubordination,
we find no insubordination here. We find, instead,
a conscious intent to preclude Moore from carry-
ing out an official, and protected, union function,
which Moore protested, without engaging in con-
duct which can be reasonably and objectively
viewed as insubordinate.® Certainly, Moore’s con-
duct involved neither a refusal to work nor a dis-
ruption of work production, and her conduct did
not exceed “acceptable bounds and lose the pro-
tection of the Act.* Ward may have considered
Moore's conduct as a challenge to his authority,
but the fact remains that he provoked the confron-
tation by his unwarranted interference with
Moore's protected right to investigate the griev-
ances.

Accordingly, we find that Respondent’s suspen-
sion of Moore interfered with her protected union
and concerted activity, in violation of Section
8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act. We shall therefore order
Respondent to cease and desist from engaging in
the conduct found unlawful herein, to post an ap-
propriate notice, and to make Moore whole for any
loss of wages or other benefits she suffered as a
result of her suspension,® and to expunge any
record of her suspension.

entirely dependent on whether the employees involved were entitled,
under Weingaricn, 1o request union representation. Rather, »» long as his
or her efforts do not exceed “the boundaries of scceplable conduct.” a
union representative’s secking to honor an aciivily. Qwality Manufacturing
Company, 195 NLRB 197 (1972). See also General Motors Corparation,
Infand Division, 213 NLRB 47 (1977},

? See Pirrsburgh Press Company. 234 NLRB 408. 411-411 (1978),

* Contrary 10 Member Penello. Moore's condust did not constitule in-
subordination providing “‘ample justification™ for her suspension. Rather.
Moore's efforts on behalf of the emplayees—though persistent and ada-
manl—were not 80 injurious or disruptive as [0 be unpratected. Moore's
actions, al worsl, were insulliciently serious o deprive an employee per-
forming his or her dutics as a sieward of 1he proteciion of the Act. See
Caterpillar Tractor Company, 242 NLRE 523 (1979).

¢ Backpay shall be computed in the manner sei forth in £ W. Weel
worth Company, 90 NLRB 289 {1950}, with interesl as prescribed in Flor-
ida Sieel Corporation. 231 NLRB 651 (1977). Sec, generally, {5 Plumbing
& Heating Co.. 138 NLRB 716 {1962). In accordance with his dissent in
Glympic Medical Corporation, 250 NLRHB No. |1 (1980), Member Senkins
would award interest an the backpay due based on the formula set forth
therein.

Inasmuch as the record refers to an unrelated grievance arhilration
proceeding involving Respundent's alleged discharge of Moare prior te
the effective date of her suspension found unlawful herein, we shall defer
to the compliance stage of this proveeding resolution of any potential
impact therelrom on the instant backpay order.

AMENDED CONCI.USIONS OF LAw

Substitute the following for the Administrative
Law Judge's Conclusion of Law 2:

"2. By discriminatorily suspending Patricia L.
Moore by notice of July 21, 1978, for engaging in
protected union and concerted activity in the per-
formance of her duties as union steward, Respond-
ent has violated Section &@)(1) and (3) of the Act.”

ORDER

Pursuant to Section 10(c) of the National Labor
Relations Act, as amended, the Nationai Labor Re-
lations Board hereby orders that the Respondent,
United States Postal Service, Richmond, California,
its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall:

1. Cease and desist from:

(a) Discriminating against employees for engag-
ing in protected union and concerted activity while
performing the duties of union steward,

(b) In any other manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of
their Scction 7 rights.

2. Take the following affirmative action designed
to effectuate the policies of the Act:

{a) Make whole Patricia L. Moore for any loss
of earnings occasioned by her disciplinary suspen-
sion issued on July 21, 1978, in the manner de-
scribed in this Decision.

(b) Expunge any record of the disciplinary sus-
pension of Patricia L. Moore issued on July 21,
1978.

(c) Preserve and, upon request, make available to
the Board or its agents, for examination and copy-
ing, all payroll records, social security payment re-
cords, timecards, personnel records and reports,
and all other records necessary (o analyze the
amount of backpay due under the terms of this
Order.

(d) Post at its San Francisco, California, place of
business copies of the attached notice marked “Ap-
pendix."® Copies of said notice, on forms provided
by the Regional Director for Region 32, after
being duly signed by Respondent’s authorized rep-
resentative, shall be posted by Respondent immedi-
ately upon receipt thereof, and be maintained by it
for 60 consecutive days thereafler, in conspicuous
places, including all places where notices to em-
ployees are customarily posted. Reasonable steps
shall be 1aken by Respondent to insure that said no-
tices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any
other material.

8 [n the even that this Order is enforced by 8 Judgment of a United
States Court of Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted By
Order of the National Labor Relations Board™ shall read “Posted Pursu-
ant w a Judgmeni of the United Swates Court of Appeals Enliwging an
Order of the National Labor Refations Board.™
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(e) Notify the Regional Director for Region 32,
in writing, within 20 days from the date of this
Order, what steps Respondent has taken to comply
herewith.

MEMBER PENELLO, dissenting:

Contrary to my colleagues, I would affirm the
Administrative Law Judge's finding that the sole
reason Respondent suspended employee Moore
was because of her insubordinate conduct directed
at Supervisor Ward,

Briefly, the record reveals that Supervisor Ward
discovered three employees away from their work
stations after the final production work sheets had
been collected but the shift had ended. Ward ex-
plained to them that work did not stop until 5:30
and warned them not to let it happen again. The
employees then informed Union Stewad Moore as
to what took place with Ward. Meanwhile, Ward
decided to explain to the employees the rules con-
cerning the work scheduled for the end of the day.
As he attempted to do so, Moore arrived on- the
scene and interrupted Ward's presentation by tell-
ing the employees that they could guit work when
their production sheets had been turned in. The ar-
gument became more heated in the presence of 15
or 20 employees. Ward gave her several direct
orders to return to her work station but Moore
conlinued to argue and interfere with Ward's at-
tempt o instruct the employees as (o the correct
work schedule. Because of this disruption, Ward
was forced to continue the discussion with the em-
ployees in a private office. Initially, Moore at-
tempted to join the discussion in the office and dis-
obeyed several direct orders by Ward to return to
her work area. Finally, Moore left and was subse-
quently suspended.

In my view, Respondent had ample justification
for suspending Moore for insubordination. Moore
successfully prevented Ward from discussing the
work schedule with the employees on the work
floor. In the presence of 15 to 20 employees,
Moore not only intirrupted the discussion but also
attempied to countermand Wards' express instruc-
tions to the employees concerning the correct
workd schedule and ignored several direct orders
to return to her work area. Such conduct under-
mined Wards' authority placing him in a position
where it appeared that he could not function as a
supervisor. Futhermore, under the collctive-bar-
gaining agreement, Moore had no right to leave
her work area to conduct union business without
first obtaining permission from her supervisor. The
record discloses that the practice has been for the
steward 1o contact the supervisor when reporting
to work in the morning and arrange a schedule for
conducting an investigation. Moore failed to follow

this procedure. Under these circumstances, | would
find that Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)1)
of the Act by suspending Moore and would, there-
fore, dismiss the complaint in its entirety.

APPENDIX

NoTice To EMPLOYEES
POSTEDR BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

WE wiLlL NOT suspend or otherwise disci-
pline, or take any other discriminatory action
against, employees because they engaged in
protected union and concerted activities while
performing the duties of a union steward,

WE WILL NOT in any other manner interfere
with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exer-
cise of their rights to self-organization, to
form, join, or assist any labor organization, to
bargain collectively through representatives of
their own choosing, to engage in concerted ac-
tivities for the purposes of collective bargain.
ing or other mutual aid or protection, or to re-
frain from any and all such activities.

WE WILL reimburse Patricia L.. Moore for
any loss of wages or other benefits occasioned
by her suspension issued on July 21, 1978, plus
interest.

WE wILL expunge from all records any and
all references to the suspension of Patricia L.
Moore issued on July 21, 1978.

UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE
DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Davip P. McDoNaLD, Administrative Law Judge:
This matter was heard in Oakland, California, on May
24, 1979.* The complaint, issued November 30, by the
Regional Director of the National Labor Relations
Board for Region 32, is based upon a charge filed Octo-
ber 19, by Patricia L. Moore, an individual. The com-
plaint alleges that the United States Postal Service,
herein called the Respondent, vioclated Section B{a){1)
and () of the National Labor Relations Act, herein
called the Act.

All parties were afforded full opportunity to partici-
pate, 1o introduce relevant evidence, to examine and
cross-examine witnesses, to argue orally ard to file briefs.
Post-hearing briefs were filed on behalf of the General
Counsel and the Respondent.? Upon the entire record,

U AN duwies herein refer v 1978, unless otherwise indicated.
2 The General Counsel's vnupposed muotion to make cerlain correg-
tigms in the {runsceipt is hereby granted.
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and from my ohservation of the witnesses and their de-
meanor, | make the following:

FINIDINGS 0)F FaCT

L JURISDICTION

The Postal Reorganization Act, 30 US.C 1201- 1209,
herein called PRA, provides, dner afia, that the United
Stutes Postal Service shall be subject 10 the provisions of
the National Labor Relations Act. 1o the extent not in-
consistent with provisions of the PRA.

1L THE | AHOR ORGANEAATION INVOTD VED

The Respondent admits and 1 find that the Mail-
handlers Unioa, Local 302, herein called the Union, is a
labor organization within the meaning of Scction 2(5) of
the Act.

HE TPHE ALL EGED UNEAIR LAHOR PRACTHCES

A. Background

The unit of the Postal Service involved in this contro-
versy is the Respondent's Sun Francisco Hulk  Mail
Center, herein catled the BMC, located in Richmond,
California. Otis Ward has been employed by the Postal
Service Tor 22 years and as a supervisor during the last
W0 years., On July 17, he was in charge of Tour 2, ring |
and ring 2 of the nonmachinable outsiders, herein called
NMO.

The NMOQ section is divided into two work areas
called rings. The mailhandlers manually sort parcels,
which cannol be sorted by machine because they are
either 100 heavy, awkward, or fragile. The procedure
consists of maithandlers sorting the parcels from a bell to
various roller table arms and then by zip code into con-
tainers that are transporied to stallo.

Tour 2 begins al 9 am. and extends to 5:30 p.m. Be-
tween 5:15 pm. and 5:25 p.m. the handlers are required
to clean up their work area in preparation for the nexi
1our,

At 5:25 pm. the employees are allowed to leave the
work arca and washup.

During the day the supervisor or his designee, hourly,
eolleets production sheets {count sheets) in the NMO
ares. These sheets provide management with an accurate
assessment of the volume of mail which is pleced on the
conveyor belts by the employees. The supervisor tallies
the infarmation and post the results on a bulletin hoard.
The last production sheet pickup is normally between 3
and 5:15 p.m.

On July 17, Ward sent an employee 1o pick wp the
sheets from the far end of the work area while he pro-
ceeded 1o ring 2. Upon arrival he observed only two or
three employees instead of cight. Bobby Welch, Edward
Carson, and Glen Goepfert were among the missing
men. In an efforl to locate the missing employees he en-
tered the cafeteria where he found Hobby Welch, Welch
eaplained he thought he was throwgh for the day since
the production sfips had been picked up. Ward claims he
eaplained 1o him that work did not stop until 5:30 wnd
added, "Just conpsider this a discussion. You know that
this had been discussed. Don't let it happen again.” He

then ohserved Edward Carson sitling . another table,
who eaploined everyone had left so he went (o the cafe-
teria since he had aothing clse 10 do, I the adjoining
locker room, Guoepferd, who was playing dominos, did
neot offer an explanation for his absence from the work
arci, Ward spoke 10 both men separately and reiterated
the discussion he had with Welch. As he left the arca he

Jatted down the information concerning the discussions

in his notebook and proceeded to ring 1. He testified that
it was his usual custom K joi down discussions in order
to verifly the conversation. If he failed 10 note an incj-
dent there was always the possibility that an employee
would deny it in the future,

Neither Carson nor Goepfert testified at the hearing.
However, Welch testified and substantinted Ward's reci-
tation of the incident but provided a slightly different
version as to the surrounding facts and conversations.
Welch recalled that the threc of them left the work urea
hecouse no one was there. They assumed everyone had
left because the coumt sheets bad been picked up. Based
on this assumption they slowly left the area and walked
to the cafeteria, where he sat and smoked o cigarelle.
Otis appeared and stated to all of them, “Well, I'm going
1r muke this official, You are not on your job." As he
turncd and walked ouwt, the men glanced ut cach other
with a hewildered eapression and then followed him out
the door. Together, Welch, Carson, and Goepfert pro-
cecded to ring | where the timeclock is located and
where they saw Pat Moore, the Unian's shop steward.?

At that lime Welch related the facts and usked her
why did he make such a statement when, “there wasn't
snybady else around the ring, what were we supposed to
do, sit there and work by ourselves.” Moore responded.
*1 will go talk 10 Otis about it, 1 will sce what is the
problem.”™ To which, Welch said, “Okay.”

Muore's memory of Welch's comments were sltightly
differemt. She asserts that Welch and Goepfert quoted
Ward as stating, "You are out of your work area, this is
an official discussion™ and then they asked her it they
had a grievance. Moare told them that she thought they
might have a grievance, and if it were agreeuble with
them she would make un appointment with Otis to hear
his version and then meet again through the officiel
grievance procedure.*

The men then leaned on the railing of the break area
which is an the work floor, near the timeclock and tour
office. Ring number ] is also located in the sume area.

" Alihough the record is void ax to the exuct locution und the dislgnce
between the imeclock, brewk arcu, Tour office, and ring number |, the
testiminy of Welch, Moore, and Ward would indicule that they sre il
luenled in the sume generul area ond hly s ahort distunce apart.

+ Moore deseribed the grievance procedure us vanaisging of three steps

I. 'The shap stewurd meeis with the grievant and investigates the
proshiem. An wppoiniment i made with the supervisur for 4 mecting
1o tiseuss the problean. The sepervisar provides his unawer i wri-
ien furm

LOIF e superesar's soswer i unscceplable the gricvence s ap-
penled ne Richord B Jucohs, the Respomlent™s employer lubor relu-
ttons affiver for the San Frunemwo Bulk Muif Center Hie conducts
Breaeng wngd provides u wrilten deeision

A0 Mr. Jucohs' decision s unweeepiehle the appeal v forwerded
wilhut e Lo 1o he landed on o Regiomal level
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Otis picked up the production sheets from ring number 2
about 5:15. At this time he observed the men by the
break area and reflected upon Welch's assertion that he
felt his work was finished when the sheets were picked
up. Otis decided that he should explain to them the rules
and regulations concerning the work scheduled for the
end of each day. As he waulked up to the group he said,
“You really believe that we quit work al ten minutes to
five?" As he began to explain he schedule, Miss Moore
appeared and he turned to her and stated, “This is not
union business.*® She then began (o tell the men they
could guit work anytime their production sheets had
been turned in. As the argument became more heated, a
crowd of 15 to 20 employees began to listen. All Parties
agree, Moore had not sought permission to leave her
work station as required by the agreement between the
Union and Respondent.® Ward gave her several direct
orders to return 10 her work station, but she simply con-
tinued to argue and interfere with his attempls to instruct
the men as to the correct work schedule. Since he was
unable to confer with the men, he decided 10 use a pri-
vate office and therefore he turned to the men, saying,
“Will you three gentlemen come with me, please.™7 As
he entered the office he requested several supervisors to
leave and invited the men to enter.® As Moaore began to
enter, Otis asked, *Where are you going?™ and she re-
sponded, “I'm going in there too.” The argument intensi-
fied with both Otis and Moore raising their voives.
Again he gave her several direct orders 10 return to her
work area which she ignored and continued to argue.
After several direct orders she suddenly and abruptly
stopped and walked out. He then turned to the men and
said:

What I wanted to explain to you gentlemen outside
was that we don't stop working when the survisor
picks up the production sheet. We siop working at
5:15. We clean-up, push al! the dollies, the floor
dollies to their proper stall, push bampers, SP&R's
or whatever, to their proper destination. This is all I
wanted to tell you out there. You guys can get up
and leave.

There was no evidence introduced which would indicate
that Welch, Carson, or Goepfert requested the presence
or assistance of a shop steward; nor way there any evi-
dence that Otis guestioned or disciplined them at this
meeting.

Ward admitted that whenever Moure approached him, he assumed
she was on union business since that was the only time she spoke w0 him,

& Articte X V11, section 3, Rights of Stewards:

Section 3. Rights of Stewards. When it is necessary for. » steward 1o
leave his wark area to investigate and adjus grievances or tu investi-
gate a specific problem lo delermine whether In file a goevance, he
shall request permission from his immediate supervisar and such re-
guest shall not be unreasonably denied.

T During his testimony, Welch claimed he feared u suspension would
accur &l the second meeling. However, on cruss-examinztion, the fallaw.
ing portion of his affidavit was read to him, “Olis 101d me and other em-
playees 10 came with him 10 the Tour Office. 1 thought he was gaing to
give us a discussion, | guess, like he did.”" He responded w 1his affidavit
by answering, "1 did not know what he was going 10 do.”

Rick Peters, Bab Weiss, Don Blanchard, and Ralph Holmes were
among the supervisors who left the room at Ward's request.

Moore asserts that immediately after her conversation
with Welch, she approached Otis as he picked up the
count sheet from ring 1. As she spoke, they were walk.
ing toward the Tour office, where he would complete
his paperwork. She explained that the men had come to
her concermng the “discussion” and she wanted 1o know
what he thought was involved in the situation. Although
he told her he did not want her to advise people they
could quit when the count sheets were collected, she
denied she had ever given such advice. She simply
wanted the rules clarified since other supervisors had not
ubjected to the practice of quitting when the sheets were
collected. At this point, they were 10 to 15 feet from the
Tour Office, people were gathering for washup and the
men were in the break area near the Tour Office. Otis
called over 10 Glen and Bobby. Moore testified:

It looked like he wanted to discuss the problem
with them . . . and I felt that considering that it
looked like it was going to be based an the same
subject matter, that I should be present and at uny
rate, he told me that he wanted me to leave, to
return to my work assignment. And, | said that |
had been requested to represent Bobby and Glen
and I intended to do so.

At the time, 1 think—! don't remember exactly all
the words spoken it got rather heated. Voice were
getting louder,

As Rick Peter, another supervisor for the Respondent,
walked out of the inner office, he saw Moore shouting to
the employees over Otis shoulder that they did not have
to talk to Otis and advising [ wouldn't talk to them if
there wasnt a shop steward.” As the argument in-
creased, Otis gave her several direct orders o return to
her work station. Initially she responded by stating it
was washup time and therefore there was not any work
to perform. Then she repeated her statement that she
represented these peaple and should be present. Otis
again warned her that if she disobeyed his direct arder
he would write her up. As the group moved into the
Tour office she observed several supervisors. Although
she experienced some doubt in her mind as to the nature
of the forthcoming meeting, she again refused to leave
when ordered to do so by Otis. She was not certain if
the men were about to be disciplined and summarized
her position at the hearing by testifying;

I can't say that I thought that it was going to be
further disciplinary action, or what. I was con-
cerned that Otis would not intimidate these people
as far as their filing a grievance about a discussion
that had already occurred, and [ really was unclear
as to what further actions would be taken against
them. It was a concern of mine, but not in terms of
determining whether 1 should be there or not. It
was the intimidation factor that 1 was worried
about.

Finally, upon hearing another direct order, she advised
Bobby and Glen not go inte the inner office but leave
with her. They entered and she left the Tour office.
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When Bobby and Glen came out of the office they ex-
plained to Moore that they had not been disciplined but
simply received instructions as to the proper quilting
time. Moore testified that Welch had told her the discus-
sion in the cafeteria would be dropped. However, Welch
did not mention the dismissal of the discussion tn his tes.
timony. In fact, he said he was so angry he was not
“paying attenlion,” Moore then inauired as to whether
Otis had made any reference to her receiving a writeup
for disobeying a direct order. Welch explained that noth-
ing was mentioned concerning her insubordination. As
they left the building she told them, “Well, I would Jike
support in case it did, since they were there and saw ev-
erything that happened.”

After the men left the office, Gtis filled in a blank
letter form indicating he had a discussion with them.?
The form was then typed for his signature. Since he was
off work the following 2 days, he did not sign the letters
until July 20. Immediately, upon his arrival at home, he
reduced the event of the day to writing. When he re-
turned to work on July 20, he conferred with his super-
intendent, Al Bowen. Moore’s personnel record indicated
she had a prior incident of insubordination with another
supervisor. His written report was submitted to Bowen
with a recommendation to suspend Moore for 7 days (5
actual work days), due to her insubordination. Otis ex-
plained that as a result of her direct challenge 1o his au-
thority in the presence of 15 to 20 employees he looked
ridiculous, was prevented from exercising his duties as a
supervisor, and in effect was run from the work floor by
her interference. The recomendation was approved and a
letter of suspension was issued on July 21.

Analysis

In N.L.R.B. v. Weingarten, 404 U.S. 251 (1975}, the
United States Supreme Court held that an employer vio-
lated section 8(a)(1) of the Act by denying an employee’s
request that a union representative be present at an inves-
tigatory interview which the employees reasonably be-
lieved might result in disciplinary action. The Board con-
cluded that the Supreme Court’s decision in Weingarten
applied to any interview, whether labeled investigatory
or disciplinary, so long as the employee reasonably be-
lieves the interview may result in disciplinary action,
Certified Grocers of California, Lid., 227 NLRB 1211
(1977), enforcement denied 587 F.2d 449 (9th Cir. 1978).
Subseguently. the Board has overruled, in parl, its Certi-
fied Grocers decision in Baton Rouge Water Works Com-
pany, 246 NLRB No. 161 (1979). Thus, the Board now
holds that:

[Ulnder the Supreme Courl's decision in Weingar-
ten, an employee has no Section 7 right to the pres-
ence of his union representative at a meeting with
his employer held solely for the purpose of inform-

¥ Each letter was dated July 17, 1978, undt indicated that the subject
was: DISCUSSION, the following lelter was idennical escept fur the in-
serlion af the name of the mailhandter and his sovial security numher
On Joly 17, 1978 . | discussed  the  following infracuon
wilh:— ——~— LN ——— : Employee was taking an uniy-
tharized break in the Cafcteria a1t 4:50 p.m

ing the employee of, and acting upon, a previously
made disciplinary decision.

In the present case the supervisor held three separate
meetings with the men. The first encounter occurred in
the area of the cafeteria and locker room. At that 1ime,
Otis questioned the men as to why they were not work-
ing and informed them: “Just consider this a discussion.
You know that this had been discussed. Don't let it
happen again.” None of the men requested the assistance
of a union representative during this first meeting, There-
fare, regardless of how this initial meeting is classified,
the protections afforded by Weingarten simply do not
arise since union assistance was not sought.

During the subsequent two meetings both outside and
in the Tour Office, Otis never questioned tie men. In
vain, he attempted to instruct the men as to the proper
work schedule. When it became impaossible for him to
speak due to Moore's shouting and general interference,
he had no other choice but to move the meeting into a
private office. Finally, with the door closed and without
further interference he was able to review the schedule
in a few minutes. Other than Otis, Welch was the only
witness who attended the third meeting and who also
testified. Although he readily admits he was not atten-
tive, he did recall receiving instructions as to his work
schedule. There was no evidence adduced which would
allow one to find that the supervisor questioned or disci-
plined these men at either the second or the third meet-
ing. He simply instructed and that does not fall within
the purview of Weingarten. The Board has indicated that
it will not apply the rule requiring representation at in-
terviews “to run-of-the-mill shop-floor conversations,”
as, for example, the giving of instructions or training or
needed corrections of work techniques, N.L.R.A v.
Weingarten. supra, Quality Manufacruring Company, 195
NLRB 197, 199 (1972}, AAA4 Equipmen: Service Company,
238 NLRB 390 (1978). Therefore, the three occasions
when Otis spoke to the men did not evalve into a situa-
tion which evoked the protection of Weingarien on their
behalf. On the first occasion, they simply had not re.
quested the assistance of a union representative. On the
second and third occassions they were neither questioned
nor disciplined but simply instructed as to the proper
wark schedule. Certainly, a work schedule under these
circumstances is a “run-of-the-mill shop-floor conversa-
tion.”

The General Counsel has urged that Ward's testimony
is not creditable. I disagree. Whenever there are facts in
conflict between Ward, Moore, and Welch, | credit
Ward. He testified in a clear, concise. and convincing
manner. Although cross-examined vigorously, his testi-
mony remained largely consistent, with the only signifi-
cant discrepancies being the type explainable by the
elfect of passage of time and the frailties of memory. Sce
Bruce Duncan Company v. N.L.R.B., 590 F.2d 1304, 1309
(4th Cir. 1979). In contrast, Welch seemed less respon-
sive to the questions and he admitted he was so angry
with Otis rthat he did not listen to everything and was
only able 1o recall a few words. It should also be noted
that he testified that he feared possible discipline when
he was 10]d to enter the Tour Office. However, when he
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was confronted with a prior inconsistent statement from
his affidavit, he changed his testimony and simply said he
did not know what was going to happen. Although |
find that much of Moore's recitation of the events is
credible, her account of some disputed facts appeuar to
have been designed to strengthen her own position by
embellishing events favorable to her and by attempling
10 minimize those which were adverse to her. Conse-
quently, 1 credit Ward in regard to the events of the day
and in particular the question of insubordination,

A close review of the events reveal that many of the
surrounding facts are not in conflict. It must be kept in
mind that the initial conversation between Otis und
Moore rapidly escalated into a heated confrontation.
They both readily admit that they do not recal) all of the
statements which were made by the vartous parties. Ap-
parently only 10 or 15 minules expired from the time
they walked toward the men until she finally left the
Tour Office. Ring 1, the timeclock, rest area, and Tour
Office are in the sume general area and relatively close.

Muoare admits that (tis repeatedly ordered her back to
her duty station, She not only ignored his orders, but
challenged his authority as a supervisor. Although he
told her his talk dealt with nonunion business. she contin-
ued 1o raise her voice 10 such a degree that he could not
converse with the men. Her persistent harassment forced
him off the floor and into the Tour office.

The General Counsel argues that Moore was engaged
in protected activity on behalf of the men for which she
may nol be disciplined and that her ultimate suspension
was unlawful since it was based on her status and past
activitics as a union shop steward. The Respondent
argues the suspension was based solely on her insubordi-
nation.

It is true that the Board has long held that the suspen-
sion of a union steward is unlawful under the Act when
such suspension is based on his efforts to represent em-

ployees in furtherance of their protected concerted activ-
ilies. Melones contractors, a Jeint Venture, 241 NLRB 14
(1979, It is equally unlawful to suspend an individual
based on her stalus and past activities as a union official.
The May Department Stores Company, d/b/a The May
Company, 220 NLRB 1096 (1975). However, in the pres-
ent case the credible evidence indicated that the sole
reason for her suspension was her gross insubordination,
The circumstances surrounding Otis' instructions to the
men did not involve their protected rights. Therefore,
her actions on their behalf can not he classified as engag-
ing in protected activity. In several recent cases the
Board has reaflirmed its rule that a union steward is not
immune from discipline when it is based on insubordinate
conduct.'? In Armour-Dial, Inc., 245 NLRB No. 123
(1979), the suspension of the union president for 90 days
did not violate the Act since it was based on his inducing
workers to engage in an unlawful work stoppage.

The credible evidence substantiates the Respondent's
urgument that Moore'’s suspension was based solely on
her insubordination and not in violation of Section
8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act. Accordingly, 1 shall recom-
mend that the complaint be dismissed in its entirety.

CONCILUSIONS O Law

I. The Board has jurisdiction over the case by virture
of Section 1209 of the PRA.

2. The General Counsel has fuiled 1o establish by a
preponderance of the evidence that Respondent violated
Section B{a)(1) and (3) of the Act,

[Recommended Order for dismissal omitted from pub-
lication.]

Y Swank Comstruction Compuny, 239 NLRD R44 (1978) Jos. Sohiiz
Brewing Compuny, 140 NELRB 710 (199), Unmwertd General, Inc.. d/b/a
Circle Fmpart Export Compuny 1 Kelvin Tnternationale. 244 NLRD 255
(1979,
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United States Postal Service and New Haven Con-
necticut Area Local, American Postal Workers
Unfon, AFL-CIOQ. Cases 39-CA-309(P) and
39-CA-1045(P)

22 November 1983
DECISION AND ORDER

By CHAIRMAN DOTSON AND MEMBERS
ZIMMERMAN AND HUNTER

On 19 November 1982 Administrative Law
Judge Raymond P. Green issued the attached deci-
sion. The Respondent filed exceptions and a sup-
porting brief, and the General Counsel filed an an-
swering briefs.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegat-
ed its authority in this proceeding to a three-
member panel.

The Board has considered the decision and the
record in light of the exceptions and briefs and has
decided to affirm the rulings, findings,! and conclu-
sions of the judge only to the extent consistent
with this Decision and Order.

The judge found that the Respondent issued a
letter of warning to William Winn because of his
protected activities, thereby violating Section
8(a)}(3) and (1) of the Act. The Respondent has ex-
cepted to that finding, arguing that Winn was disci-
plined for cause and not because of his protected
activities. We find merit in the Respondent's excep-
tions.

As more fully set forth in the judge’s decision,
Winn served as the Union's chief steward from
1976 to May 1981 and as an alternate steward from
May 1981 to February 1982.2 On 10 February
Winn was reappointed chief steward. Although
Winn was an aggressive steward® who enjoyed the
loyalty of his coworkers, he was not a model em-
ployee, Winn had been given letters of warning in
December 1980 and April 1981. He also was coun-
seled orally on at least two occasions in 1980 and
one in 19814

The incident which led to the issuance of the 11
February warning letter in issue related to a newly
implemented policy about timeclock procedures

! Respondent has excepied to some of the judge's credibility findings.
The Board's established policy is not to overrule an administrative law
judge's credibility resolutions unless the clear preponderance of all the
relevant evidence convinces us that they are incorrect. Standard Dry
Wall Products, 91 NLRB 344 (1950}, enfd. 188 F.2d 362 (3d Cir. 1931).
We have carefully examined the record and find no basis for reversing
the findings.

¥ Unless otherwise indicated, all dates hereinafter are in 1982,

3 in 2 - to 4-month period in 1978 or 1979, Winn filed approzimately
14,000 grievances, nearly all of which were later withdrawn by the
Union.

4 The judge admitted evidence concerning these incidents only to
prove that disciplinary action was taken and not for purposes of proving
the underlying conduct.

268 NLRB No. 34

and overtime. Under that policy employees were
required to punch out for lunch at the exact minute
their break was scheduled to start. Similarly, em-
ployees were required to punch back in at the
exact minute their break ended. Employees who
failed to punch their timecards precisely when due
to resume work were docked overtime pay. When
employees argued that precise clocking would be
difficult on shifts where large numbers of employ-
ees had to punch the clock, the Respondent agreed
that supervisors would be authorized to adjust the
timecards of employees who were unable to
comply with the policy due to congestion around
the clock.

On 3 February Winn inadvertently punched out
for lunch at 9:59, 1 minute early. When the lunch
break ended, Winn, who desired to punch the
clock at 10:29 in order to show a 30-minute lunch
break, was unable to reach the clock because his
coworkers were gathered there. Thus, he clocked
back in at 10;30 and, as a result, would be docked
for 1 minute of overtime. Winn approached Acting
Supervisor Harold Feeley to have the card correct-
¢d, and Feeley responded that, inasmuch as he was
only an acting supervisor, he would have to seek
the approval of Mark Sullivan, manager of mail
processing. A few minutes later Feeley advised
Winn that Sullivan was unwilling to correct the
timecard because he had witnessed no congestion
near the clock.®5 Shortly thereafter, Sullivan ap-
peared on the work floor and asked Winn what the
problem was. Winn explained the situation which
had existed. When Sullivan reiterated his refusal to
correct the timecard, Winn became loud and argu-
mentative. Sullivan accused Winn of putting on a
show for the employees and Winn in turn accused
Sullivan of being ignorant and belligerent. During
the argument, Sullivan, who did not raise his voice,
invited Winn to file a grievance about the time-
card. Winn rejoined that he would file a grievance
whenever an employee experienced a stmilar prob-
lem. Asked by Sullivan if he was threatening man-
agement, Winn responded that it was not a threat,
that he intended to grieve all timecard adjustment
problems. N is clear that during the confrontation
several employees stopped working and looked on.
When Sullivan told Winn to return to his work
area, the latter did so and operations returned to
normal. A short time later, Sullivan took Winn
away from the work floor for a discussion of
Winn's unruly conduct, and, again, Winn became
loud and argumentative.

& The judge found that, in fact, the area near the timeclock was con-
gested.
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On 11 February Sullivan issued to Winn the fol-
lowing letter of warning:

On Wednesday, 2-3-82, Supervisor, Walt
Daniello, had to instruct you to stop shouting
and disrupting operations on the workfloor.

After that same day, you became loud and
abusive towards me, shouting personal, derog-
atory remarks and threatening to file multiple
grievances in order to harass management.
When told to lower your voice, you refused to
*comply. At that point, 1 took you off the
workfloor for a discussion, where you contin-
ued the shouting and your belligerant conduct.

Afler our meeting, you spent over 25 minutes
away from your assigned work area, in the
mens’ lavatory.® Just this past December, Su-
pervisor Joe Gambardelia [sic] had to order
you cut of the lavatory after being absent from
the assigned work area for an extensive period
of time. 1 have personally observed you leav-
ing the lavatory with folded newspapers in
your back pocket, following long absences
from your assigned work area.

Your failure to perform work as assigned, dis-
ruptive conduct and lack of cooperation are
unacceptable. As you have previously been
made aware of your responsibilities and obliga-
tions in this area, in the future, these non-pro-
ductive work habits and boisterous, verbal at-
tacks on supervisors will not be tolerated and
will lead to disciplinary action.

The judge found, and we agree, that Sullivan
was molivated by two factors in giving the warn-
ing. One was Winn's insubordinate conduct on the
work Noor, specifically, shouting, making personal
insults, and causing the cessation of normal oper-
ations. The other factor was Winn's threat to file
multiple grievances. The judge found that the
warning was “motivated in large part” by the latter
factor and, therefore, that the disciplinary action
taken against Winn was violative of Section 8(a}3)
and (1) of the Act. We disagree.

In Wright Line, 251! NLRB 1083 (1980}, the
Board set forth a test of causation to be applied in
cases involving actions based on “dual” motives,
one of which is permissible and one of which is un-
lawful. Under that test, the General Counsel is first
required to establish a prima facie case sufficient to
support the inference that the protected conduct
was a “motivating factor” in the employer’s deci-
sion. If this is established, the burden then shifts to

! The judge did not resolve the credibility conflict concerning the Re-
spondent's allegation that Winn spent 23 minutes in the men’s lavaiory
and Winm's denial of that sllegation. In view of the cesult we resch
herein, we find it unnecessary to decide this issue.

the employer to demonstrate that it had a legiti-
mate, permissible reason for its actions such that
the disciplinary action would have taken place
even in the absence of the protected conduct.

In the instant case, the judge found, and we
agree, that the General Counsel established a prima
facie case. Thus, the warning letter on its face
shows that it was motivated in part by Winn's
promise to file grievances on behalf of all other
employees whose timecards were not corrected
when there was congestion at the timeclock. Clear-
ly, such action would be protected concerted activ-
ity.” However, we further find that the Respondent
has met its requisite burden of proof by demon-
strating that it had a legitimate, permissible reason
for disciplining Winn and that it would have done
30 even in the absence of Winn’s protected activi-
ty.®

Winn, the Respondent showed, became exces-
sively loud and insulting while discussing his time-
card with Sullivan. When asked to contain himself,
he would not. Ultimately, his actions caused fellow
employees 1o stop work, albeit briefly, thus disrupt-
ing operations at the facility. The Respondent also
showed that, over a 2-year period, Winn had been
disciplined at least five times. In Southwestern Bell
Telephone Co., 260 NLRB 237 (1982), we stated
that in the administration and resolution of griev-
ances under the collective-bargaining agreement,
because of the nature of these endeavors, tempers
of all parties flare and comments and accusations
are made which would not be acceptable on the
plant floor.® However, here Winn was not engaged
in the formal pursuit of a grievance. Rather, Winn
reacled with insubordination when his request to
have his timecard adjusted was refused. The Board
recognizes the right of the employer to maintain
order and respect in the conduct of its business.1®
Winn's derogation of a reasonable order to quiet
down by continuing to shout on the work floor,
hurling personal insuits, and disrupting operations
constituted unprotected activity and gave the Re-
spondent a legitmate, permissible reason to disci-
pline Winn, and we so find. We further find that
the Respondent has met its burden to prove that it
would have issued the warning to Winn even in
the absence of his protected conduct. The record
shows that Winn had been disciplined at least five

? See Firch Baking Co., 232 NLRB 172 (1971); and Leviton Mfg. Co. v
NLRAB, 486 F.2d 686 (15t Cir. 1973).

¢ Member Hunter agrees that the Respondent's conduct in isuing a
warning to Winn was motivated by Winn's insubordination, and that the
Respondent would have imposed that discipline regardiess of any other
conduct engaged in by Winn.

* Sec also Atlantic Steel Ca, 245 NLLRB 314 (1979); and NLRB v. Illi
rois Toal Works, 153 F.2d 811 (Tth Cir. 1944).

10 Sourh n Bell Telephone Co., supra.
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times in the 2-year period preceding the warning in
issue here, and that those instances of discipline re-
lated to conduct akin to that shown in the instant
case. The record also shows that, in an effort to
placate Winn and end the disruption of the work-
place, Sullivan told Winn that he could file a griev-
ance over Sullivan’s refusal to change the timecard.

Based on the foregoing, we find, contrary to the
judge, that Winn was issued the letter of warning
because of his insubordinate conduct and that Re-
spondent would have issued the warning even
absent Winn's avowal to file numerous grievances
if circumstances warranted it. Accordingly, we
shall dismiss the complaint.

ORDER
The complaint is dismissed.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

RAaYMOND P. GREEN, Administrative Law Judge:
These consolidated cases were heard by me on July 1
and 2, 1982, in Hartford, Connecticut. The charge in
Case 39-CA-BOY(P) was filed by the New Haven, Con-
necticut Area Local, American Postal Workers Union,
AFL-CIO {the Union), on August 27, 1981, and an
amended charge in that case was filed on October 14,
1981, A complaint based on that charge was issued by
the Officer-in-Charge of Subregion 39 on October 15,
1981. The charge in Case 39-CA-1045(P) was filed by
the Union on March 8, 1982, and a complaint thercon
was issued on April 12, 1982, Thereafter, on May 4,
1982, the complaints were consolidated for hearing.

In substance the allegations of the complaints are that
William E. Winn was given written warnings on April 7,
1981, and February 11, 1982, because of his activities as a
union shop steward and because of his other protected
concerted activities.

Based on the entire record hercin, including my obser-
vation of the demeanor of the wilnesses, and after con-
sideration of the briefs filed, 1 hereby make the following

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction is asserted by virtue of Section 1209 of the
Postal Reorganization Act. The parties also agree that
the Union involved is a labor organization within the
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

Il. THE OPERATIVE FACTS

A. Background

The Union is the recognized collective-bargaining rep-
resentative of certain of the Respondent’s employees in-
cluding the distribution clerks at at its Milford, Connecti-
cut Post Office. William Winn, a distribution clerk has,
at various times served as the Union's chief steward and
as an alternative steward. In this respect, he was the

chief steward from about 1976 to May 1981 and an alter-
nate steward from May 1981 to February 1982. During
the latter period, another employee, Roderick Kennedy,
was the chief steward, but when he resigned the position
on February 8, 1982, Winn was redesignated as the chiefl
steward on February 10, 1982.1

The distribution clerks, of which there are about 18 to
20, work from 4 a.m. to 12:30 p.m. and they have their
lunch break from 10 a.m. to 10:30 a.m. They are respon-
sible for sorting the mail by letter carrier routes and they
do so by taking trays of unsorted mail and placing them
into cubbyholes in something which is called a distribu-
tion case. (Each clerk works at his own case.) As the de-
livery trucks leave the post office soon after 8 am., &t is
imperative that the mail be sorted by that hour because
any mail left over will not be delivered until the follow-
ing day. When the task of sorting the mail is not accom-
plished by 8 a.m., it is described as “missing the mail” or
alternatively as a “first class failure.” The record indi-
cates that during a period prior to 1980 there was a high
incidence of first-class failures. However, this problem,
according to Winn, had largely abated at the time of the
events herein.

The record also establishes that during a period prior
to 1981, there was a considerable degree of friction be-
tween management and the Union due in part to a clash
of personalities between Winn es chief steward and the
post office’s supervisors. In this respect, John Dirzus,
president of the Union, testified that in January or Feb-
ruary 1981 he had a conversation with the then Postmas-
ter Gallagher regarding overall labor relations. He states
that during this conversation he suggested that one of
the problems was that Winn and Kennedy were strong
personalities who had control over the work force and
that this was resented by Sullivan and the other supervi-
sors. Dirzus also testified that he told Gallagher that he
(Dirzus) had heard that supervisors were going around
and saying that Sullivan was out to get Winn and that
the latter better watch himself. He states that Gallagher
responded by saying that he thought this was wrong and
that he would deal with it even if he had to discipline
the supervisors.

In connection with the general labor relations atmos-
phere at the post office, it is noted that in 1978 or 1979,
Winn, over 2 3. or 4-month period, filed approximately
14,000 grievances involving such things as the floors and
venelian blinds being dirty. All of those grievances were
later withdrawn by the president of the Union. It is also
noted that, according to Winn, labor relations calmed
down after the leaving of Postmaster Brennen, and it ap-
pears that this cooling down occurred after the above-
noted grievances were withdrawn.

Mark Sullivan assumed the position of manager of mail
processing on November 29, 1981. Thereafter, on De-
cember 23, 1980 (prior to the 10(b) statute of limitations
period), Winn was issued a written warning by supervi-
sor Gambradella. The warning stated:

1 Kennedy resigned his position as chiel steward hecause he became
cligible for a supervisory position in the post office.
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On 12-15-80 at 10:45 a.m. you became loud and
abusive towards me when questioned about the
nature of your union business.

The U.S.P.S. Standards of Conduct . . . states that
“Employees are expected to maintain satisfactory
personal habits so as not to be obnoxious or offen-
sive to other persons . . .

You have been made aware, on many occasions, of
your obligations in this regard. This letter of warn-
ing will serve as written notice that further behav-
tour in this manner will result in the administration
of progressive discipline.

The Union filed a grievance concerning the above-
noted warning and it was settled in March 1981 at the
third step of the grievance procedure. This settlement
was memorialized in a letter dated April 2, 1981, from
District Director Employee and Labor Relations J. A.
Sprague, to Rabert Caracciolo, a National vice president
of the Union. In part, the letter reads:

The grievant denics that he was abusive toward his
supervisor. However, it appears that the grievant
has been involved in similar situations in the past
and that he contributed to the incident that oc-
curred in this case.

In an effort to resolve this matter and afford the
grievant the opportunity to improve his conduct,
the Letter of Waming will be removed from the
grievant’s record.

The Union expects Management to conduct them.
selves in & business like and professional manner. It
is also expected that Union officials will conduct
themselves in a similar manner.

It is additionally noted that apart from a formal warn-
ing there is, pursuant to the collective-bargaining agree-
ment, a lower level of discipline called a “discussion.”
{See art. 16, sec. 2 of the National Agreement.) A formal
discussion is generally conducted in private between the
employee and the supervisor involved, and does not
result in any record being placed into the employee's of-
ficial personnel record. However, such discussions are in
the nature of warnings (albeit not grievable), and super-
visors, as a matter of practice, make a memoranda of
such discussions for their own records. In the present
case, the Respondent introduced into evidence the
memoranda of various “discussions” held with Winn
from April 2, 1980, to February 5, 1981. By and large,
these discussions involved alleged incidents where Winn
left his work area, did less than the normal amount of
work, made too much noise, and used loud, boisterous,
and on occasion profane language.

B. The Warning of April 7, 1981

Five days after the previous warning to Winn had
been withdrawn, he received another warning from

acting Supervisor Anthony Vano.? The warning read as
follows:

This letter of warning is being issued to you due to
your unsatisfaclory work performance in distribu-
tion assignmenits. Deficient areas in your perform-
ance include:

(1) Amount of work.

(2) Constantly leaving your distribution case, to
talk to others.

(3) Obnoxious and disruptive conduct.

(4) Lack of cooperativeness.

As you have been made aware of your responsibil-
ities and obligations in this regard prior to this
letter, an improvement is anticipated. Failure to do
so could result in further disciplinary action. You
may appeal this action within 14 days of receipt as
specified by Article XV, Section 2 of the National
Agreement.

According to the General Counsel's theory, Winn and
Kennedy were blamed by Vano for a “first class failure”
which, according to Winn, occurred about April 5 or 6.
He postulates that since neither Winn nor Kennedy
could possibly be blamed for that occurrence, and given
other evidence of animus against them, then the reason
given for Winn's warning must be pretextual and there-
fore motivated by discriminatory reasons. The Postal
Service takes the position that it did not blame either
Winn or Kennedy for the “first class failure,” and that
the April 7 warning to Winn was not, in any way, relat-
ed to or caused by that incident. In effect, the Respond-
ent seems to argue that the General Counsel has created
a strawman, which when knocked down, is being used to
prove the allegation.

There is in fact, no dispute that about the first week of
April 1981 the distribution clerks “missed the mail.” In
connection therewith, both Winn and Kennedy testified
that they, and they alone, were blamed for that incident
by Acting Supervisor Vano, In this respect, Winn testi-
fied that, after he received the warning, he asked Vano
about it. He states that Vano said that the warning relat-
ed to the fact that “we" missed the mail and that he was
acting under orders {rom Sullivan, Similarly, Kennedy
testified that, after the first-class failure, he had a formal
discussion with Vano who told him that his work per-
formance that morning was not satisfactory and that he
(Kennedy) had not processed encugh trays of mail. Ken-
nedy asserts that, when he told Vano that he was mistak-
en and asked why he was being singled out, Vano re-
plied that he was under instructions from Sullivan and
that Kennedy was not the only person being disciplined.

Vano testified that, although there was a first-class fail-
ure, he did not blame either Winn or Kennedy for its oc-
currence as neither was at fault. He further testified that
neither was disciplined because of that event. In the case
of Kennedy, Vano states that he had a formal discussion
with him on March 31, 1981 {prior to the first-class fail-

* Vano, who normally is a letter carrier, was assigned to be a lempo-
rary supervisor in the absence of the regular supervisor, Walter Daniello.
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ure), relating to Kennedy's productivity.? Vano also
states that the warning to Winn was not in any way re-
lated 10 the first-class failure, but rather was related to
his observation of Winn's performance and conduct over
approximately a 2-week period of time, during which he
(Vano) was the acting supervisor. Vano further testified
that before issuing the warning, he spoke to Sullivan
about Winn's conduct and was told that Winn had had
prior “discussions.” According to Vano, he decided,
with Sullivan’s concurrence, that a letter of warning was
the appropriate measure to take in Winn’s case because
of the prior "'discussions.” In relation to Winn's warning,
Vano agrees that it is not unusua) for distribution clerks
to talk at their cases or to take breaks from time to time.
He acknowledges that the nature of their work makes
this imperative. He asserts, however, that from his obser-
vation, both Winn and Kennedy were excessive in this
respect, that they were excessively noisy, and that this
affected not only their performance but also the produc-
tivity of the other employees.

Following the warning to Winn, a grievance was filed
by the Union, It appears from the record that this griev-
ance was discussed at the first, second, and third steps of
the contractual grievance procedure. Basically, the
Union charged in the grievance that management was
harrassing Winn on account of his union activities and
that the warning was an improper imposition of disci-
pline because Vano had not had a previous “discussion”
with Winn. Curiously, although Winn asserts that the
reason given by Vano for the warning was Winn's re-
sponsibility for the firstclass failure, nothing in the
grievance memoranda relates to that subject. That is, it
appears that neither the Union nor the Company
claimed, during the processing of the grievance, that the
August 7 warning was in any way related to the first-
class failure on April 5. Therefore, to this extent, the
documentary evidence tends to support Vano's conten-
tion that the warning was not related to the first-class
failure.

When the grievance was denied by the Respondent at
the third step, the Union did not pursue it to arbitration.

C. The Warning of February 11, 1980

According to Winn, sometime in December 1981, he
had a conversation with his supervisor, Joseph Gambra-
detla. He states that Gambradella told him to watch him-
self and not do anything “off color* because Mark Sulli-
van was out to get him. Kennedy testified that on one
occasion during the winter, when he was talking with
Gambradella, he told the latter that he could not believe
that Gambradella had told Winn that Sullivan was out 10
get him. He states that Gambradella responded by
saying, “yes it was a fact.”

Joseph Gambradella's testimony as to the above was as
follows:

Q. At anytime . . . have you advised or told Mr.
Winn that Mr. Sullivan was out to get him?
A. Specifically to get him, specifically?

® The Respondent introduced into evidence, ss R. Exh. 2, & copy of
Vano's notes relating to a “discussion™ with Kennedy on March 31

Q. Yes?

A. No.

Q. Did you say anything like that to Mr. Winn?

A, I might have said something like that, that
Mr. Sullivan's going to get all the 8 balls, that are
not werking. 1 might have said that,

Q. Have you had any conversations with Mr.
Sullivan . . . where he said anything regarding get-
ting or taking retaliatory action against Mr. Winn?

A. Not to my knowledge.

Q. Have you had any conversations with him
where he criticized Mr. Winn's conduct as a Union
steward?

A. He might have when they were discussing
grievances at Step 2 or something like that.

Q. Do you remember what he said?

A. Like he was loud and boisterous during the
step 2 meeting or whatever, maybe in that context,
¥Yes.

Q. Did he ever suggest that maybe we ought to
take disciplinary action against Mr. Winn because of
his activity as a union steward?

A. No.

In order to understand the events leading up to the
February 11 warning, a certain amount of background i
necessary. It appears that sometime in January 1982, the
Postal Service instituted a timeclock policy to deal with
unearned overtime, In essence, the then Officer-in-
Charge of the Milford Post Office, Andrew Pace, an-
nounced, inter alia, that when employees took their
lunch breaks they were required to clock out and back in
at the precise times of their break. Thus, for the distribu-
tion clerks, since their lunch break was from 10 a.m. to
10:30 a.m.,, they were required to punch out at precisely
10 and punch back in at precisely 10:30. Employees who
made a habit of not following this procedure were sub-
ject to formal disciplinary discussions. When employees,
at & meeting, suggested that there might be occasions
when they could not follow the procedure because of
congestion at the timeclock, Pace agreed that, if an em-
ployee was unable to punch his card at the precisely cor-
rect minute because of congestion, the supervisor would
adjust the employee's timecard to show the correct time.

On February 3, 1982 (7 days before Winn resumed the
position as chief steward), Winn, through inadvertence,
punched out for lunch at 9:59 a m. Winn testified that he
returned from lunch before 10:29 am. but because of
congestion at the timeclock (due to people and materials
near the clock), he could not punch in until 10:30 am., 1
minute after his atlotted time for lunch. {As a result, he
received credit for 59 minutes of overtime that day in-
stead of for 60 minutes.) Winn testified that he then ap-
proached Harold Feeley, an acting supervisor, and asked
him to change his timecard by | minute because he had
been held up at the timeclock. Winn states that Feeley
said he would have to bring the problem to Sullivan and
that when Feeley came back from the office he denied
Winn's request. According to Winn, when he asked why,
Feeley said that Sullivan said he was late. Winn states
that he told Feeley that Pace had agreed that the super-
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visors should alter the timecards when there was conges-
tion, whereon Feeley said, "“What do you want from me,
I'm acting™ (i.e., acting supervisor).

According to Winn, shortly after his conversation
with Fecley, Sullivan came out and asked him what the
problem was. He states that he explained the problem to
Sullivan who nevertheless refused to alter his timecard.
Winn asserts that he pressed Sullivan about his timecard,
whereon Sullivan said that Winn was puiting on a show
for everybody and that he should “keep it down.” Winn
states he said that Sullivan was being ignorant, and that
Sullivan repeated that he (Winn) was putting on a show,
and demonstrating how loud he could yell. According to
Winn, he rejoined that Sullivan was being boisterous
himself, whereupon Sullivan told him to go back to his
seat. According to Winn, he told Sullivan that he too
was being belligerent and that he (Winn) was sorry “we
had to go back to sguare one of . . . lousy labor rela-
tions.” He states that he further told Sullivan that he
would file a grievance everytime any of the employees
had a similar timeclock problem. According to Winn,
Sullivan asked, “are you threatening me,” whereon he
told Sullivan thal he was not threatening, but that when
he said he was going to file grievances he meant it. At
this point, according to Winn, Sullivan directed him 10
go back to his seat and he did.

According to Winn, about 3 or 4 minutes later, Sulli-
van approached him and asked to sce him privately.
Winn states that Sullivan then counseled him about being
loud and boisterous toward him and arguing on the work
floor. He states that, during this discussion, he argued
back and told Sullivan that if the latter wanted the con-
versation off the floor he should have indicated that im-
medintely. Winn states that after the counseling he spoke
to Kennedy (still the chief steward) and told him about
what had happened, after which he made some calls to
the Unpion in New Haven. Winn denies that he called
Sullivan an “egotistical bastard,” or that he spent 25 min-
utes in the men’s room afier his counseling by Sullivan.

With respect to the above, Kennedy testified that
Winn could not punch his timecard on time because
there was congestion at the timeclock that day. He con-
firms that Winn asked Feeley to change the limecard and
referred Feeley to the prior agreement with Pace. Ken-
nedy states that Feeley went to see Sullivan and that,
when Sullivan came out, he told Winn that he would not
change his timecard. Although not hearing all the words
said, Kennedy testified that Winn started arguing with
Sullivan and raised his voice. He also states that Sullivan
accused Winn of putting on a show to impress the men
and that he further accused Winn of disturbing the work-
room floor. According to Kennedy, he heard Winn say
that Sullivan was ignorant and beiligerant and thal he
would file a grievance on behalf of anyone whose time-
card was not corrected when there was congestion. Ken-
nedy states that at this point, Sullivan asked if Winn was
threatening him, o which Winn said that it was not a
threat and that he (Winn) had filed a lot of grievances in
the past. (Recall the 14,000 grievances previously filed
by Winn.) Kennedy asserts that bath Sullivan and Winn
were yelling at each other although acknowledging that
Sullivan's yell is 2 lot softer than Winn's. He states that

he does not remember anycne swearing during this con-
frontation, but he does concede that other employees
stopped work to see what was going on.

Sullivan testified that on February 3 he was standing
out on the work floor with Feely when the men were
clocking in from the lunch break and that he did not ob-
serve any congestion. He stales that about 10:40 he was
on the flcor when Winn came over and started shouting
about why he would not change Winn's timecard. Ac-
cording to Sullivan, Winn called him an "egotistical bas-
tard™ and said that he was ignorant and belligerent. Sulli-
van states that he told Winn to lower his voice and 1o
knock off the personal insults, but that Winn continued
to shout. According to Sullivan, he told Winn that if he
wanted to file a grievance he could, whereon Winn said,
“If you want grievances, we'll give you grievances;
we're the guys who filed 14,000 grievances." He states
he asked Winn if he were threatening to harass manage-
ment, whereon Winn replied that it was not a threat, it
was a promise. Sullivan asserts that he asked Winn to go
into the swing room to talk privately, but that Winn kept
up the shouting and the insults. According to Sullivan,
he did not raise his voice to Winn"s shouting and he
states that, during this incident, the other employees
stopped wark to look. He states that he then spoke to
Winn in the swing room, after which Winn requested
time to call Dirzus in New Haven, Sullivan asserts that
he was later told by Feeley that the latter had seen Winn
go to the bathroom with a newspaper and stay there for
25 minutes.

Feeley was called as a witness by the Respondent. He
testified that about 10:30 he was talking with Sullivan*
when Winn came over about the timeclock problem.
Feeley states that when he referred Winn to Sullivan,
Winn then approzched Sullivan and asked him to change
his timecard. He states that Sullivan refused whereon
Winn became very loud and Sullivan asked him to lower
his voice. According to Feeley, Sullivan asked Winn if
he were going to file 14,000 grievances and Winn an-
swered affirmatively. (In this respect, Feeley testified
that it was Sullivan and not Winn who first said anything
about the 14,000 grievances.) According 1o Feeley,
whereas Sullivan spoke in a normal speaking voice,
Winn was talking in a loud voice. Although asserting
that he heard the entire conversation between Winn and
Sullivan, Feeley did not confirm the latter’s assertion
that Winn cailed Sullivan an “egotistical bastard." He
also testified that later in the day Sullivan asked him if
Winn had gone to the bathroom and at what time
Feeley states that he tofd Suliivan that Winn had gone at
11:40 a.m. with & newspaper, and had come out at 12:05.

As noted above, Kennedy resigned as chief steward on
February 8 and Winn was officially appointed to that po-
sition on February 10, According to Kennedy, he told
Sullivan on February 8 that Winn would be replacing
him as chief steward.

* He also says that he did not scc any congestion. However he con-
cedes that at 10:30 a.m. he and Sullivan were engaged in conversation
and that they were standing about 30 to 100 feet away from the time-
clock.
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On February 11, 1982, Sullivan issued a written warn-
ing to Winn. The warning read as follows:

On Wednesday, 2-3-82, Supervisor, Walt Daniello,
had to instruct you to stop shouting and disrupting
operations on the workfloor.*

After that same day, you became loud and abusive
towards me, shouting personal, derogatory remarks
and threatening to file multiple grievances in order
to harass management. When told to lower your
voice, you refused to comply. At that point, { took
you off the workfloor for a discussion, where you
continued the shouting and your belligerant con-
duct.

After our meeting, you spent over 25 minutes away
from your assigned work area, in the mens' lavato-
ry. Just this past December, Supervisor Joe Gam-
bardelia, had to order you out of the lavatory after
being absent from the assigned work arca for an ex-
tensive period of time. 1 have personally observed
you leaving the lavatory with folded newspapers in
your back pocket, following long absences from
your assigned work area.

Your failure to perform work as assigned, disruptive
conduct and lack of cooperation are unacceptable.
As you have previously been made aware of your
responsibilities and obligations in this area, in the
future, these non-productive work habits and bois-
terous, verbal attacks on supervisors will not be tol-
erated and will lead 1o disciplinary action.

iIn connection with the warning to Winn, Sullivan tes-
tified that he decided to give the warning because he did
not think there was any reason for Winn to shout and
cause a commotion on the workroom floor. Specifically,
he mentioned the personal insults and the effect they had
on stopping the operation. Sullivan states that he initially
recommended 10 his superiors that Winn be suspended
but was told that a warning would be the proper step in
the progressive disciplinary system. Although Sullivan,
in his testimony, asserted that the warning was not issued
because of Winn's threat to file multiple grievances, that
assertion cannot be credited in view of the specific refer-
ence to that subject in the warning letter itself.

According to Winn, about March i, 1982, he had a
conversation with Supervisor Ronald Joseph. He states
that during this conversation Joseph said that he thought
the argument over 1 minute was ridiculous, and that
Winn should just stay out Sullivan's sight because, “he’s
going to get you if he gets the chance.” Joseph, a wit-
ness called by the Respondent, testified, in substance,
that he told Winn that Sullivan was going to get Wimn if
the latter did not stop the loud talking on the floor when
he was arguing with Sullivan.

In connection with this case, it is finally noted that the
collective-bargaining agreement, at article 13, section t,
defines a grievance as a “dispute, difference, disagree-
ment or complaint between the parties related to wages,
hours, and conditions of employment.” Grievances are
not limited to complaints involving the interpretation,

% Daniello, however, did not testily in this proceeding.

application, or compliance with these provisions of the
agreement. Accordingly, the problem that Winn raised
with respect to his timecard would clearly be a grievable
matter under the terms of the collective-bargaining
agreement, especially in view of the prior agreement by
Pace relating to this subject matter,

Discussion

There is credible evidence in this case that at least for
some time there has existed a fairly high level of tension
between the management of the Milferd Post Office and
the Union's stewards at that location. It also seems ap-
parent that a focal point of that tension related to the
personality of Winn who, as a vigorous union steward,
was perceived by some of the supervisors, including Sul-
livan, as enjoying the loyalty of the employees. It also
seems, by Winn's own account, that the level of tension
between the Union and management calmed down after
the prior Postmaster, Brennen, had left the Milford facili-
ty. It is of course possible that Sullivan, even with the
abatement of tension, continued to harbor resentment
and suspicion of Winn. Nevertheless, in the context of
this case, the Generzl Counsel must establish that, in the
particular circumstances which gave rise to the two
warhings involved, those actions were motivated by dis-
criminatory and nonlegitimate reasons.

Insofar as the April 7 warning, the General Counsel
asserts that Winn and Kennedy were told by Vano that
the reason for Winn's warning, as given to them by
Vano (the first-class failure), cannot be true. He argues
that it therefore follows that the reason must be a pre-
text. According to the General Counsel, if the reason for
the warning is & pretext, it must be concluded that the
warning was issued because of discriminatory reasons,
given the past hostility between management and Winn
who was an aggressive shop steward. In this respect, [
can not help but admire the General Counsel's geometri-
cally organized “proof.” However, if one or more of his
postulates gives way, then his ultimate conclusion would
be significantly weakened.

The Respondent denies that the warning issued to
Winn or the formal discussion given to Kennedy was, in
any way, related to the first-class failure. That is, Vano
testified that neither Kennedy nor Winn was responsible
for that event and that neither was warned on that ac-
count. Thus, the Respondent’s argument strikes at one of
the key postulates of the General Counsel’s theory,
namely, his contention that the reason given.for the
warning was pretextual in nature.

Vano denied that neither his “discussion” with Kenne-
dy nor his warning of Winn was related to the first-class
failure. Rather, he asserts that based on his observation
of their performance during the period when he was an
acting supervisor he was faced with two employees who
simply were not performing enough work and, in the
case of Winn, was disturbing other employees during
worktime. In this respect, I shall note here that | was fa-
vorably impressed by the demeanor of Vano, who struck
me as an honest wilness. Moreover, the documentary
evidence tends 1o support Vano's assertion that the 'dis-
cussion™ with Kennedy and the warning to Winn were



POSTAL SERVICE m

not related to the first-class failure. In this regard, al-
though Kennedy states that his formal discussion with
Vano took place after the first-class failure the evidence,
as reflected by Vano's testimony and notes, indicates that
the “discussion™ occurred on March 31, about § days
before it occurred. Also, the documentary evidence re-
veals that the Union filed a grievance as to Winn's April
7 warning and the respective positions of the parties are
set forth on the grievance forms. Yet there is not a single
reference in any of the grievance forms to the first-class
failure, and it does not appear that, at any time during
the first three steps of the grievance procedure, either
parly contended that Winn's warning was related to that
occurrence. To my mind this silence is damaging to the
Charging Party's assertion that Winn had been told by
Vano that the warning was due to his responsibility for
the first-class failure. For if, as shown by the General
Counsel, Winn could not have been at fault, it would
seem logical that the Union would have used the same
pretext argument during the grievance discussions. In
fact, the absence of any discussion about the first-class
failure during the grievance meetings (which of course
were conlemporaneous with the events), leads me 1o be-
lieve that the prextext argument is indeed a post hoc ra-
tionalization, intended to set up a strawman. As such,
and because I shall credit the testimony of Vano, it is
therefore recommended that this allegation be dismissed.

The warning issued to Winn on February [1 is, in my
opinion, a more complicated issue. There is no doubt in
my mind that on February 3, Winn asked to have his
timecard changed to reflect the fact that he had taken a
30-minute lunch break, as required, and thai he did not
reach the clock on time due to congestion. There also is
no dispute that, with respect to the timeclock situation,
Pace, on behall of management, had previously agreed
with the employees that in the event an employee could
not reach the timeclock on time a supervisor on duty
would be authorized to change the timecard. While it
may scem that Winn's request to change his timecard by
1 minute was a request over a relatively minor issue, it
cannot be said that his problem was not a grievable
matter under the terms of the collective.-bargaining
agreement, Moreover, as Winn was the alternative shop
steward at the time, it cannot be said that his indication
to Sullivan that he would file grievances everytime the
Company refused to change timecards resulting from
congestion was purcly an individual as opposed to con-
certed complaint. Indeed, it seems to me that in some
measure Sullivan issued the warning precisely because he
feared that Winn, as a shop steward, would file multiple
grievances as he had done in the past. This conclusion is
of course based on the warning itself, which establishes
prima facie that a reason for the warning was because of
the perception that Winn, as shop steward, would file
grievances relating to the timecard problem. Since the
filing of grievances by employees and shop stewards is
considered to be protected concerted activity, a warning
issued 1o deter such activity would, a fortiori, be viola-
tive of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.®

¢ See, .., Firch Baking Co., 232 NLRB 772 (1977).

Nevertheless, the inquiry does not stop there, as the
evidence clearly establishes that Winn, during his con-
frontation with Sullivan, began shouting on the work-
room floor and that he called Suilivan ignorant and bel-
ligerent.? The evidence also indicates that it was Winn
and not Sullivan who did the shouting as even Kennedy
indicated that Sullivan's shout was a lot softer than
Winn's., Additionally, it is concluded, based on the
record as a whole, that Winn continued to shout after
Sullivan told him to quiet down and that as a result of
this argument the other employees stopped their work to
watch what was going on.

In the context of protected activity by employees, a
certain degree of leeway is allowed in terms of the
manner in which they conduct themselves. Thus, in
Bettcher Mfg. Corp., 76 NLRB 526 (1948), the Board
stated:

A frank, and not always complimentary, exchange
of views must be expected and permitted the nego-
tiators if collective bargaining is t0 be natural rather
than stilted. The negotiators must be free not only
to put forth demands and counterdemands, but also
to debate and challenge the statements of one an-
other without censorship, even if, in the course of
debate, the veracity of one of the participants occa-
sionally is brought into question. If an employer
were free 10 discharge an individual employee be-
cause he resented a statement made by that employ-
ee during a bargaining conference, either one of
two undesirable results would follow: collective
bargaining would cease to be between equals (an
employee having no parallel method of retatiation),
or employees would hesitate ever to participate per-
sonally in bargaining negotiations, leaving such mat.
ters entirety to their representatives.

We do not hold, of course, that an employee may
never be lawfully discharged because of what he says or
does in the course of a bargaining conference, A line
exists beyond which an employee may not with impunity
go, but that line must be drawn "between cases ‘where
employees engaged in concerted activities exceed the
bounds of lawful conduct in ‘a moment of animal exuber-
ance' (Milk Wagon Drivers Union v. Meadowmoor Dairies,
312 U.S. 287, 293} or in a manner not activated by im-
proper motives, and those flagrant cases in which the
misconduct is so violent or of such serious character as
to render the employee unfit for further service,”

Similarly, in NLRB v. Thor Power Tool Co., 351 F.2d
584, 587 (7th Cir. 1965), the court affirmed the Board's
conclusion that the employer violated the Act when it
discharged a grievance committeeman who, during the
course of a grievance meeting, called the emplayer's rep-
resentative a “*horse’s ass.”® The court stated:

? As Feeley did not corroborate Sullivan's assertion that Winn called
the former an “egotistical bastard,” [ shall not conclude that this epithel
was used.

* Sce also Crown Central FPetroleurn Corp. v. NLRB, 430 F.2d T24 (3th
Cir. 1970); Southwestern Bell Telephone Co., 260 NLRD 237 (1982); Postal
Service, 250 NLRB 4 (1980). Max Facror & Ca, 239 NLRB 804 (1978);
and Hawaiian Hauling Service, 219 NLRB 763 (1973).
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As other cases have made clear, lagrant conduct
of an employee, even though occurring in the
course of section 7 activity, may justify disciplinary
action by the emplover. On the other hand, not
every impropriety committed during such activity
places the employee beyond the protective shield of
the act. The employee’s right to engage in concert-
ed activily may permit some leeway for impulsive
behavior, which must be balanced against the em-
ployer's right to maintain order and respect. NLRB
v. HHinois Tool Works, 153 F.2d 811 (Tth Cir. 1946).
Initially, the responsibility to draw the line between
these conflicting rights rests with the Board, and its
determination, unless illogical or arbitrary, ought
not be disturbed. In the instant case we cannot say
that the Board's conclusion that Tinsley's remark
was within the protection of section 7 was either
unrcasonable or capricious.

In Artlantic Steel Co., 245 NLRB 814, 8§16 (1979), the
Board was called on to decide whether an arbitrator’s
decision was repugnani to the Act where the arbitrator
had sustained the discharge of an employee who, in the
course of raising an overtime complaint, used obscene
language to a supervisor during the regular work shift in
the production area. The Board stated:

According 1o the Administrative Law Judge,
Chastain’s question about overtime constituted a
grievance and protecled concerted activity, There-
fore, when Chastain used the term “lying son of a
bitch,” or *m— {— lie” (or “liar"), the Administra-
tive Law Judge reasoned that this conduct, as a
part of the res gestae of the grievance, was also pro-
tected. As suppart for this conclusion, he relied on
two lines of precedent. The first group of cases
dealt with formal grievances or negotiating sessions
which were conducted away from the production
area. There, in the heat of discussion, an employee
uttered an obscenity or used extremely strong lan-
guage. In that conteat, the employee’s conduct was
found to be protected as part of the res gesrae.
Under the other line of precedent, represented by
Merlyn Bunney and Clarence Bunney. partners, d/b/a
Bunney Bros. Construction Company, and Interboro
Contraciors, Inc., the Board concluded that an indi-
vidual employee’s complaint under the contract
about working conditions constituted protected con-
certed activity. The employee in question, however,
made no obscene or insulting statement.

The Administrative Law Judge cited no deci-
sions, however, and we know of none, where the
Board has held that an employee's use of obscenity
to a supervisor on the production floer, following a
question concerning working conditions, is protect-
ed as would be a spontaneous outburst during the
heat of a formal grievance proceeding or in con-
tract negotiations. To the contrary, the Board and
the courts have recognized (as did the Administra-
tive Law Judge in passing) that even an employee
who is engaged in concerted protected activity can,

by opprobrious conduct, lose the protection of the
Act.

The decision as to whether the employee has
crossed that line depends on several faciors: (1) the
place of the discussion; (2) the subject matter of the
discussion; {3) the nature of the employee's out-
burst; and (4) whether the outburst was, in any
way, provoked by an employer’s unfair labor prac-
tice.

To reach a decision, the Board or an arbitrator
must carefully balance these various factors.

Here the arbitrator considered the factors which
the Board considers, and concluded that the em-
ployee’s discharge was warranted and based on rea-
sons not repugnant to the Act. He noted that the in-
cident occurred on the production floor during
waorking time (not at a grievance meeting), that the
employee’s question about overtime expressed legili-
mate concern which could be grieved, and that the
supervisor had investigaled and answered his ques-
tion promptly; but, nevertheless, the employee had
reacted in an obscene fashion without provocation
and in a work setting where such conduct was not
normally tolerated. He further considered the em-
ployee’s past record and concluded that, considered
together, this record established a reasonable basis
for the discharge.

We find nothing in the arbitrator's decision that
is repugnant to the Act. Indeed, a contrary result in
this case would mean that any employee's offhand
complaint would be protected activity which would
shield any obscene insubordination short of physical
violence. That result would not be consistent with
the Act. . . .

The distinction between protected, albeit exhuberant
conduct in the context of a grievance or negotiation
meeting, as opposed to similar conduct elsewhere, was
further set forth in New Process Gear, Div. of Chrysler
Corp., 49 NLRB 1102 (1980).° In that case, the adminis-
trative law judge, in a decision adopted by the Board,
dismissed an allegation involving a shop steward who, in
the course of arguing aboul a work problem, refused the
foreman’s order to stop shouting and refused an order to
leave the production office. The Administrative Law
Judge stated:

Respondent acknowledges that loud talk and
cursing i not uncommon in a plant environment,
however, it contends that personal insulting remarks
such as those Allen directed towards Mooney do
not have to be tolerated, specially when carried to
the point of insubordination, 1 agree, a distinction
between a steward's aggressive union activity and
improper behavior is that, in the former, the stew-
ard diligently represents his constituents’ interests

% See also Posial Service, 250 NLRB 4 in. | (1980), where the Board
held that & shop steward engaged in the “formal investigation™ of &
grievance did nol lose the protection of the Act when he uttered a
“single, spontanéous obscene remark” 1o a supervisar. However, the
Board did note that the shop steward's remack was provoked, in part, by
the supervisor's failure to answer his inquiries,
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by seeing to it that the contract is not violated and
that the grievances are presented fairly and with the
primary purpose of obtaining satisfactory results in
an amicable and procedurally correct manner. Im-
proper or unprotected conduct is demonstrated by a
steward who while processing grievances makes
personal attacks on foremen and resoris to obnox-
ious obscenities. He refuses to follow the established
procedure in an orderly manner to the point of in-
subordination. Such was Allen's conduct toward
Foreman Mooney.

I reject the position of the General Counsel that
Allen's conduct can be classified as shop talk. He
pursued Mooney relentlessly and insubordinately.
Moreover, Allen was not disciplined because he
cursed Mooney but because he would not leave
Mooney alone so that Mooney could do his job.
Allen continued to follow Mooney while engaging
in loud and abusive conduct and he threatened to
continue to engage in such improper behavior for
the remainder of the shift. It was at that point that
Allen was suspended for insubordination.

The employees' right to engage in concerted ac-
tivity may permit some lee-way for impulsive be-
havior, which must be balanced against the employ-
er's right 10 maintain order and respect. NLRE v
Thor Power Tool Company, 351 F.2d 584 (Tth Cir.
1965), enfg. 148 NLRB 1379 (1964). In Caimos
Combining Co., supra, 184 NLRB 914, 915, in a
strikingly similar situation as in the instant case, the
Board stated:

We agree with the Respondent that Harts’ re-
fusal to follow the direct order to stop shouting
and his abusive language constituted unprotected
activity . . . . Harts not only refused to cease
shouting, but dared Oshins to discharge him.
Thus, Haris’ continued intransigence was not &
part of the res gestae of the grievance discussion.
Rather, the order to stop shouting was a reasona-
ble and lawful order that should have been
obeyed, and his refusal to do so was not related
to Harts' protected processing of the grievance.

In view of the case law cited above, it seems to me
that the guestion as to whether the February 11 warning
to Winn was violative of the Act is precariously close. 1
have concluded that, although Winn had a legitimate
basis for complaining about his timecard, he nevertheless
escalated the argument with Sullivan to a point beyond
which was reasonable given the nature of his complaint.
There is also no doubt as to the fact that Winn kept
shouting &t Sullivan on the workreom floor after the
latter told him to quiet down and return to his seat. In
this regard, I also conclude that, during the confronta-
tion, Winn made insulting statements to Suilivan and that
the heated remarks by Winn attracted the attention of
the other employees who stopped work. Further, the
evidence in this case indicates that this was not the first
time that Winn had been overly boisterous, and in con-

nection with the settlement of a prior grievance involv-
ing Winn, both the Union and the Employer had mutual-
ly agreed that their respective representatives should
conduct themselves in a professional and business like
manner.

There is, in fact, little doubt in my mind that the type
of overreaction by Winn is not the 1ype of conduct
which would be conducive 10 a rational and mutually
productive collective-bargaining relationship. This is not
to say, however, that his conduct on this occasion went
beyond the pale or that the warning was privileged.

Unlike the facts in Atlantic Steel Co., supra, New Proc-
ess Gear, supra, and the other cases cited by the Re-
spondent, 1 do not perceive that Winn's conduct was
nearly as insubordinate as the activities referred to in
those cases. For example, 1 have concluded that Winn
did not use obscene language during his confrontation
with Sullivan. Also, while it is true that the argument
caused other employees to stop work, the evidence
herein does not show that this confrontation, as in the
case of New Process Gear, was of an extended or pro-
longed nature. Moreover, it is apparent from the warning
letter itsell thal its issuance was motivated not merely be-
cause of Winn's boisterous conduct, but at least in equal
measure because Winn had informed Sullivan that he
would file grievances on behalf of other employees en-
countering the same problem. Although Sullivan may
have perceived this "threat” as one which involved an
intent by Winn to harass management with multiple
grievances, it must be said that the problem at issue was,
in fact, a grievable matter, and that Winn’s position was
consistent with the agreement made with Pace. In sum-
mary, I therefore conclude that the warning issued to
Winn was motivated in large part because of Sullivan's
concern that Winn, as shop steward, would file griev-
ances pursuant to the collective-bargaining agreement. |
also find that Winn's conduct on February 3, in connec-
tion with his conversation with Sullivan, was not so
egregious as to remove his activity from the protection
of the Act. Accordingly, it is concluded that the warning
issued to Winn on February 11, 1980, was violative of
Section 8(a)(1) and (3) of the Act.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAwW

1. The Respondent, the United States Postal Service, is
an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning
of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By issuing & letter of warning to William Winn on
February 11, 1982, because of Winn's notification to
management that he would file grievances pursuant to
the collective-bargaining agreement, the Respondent vio-
lated Section 8(a)1) and (3) of the Act.

4. The aforesaid unfair labor practices affect commerce
within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act,

5. Except to the extent herein found, the Respondent
has not violated the Act in any other manner.

[Recommended Order omitted from publication.]
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P
N.L.R. B. v. Acme Industrial Co.,
U.S.III. 1967,

Supreme Court of the United States
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD, Peti-
tioner,

V.

ACME INDUSTRIAL CO.

No, 52.

Argued Nov. 14, 1966.
Decided Jan. 9, 1967.

Petition to review and set aside an order of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board, wherein Board filed
cross petition to enforce order issued against em-
ployer. The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Cir-
cuit, 351 F.2d 258, set aside order and denied en-
forcement and certiorari was granted. The Supreme
Court, Mr. Justice Stewart, held that order of Board
requiring employer to furnish union information
that would allow union to decide whether to pro-
cess a grievance was consistent with express terms
of National Labor Relations Act and with national
labor policy favoring arbitration and union was not
required to take grievance all the way through arbit-
ration for determination of relevancy of requested
information, notwithstanding provision for binding
arbitration of differences concerning meaning of
agreement.

Reversed and remanded.
West Headnotes
[1] Federal Courts 170B €=2459

170B Federal Courts
170BVII Supreme Court
170BVII(B) Review of Decisions of Courts
of Appeals
170Bk455 Decisions Reviewable and
Grounds for Issuance
170Bk459 k. ILabor Relations and

Standards; Employers' Liability. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 106k383(1))

Supreme Court granted certiorari to consider sub-

stantial question of federal labor law.

21 €=1117

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(C) Collective Bargaining
231Hk1116 Disclosure of Information
Relevant to Bargaining
231Hk1117 k. In General. Most Cited
Cases
(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
Employer has general obligation to provide inform-
ation that is needed by bargaining representative for
proper performance of its duties. National Labor
Relations Act, §§ 8(a) (5), (d), 10(a) as amended 29
U.S.C.A. §§ 158(a) (5}, {d), 160(a}.

[31 €=1113

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXTIC) Collective Bargaining
231Hk1111 Duty to Bargain Collectively
231Hk1113 k. Nature and Scope of
Duty in General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
Duty to bargain extends beyond period of contract
negotiations and applies to labor-management rela-
tions during term of an agreement. National Labor
Relations Act, §§ 8(a) (3), (d), 10(a) as amended 29
U.S.C.A. §§ 158(a) (5). (d), 160(a).

[4] €=1562

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(H) Alternative Dispute Resolution
231HXII(H)4 Proceedings
231Hk1559 Grievance Proceedings
231Hk1562 k. Disclosure; Discov-
ery. Most Cited Cases
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(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
Employer had duty to furnish union information
which was necessary in order to enable union to
evaluate intelligently grievances filed. National
Labor Relations Act, §§ 8(@) (5), (d), 10(a) as
amended 29 U.S.C.A. §§ 158(a) (5), (d), 160(a).

[5]1 €-1678(2)

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(I) Labor Relations Boards and Pro-
ceedings
231HXII(I)! In General
231Hk1669 Exclusive, Concurrent,
and Conflicting Jurisdiction
231Hk1678 Grievances and Arbit-
ration
231Hk1678(2) k. Particular Dis-
putes. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak506 Labor Relations)
Order of National Labor Relations Board requiring
employer to furnish union information that would
allow union to decide whether to process a gtiev-
ance was consistent with express terms of National
Labor Relations Act and with national labor policy
favoring arbitration and union was not required to
take grievance all the way through arbitration for
determination of relevancy of requested informa-
tion, notwithstanding provision for binding arbitra-
tion of differences concerning meaning of agree-
ment. National Labor Relations Act, §§ 8(2) (5),
(d), 10(a)} as amended 29 U.S.C.A. §§ 158(a} (5),
(d), 160(a); Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, § 301, 29 US.C.A. § 185,

*#566 ¥*433 Norton J. Come, Washington, D.C., for
petitioner.

E. Allan Kovar, Chicago, 1il., for respondent.

Mr. Justice STEWART delivered the opinion of the
Court.

In NLRB v. C & C Plywood Corp., 385 U.S. 42],
87 S.Ct. 559, 17 L.Ed.2d 486, decided today, we
dealt with one aspect of an employer's duty to bar-
gain during the term of a collective bargaining
agreement. In this case we deal with another-in-

volving the obligation to furnish information that
allows a union to decide whether to process a griev-
ance,

In April 1963, at the conclusion of a strike, the re-
spondent entered into a collective bargaining agree-
ment with the union which was the certified repres-
entative of its employees. The agreement contained
two sections relevant to this case. Article I, 5 3,
provided, ‘It is the Company's general policy not to
subcontract work which is normally performed by
employees in the bargaining unit where this will
cause the layoff of employees or prevent the recall
of employees who would normally perform this
work * * *° In Art. VI, s 10, the respondent agreed
that ‘(i)n the event the equipment of the *434 plant
* ¥ * 5 ##567 hereafter moved to another location
of the Company, employees working in the plant *
* * who are subject to reduction in classification or
layoff as a result thereof may transfer to the new
location with full rights and seniority, unless there
is then in existence at the new location a collective
bargaining agreement covering * * * employees at
such location.”A grievance procedure culminating
in compulsory and binding arbitration was also in-
corporated into the collective agreement.

The present controversy began in January 1964,
when the union discovered that certain machinery
was being removed from the respondent's plan.
When asked by union representatives about this
movement, the respondent's foremen replied that
there had been no violation of the collective agree-
ment and that the company, therefore, was not ob-
liged to answer any questions regarding the ma-
chinery. After this rebuff, the union filed 11 griev-
ances charging the respondent with viplations of the
above quoted clauses of the collective agreement.
The president of the union then wrote a letter to the
respondent, requesting ‘the following information
at the earliest possible date:

‘1. The approximate dates when each piece of
equipment was moved out of the plant.

‘2. The place to which each piece of cquipment was
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moved and whether such place is a facility which is
operated or controlled by the Company.

‘3. The number of machines or equipment that was
moved out of the plant.

‘4, What was the reason or purpose of moving the
equipment out of the plant.

‘5, Is this equipment used for production else-
where.’

The company replied by letter that it had no duty to
furnish this information since no layoffs or reduc-
tions in *435 job classification had occurred within
five days (the time limitation set by the contract for
filing grievances) prior to the union's formal re-
quest for information.

This refusal prompted the union to file unfair labor
practice charges with the National Labor Relations
Board. A complaint was issued, and the Board,
overruling its trial examiner, held the respondent
had violated s 8(a)(5) of the Act™' by refusing to
bargain in good faith. Accordingly, it issued a
cease-and-desist order. The Board found that the in-
formation requested was ‘necessary in order to en-
able the Union to evaluate intelligently the griev-
ances filed’ and pointed out that the agreement con-
tained no ‘clause by which the Union waives its
statutory right to such information.’

FN1. National Labor Relations Act, as
amended, 61 Stat. 141, 29 US.C.A. s
158(a)(3).

[1] The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit re-
fused to enforce the Board's order. 351 F.2d 258. It
did not question the relevance of the information
nor the finding that the union had not expressly
waived its right to the information. The Court ruled,
however, that the existence of a provision for bind-
ing arbitration of differences concerning the mean-
ing and application of the agreement foreclosed the
Board from exercising its statutory power. The
court cited United Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf
Navig. Co., 363 U.S. 574, 80 S.Ct. 1347, 4 L Ed.2d

1409, the United Steelworkers v. American Mfg.
Co., 363 U.S. 564, 80 S.Ct. 1343, 4 L.Ed.2d 1403,
as articulating a national labor policy favoring ar-
bitration and requiring the Board's deference to an
arbitrator when construction and application of a
labor agreement are in issue. We granted certiorari
to consider the substantial question of federal labor
law thus presented. 383 U.S. 905, 86 5.Ct. 893, 15
L.Ed.2d 662.

*£568 [2][3] There can be no question of the gener-
al obligation of an employer to provide information
that is nceded by *436 the bargaining representative
for the proper performance of its duties.National
Labor Relations Board v. Truitt Mfg. Co., 351 U.S.
149, 76 8.Ct. 753, 100 L.Ed. 1027. Similarly, the
duty to bargain unquestionably extends beyond the
period of contract negotiations and applies to labor-
management relations during the term of an agree-
ment.National Labor Relations Board v. C & C Ply-
wood Corp., 385 U.S. 421, 87 S.Ct. 559, 17
L.Ed.2d 486;National Labor Relations Board v. F,
W. Woolworth Co., 352 U.S. 938, 77 S.Ct. 261, 1
1..Ed.2d 235. The only real issue in this case, there-
fore, is whether the Board must await an arbitrator's
determination of the relevancy of the requested in-
formation before it can enforce the union's statutory
rights under s 8{a)(5).

The two cases upon which the court below relied,
and the third of the Steelworkers trilogy, United
Steelworkers of America v. Enterprise Wheel &
Car Corp., 363 U.S. 593, 80 S.Ct. 1358, 4 LEd.2d
1424, do not throw mast light on the problem. For
those cases dealt with the relationship of courts to
arbitrators when an arbitration award is under re-
view or when the employer's agreement to arbitrate
is in question. The weighing of the arbitrator's
greater institutional competency, which was so vital
to those decisions, must be evaluated in that con-
text. 363 US., at 567, 581-582, 596-597,80 S.Ct.
1352, 1360-1361. The relationship of the Board to
the arbitration process is of a quite different order.
See Cary v. Westinghouse Corp., 375 U.S. 261,
269-272, 84 S.Ct. 401, 407-409, 11 L.Ed.2d 320.
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Moreover, in assessing the Board's power to deal
with unfair labor practices, provisions of the Labor
Act which do not apply to the power of the courts
under s 301, ™2 must be considered. Section
B(a)(5) proscribes failure to bargain collectively in
only the most general terms, but s 8(d) amplifies it
by defining ‘to bargain collectively’ as including
‘the mutual obligation of the employer and the rep-
resentative of the employees to meet at reasonable
times and confer in good faith with respect to * * *
any question arising *437 (under an agreement) * *
* ™3 And s 10{a)"™ provides: ‘The Board is
empowered * * * to prevent any person from enga-
ging in any unfair labor practice * * *, This power
shall not be affected by any other means of adjust-
ment or prevention that has been or may be estab-
lished by agreement, law, or otherwise * * ¥ Thus,
to view the Steelworkers decisions as automatically
requiring the Board in this case to defer to the
primary determination of an arbitrator™' is to
overlook important distinctions between those cases
and this one,

FN2. Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, 61 Stat. 156,29 U.S.C. s 185.

FN3. Cf. United Steelworkers of America
v. Warrior & Gulf Co., 363 U.S. 574, 581,
80 S.Ct. 1347, 1352, 4 L.Ed.2d 1409;The
grievance procedure is, in other words, a
part of the continuous collective bargain-
ing process.’

FN4. 61 Stat. 146, 29 U.S.C. s 160(a).

FNS. See Sinclair Refining Co. v.
N.L.R.B., 306 E.2d 569, 570 (C.A.5th Cir.).

But even if the policy of the Steelworkers Cases
were thought to apply with the same vigor to the
Board as to the courts, that policy would not require
the Board to abstain here. For when it ordered the
employer to furnish the requested information to
the union, the Board was not making a binding con-
struction of the labor contract. It was only acting

upon the probability that the desired information
was relevant, and that it would be of use to the uni-
on in carrying out its statutory duties and responsib-
ilities. This discovery-type standard decided noth-
ing about the merits of the union's contractual
claims.™s When the respondent**569 furnishes
the requested *438 information, it may appear that
no subcontracting or work transfer has occurred,
and, accordingly, that the grievances filed are
without merit. On the other hand, even if it appears
that such activities have taken place, an arbitrator
might uphold the respondent's contention that no
breach of the agreement occurred because no em-
ployees were laid off or reduced in grade within
five days prior to the filing of any grievance. Such
conclusions would clearly not be precluded by the
Board's thresh-old determination concerning the po-
tential relevance of the requested information.
Thus, the assertion of jurisdiction by the Board in
this case in no way threatens the power which the
parties have given the arbitrator to make binding in-
terpretations of the labor agreement.”™’

FN6. Cf. 4 Moore, Federal Practice
26.16(1), 1175-1176 (2d ed.):

(Dt must be borne in mind that the stand-
ard for determining relevancy at a discov-
ery examination is not as well defined as at
the trial. * * * Since the matters in dispute
between the parties are not as well determ-
ined at discovery examinations as at the
trial, courts of necessity must follow a
more liberal standard as to relevancy.’

Id., at 1181:

‘Examination as to relevant matters should
be allowed whether or not the theory of the
complaint is sound or the facts, if proved,
would support the relief sought.’

FN7. This case, therefore, differs from
NLRB. v. C & C Plywood Corp., 385
U.8. 421, 87 S.Cr. 559, 17 L.Ed.2d 486,
where the Board's determination that the
employer did not have a contractual right
to institute a premium pay plan was a de-
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termination on the merits. See C & C Ply-
wood, at 426 of 385 U.S., at 563 of 87
S.Ct. and n. 10.

Far from intruding upon the preserve of the arbitrat-
or, the Board's action was in aid of the arbitral pro-
cess. Arbitration can function properly only if the
grievance procedures leading to it can sift out un-
meritorious claims. For if all claims originally initi-
ated as grievances had to be processed through to
arbitration, the system would be woefully over-
burdened. Yet, that is precisely what the respond-
ent's restrictive view would require. It would force
the union to take a grievance all the way through to
arbitration without providing the opportunity to
evaluate the merits of the claim.™® The expense
of arbitration might be placed upon the union only
for it to learn *439 that the machines had been re-
legated to the junk heap. Nothing in federal labor
law requires such a result.

FN8. See Fafnir Bearing Co. v. NLRB,,
2 Cir., 362 F.2d 716, 721:

‘By preventing the Union from conducting
these studies (for an intelligent appraisal of
its right to grieve), the Company was, in
errence, requiring it to play a pgame of
blind man's bluff.”

[4]1[5] We hold that the Board's order in this case
was consistent both with the express terms of the
Labor Act and with the national labor policy favor-
ing arbitration which our decisions have discerned
as underlying that law. Accordingly, we reverse the
judgment and remand the case to the Court of Ap-
peals with directions to enforce the Board's order.

Reversed and remanded.

U.S.II. 1967.

N. L. R. B. v. Acme Industrial Co.

385 U.S. 432, 87 8.Ct. 565, 64 LRR.M. (BNA)
2069, 17 L.Ed.2d 495, 54 L.ab.Cas. P 11,639

END OF DOCUMENT
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P-

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BD. v. TRU-
ITT MFG. CO.

U.S. 1956.

Supreme Court of the United States
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD, Peti-
tioner,

V.

TRUITT MANUFACTURING CO.

No. 486.

Argued March 29, 1956
Decided May 7, 1956.

Proceeding wherein the Court of Appeals, Fourth
Circuit, 224 F.2d 869, refused to enforce an order
of the National Labor Relations Board which had
found that an employer had failed to bargain good
faith. The case came to the Supreme Court on Cer-
tiorari. The Supreme Court, Mr. Justice Black, held
that an employer's refusal to attempt to substantiate
a claim of economic inability to pay increased
wages may support a finding of a failure to bargain
in good faith,

Reversed.

Mr. Justice Frankfurter, Mr. Justice Clark and Mr.
Justice Harlan, dissented in part.

West Headnotes
[1] Federal Courts 170B €~>459

170B Federal Courts
170BVII Supreme Court
170BVII{B) Review of Decisions of Courts
of Appeals
170Bk455 Decisions Reviewable and
Grounds for Issuance
170Bk459 k. Labor Relations and
Standards; Employers' Liability. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 106k383(1})
Because of conflict of opinion as 1o whether em-

ployer's refusal to furnish information while claim-
ing financial inability to pay wage increase might
support finding of refusal to bargain in good faith,
and because of importance of the question, Su-
preme Court granted certiorari. National Labor Re-
lations Act, § 8(a)(5), (d) as amended by Labor
Management Relations Act, 1947, § 101, 29
U.S.C.A. § 158(a)(5), (d); Labor Management Re-
lations Act, 1947, § 204(a}1), 29 US.CA. §
174(a)(1).

2] €=1118

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(C) Collective Bargaining
231Hki116 Disclosure of Information
Relevant to Bargaining
231Hk1118 k. Particular Subjects of
Disclosure. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
In determining whether statutory obligation of
good-faith bargaining has been met, National Labor
Relations Board has right to consider an employer's
refusal to give information abowt its financial
status. National Labor Relations Act, § 8(a)}35), (d)
as amended by Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, § 101, 29 US.C.A. § 158(a)5), (d);, Labor
Management Relations Act, 1947, § 204(a)(1), 29
US.CA. § 174@)1).

[31 €=1113

231H Labor and Employment
231HX11 Labor Relations
23 IHXII(C) Collective Bargaining
231Hk1111 Duty to Bargain Collectively
231Hk1EI3 k. Nature and Scope of
Duty in General. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak177 Labor Relations)
While Congress has not compelled agreement
between employers and bargaining representatives,
it does require collective bargaining in the hope that
agreement will result. National Labor Relations
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Act, § 8(a)(5), (d) as amended by Labor Manage-
ment Relations Act, 1947, § 101, 29 US.CA. §
158(2)(5), (d); Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, § 204(a)(1), 29 U.S.C.A. § 174(a)(1).

[4] €~1114

231H Labor and Employment
23 1HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(C) Collective Bargaining
231Hk1111 Duty to Bargain Collectively
231HkI114 k. Good Faith in General.
Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
Good-faith bargaining, as required by statute
between employer and employees' representative,
necessarily requires that claims made by either bar-
gainer should be honest claims, and this is true of
an asserted economic inability on part of employer
to pay an increase in wages. National Labor Rela-
tions Act, § 8(a)(5), (d) as amended by Labor Man-
agement Relations Act, 1947, § 101, 29 US.CA. §
158(a)(5), (d); Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, § 204(a)(1}, 29 U.S.C.A. § 174(a)1).

[5] €1767(2)

231H Labor and Employment
231HXII Labor Relations
231HXIKI) Labor Relations Boards and Pro-
ceedings
231HXIK)6 Weight and Sufficiency of
Evidence
231Hk1764 Refusal to Bargain Col-
lectively
231Hk1767 Conduct Constituting
Refusal
231Hk1767(2) k. Failure to
Provide Information. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak574 Labor Relations)
An employer's refusal to attempt to substantiate a
claim of economic inability to pay increased wages
may support a finding by the National Labor Rela-
tions Board of a failure to bargain in good faith.
National Labor Relations Act, § 8(a)?5), (d) as
" amended by Labor Management Relations Act,

1947, § 101, 29 U.S.C.A. § 158(a)(5), (d); Labor
Management Relations Act, 1947, § 204(a)(1), 29
U.S.C.A. § 174(a)(1).

[6] €=1118

231H Labor and Employment
23 1HXII Labor Relations
231HXII(C) Collective Bargaining
231Hk1116 Disclosure of Information
Relevant to Bargaining
231Hk1118 k. Particular Subjects of
Disclosure. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak179 Labor Relations)
As to whether employees are entitled to substantiat-
ing evidence from employer which claims econom-
ic inability to pay increased wages, each case must
turn upon its own facts, and inquiry must always be
whether or not undercircumstances the statutory ob-
ligation to bargain in good faith has been met. Na-
tional Labor Relations Act, § 8(a)5), (d} as
amended by Labor Management Relations Act,
1947, § 101, 29 U.S.C.A. § 158(a)(5), (d); Labor
Management Relations Act, 1947, § 204(a)(1), 29
US.C.A. § 174(a)(1).

[7]1 €=1767(2)

231H Labor and Employment
231HXTI Labor Relations
231HXII(Y) Labor Relations Boards and Pro-
ceedings
231HXII(I)6 Weight and Sufficiency of
Evidence
231Hk1764 Refusal to Bargain Col-
lectively
231{Hk1767 Conduct Constituting
Refusal
231Hk1767(2) k. Failure to
Provide Information. Most Cited Cases
(Formerly 232Ak574 Labor Relations)
Under circumstances of the case, record on certior-
ari, including evidence that employer refused to
furnish financial information while claiming eco-
nomic inability to pay increased wages, supported
National Labor Relations Board's finding of em-
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ployer's refusal to bargain in good faith. National
Labor Relations Act, § 8(a)(5), (d) as amended by
Labor Management Relations Act, 1947, § 101, 29
U.S.C.A. § 158(a)5), (d); Labor Management Re-
lations Act, 1947, § 204(a)(1), 29 US.C.A. §
174(¢a)(1).

*#754 Mr. *149 David P. Findling, Washington,
D.C., for petitioner.

Mr. R. D. Douglas, Ir., Greensboro, N.C., for re-
spondent.

Mr. Justice BLACK delivered the opinion of the
Court.

The National Labor Relations Act makes it an un-
fair labor practice for an employer to refuse to bar-
gain in good faith with the representative of his em-
ployees.™ #1500 The question presented by this
case is whether the National Labor Relations Board
may find that an employer has not bargained in
good faith where the employer claims it cannot af-
ford to pay higher wages but refuses requests to
produce information substantiating its claim.

FN1.‘Sec. 8. (a) It shall be an unfair labor
practice for an employer-

‘(5) to refuse to bargain collectively with
the representatives of his employees, sub-
ject to the provisions of section 9(a).

*(d) For the purposes of this section, to
bargain collectively is the performance of
the mutual obligation of the employer and
the representative of the employees to meet
at reasonable times and confer in good
faith with respect to wages, hours, and oth-
er terms and conditions of employment, or
the negotiation of an agreement, or any
question arising thereunder, and the execu-
tion of a written contract incorporating any
agreement reached if requested by either
party, but such obligation does not compel
either party to agree to a proposal or re-
quire the making of a concession * * *’ 49
Stat. 452-453, as amended, 61 Stat.
140-142, 29 U.S.C. ss 1538(a)(5), 158(d),
29 U.S.C.A. s 158(a)(5), (d).

The dispute here arose when a union representing
certain of respondent's employees asked for a wage
increase of 10 cents per hour. The company
answered that it could not afford to pay such an in-
crease, it was undercapitalized, had never paid di-
vidends, and that an increase of more than 2 1/2
cents per hour would put it out of business. The
union asked the company to produce some evidence
substantiating these statements, requesting permis-
sion to have a certified public accountant examine
the company's books, financial data, etc. This re-
quest being denied, the union asked that the com-
pany submit ‘full and complete information with re-
spect to its financial standing and profits,’ insisting
that such information was pertinent and essential
for the employees to determine whether or not they
should continue to press their demand for a wage
increase. A union official testified before the trial
examiner that (W)e were wanting anything relating
to the Company's position, any records or what
have you, books, accounting sheets, cost expendit-
ures, what not, anything to back the Company's po-
sition that they were unable to give any more
money.’The company refused all the requests, rely-
ing solely on the statement that ‘the information * *
* is not pertinent to *151 this discussion and the
company declines to give you such information;
You have no legal right to such.'

*#%755 [1] On the basis of these facts the National
Labor Relations Board found that the company had
‘failed to bargain in good faith with respect to
wages in violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the
Act’110 NL.RB. 856. The Board ordered the
company to supply the union with such information
as would ‘substantiate the Respondent's position of
its economic inability to pay the requested wage in-
crease.’The Court of Appeals refused to enforce the
Board's order, agreeing with respondent that it
could not be held guilty of an unfair labor practice
because of its refusal to furnish the information re-
quested by the union. 4 Cir., 224 F.2d 869. In Na-
tional Labor Relations Board v. Jacobs Mfg. Co.,
196 F.2d 680, the Second Circuit upheld a Board
finding of bad-faith bargaining based on an em-
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ployer's refusal to supply financial information un-
der circumstances similar to those here. Because of
the conflict and the importance of the question we
granted certiorari. 350 U.S. 922, 76 S.Ct. 211.

The company raised no objection to the Board's or-
der on the ground that the scope of information re-
quired was too broad or that disciosure would put
an undue burden on the company. Its major argu-
ment throughout has been that the information re-
quested was irrelevant to the bargaining process
and related to matters exclusively within the
province of management. Thus we lay to one side
the suggestion by the company here that the Board's
order might be unduly burdensome or injurious to
its business. In any event, the Board has heretofore
taken the position in cases such as this that °It is
sufficient if the information is made available in a
manner not so burdensome or timeconsuming as to
impede the process of bargaining.™2And in this
case the Board has held *152 substantiation of the
company's position requires no more than
‘reasonable proof.'

FN2.0ld Line Life Ins. Co., 96 N.L.R.B.
499, 503;Cincinnati Steel Castings Co., 86
N.L.R.B. 592, 593,

[2][3] We think that in determining whether the ob-
ligation of good-faith bargaining has been met the
Board has a right to consider an employer's refusal
to give information about its financial status. While
Congress did not compel agreement between em-
ployers and bargaining representatives, it did re-
quire collective bargaining in the hope that agree-
ments would result. Section 204(a) (1) of the Act
admonishes both employers and employees to
‘exert every reasonable effort to make and maintain
agreements concerning rates of pay, hours, and
working conditions * * *'™3 [In their effort to
reach an agreement here both the union and the
company treated the company's ability to pay in-
creased wages as highly relevant. The ability of an
employer to increase wages without injury to his
business is a commonly considered factor in wage
negotiations ™Claims for increased wages have

sometimes been abandoned because of an employ-
er's unsatisfactory business condition; employees
have even voted to accept wage decreases because
of such conditions ™5

FN3. 61 Stat. 154, 29 US.C. s 174(a)(1),
29 U.S.C.A. 5 174(a)(1).

EN4. See Sherman, Employer's Obligation
to Produce Data for Collective Bargaining,
35 Minn.L.Rev. 24; Dunlop, The Econom-
ics of Wage-Dispute Settlement, 12 Law &
Contemp. Prob. 281, 290; What Kind of
Information Do Labor Unions Want in Fin-
ancial Statements?, 87 J. Accountancy
368, How Collective Bargaining Works
(Twentieth Century Fund, 1942) 453.

ENS. Daily Labor Report No. 156: A4-AS
{Bureau of National Affairs, Aug. 12,
1954); 35 Lab.Rel.Rep. 106; Union Votes
Wage Freeze to Aid Rice-Stix, St. Louis
Globe-Democrat, Nov. 25, 1954, p. 1, col.
4; Studebaker Men Vote for Pay Cuts,
N.Y. Times, Aug. 13, 1954, p. 1, col. 5.

14]]5) Good-faith bargaining necessarily requires
that claims made by either **756 bargainer should
be honest claims. This is true about an asserted in-
ability to pay an increase in wages. If such an argu-
ment is important enough to present*153 in the
give and take of bargaining, it is important enough
to require some sort of proof of its accuracy. And it
would certainly not be farfetched for a trier of fact
to reach the conclusion that bargaining lacks good
faith when an employer mechanically repeats a
claim of inability to pay without making the slight-
est effort to substantiate the claim. Such has been
the holding of the Labor Board since shortly after
the passage of the Wagner Act. In Pioneer Pearl
Button Co., decided in 1936, where the employer's
representative relied on the company's asserted
‘poof financial condition,” the Board said: ‘He did
no more than take refuge in the assertion that the
respondent's financial condition was poor; he re-
fused either to prove his statement, or to permit in-

© 2008 Thomson/West. No Claim to Orig. U.S. Govt. Works.

https://web2.westlaw.com/print/printstream.aspx ?prii=HTMLE&destination=atp&sv=Split...

7/9/2008



76 8.Ct. 753

Page 5

3511.5. 149, 76 S.Ct. 753, 38 LR.R.M. (BNA) 2042, 100 L..Ed. 1027, 30 Lab.Cas. P 69,932

(Cite as: 351 U.S. 149, 76 S.Ct. 753)

dependent verification. This is not collective bar-
gaining. 1 N.L.R.B. 837, 842-843. This was the po-
sition of the Board when the Taft-Hartley Act was
passed in 1947 and has been its position ever
since. FIN6We agree with the Board that a refusal to
attemnpt to substantiate a claim of inability to pay
increased wages may support a finding of a failure
to bargain in good faith.

EFN6. See, e.g., Southern Saddlery Co., 90
N.LR.B 1205, 1206-1207;McLean-
Arkansas Lumber Co., 109 N.LLR.B. 1022,
1035-1038;Jacobs Manufacturing Co., 94
N.LRB. 1214, 1221-1222, enforced, 196
F.2d 680, and cases therein cited.

[6][7] The Board concluded that under ihe facts and
circumstances of this case the respondent was
guilty of an unfair labor practice in failing to bar-
gain in good faith. We see no reason to disturb the
findings of the Board. We do not hold, however,
that in every case in which economic inability is
raised as an argument against increased wages it
automatically follows that the employees are en-
titled to substantiating evidence. Each case must
turn upon its particular facts.™"The inquiry must
always be whether or not under the circumstances
of the particular case the *154 statutory obligation
to bargain in good faith has been met. Since we
conclude that there is support in the record for the
conclusion of the Board here that respondent did
not bargain in good faith, it was error for the Court
of Appeals to set aside the Board's order and deny
enforcement.

FN7. See National Labor Relations Board
v. American Nat. Ins. Co., 343 U.S. 395,
409-410, 72 S.Ct. 824, 832,96 L.Ed. 1027.

Reversed.

Mr. Justice FRANKFURTER, whom Mr. Justice
CLARK and Mr. Justice HARL AN join, concurring
in part and dissenting in part.

This case involves the nature of the duty to bargain
which the National Labor Relations Act imposes
upon employers and unions. Section 8(a)}(5) of the

Act makes it ‘an unfair labor practice for an em-
ployer * * * to refuse to bargain collectively with
the representatives of his employees,’” and s 8(b}3)
places a like duty upon the union vis-a -vis the em-
ployer. Section 8(d) provides that ‘to bargain col-
lectively is the performance of the mutual obliga-
tion of the employer and the representative of the
employees to meet at reasonable times and confer
in good faith with respect to wages, hours, and oth-
er terms and conditions of employment, or the ne-
gotiation of an agreement, or any question arising
thereunder, and the execution of a written contract
incorporating any agreement reached if requested
by either party, but such obligation does not compel
either party to agree to a proposal or reguire the
making of a concession * * *' 61 Stat. 142, 29
U.S.C. 5 158(d), 29 U.S.C.A. s 158(d).

**757 These sections obligate the parties to make
an honest effort to come to terms; they are required
to fry to reach an agreement in good faith. ‘Good
faith’ means more than merely going through the
motions of negotiating; it is inconsistent with a pre-
determined resolve not to budge from an initial pos-
ition. But it is not necessarily *155 incompatible
with stubbornness or even with what to an outsider
may seem unreasonableness. A determination of
good faith or of want of good faith normally can
rest only on an inference based upon more or less
persuasive manifestations of another's state of
mind. The previous relations of the parties, ante-
cedent events explaining behavior at the bargaining
table, and the course of negotiations constitute the
raw facts for reaching such a determination. The
appropriate inferences to be drawn from what is of-
ten confused and tangled testimony about all this
makes a finding of absence of good faith one for
the judgment of the Labor Board, unless the record
as a whole leaves such judgment without reason-
able foundation. See Universal Camera Corp. v.
National Labor Relations Board, 340 U.S. 474, 71
8.Ct. 456, 95 L.Ed. 456,

An examination of the Board's opinion and the pos-
ition taken by its counsel here disclose that the
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Board did not so conceive the issue of goof-faith
bargaining in this case. The totality of the conduct
of the negotiation was apparently deemed irrelevant
to the question; one fact alone disposed of the
case.‘(IDt is settled law (the Board concluded), that
when an employer seeks to justify the refusal of a
wage increase upon an economic basis, as did the
Respondent herein, good-faith bargaining under the
Act requires that upon request the employer attempt
to substantiate its economic position by reasonable
proef.” 110 N.L.R.B. 856.

This is to make a rule of law out of one item-even if
a weighty item-of the evidence. There is no warrant
for this. The Board found authority in National
Labor Relations Board v. Jacobs Mfg. Co., 2 Cir,
196 F.2d 680. That case presented a very different
situation. The Jacobs Company had engaged in a
course of conduct which the Board held to be a vi-
olation of s 8(a)(5). The Court of Appeals agreed
that in light of the whole record the Board was en-
titled to find that the employer had not bargained in
good faith. Its refusal to open its ‘books and sales
records' for union *¥156 perusal was only part of the
recalcitrant conduct and only one consideration in
establishing want of good faith.™!The unfair
labor practice was not founded on this refusal, and
the court's principal concern about the disclosure of
financial information was whether the Board's order
should be enforced in this respect. The court sus-
tained the Board's requirement for disclosure which
‘will be met if the respondent produces whatever
relevant information it has to indicate whether it
can or cannot afford to comply with the Union's de-
mands.” 196 F.2d 680, 684. This is a very far cry in-
deed from a ruling of law that failure to open a
company's books establishes lack of good faith.
Once good faith is **758 found wanting, the scope
of relief to be given by the Board is largely a ques-
tion of administrative discretion. Neither Jacobs nor
any other court of appeals' decision which has been
called to our attention supports the rule of law
which the Board has fashioned out of one thread
drawn from the whole fabric of the evidence in this
case.

EN1.'The respondent contends that it was
under no statutory duty to confer with the
union after the second meeting since all of
the issues had been fully explored and the
position of both parties expressed. Whether
this was true, however, was a question of
fact which the Board found adversely. to
the respondent. Since at both the meetings
the respondent took the position that dis-
cussion of wage increases would be futile
because it was financially unable to make
them, and since it refused to discuss the
other subjects at all, the Board was justi-
fied in concluding that the respondent had
refused to bargain in good faith as the Act
requires. Collective bargaining in compli-
ance with the statute requires more than
virtual insistence upon a prejudgment that
no agreement could be reached by means
of a discussion.’"National Labor Relations
Board v. Jacobs Mfg. Co., 2 Cir., 196 F.2d
680, at page 683.

The Labor Board itself has not always approached
‘good faith’ and the disclosure question in such a
mechanical fashion. In Southern Saddlery Co., 90
N.LR.B. 1205, the Board also found that s 8(a)(5)
*157 had been violated. But how differently the
Board there considered its function,

‘Bargaining in good faith is a duty on both sides to
enter into discussions with an open and fair mind
and a sincere purpose to find a basis for agreement
touching wages and hours and conditions of labor.
In applying this definition of good faith bargaining
to any situation, the Board examines the Respond-
ent's conduct as a whole for a clear indication as to
whether the latter has refused to bargain in good
faith, and the Board usually does not rely upon any
one factor as conclusive evidence that the Respond-
ent did not genuinely try to reach an agreement.’90
N.LR.B. 1205, 1206.

The Board found other factors in the Southern Sad-
dlery case. The employer had made no counter-
proposals or efforts to ‘compromise the contro-
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versy.” Compare, McLean-Arkansas Lumber Co.,
Inc., 109 N.L.R.B. 1022. Such specific evidence is
not indispensable, for a study of all the evidence in
a record may disclose a mood indicative of a de-
termination not to bargain. That is for the Board to
decide. It is a process of inference-drawing,
however, very different from the ultra vires law-
making of the Board in this case.

Since the Board applied the wrong standard here,
by ruling that Truitt's failure to supply financial in-
formation to the union constituted per se a refusal
to bargain in good faith, the case should be returned
to the Board. There is substantial evidence in the
record which indicates that Truitt tried to reach an
agreement. It offered a 2 1/2-cent wage increase, it
expressed willingness to discuss with the union ‘at
any time the problem of how our wages compare
with those of our competition,” and it continued
throughout to meet and discuss the controversy
with the union.

*158 Because the record is not conclusive as a mat-
ter of law, one way or the other, I cannot join in the
Court's disposition of the case. To reverse the Court
of Appeals without remanding the case to the Board
for further proceedings, implies that the Board
would have reached the same conclusion in apply-
ing the right rule of law that it did in applying a
wrong one. I cannot make such a forecast. I would
return the case to the Board so that it may apply the
relevant standard for determining ‘good faith.’

U.S. 1956.

National Labor Relations Bd. v. Truitt Mfg. Co.

351 U.S. 149, 76 S.Ct. 753, 38 LRR.M. (BNA)
2042, 100 L.Ed. 1027, 30 Lab.Cas. P 69,932
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Disneyland Park and Disney’s California Adventure,
Divisions of Walt Disney World Co. and Inter-
national Association of Bridge, Structural and
Ornamental Iron Workers, Local 433, AFL-
CIO. Case 21-CA-35222

September 13, 2007
DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN BATTISTA AND MEMBERS LIEBMAN AND
SCHAUMBER

On May 15, 2003, Administrative Law Judge Lana H.
Parke issued the attached decision. The Respondent filed
exceptions and a supporting brief and a reply brief. The
General Counsel filed exceptions and a supporting brief
and an answering brief.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its
authority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

The issue before the National Labor Relations Board is
whether Disneyland Park’, violated Section 8(a) (5) and
(1) of the Act by failing to provide the Union with re-
quested information. Having considered the decision and
record in light of the exceptions and briefs, we adopt, for
the reasons given by the judge, her dismissal of the alle-
gation that the Respondent unlawfully refused to permit
the Union to view subcontracts and files relating to the
bidding and performance of the subcontracts. We re-
verse the judge’s finding that the Respondent violated
Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by refusing to provide the Union
with the dates of each subcontract, nature of the work,
the dates upon which the work was performed, and the
name of the subcontractors performing unit work. Ac-
cordingly, we dismiss the complaint in its entirety,

ecutive Secretary, National Labor Relati

Background

The Respondent is engaged in the business of operat-
ing a retail hotel and two entertainment facilities: Dis-
neyland Park and Disney’s California Adventure. The
Respondent and Union have been parties to successive
collective-bargaining agreements covering job classifica-
tions involving primarily facility maintenance, repair,
and rehabilitation.  The latest collective-bargaining
agreement initially concerned only Disneyland Park and
was effective from March I, 1998 to February 28, 2003.
In 2000, as part of a deal to include the newly created
theme park, Disney’s California Adventure, the parties

' As discussed herein, although the complaint lists as Respondents
both Disneyland Park and Disney’s California Adventure, two divisions
of Walt Disney World Co., the contract provision at issue in conjunc-
tion with the alleged violation applies oaly to Disneyland Park.

350 NLRB No. 88

cxtended the existing collective-bargaining agreement to
February 28, 2005, Section 23 of the contract, applicable
only to Disneyland Park, provides, in pertinent part, that:

During the terms of the Agreement, the Employer
agrees that it will not subcontract work for the purpose
of evading its obligations under this Agreement. How-
ever, it is understood that the Employer shall have the
right to subcontract . . . , where the subcontracting of
work will not result in the termination or layoff, or the
failure to recall from layoff, any permanent employee
qualified and classified to do the work.

In a February 11, 2001 letter, the Union’s attorney,
David Rosenfeld, requested, in pertinent part, that the
Respondent provide the Union with information concetrn-
ing the Respondent’s subcontracts that were arguably
within the Union’s jurisdiction. In requesting the infor-
mation Rosenfeld wrote that “The Union has observed
that there have been a number of subcontracts within
Disneyland for work covered by the agreement within
Local 433’s jurisdiction, The Union is concerned that
such subcontracting may not comply with the terms of
the agreement.”

In a March 11, 2001 letter, Jennifer Larson, Respon-
dent’s labor/cast relations manager, answered that “Sec-
tion 23 of the Collective Bargaining Agreement specifi-
cally allows for subcontracting of any work . . . when it
will not result in the termination or layoff, or failure to
recall from layoff, any permanent employee qualified
and classified to do the work. [I]n light of the explicit
language of the contract, [the information request is]
apparently unnecessary . . . We would be happy to give
your request further consideration if you could explain
with some level of detail the relevance of this request

On March 22, 2001, Rosenfeld responded by stating
that the Union believed there had been an increase in
subcontracts.

On April 3, 2001, Larson responded, stating that there
had been no layoffs of Local 433 employees, and thus
the Respondent did not believe that a contractual issue
existed at that time. Larson offered to further consider
the request if the Union would explain the relevance of
the information to its role as the employees® collective-
bargaining representative.

On April 9, 2001, Rosenfeld replied: “At least one iron
worker has retired and has not been replaced. Addition-
ally, no new steward has been hired at the new theme
park. It is plain that Disneyland is reducing its work
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force and subeontracting additional work. It is for these
reasons the information is requested.”

On May 10, 2001, Larson informed the Union: “you
have failed to provide any reason which would lead to a
viable claim under our Collective Bargaining Agreement.
The Company has the explicit right to determine the
number of employees and how they are utilized to run
the business.” Larson informed Rosenfeld that the Re-
spondent did not believe it was obligated to furnish the
requested information.

On June 17, 2001, Rosenfeld responded: “Your letter
takes the position Disney will not provide any of the sub-
contracts, 1 want to make it plain we seek only subcon-
tracts that involve work arguably or possibly performed
by Iron Workers.”

The Judge’s Decision

The judge found that the Respondent violated Section
B(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by refusing to furnish the Un-
ion with a list of all subcontractors performing work
within the Union’s jurisdiction from January 1, 1999 to
present, the date of each subcontract, the nature of the
work, the name of the subcontractors, and the dates the
work was performed. The judge deemed this informa-
tion relevant to the Union’s efforts in determining
whether evidence exists of an attempt by the Respondent
to evade its contract obligations through the erosion of
unit work.

However, the judge found that the Respondent did not
violate Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by refusing to
allow the Union to review the subcontracts or any files
Respondent maintains regarding the bidding and per-
formance of the contracts. The judge found that this in-
formation did not appear to be of probable or potential
relevance to the question of whether the Respondent was
evading its bargaining obligation, and that neither the
Union’s counsel nor the General Counsel explained how
obtaining such information would assist the Union in
determining whether the Respondent violated the agree-
ment. The judge found that the Union’s generalized,
conclusory explanations of how the information would
assist the Union in evaluating whether the Respondent
violated the Act did not trigger an obligation on the Re-
spondent’s part to provide the information.

The Respondent’s Exceptions

The Respondent contends that the judge erred in find-
ing that it violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by refusing to
furnish the Union with a list of all subcontractors per-

2 As noted above, this case concerns only Disneyland Park and sec.
23 of the collective-bargaining agreement. Thus, the Respondent's
failure to hire a union steward for Disney's California Adventure is not
relevant,

forming work within the Union’s jurisdiction from Janu-
ary 1, 1999 to present, the date of each subcontract, the
nature of the work, the name of the subcontractors, and
the dates the work was performed. The Respondent ar-
gues that the information requested by the Union is ir-
relevant under the terms of the collective-bargaining
agreement, because the Respondent had the unfettered
right to subcontract so long as the subcontracting did not
result in the layoff or failure to recall from layoff a bar-
gaining unit member, The Respondent noted that no
member of the bargaining unit was laid off or denied
recall. Further, the Respondent asserts that it cannot be
found to have evaded the agreement because the agree-
ment does not contain any provision requiring the Re-
spondent to maintain its work force at a particular level,
require them to refrain from reducing the work force, or
otherwise protect the work force from reduction,

The Charging Party’s Exceptions

The Charging Party argues the judge erred in finding
that the Respondent did not violate Section 8(a)(5) and
(1) by failing to provide information concerning the bid-
ding process to the Unjon. The Charging Party contends
that the judge cannot reasonably find, on one hand, that
information relating to subcontracting is relevant, but on
the other hand, find that information relating to the bid-
ding precess and performance of the contracts is irrele-
vant, The Charging Party further asserts that information
relating to the bidding and performance of the contract is
relevant because it could help the Union convinge the
Respondent to limit or reduce subcontracting. Thus, the
Respondent was obligated to provide the information.

Applicable Law

An employer has the statutory obligation to provide,
on request, relevant information that the union needs for
the proper performance of its duties as collective-
bargaining representative. NLRB v. Truitt Mfg. Co., 351
U.S. 149, 152 (1956); NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385
U.S. 432, 435-436 (1967, Detroit Edison Ca. v. NLRB,
440 U.S. 301 (1979). This includes the decision to file or
process grievances. Beth Abraham Health Services, 332
NLRB 1234 (2000). Where the union’s request is for
information pertaining to employees in the bargaining
unit, that information is presumptively relevant and the
Respondent must provide the information. However,
where the information requested by the union is not pre-
sumptively relevant to the union’s performance as bar-
gaining representative, the burden is on the union to
demonstrate the relevance. Richmond Health Care, 332
NLRB 1304 (2000); Associated Ready Mixed Concrete,
Inc., 318 NLRB 318 (1995), enfd. 108 F. 3d 1182 (9th
Cir. 1997); Pfizer, Inc., 268 NLRB 916 (1984), enfd. 736
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F.2d 887 (7th Cir. 1985).> A union has satisfied its bur-
den when it demonstrates a reasonable belief, supported
by objective evidence, that the requested information is
relevant.  Knappton Maritime Corp., 292 NLRB 236,
238-239 (1988).*

Information about subcontracting agreements, even
those relating to bargaining unit employees’ terms and
conditions of employment, is not presumptively relevant.
Therefore, a union seeking such information must dem-
onstrate its relevance. Richmond Health Care, 332
NLRB 1304, 1305 fn. 1 {2000).

The Board uses a broad, discovery-type standard in de-
termining the relevance of requested information. Poten-
tial or probable relevance is sufficient to give rise to an
employer’s obligation to provide information. Id. To
demonstrate relevance, the General Counsel must present
evidence either (1) that the union demonstrated relevance
of the nonunit information,® or (2) that the relevance of
the information should have been apparent to the Re-
spondent under the circumstances. See Allison Co., 330
NLRB 1363, 1367 fn. 23 (2000); Brazos Electric Power
Cooperative, Inc., 241 NLRB 1016, 1018-1019 (1979),
enfd. in relevant part 615 F.2d 1100 (8th Cir. 1980). Ab-
sent such a showing, the employer is not obligated to
provide the requested information.

* Qur dissenting colleague takes issue with our reliance on Richmond
Health Care, supra and Associated Ready Mixed Concrete, Inc., supra,
noting that those cases, unlike the instant case, were summary judgment
cases involving newly certified unions. However, we cited those cases
solely for the principle, which our dissenting colleague recognizes as
current law, that a union must demonstrate the relevance of information
requests concerning nonunit information, such as information concemn-
ing subcontracting.

4 Our dissenting colteague contends that Knappron Maritime Corp,
is inapplicable to the instant cas¢ because there, the information request
concerned the existence of an alter ego relationship. She contends that
the Board applies a different standard to information requests concetn-
ing subcontracting than it does alter ego relationships. However, her
reliance on Southern California Gas Co., 344 NLRB No. 8 (2005}, is to
no avail. In that case, while the judge did discuss the need for an in-
formation request to have a “logical foundation™ and “factual basis[,]”
he also found that there was “[a]mple objective evidence™ to support
the union's information request, Id., slip op. at 6. In making this find-
ing, the judge referenced, inter alia, Shoppers Food Warehouse, 315
NLRB 258 (1994), a case, like Knappton, which concerned an alleged
alter ego relationship. In sum, the Board applies a uniform standard for
evaluating the relevance of information requests involving mattcrs
outside the bargaining unit, although it has sometimes articulated this
standard using slightly different language.

5 The union’s explanation of relevance must be made with some pre-
cision; and a generalized, conclusory cxplanation is insufficient to
trigger an obligation to supply information. JIsland Creek Coal, 202
NLRB 480, 490 fn. 19 (1989). Sec also Schrock Cabinet Co., 339
NLRB 182 fin, 6 (2003).

Discussion

We find that the Respondent was not obligated to pro-
vide the Union with the requested information about sub-
contracting. Insofar as the judge found no merit to the
allegations, we agree with her for the reason she cited
and those set forth below. However, contrary to the
judge’s conclusions on those allegations that she upheld,
we find that the Union failed to adequately support the
relevance of the information. As previously shown, the
requested information was not presumptively relevant
because it concerned subcontracts. Richmond Health
Care, supra. Furiher, the information’s relevance was
not apparcnt from the surrounding circumstances. Pur-
suant to section 23 of the collective-bargaining agree-
ment, the Respondent could subcontract, provided that
the subcontracting did not result in a termination, layoff
or a failure to recall unit employees from layoff. How-
ever, the Union made no such claim. The Union ex-
plained only that it “observed that there [have] been a
number of subcontracts within Disneyland for work cov-
ered by the agreement;” that it believed there had been an
increase in subcontracts; and that *“at least one iron
worker has retired and not been replaced [and] no new
steward has been hired at the theme park [thus] [i]t is
plain that Disneyland is reducing its workforce and sub-
contracting additional work.” We find these explana-
tions insufficient, under the circumstances, to explain the
televance of the requested subcontract information.
There was no ¢laim that any employee had been termi-
nated or laid off, and no claim that any employee, previ-
ously laid off, had not been recalled. Further, there was
no claim that any such action was caused by subcontract-
ing. Given that the unit appears to be sizeable,® the Re-
spondent’s failure to hire a replacement for one retiring
employee does not, by itself, reasonably suggest that the
Respondent was not honoring the collective-bargaining
agreement. In order to show the relevance of an informa-
tion request, a union must do more than cite a provision
of the collective-bargaining agreement. It must demon-
strate that the contract provision is related to the matter
about which information is sought, and that the matter is
within the union’s responsibilities as the collective-
bargaining representative. Here, it has not been shown
that the Union had a reasonable belief supported by ob-
jective evidence that the information sought was rele-
vant. Therefore, we find that the Union failed to meet its
burden. Compare Schrock Cabinet Co., supra (relevance
demonstrated).

& Although the exact size of the unit is not clear, the fact that the unit
is comprised of at least 53 job classifications suggests that this is a
large unit.



Pratt & Lambert, 319 NLRB 529, cited by the dissent,
actually supports our view. In that case, the union
showed that three employees had lost their jobs, and no
loss was due to retirement. By contrast, the Union here
showed one loss, and that was due to retirement. It was
not due to any of the events which would trigger an obli-
gation to furnish information, i.e., termination or layoff
or failure to recall.

We recognize that article 23 begins with a general sen-
tence prohibiting the Respondent from subcontracting
“for the purpose of evading its obligations under this
Agreement.” However, even assuming arguendo that
this sentence is to be read independently from the re-
mainder of the article, the Union never made the claim
that any subcontracting had that evasive purpose. Nor
were the surrounding circumstances such that the Re-
spondent should have been aware that this was the Un-
ion’s concern, and was its basis for requesting the infor-
mation.

Finally, the judge relied on Union business agent Mi-
chael Couch’s testimony, at the hearing, in finding that
the Union’s concern was that the Respondent was possi-
bly evading its agreement obligations, and that the Union
thereby demonstrated the relevance of the requested in-
formation. Michael Couch testified that he “noticed our
guys, our bargaining unit employees in the shop, were
sitting in the shop while non-union people were out there
doing the work they normally do, which, to me, is a vio-
lation of the agreement.” That testimony suggests, at
most, that work was being subcontracted to nonunionized
employers. It does not suggest, or even claim, that sub-
contracting caused terminations, layoffs, or nonrecalls.
Nor does the testimony show that any subcentracting had
an evasive purpose. Couch’s testimony cannot serve to
establish that the Unicn provided to the Respondent a
sufficient factual basis to establish relevance at the time
the information request was made.” Furthermore, rele-
vance was not shown for the first time at the hearing. As
mentioned above, Couch’s testimony did not explain
how the requested information would be relevant to sup-
port an arguable violation of the contract.

We do not suggest that the union, in order to acquire
the information must prove a breach of contract. We
simply conclude that the union must claim that a specific
provision of the contract is being breached and must set
forth at least some facts to support that claim, For exam-
ple, if the Union here had clarified that employees had
been laid off, and if it had backed up that claim with

T Allison Co., supra at 1367 fn, 23 (2000); Brazes, 241 NLRB at
10181019 (1979). We do not pass on whether such a belated request,
if supported, would trigger an obligation to supply the information,
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facts showing the layoffs, a different result may well
have been obtained.®

ORDER

The complaint is dismissed.
Dated, Washington, D.C. September 13, 2007

Robert J. Battista, Chairman

Peter C. Schaumber, Member

(SEAL) NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

MEMBER LIEBMAN, dissenting.

In finding that the Union was not entitled to the sub-
contracting information it requested, the majority reaches
a result that is at odds with well-settled principles. Here,
the parties’ collective-bargaining agreement includes a
provision on subcontracting, and the Union invoked that
provision in secking information, citing facts that
prompted its concern that the agreement was being vio-
lated. No more was required to trigger the Respondent’s
duty to disclose the requested information. The major-
ity’s approach here would effectively require proof that
the Union had a meritorious grievance. But that is not
the law.

I

A liberal, “discovery-type standard” poverns informa-
tion-request cases under Section 8{a)(5) of the Act.
NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 U.8. 432, 437 (1967).
As the majority acknowledges, this standard applies even
in subcontracting cases, where the relevance of the in-
formation must be established, not presumed.' All that is
required is a showing of a “probability that the desired
information was relevant, and that it would be of use to
the union in carrying out its statutory duties and respon-
sibilities.” Id. Thus, the “union’s burden is not an ex-
ceptionally heavy one.” SBC Midwest, 346 NLRB No. §,

¥ Because the Union failed to back up its claim, we disagree with our
dissenting colleague’s statement that “the Union's factual assertions
regarding the apparent erosion of the bargaining unit, coupled with its
reference to the contract terms concerning subcontracting,” satisfied its
burden.

! Contrary to the Board*s current approach, there are good reasons to
treat subcontracting information as presumptively relevant, particularly
where the information is sought in connection with a potential or pend-
ing contractual gricvance. Subcontracting is a mandatory subject of
bargaining under the Act. Fibreboard Paper Products Corp. v. NLRB,
379 U.S. 203, 213-214 (1964). And when a collective-bargaining
agreement specifically addresses subcontracting, the union’s efforts to
police the agreement obviously implicate its representational function.
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slip op. at 3 (2005) (finding an 8(a)(5) violation involv-
ing request for subcontracting information).

The asserted need to police compliance with a contract
provision on subcontracting can establish the relevance
of subcontracting-related information, apart from any
showing that an actual grievance has or would have
merit. See, e.p., Schrock Cabiner Co., 339 NLRB at 182
fn. 6 (2003) (union established relevance by advising
employer that it requested information “for the purpose
of assessing potential grievances pursuant to the parties’
existing coliective-bargaining agreement™).> Only where
a union has “no basis for even suspecting that the [em-
ployer] might be in breach” of a contractual subcontract-
ing provision will the Beard reject a claim for subcon-
tracting information. Defroit Edison Co., 314 NLRB
1273, 1275 (1994).°

1L

The facts here are straightforward. Over the course of
more than 4 months, the Union requested, and the Re-
spondent declined to provide, information relating to the
Respondent’s subcontracting practices.

With respect to Disneyland Park, article 23 of the
agreement provides that the Respondent “will not sub-
contract work for the purpose of evading its obligations
under this Agreement,” but permits contracting under
specified circumstances. Those circumstances include
where subcontracting will not result in the termination,
layoff, or failure to recall employees. With respect to
Disney’s California Adventure, the agreement granted
the Respondent the “unrestricted right to subcontract or
outsource work,” except where the subcontracting is
permanent and results in layoffs.

Beginning with a letter dated February 11, 2001, the
Union stated that it had observed “a number of subcon-
tracts within Disneyland for work covered by the agree-
ment within Local 433’s jurisdiction™ and expressed its
“concern that such subcontracting may not comply with
the terms of the agreement.” The Union asked the Re-
spondent to provide a list of all subcontractors that per-

! Indeed, in Meeker Coaperative Light & Power Assn,, 341 NLRB
616, 618 (2004), the Board found an 8(a)(5) violation even where the
collective-bargaining agreement had no specific provision related to
subconwacting. See also W-L Molding Co., 272 NLRB 1239, 1240~
1241 (1984) (finding violation despite contractual provision reciting
that “nothing in this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted to
restrict the right of the Company to subcontract production,” based on
asserted attempt by employer to cvade striker-recall agreement).

* As one leading treatise observes, “a union is entitled to information
regarding the subcontracting of work even though the employer insists
it is complying with the contract requirements.” 1 American Bar Asso-
ciation, Section of Labor & Employment Law, The Developing Labor
Law 936 (5th ed, John E. Higgins Jr., ed. 2006) (footnote collecting
cases omitted),

formed work within its jurisdiction since January 1,
1999, the date of the subcontract, the nature of the work,
the dates on which it was performed, and the name of the
subcontractor, The Union also sought to review the sub-
contracts and associated files regarding the bidding and
performance of those contracts.

Describing the task of gathering more than 3 years of
data as “onerous” and “oppressive,” the Respondent
asked the Union for a more detailed explanation of rele-
vance, as well as whether the Union was claiming that
subcontraciing had resulted in the loss of work for per-
manent employees.

The Union modified its request, asking only for the
past year’s subcontracts and stating it had observed that
the number of subcontracts had increased. The Respon-
dent replied that the contract allowed for subcontracting
absent a layoff, and repeated its request for a more de-
tailed explanation of relevance. The Union asserted that
the Respondent was reducing its work force and pointed
to the Respondent’s failure to replace retired iron worker
Richard Halashak, and to the fact that no steward had
been hired for the California Adventure theme park. The
Respondent countered that not replacing one employee is
not a contract violation and characterized the request for
the past year's subcontracting history as unreasonable.
The Union answered that it was asking only for subcon-
tracts affecting work within its jurisdiction. The Re-
spondent did not reply.

At the hearing in this case, the Union reiterated the ba-
sis for the information requests. Business agent Couch
testified that “our guys, our bargaining unit employees in
the shop, were sitting in the shop while non-union people
were out there doing the work they normally do, which,
10 me, is a viclation of the agreement.”

1L

The majority holds that the “Union failed to ade-
quately explain the relevance of the requested informa-
tion.” In the majority’s words:

In order to show the relevance of an information re-
quest, a union must do more than cite a provision of the
collective-bargaining agreement. It must demonstrate
that the contract provision is related to the matter about
which the information is sought, and that the matter is
within the union’s responsibilities as the collective-
bargaining representative.

But this test, as the majority articulates it, was met. In
seeking information about subcontracting, the Union
cited a contract provision that governed subcontracting;
the provision obviously was “related to the matter about
which the information [was] sought.” Policing the con-
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tract, in turn, obviousl;/ was part of the Union’s represen-
tative responsibilities.” This is not a case, then, like fs-
land Creek Coal, supra fi. 4, where the union merely
offers a “generalized, conclusionary explanation,” such
as the need “to intelligently and effectively represent the
bargaining unit employees,” with no mention of a possi-
ble contract violation at all. 292 NLRB at 490 fn. 19,

The real crux of the majority’s position is its view that
the Union failed to point to facts that “reasonably suggest
that the Respondent was not honoring the collective-
bargaining agreement” and that the Union did not dem-
onstrate “a reasonable belief supported by objective evi-
dence that the information sought was relevant.” The
majority interprets the agreement to prohibit subcontract-
ing only where it results in a layoff or a failure to recall
employees from layoff, and observes that the Union cited
no actual layoff or failure to recall. As for the agree-
ment’s prohibition against subcontracting by the Re-
spondent “for the purpose of evading its obligations un-
der this Agreement,” the majority asserts that the Union
neither claimed that subcontracting had that purpose,
“nor were the surrounding circumstances such that the
Respondent should have been aware that this was the
Union’s concern.”

In apparently demanding reliable, objective evidence
that an actual viclation of the contract has occurred be-
Jore information must be provided, the majority sets the
bar for the Union higher than our precedent supports.’
See, €.g., W-L Molding Co., supra, 272 NLRB at 1240
{actual instances of contract violations not required, nor
must information that triggered information request be
“accurate, nonhearsay, or even ultimately reliable”™). See
also Public Service Electric & Gas Co., 323 NLRB 1182,
1186-1188 (1997}, enfd. 157 F.3d 222 (3d Cir. 1998).

* “Without question, information concerning subcontracting of wnit
work is relevant to a union’s performance of its representational func-
tions." Isfand Creek Coal Co., 292 NLRB 480, 490 f.. 18 (1989}, enfd.
899 F.2d 12222 (6th Cir. 1990). See, e.g., AK Steel Corp., 324 NLRB
173, 184 (1997, Ohio Power Co., 216 NLRB 987, 992 (1975), enfd.
531 F.2d 1381 (6th Cir. 1976).

* To begin, the majority errs in apparently relying on Knappion
Maritime Corp., 292 NLRB 236 (1988), to assert that a union must
demonstrate a “reasonable belief supported by objective evidence for
requesting . . . information” that is not presumptively relevant,
Knappton involved not subcontracting information, sought in connec-
tion with the possible violation of a contractual provision, but rather
information related to the existence of an alter ego operation. The
majority cites no Board decision to support its suggestion that this
standard applies in cases involving information requests concerning
subcontracting, where a union in good faith invokes a contractual pro-
vision on that subject. Compare Southern California Gas Co., 344
NLRB No. 8, slip op. at 5-6 (2005) where the Board adopted a judge's
decision invoking a differently articulated standard (holding that infor-
mation request concerning subcontractors, based on safety concerns,
must be supported by “logical foundation™ and “factua basis™).

Here, the Union pointed not only to a relevant contrac-
tual provision, but also to facts prompting its concern
that the contract might have been violated: an apparent
increase in the volume of subcontracts and a possible
decrease of two bargaining-unit positions (the Respon-
dent’s failure to replace a retired employee and its failure
to hire a steward), coupled with the union business
agent’s observation that unit employees seemed to be
idle while subcontractors were busy with bargaining-unit
work.® Given the contract’s broad prohibition against
subcontracting “for the purpose of evading . . . obliga-
tions” under the agreement, this factual basis was suffi-
cient to support the Union’s information request, even
without an actual layoff.” In the circumstances of this
case, the Union’s factual assertions regarding the appar-
ent erosion of the bargaining unit, coupled with its refer-
ence to the contract terms concerning subconfracting,
fully satisfied the discovery-type standard that governs
here.

The Board’s precedent is instructive on this point. In
Pratt & Lambert, Inc., 319 NLRB 529 (1995), the union
sought subcontracting information to police compliance
with a contract provision that permitted subcontracting of
maintenance work, provided it did not “result in the dis-
placement” or “lead[] to layoff” of any maintenance em-
ployees. The Board rejected the employer’s contention
that the information sought was irrelevant because there
had been no displacement or layoff of employees, citing
the union’s demonstration that the maintenance depart-
ment “had lost approximately three employees over the
course of a year and that those employees have not been
replaced.” 319 NLRB at 529 fn. 1, The Board observed
that the evidence did not establish that the lost employees
had retired, and that the interpretation of the contract
provision was “not an issue that is properly before the
Board. Id. The Union’s showing here is comparable.
While it may not suffice to demonstrate a violation of the
parties’ agreement, it is encugh to trigger the Respon-
dent’s duty to disclose the requested information.

Tellingly, the majoerity relies on no case law that genu-
inely supports its position. In passing, the majority cites

€ The majority “assum[es] arguendo that relevance can be explained
for the first time at the hearing.” Board precedent, however, has long
established this point, See, e.g., Brazos Electric Power Cooperative,
241 NLRE 1016, 1019 (1979), enfd. in relevant part 615 F.2d 1100 (5th
Cir, 1980). See also Contract Fiooring Systems, 344 NLRB No. 117,
slip op. at 1 (2005},

? That provision sharply distinguishes this case from Comnecticus
Yankee Atomic Power Co., 317 NLRB 1266 (1995), where the contract
prohibited only subcontracting that resulted in “loss of continuity of
employment or epportunities for permanent promotions™ for unit em-
ployees and the number of unit positions during the relevant period had
substantially increased.
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clearly inapposite summary judgment decisions.® The
majority also cites Schrock Cabiner Company, supra, but
there the Board found a violation of Section 8(a)(5), rely-
ing on the union’s assertion that it sought subcontracting
information to consider potential grievances pursuant to
the collective-bargaining agreement. 339 NLRB at 182
fn. 6. The Board reiterated that the “potential merits of
any particular grievances” are immaterial. Id.

V.

A union surely is not required to wait for the substan-
tial erosion of bargaining unit work before it may prop-
erly seek information necessary to police compliance
with a collective-bargaining agreement’s subcontracting
provision. Vigilant monitoring—what the Union sought
to practice here—is consistent with the duty of fair repre-
sentation.

Contrary to the majority, I would order the Respondent
to provide the Union with the subcontracting information
that it requested: a list of subcontractors performing
work, the date of each subcontract, when the work was
performed, and the name of the subcontractor. The judge
correctly ordered production of this information. 1 would
go further, however, in ordering the Respondent to per-
mit the Union to review the subcontracts themselves and
the Respondent’s files regarding the bidding of subcon-
tracts and their performance. That remedy is necessary
to enable the Union to grasp the scope, scale, and nature
of the

Respondent’s subcontracting practices, and their con-
gruity with the collective-bargaining agreement.’

Dated, Washington, D.C. September 13, 2007

Wilma B. Licbman, Member

NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

 The majority’s reliance on Richmond Health Care, 332 NLRB
1304 (2000}, in which the Board granted in part and denied in part the
General Counsel’s motion for summary judgment, is misplaced. In that
case, the Board found that before bargaining for an initial contract, an
employer unlawfully failed to provide a newly-certified union with a
variety of information regarding the unit employees, but remanded for
hearing the issue of whether information concerning subcontracting
was unlawfully withheld. Most significantly, there was no contract in
existence between the partics. Associated Ready Mixed Concrete, 318
WNLRE 318 (1995), cnfd. 108 F.3d 1182 (%ih Cir. 1997), also cited by
the majority, invelved the same situation, In this case by contrast, the
Respondent and the Union were parties to a collective-bargaining
agreement and the Union’s infonmation request related directly to the
Respondent’s compliance with a subcontracting provision.

? See, e.g., SBC Midwest, supra, 346 NLRB No. 8, slip op. at 4.

Alan L. Wu, Atty., for the General Counsel,

Jeffrey K. Brown, Atty., of Los Angeles, California, for the
Respondent.

Tom B. Fox, Director Labor Relations Disneyland Resort, of
Anaheim, California, for the Respondent,

David A. Rosenfeld, Atty., of Oakland, California, for the Char-
ging Party.

DECISION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE

LANA H. PARKE, Administrative Law Judge. This case was
tried in Los Angeles, California, on March 31, 2003. Pursuant
to charges filed by International Association of Bridge, Struc-
tural and Ornamental Iron Workers, Local 433, AFL-CIO (the
Union}, the Regional Director for Region 21 of the National
Labor Relations Board (the Board) issued a complaint and no-
tice of hearing (the complaint) on October 9, 2002." The com-
plaint alleges that Disneyland Park and Disney’s California
Adventure, Divisions of Walt Disney World Co. (Respondent})
violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the National Labor Relations
Act (the Act) by failing and refusing to furnish the Union with
information necessary for, and relevant to, the Union’s collec-
tive-bargaining representation obligations.

On the entire record and after considering the briefs filed by
the General Counsel and Respondent and the oral argument of
the Charging Party, I make the following

FmDINGS OF FACT
1. JURISDICTION

Respondent, a Delaware corporation, with its primary offices
and amusement park located in Anaheim, California, is en-
gaged in the business of operating retail hotel and entertainment
facilities. During the representative 12-month period preceding
the complaint, Respondent derived gross revenues in excess of
$500,000 and purchased and received at its amusement park
goods valued in excess of $50,000 directly from points ocutside
the State of California. Respondent admits and I find that it is
an employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Sec-
tion 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act and that the Union is a labor
organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.?

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES
A. The Collective-Bargaining Relationship

Respondent and the Union have been parties to successive
collective-bargaining agreement, the latest of which is effective
by its terms from March 1, 1998, to February 28, 2005 (the
agreement). The agreement covers at least 53 separate work
classifications associated, primarily, with facility maintenance,
repair, and rehabilitation work.> The agreement was initially
negotiated to run untit February 28, 2003. In 2000, the parties
agreed that the terms of the agreement would cover, as modi-

! All dates are in 2002 vnless otherwise indicated.

? Where not otherwise noted, the findings herein are based on the
pleadings, the stipulations of counsel, and/or unchallenged credible
evidence.

* The elassifications are listed in schedule A, subsection V of the
agreement.



8 DECISIONS OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

fied, a newly constructed and conjoining amusement park, Dis-
ney's California Adventure. The agreement was extended by 2
years; the modifications are reflected in the addendum to the
agreement and apply only to Disney’s California Adventure.
The provisions relating to subcontracting are as follows:

SECTION 23
SUBCONTRACTING

During the terms of the Agreement, the Employer
agrees that it will not subcontract work for the purpose of
evading its obligations under this Agreement. However, it
is understood and agreed that the Employer shall have the
right to subcontract when: (a) where such work is required
to be sublet 1o maintain a legitimate manufacturers® war-
ranty; or (b) where the subcontracting of work will not re-
sult in the termination or layoff, or the failure to recall
from layoff, any permanent employee qualified and classi-
fied to do the work; or (¢) where the employees of the
Employer lack the skills or qualifications or the Employer
does not possess the requisite equipment for carrying out
the work; or (d) where because of size, complexity or time
of completion it is impractical or uneconomical to do the
work with Employer equipment and personnel.’

Modifications applicable to Disney’s California Adventure
read:

Section 23, Subcontracting

The 1998 Maintenance Agreement at Disneyland is
hereby modified to reflect that the prohibitions pertaining
to subcontracting set forth in Section 23 shall have no
force or effect and shall be replaced as follows:

A. With respect to any operation as set forth in Section
2 (Recognitions), B.1 and/or B.2., of this Agreement, the
Employer shall have the unrestricted right to subcontract
or outsource this work or operation even if at some date
subsequent to the effective date of this Agreement the
Employer chooses to operate any of said facilities or op-
erations under the terms of this Agreement.

B. l.a. With respect to any operation initially operated
by the Employer under the terms of this Agreement, the
Employer shall have the unrestricted right to subcontract
or outsource this work/operation. but will discuss with the
vnion the impact of such a decision prior to engaging in
such subcontracting or outsourcing of work. Within thirty
(30) days of the final selection of a vendor, the Company
will provide the union with a description of the work to be
performed by the vendor and the reasons that the Com-
pany is planning on subcontracting or cutsourcing work.
The union may then propose alternative or additional ven-
dors for consideration by the Company prior to the final
vendor selection being made. However, the final selection
of the vendor shall be at the discretion of the Company.

b, Where the decision of the Company to outsource
and/or subcontract work on a permanent basis, as outlined
in paragraph B. 1 above, results in the layoff of Regular

* This subcontracting provision applies only to the amusement park
Disneyland.

employees, the Company agrees to subcontract or out-
source exclusively to “union contractors . . .

2. The process described . . . above shall apply only to
work that is being permanently subcontracted or out-
sourced and not to any work that is being subcontracted or
outsourced on a temporary or seasonal basis, as well as for
special events or one time events. ., For this type of work
or operation, the Company shall have the unrestricted right
to subcontract or outsource to the vendor of its choice.’

B. The Union’s Request for Information

In [ate 2001, at a meeting between Respondent and the Craft
Maintenance Council, Mr, Couch expressed the Union’s con-
cern with Respondent’s subcontracting of bargaining-unit work.
In early 2002, while present at the amusement park, Mr. Couch
saw employees of two companies, Welding Unlimited and Par-
rot Construction, performing work he believed to be within the
bargaining-unit parameters. Mr. Couch could not find the
companies’ names on a list of employers signatory to collec-
tive-bargaining agreements with the Union. He believed the
two companies to be “nonunion™ based on that and on union
steward reports® At that time. and at all relevant times. no
employee covered by the agreement’s unit description was on
layoft.’

By letter dated February 11, the Union’s attorney, David A,
Rosenfeld (Mr. Rosenfeld), wrote to Respondent in pertinent
part as follows:

... The Union has observed that there [have] been a number
of subcontracts within Disneyland for work covered by the
agreement within Local 433’s jurisdiction. The Union is con-
cemned that such subcontracting may not comply with the
terms of the agreement.

Please provide a hist of all subcontractors which have per-
formed work within Local 433’s jurisdiction for the period of
January 1, 1999 to present. For each such subcontract, pro-
vide the date of the subcontract, the nature of the work, the
dates upon which it was performed and the name of the sub-
contractor.

These provisions ar¢ modifications of the agreement made in 2000
and apply only to Disney’s California Adventure,

® Union steward, Thomas G. Martin, confinned he had told Mr.
Couch thut employees of Welding Unlimited and a Parcot Construction
subcontractor had performed work that fell within the agreement unit
description and that the employees had said they were not members of
the Union.

" As necessary, Respondent hires temporary employees to supple-
ment the work force as in a recent renovation of the Matterhom ride,
At the conclusion of the work, Respondent issucs such employees a
notice that states “end of assignment.” The agrcement provides, at
Section 21 C. 4, that such temporary employees “shall not be utilized
longer than 180 consecutive calendar days as a Casual-Temporary
employee” without being converted to regular employee status, No
party contends that such temporary employees arc “laid of* when their
work assignments end,
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Please allow us an opportunity to review the subcontracts and
any files which Disneyland maintains regarding the bidding
of that contract and the performance of the contract,

By letter dated March 11, Jennifer L. Larson (Ms. Latson)
labor/cast relations manager for Respondent answered, in perti-
nent part, as follows:

As you know, Section 23 of the Collective Bargaining
Agreement specifically allows for subcontracting of any work
under the circumstances listed. In fact, one of the terms of
that section provides that subcontracting is allowed when “it
will not result in the termination or layoff, or the failure fo re-
call from layoff, any permanent employee qualified and clas-
sified to do the work.”” Is the Union claiming that this condi-
tion exists? Attempting to gather information regarding sub-
contracts over a three plus year period would be quite oner-
ous, appressive and, in light of the explicit language of the
contract, apparently unnecessary. In any event, we would be
happy to give your request further consideration if you could
explain with some level of detail the relevance of this request,
Additionally, if you could explain why you want us to go
back for more than three years, especially since any conceiv-
able grievance must be filed within 15 days of the occurrence
or it is waived, it would be greatly appreciated.

The following exchange of letters, in pertinent part, then fol-
lowed:

Letter dated March 22, Mr. Rosenfeld to Ms. Larson:

This will acknowledge receipt of your letter of March 11.
Why [don’t] you begin by giving thig information for the last
vear. The reason for this is that the Union believes that there
has been an increase in subcontracts.,

Letter dated April 3, Ms. Larson to Mr. Rosenfeld:

As ] explained in my previous letter, Section 23 of the Collec-
tive Bargaining Agreement specifically altows for subcon-
tracting of any work under the circumstances listed. As there
have been no layoffs of employees represented by the Iron
Workers Local 433, we do not believe that this is an issue at
this time. As I also explained in my previous letter, we would
be happy to give your request further consideration if you
could explain with some level of detail the relevance of this
request, especially since any conceivable grievance must be
filed within 15 days of the occurrence or it is waived.

Letter dated April 9, Mr. Rosenfeld to Ms. Larson:

At least one iron worker has retired and has not been replaced.
That ironworker is Richard Halashack, Additionally, no new
steward has been hired at the new theme park. It is plain that
Disneyland is reducing its work force and subcontracting ad-
ditional work. It is for these reasons that the information is
requested.

Letter dated May 10, Mr. Rosenfeld to Ms. Larson:

Enclosed is my letter of April 9, to which I have not had a re-
sponse. Please respond.

Letter dated April 10, Ms. Larson to Mr. Rosenfeld:

Despite requesting some level of detail in your request, which
is broad, burdensome to gather, and apparently unnecessary,
you have failed to provide any reason which would lead to a
viable claim under our Collective Bargaining Agreement.
The Company has the explicit right to detérmine the number
of employees and how they are utilized to mun the business,
You mention only one employee, who retired, and was not
replaced. Such a determination is clearly within our rights
under Section 6 of our Collective Bargaining Agreement,
Management’s Rights and is not a violation of Section 23,
Subcontracting.

The Company sees no reasonable claim that would necessitate
providing a list of all subcontractors, the date of the subcon-
tract, the nature of the work, the dates upon which it was per-
formed and the name of the subcontractor, as requested.

Letter dated Iunc 17, Mr. Rosenfeld to Ms. Larson:

Your letter of May 10 takes the position that Disneyland will
not provide any of the subcontracts. I want to make it plain
that we are seeking only subcontracts that involve work ar-
guably or possibly performed by Iron Workers.

At the hearing, Michael Couch (Mr. Couch), union business
agent, testified that he noticed that “our guys, our bargaining
unit employees in the shop, were sitting in the shop while non-
union people were out there doing the work they normally do,
which, to me, is a violation of the agreement.”

C. Positions of the Parties

The General Counsel contends the Union needs the re-
quested subcontracting information to perform its contract ad-
ministration duties. The request, which relates to bargaining
unit employees, meets the Board’s broad discovery-type rele-
vance standard, Since the information sought concerns subcon-
tractors who employ nonbargaining unit employees, Board law
requires a special showing of relevance, which burden the Gen-
eral Counsel argues the Union has satisfied by showing a rea-
sonable belief supported by objective evidence that a violation
of the agreement may have occurred and that the requested
information would be useful in determining whether grounds
exist for filing a grievance or unfair labor practice charges.

The Union argues that Respondent has not shown the request
for information is burdensome® that the Union has never
waived its right to such information, and that the information is
relevant to the following appropriate concerns: (1} as a basis to
approach Respondent with reasons why they should not sub-
contract, (2) to determine whether the subcontracts comply with
the subcontracting provisions of the agrcement, (3) to deter-
mine whether the contract has been complied with, and (4) to
explore potential grievances in such contractual areas as the
parties® intent to promote harmeny between employer and em-
ployees, the restriction of subcontracting for the purpose of
evading the agreement, and the application of the new construc-

& Although Respondent’s reply letters to the Union speak of the bur-
densome nature of the request, the evidence did not establish onerous-
ness, and Respondent does not defend its refusal to give the information
on that basis.
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tion provisions of Section 31.° The Union also argues that it is
entitled to the information as it has never “waived [its] rights to
bargain over subcontracting, either the decision or the effects,
during the life of the agreement.”

Respondent’s position is that where, as here, requested in-
formation is not presumptively relevant, a requesting union
must make a “precise” showing of relevance. According to
Respondent, the only acceptable showing of relevance must
relate to the subcontracting’s direct effect on unit employment.
Relying on The Detroit Edison Co.. 314 NLRB 1273 (1994),
Respondent argues that unless the Union can show or colorably
claim that Respondent’s subcontracting resulted in the contrac-
tually prohibited “termination or layoff, or failure to recall from
layoff” of a bargaining-unit member, it has not established the
necessary threshold relevance to justify its request for informa-
tion.

D. Discussion

Under Section 8(a)(5) and 8(d) of the Act, an employer must
furnish a union with requested relevant information to enable it
to represent employees effectively in administering and polic-
ing an existing collective-bargaining agreement. NLRB v. Acme
Industrial Co., 385 U.S. 4232, 435-436 (1967), A-Plus Roaf-
ing, Inc., 295 NLRB 967, 970 {1989) enfd. NLRB v. A-Plus
Rogfing, Inc., 39 F. 3d 1410 (9th Cir. 1994). Information that
relates directly to the terms and conditions of emptoyment of
the employees represented by a union is presumptively relevant
as is information necessary for processing grievances under a
collective-bargaining agreement, including that necessary to
decide whether to proceed with a grievance or arbitration.

As the General Counsel concedes, information about subcon-
tracting agreements, even those relating to bargaining unit em-
ployees' terms and conditions of cmployment, does not consti-
tute presumptively relevant information. Excel Rehabilitations
& Health Center, 336 NLRB No. 10, fn. 1 (2001} (not reported
in Board volumes);, Richmond Health Care, 332 NLRB 1304
(2000); Detroit Auto Auction, Inc., 324 NLRB No. 143
(1997);(not reported in Board volumes); Associated Ready
Mixed Concrete, Inc., 318 NLRB 318 (1995). Therefore, “a
union seeking such information must demonstrate its rele-
vance.” Excel Rehabilitations and Health Center, supra at fn. 1,
and cascs cited therein. This requirement is not unduly restric-
tive. A union meed only meet a liberal “discovery-type stan-
dard,” that is, a “probability that the desired information is
relevant, and that it would be of use to the union in carrying out
its statutory duties and responsibilities.” NLRB v. dcme Indus-
tries Ca., supra at 437; Pittston Coal Group, Inc., 334 NLRB
690, at stip op. 3 (2001) and cases cited therein. 1f the standard
is met, the information must be produced. Super Valu Stores,
279 NLRB 22 (1986). In determining relevance, the Board
recognizes that “a union’s representation responsibilities. . .
encompass, ameng other things, administration of the current
contract and continual monitoring of any threatened incursions
on the work being performed by bargaining unit members,”

? Section 21 provides for new construction pay to unit employees in-
volved in the “building or erecting of totally new rides or new build-
ings...”

Detroit Edison Co., supra at 1275. A union must explicate the
relevance of requested information with some precision,'® and a
generalized conclusionary explanation of relevance is “insuffi-
cient to trigger an obligation to supply information that is on its
face not presumptively relevant.” fsland Creek Coal Co., 292
NLRB 480, 490 fn, 19 (1989), enfd. 899 F.2d 1222 (6th Cir.
1990), citations omitted. However, a union need not demon-
strate accuracy or reliability of facts relied on to support its
request and must only show that it has a reasonable basis to
suspect a breach of the collective-bargaining agreement. See
Crowley Marine Services, Inc., 329 NLRB 1054, 1060 (1999).

Respondent points out that the agreement’s subcontracting
provisions give Respondent a nearly unfettered right to subcon-
tract work that could be performed by unit employees except
where the subcontracting would result in the termination or
layoff, or the failure to recall from layoff, any qualified unit
employee.’ Respondent is correct that the agreement clearly
establishes the conditions under which it may subcontract,
Despite the Union’s argument that it has not waived its right to
bargain over subcontracting during the life of the agreement,
there is no midterm reopener provision in the agreement; there-
fore, the agreement forecloses renegotiation of subcontracting
issues during its term. Further, there is no evidence that any of
the subcontracting conditions were unmet. However, those
facts do not dispose of the issue herein. Information requested
to enable a union to assess whether an employer’s subcentract-
ing has violated a collective-bargaining agreement and to assist
a union in deciding whether to pursue a grievance is relevant to
a union's representative responsibilities. AK Steel Corp., 324
NLRB 173, 184 (1997); Island Creek Coal Co.. supra. Here,
the Union specified the relevance of the requested information
in its April 9 letter to Respondent by expressing its concern that
Respondent’s subcontracting might be an impermissible at-
tempt to reduce the unit work force.

In Section 23 of the agreement, Respondent “agrees it will
not subcontract work for the purpose of evading its obligations
under this Agreement.” While the Union did not note that spe-
cific provision in its demands for information, the Union stated
in its original, February 11, request that it was “concemed that
[Respondent’s] subcontracting may not comply with the terms
of the agreement,” The Union thereafler noted in its April 9
letter that one unit member had retired and had not been re-
placed and that no new steward had been hired at Disney’s
California Adventure. Essentially, the Union charged Respon-
dent with reducing the unit work force through attrition or re-
fusal to hire and supplanting unit employees with subcontract
workers. The Union could reasonably view such conduct as an
attempt by Respondent to erode unit work and, thereby, to
evade its obligations under the agreement.'> Whether the Un-

' Westinghouse Electric Corp., 239 NLRB 106, 107 (1978).

" As to Disney's California Adventure, Respondent may subcontract
even if doing so results in the layoff of unit employees. Certain notifi-
cation and permanent subcontracting provisions, as set forth in the
agreement addendum, are not at issue herein.

12 Although not communicated to Respondent, Mr. Couch belicved
that Respondent inexplicably under-utilized unit employees while sub-
contractors performed customary unit work and that the subcontractors
were “nonunion,” The Union apparently relied on Mr. Couch’s per-



fon’s view is accurate or persuasive is unimportant. Crowley
Marine Services, Inc., supra, 1062, Respondent’s failure to
replace a retired unit employee, to hire a new steward, or to
utilize unit employees, while not proving or even red flagging
any contract infraction, are factors that elevate the Union’s
concern above frivolous suspicion or a mere fishing expedi-
tion.” Therefore, the Union is entitled to explore more fully
the question of whether Respondent secks to evade its agree-
ment obligations. Respondent’s argument that the information
request can only be relevant if unit employee layoff or recall
denial exists ignores the Union’s legitimate concern that Re-
spondent may be attempting to evade the agreement by reduc-
ing the work force.

In light of the Board’s liberal discovery-type standard for
evaluating information relevancy, the Union has asserted an
arguably valid reason for seeking, in the first part of its infor-
mation request, the following information: a list of all subcon-
tractors performing work within the Union’s jurisdiction for the
period of January 1, 1999, to present, the date of each subcon-
tract, the nature of the work, when the work was performed,
and the name of the subcontractor, Detroit Edison, supra, re-
lied on by Respondent does not dictate a different result. The
union in that case sought subcontracting cost data, which had
no apparent connection to contractual provisions, and the union
conceded that the data would not support any claim of a con-
tract breach. While the reasoning of Detroit Edison applies to
the second half of the Union’s request, as set forth below, it
does not apply to the first half. Information regarding subcon-
tractors performing work within the Union’s jurisdiction, along
with subcontract dates, the nature of the work, when the work
was performed, and the name of the subcontractor may rea-
sonably be reviewed and analyzed to determine whether evi-
dence exists of an attempt to evade contract obligations through
erosion of unit work.'" The Union need not show that the re-
quested information will be dispositive of the unit work-erosion
question but only that it is relevant. I conclude that the Union
has demonstrated the requisite relevance and is entitled to the
above information

The latter part of the Union’s information request, i.e., the
request to review Respondent’s subcontracts and files regarding
the bidding and the performance of the subcontract, requires
further analysis. This latter information does not appear to be

of “probable or potential relevance™?® to the question of

ceptions in formulating the information request, and his perceptions
support the Unton’s position that it was concerned about Respondent's
possible evasion of agreement obligations.

1 Thus, cases such as Detroit Edison Co., supra {teasons not logi-
cally or rationally related to the information requested), or Uniontown
County Market, 326 NLRB 1069 (1998) (failure to meet burden of
showing a reasonable objective basis for request), do not apply.

¥ The instant situation is different from that in Connecticut Yankee
Atomic Power Co, 317 NLRB 1266, 1268 (1995), where the Board
rejected a union’s argument it had a reasonable belief in and concem
about “potential erosion of unit work,” neting such a belief was unsup-
ported by the evidence, which showed bargaining unit positions had
substantially increased. Here, no evidence has been produced to refute
the Union's asserted belief.

¥ Detroit Edison Co., supra at 1274.

whether Respondent was evading its agreement obligations or
to any of the other possible contract violations suggested by the
Union. In its correspondence with Respondent, the Union ex-
plained, variously, that it needed the information because the
subcontracting might not comply with the terms of the agree-
ment, that the Union believed there had been an increase in
subcontracts, and, as discussed above, that the Union suspected
Respondent was reducing its work force. [n his oral argument,
Respondent’s counsel specified potential contract violations the
Union wished to consider such as the provision relating to the
parties’ intent to promote harmony between employer and em-
ployees and the application of the new-construction provisions
of Section 31 of the agreement. Neither the Union’s counsel
nor counsel for the General Counsel explained how obtaining
information concerning subcontract bidding and performance
would assist the Union in determining if any agreement viola-
tion had occurred or in formulating a grievance. The Union’s
generalized and conclusionary explanations of its bases do not
trigger an obligation to provide this information. Island Creek
Coal Co., supra.’ ¢ In the circumstances, I conclude the Union
has not demonstrated any logical foundation or factual basis for
requesting information regarding subcontract bidding or per-
formance.

Accordingly, I find the General Counsel met his burden of
proving that Respondent violated Sections 8(a)(5) and (1) of the
Act by failing to furnish the following information to the Un-
jon: a list of all subcontractors performing work within the
Unien’s jurisdiction for the period of January 1, 1999, to pre-
sent, the date of each subcontract, the nature of the work, when
the work was performed, and the name of the subcontractor. I
further find that the General Counsel failed to meet his burden
of proving that Respondent violated Sections 8(a)}(5) and (1) of
the Act by failing to furnish the following information to the
Union: review of subcontracts and any files which Respondent
maintains regarding the bidding of said subcontracts and their
performance. Therefore, I recommend the complaint be dis-
missed as to this latter request for information.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Respondent is an employer engaged in commerce within
the meaning of Section 2(2), {6}, and (7} of the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the meaning of
Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. Employees employed in the classifications listed in
Schedule A, subsection V of the agreement between Respon-
dent and the Union constitute an appropriate unit for the pur-
poses of collective bargaining within the meaning of Section
9(b) of the Act.

4. At all times matenal, the Union has been, and is now, the
exclusive collective-bargaining representative of Respondent’s
employees in the above unit within the meaning of Section 9(b}
of the Act.

5. By refusing to provide the following information to the
Union on and after February 11, 2002, Respondent has engaged

' The Union’s argument that it has never waived its right to seck
subcontracting information begs the question. Irrespective of waiver,
the Union must demonstrate relevance,
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in unfair laber practice conduct within the meaning of Section
8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act: a list of all subcontractors perform-
ing work within the Union’s jurisdiction for the period of Janu-
ary 1, 1999, to present, the date of each subcontract, the nature
of the work, when the work was performed, and the name of
the subcontractor,

6. The aforesaid unfair labor practices affect commerce
within the meaning of Section 2(6) and (7) of the Act.

7. Respondent has not otherwise violated the Act.

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in certain un-
fair labor practices, 1 find that it must be ordered to cease and
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectu-
ate the policies of the Act.

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on the
entite record, [ issue the following recommended'”

ORDER

The Respondent, Disneyland Park and Disney’s California
Adventure, Divisions of Walt Disney World Co., Anaheim,
California, its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Refusing to bargain collectively with the Union by refus-
ing to furnish the Union with the following information: a list
of all subcontractors performing work within the Union’s juris-
diction for the period of January 1, 1999, to present, the date of
each subcontract, the nature of the work, when the work was
performed, and the name of the subcontractor.

(b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restraining,
or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to effec-
tuate the policies of the Act:

{2) On request, bargain collectively with the Union by fur-
nishing it with the following information: a list of all subcon-
tractors performing work within the Union’s jurisdiction for the
pericd of January 1, 1999, to present, the date of each subcon-
tract, the nature of the work, when the work was performed,
and the name of the subcontractor.

(b) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at its fa-
cility in Anaheim, California, copies of the attached notice
marked “Appendix.”'® Copies of the notice, on forms provided
by the Regional Director for Region 21 after being signed by

Y If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. 102.46 of the
Board’s Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and recom-
mended Order shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be
adopted by the Board and all objections to them shall be deemed
waived for all purposes.

'8 If this Order is enforeed by a Judgment of the United States Court
of Appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the
National Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the
National Labor Relations Board.”
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the Respendent's authorized representative, shall be posted by
the Respondent immediately upon receipt and maintained for
60 consecutive days in conspicuous places including all places
where notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable
steps shall be taken by the Respondent to ensure that the notices
are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. In
the event that, during the pendency of these proceedings, the
Respondent has gone out of business or closed the facility in-
volved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and
mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current em-
ployees and former employees employed by the Respondent at
any time since February 11, 2002.

(c) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with the
Regional Director a swom certification of a responsible official
on a form provided by the Region attesting to the steps that the
Respondent has taken to comply.

Dated, San Francisco, California, May 15, 2003

APPENDIX

NOTICE TC EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The Naticnal Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated Federal labor law and has ordered us to post and cbey this
nofice,

FEDERAL LAW GIVES YOU THE RIGHT TO

Form, join, or assist a union

Choose representatives to bargain with us on your be-
half

Act together with other employees for your benefit and
protection

Choose not to engage in any of these protected activi-
ties

WE WILL NOT do anything that interferes with these rights.
More particularly,

WE WILL NOT refuse to bargain collectively with the Interna-
tional Association of Bridge, Structural and Ormamental Iron
Workers, Local 433, AFL-CIO (the Unicn) by refusing to fur-
nish the Union with information necessary and relevant to the
Union’s performance of its responsibilities in representing em-
ployees.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with, re-
strain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
you by Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL, on request, bargain collectively with the Union by
furnishing the Union with the first part of the information re-
quested in its letter of February 11, 2002,

DiSNEYLAND PARK AND DISNEY'S (CALIFORNIA
ADVENTURE, DIVISION OF WALT DISNEY WORLD CO.
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Woodland Clinic, a Medical Practice Foundation and
Engineers and Scientists of California, MEBA,
AFL-CIO. Cases 20-CA-25680-3, 20-CA-26011,
20-CA-26987-1, and 20—CA--26987-2

July 12, 2000
DECISION AND ORDER

BY CHAIRMAN TRUESDALE AND MEMBERS
HURTGEN AND BRAME

Upon charges filed' by Engineers and Scientists of Cali-
fornia, MEBA, AFL—CIO (the Union), the General Coun-
sel of the National Labor Relations Board issued an
amended consclidated complaint (complaint} on March
26, 1997, against Woodland Clinic, a Medical Practice
Foundation (the Respondent) alleging that it had engaged
in certain unfair labor practices affecting commetce within
the meaning of Section 8{(a)(5) and (1} and Section 2(6)
and (7) of the National Labor Relations Act. Copies of the
charges and complaint were served on the Respondent.
The Respondent filed a timely answer denying the com-
mission of any unfair labor practices.

On July 10, 1997, the Union, the Respondent, and the
General Counsel filed with the Board a Joint Motion to
Transfer Proceedings to the Board and Stipulation of
Facts. They agreed that the stipulation, with attached ex-
hibits, constitutes the entire record in this case, and that no
oral testimony is necessary or desired by any of the par-
ties. The parties waived a hearing, the making of findings
of fact and conclusions of law, and the issuance of a deci-
sion by an administrative faw judge. On October 7, 1997,
the Executive Secretary, by direction of the Board, issued
an order approving the stipulation, and transferring the
proceeding to the Board. The Respondent and the General
Counsel thereafier filed briefs.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its
authority in this proceeding to a three-member panel.

On the entire record in the case, the Board makes the
following findings of fact and conclusions of law and is-
sues the following remedy and Order.

FINDINGS OF FACT
[. JURISDICTION

The Respendent, a corporation with an office and place
of business in Woodland, California is engaged in the op-
eration of a medical clinic providing outpatient medical
care. The Respondent, in the course and conduct of its
business operations during the calendar year 1995, derived
gross revenues in excess of $250,000, and purchased and
received at its Woodland, California facility products,
goods, and materials valued in excess of $5000, which
criginated from points located outside the State of Califor-

' The charge and amended charge in Case 20-CA-25680-3 were
filed, respectively, on October 18, 1993, and January 11, 1994. The
charge and amended charge in Case 20-CA-26011 were filed, respec-
tively, on April 4 and May 27, 1994. The charges in Case 20-CA-
269871 and in Case 20-CA-26987-2 were filed on October 25, 1995.

331 NLRB No. 91

nia. The parties have stipulated, and we find, that the Re-
spondent is an employer engaged in commerce within the
meaning of Section 2(2}, (6), and (7) of the Act, and is a
health care institution within the meaning of Section 2(14)
of the Act. The parties have further stipulated, and we
find, that the Union is a labor organization within the
meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

II. ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES

The issues presented are whether the Respondent vio-
Jated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by: (1) failing to
timely comply with the Union’s request for the home tele-
phone numbers of unit employees; (2} failing to bargain
with the Union regarding the effects of the transfer of the
bargaining unit work performed by the materials manage-
ment department to a nenunion facility; (3) insisting to
impasse on a dues-checkoff proposal that allegedly dis-
criminated against bargaining unit members by charging a
d-percent service fee;® (4) insisting to impasse on a pay-
for-performance wage system that allegedly provided for
direct dealing between the Respondent and unit employ-
ees;’ (5) in the absence of a lawful impasse, implementing
the pay-for-performance wage system and discontinuing
paying employees according to the wage step provisions
of the expired collective-bargaining agreements; and (6) in
the absence of a lawful impasse, discontinuing subsidies
for Jazzercise classes attended by unit employees, discon-
tinuing free coffee service for unit employees, reducing
the cafeteria discount available to unit employees, and
changing its heaith insurance carrier, thereby causing
changes in the health insurance benefits to unit employees,
For the reasons set forth below, we find that the Respon-
dent violated the Act as alleged in numbers (1) and (2)
listed above. We further find, as set forth below, that the
remaining allegations must be dismissed.

A. Factual Background

Since about 1980, the Union has been recognized by the
Respondent as the exclusive representative of the follow-
ing two appropriate bargaining units of the Respondent’s
employees:

All employees in the Respondent’s Laboratory and X-
Ray Departments in Woodland and Davis, California,
and the Laboratory and X-Ray Departments at Wood-
land Memorial Hospital, which are operated by the
Clinic; excluding Transcribers and the Receptionist in
the X-Ray Department, the Histotechnicians and Cy-
totechnologists in the Laboratory, confidential em-
ployees, guards and supervisors as defined in the Act.

[Unit 1)

% The complaint alleges that this proposed confract clause is prohib-
ited by Sec. 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act.

* The complaint alleges that this is a permissive subject of bargain-
ing.
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All registered nurses, medical assistants, receptionists,
licensed vocational nurses, librarians and clerical em-
ployees in the Respondent’s Clinic in Woodland and
Davis, California, excluding X-Ray employees, op-
tometrists, physicians, audiologists, guards and super-
visors as defined in the Act [Unit I1.]

This recognition has been embedied in successive col-
lective-bargaining agreements for each unit. The most
recent agreements for each unit were effective from Au-
gust 9, 1991, to August 8, 1993. At all times since at least
1980, the Union, by virtue of Section 9{a) of the Act, has
been the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of
the employees in each unit.

From about June 3 to October 18, 1993, the Respon-
dent and the Union engaged in negotiations for collective-
bargaining agreements to succeed the agreements for both
bargaining units set to expire on August 8. Between June
3 and October 18, the parties met and bargained on 14
dates, 9 of which occurred prior to the expiration of the
agreements, and exchanged numerous wrilten proposals.
About October 8, the Respondent presented to the Union
its last, best, and final contract offer (final offer) for units I
and II, which included its proposals discussed, infra, re-
garding dues-checkoff and the pay-for-performance wage
system, At the close of the October 8 bargaining session,
the parties had in fact met and bargained concerning their
contract proposals, had not reached agreement on the
terms of successor collective-bargaining agreesments for
units I and II, and had conciuded the prospect of reaching
an agreement on that date. The Respondent, adhering to
its final offer for each unit, declared impasse at the close
of the October 8 bargaining session. By letter dated Octo-
ber 18, the Respondent’s counsel notified the Union of its
intent to implement, and in fact implemented, certain pro-
visions of its final offers, as further discussed below. The
General Counsel and the Union contend that the October 8
impasse was not a valid impasse, because it was tainted by
the Respondent’s allegedly unlawful bargaining conduct
concerning its dues-checkoff and pay-for-performance
proposals.

Subsequently, the parties engaged in additional bargain-
ing on the following topics more fully discussed below:
(1) discontinuation of subsidies for Jazzercise classes at-
tended by unit employees; (2) reduction in the cafeteria
discount available to unit employees; (3) discontinuation
of free coffee service for unit employees; and {4) change
of the Respondent’s health insurance carrier and resulting
modification of certain health benefits available to unit
employees. All the complaint allegations arise from the
course of the parties” negotiations for successor collective-
bargaining agreements for units 1 and II, and the parties’
subsequent bargaining on the latter four topics. We shall
address each complaint allegation in furn.

1 All dates hereafter are in 1993 unless otherwise noted,

B. Discussion
1. The Union requests information

Approximately midway through the course of the par-
ties’ negotiations, the Union requested by letter dated Au-
gust 16 that the Respondent provide it with the home tele-
phone number of every employee in units 1 and II. The
Union explained in its letter that it desired this information
in order to “fulfill its obligation to communicate” with unit
employees. The Respondent did not respond to the Un-
ion’s August 16 letter until September 7. By letter of that
date, the Respondent informed the Union that “[w]e are
reviewing your request and will provide you with informa-
tion in the near future.” The Respondent on that same date
distributed a memorandum to all unit employees notifying
them of the Union’s information request, and stating in
part that “the law requires us to comply with the Union’s
request . . . . We will be sending this information to [the
Union] on September 24, 1993,”

The Respondent failed to do so, however. Rather, at the
parties’ bargaining session held on September 30, the par-
ties discussed the Union’s information request, including
the Respondent’s asserted concerns about matters raised
by several employees. The Union inquired as to the nature
of the concerns. The Respondent declined to specify these
concerns. The Respondent instead proposed that it would
distribute the Union’s literature directly to employees.
The Union rejected this proposal. The Respondent then
agreed to provide the Union with the requested informa-
tion. The Respondent did not, however, furnish the re-
quested information to the Union until about October 7.
At the parties” bargaining session held the very next day,
October 8, the Respondent presented its final contract of-
fers for units | and 11, and declared impasse.

The complaint alleges, and we find, that the Respondent
violated Section 8{a)(5) and (1) by failing to timely com-
ply with the Union's information request. It is axiomatic
that an employer has an obligation to furnish to a union, on
request, information that is relevant and necessary to its
role as the exclusive bargaining representative of unit em-
ployees. Defroit Edison Co. v. NLRB, 440 U.S, 301, 303
(1979); and NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 U.S. 432,
435-436 (1967). An employer must respond to the infor-
mation request in a timely manner. Leland Stanford Jun-
ior University, 307 NLRB 75, 80 (1992). An unreason-
able delay in furnishing such information is as much of a
violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act as a refusal to fur-
nish the information at all. Valley Imventory Service, 295
NLRB 1163, 1166 (1989).

The parties in this proceeding have stipulated that the
information requested by the Union is necessary for, and
relevant to, the Union’s performance of its duties as the
exclusive collective-bargaining representative of units [
and II. An employer has a duty to timely furnish such
information absent presentation of a valid defense. See,
e.g., Mary Thompson Hospital, 296 NLRB 1245 fn. 1
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(1989), enfd. 943 F.2d 741 (7th Cir. 1991); and NLRB v.
Hiinois-American Water Co., 933 F.2d 1368, 1377-1378
(7th Cir. 1991), enfg. 296 NLRB 715 (1989). The Re-
spondent appears to argue that it delayed in providing the
information to protect the privacy interests of its employ-
ees. The burden is on the employer to demonstrate a “le-
gitimate and substantial” confidentiality interest. Pennsyl-
vania Power Co., 301 NLRB 1104, 1105 (1991), The
Respondent has failed to sustain that burden.

The Respondent declined to specify, when queried by
the Union, the nature of any concerns regarding the re-
quested information. Nor has the Respondent identified in
its brief any evidence in the record that supports its as-
serted claim of confidentiality. A claim of confidentiality
is an insufficient defense to a request for relevant informa-
tion where, as here, there was no evidence presented to
support such a claim. Engineers Local 12, 237 NLRB
1556, 1559 fn. 9 (1978); Hinois-American Water Co., 296
NLRB at 724.

We further find without merit the Respondent’s conten-
tion that its delay of approximately 7 weeks in providing
the requested information was minimal, and is thus insuf-
ficient to support an unfair labor practice finding. Absent
evidence justifying an employer’s delay in furnishing a
union with relevant information, such a delay will consti-
tute a violation of Section 8(a)(5) inasmuch “[a]s the Un-
ion was entitled to the information at the time it made its
initial request, [and] it was Respondent’s duty to furnish it
as promptly as possible.” Pennco, Inc., 212 NLRB 677,
678 (1974). The Respondent has presented no evidence
justifying its delay in furnishing the requested information.
The Respondent indeed acknowledged on September 7
that it was required by law to furnish the information. Yet
it failed to do so until one additional month had elapsed,
only ! day before the Respondent declared impasse in
bargaining. This sequence of events severely diminished
the usefulness to the Union, at the time it was provided, of
the requested information. The duty to furnish informa-
tion requires a reasonable good-faith effort to respond to
the request as promptly as circumstances allow. Good Life
Beverage Co., 312 NLRB 1060, 1062 fi. 9 (1993). The
Respondent’s failure to do so is violative of Section
8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act.’

2, The Respendent closes its materi-
als management department

Prior to about November 5, the Respondent maintained
a materials management department, which provided mi-

* See, e.g., Bundy Corp., 292 NLRB 671 (1989) (2-1/2-month delay
unlawful); Ergineers Local 12, supra, 237 NLRB at 1559 (6-week
delay unlawful).

The Respondent has filed a motion to strike portions of the brief by
the General Counsel conceming the purported eifect on the parties’
contract negotiations of the Respondent’s failure to timely provide the
requested information. [t is unnecessary to pass on the Respondent's
motion to strike, because the General Counsel’s reply to the motion
withdraws the portions of his brief at issue.

nor maintenance and repairs to the Respondent’s physical
plant. Prior to October 18, two employees were working
in that department, Burnic Row and Clyde Cook. Em-
ployees Row and Cook were covered by the unit II collec-
tive-bargaining agreement, About November 35, the Re-
spondent closed the materials management depariment,
and transferred the bargaining unit work of that depart-
ment to the maintenance department at the adjacent hospi-
tal, which is a nonunion facility. The Respondent there-
upon laid off and/or terminated employee Row, and laid
off employee Cook. The Respondent caused Cook to be
transferred to the hospital, resulting in the reduction of his
pension benefits,

The complaint alleges that the Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to afford the Union an op-
portunity to bargain with respect to the effects of the trans-
fer of unit Il work outside the bargaining unit. We find,
for the reasons set forth below, that the Respondent vio-
lated the Act as alleged.®

The Respondent notified the Union by letter dated Oc-
tober 18 that it intended to lay off employees Row and
Cook as of November 5. By letter dated October 21, the
Union asked the Respondent to bargain regarding the im-
pact of the proposed layoffs. The Union further requested
that the Respondent provide it with certain information
concerning the proposed layoffs. The Respondent, by let-
ter dated October 27, provided the Union with the re-
quested information. The Respondent did not, however,
make any response to the Union’s request to bargain re-
garding the impact of the proposed layoffs. The Respon-
dent indeed provided no response to the Union’s request
for effects bargaining, until a letter to the Union dated No-
vember 2, merely 3 days before the Respondent’s stated
November 5 deadline for the layoff of employees Row and
Cook. The Respondent’s November 2 letter inquired of
the Unicn whether it desired to conduct the effects bar-
gaining separately or as part of the parties’ overall negotia-
tions. The Respondent on November 5 closed the materi-
als management department, laid off employee Cook, and
laid off and/or terminated employee Row.

It is well established that an employer is obligated under
Section 8(a)(5) to bargain in a meaningful manner and at a
meaningful time over the effects on employees of a deci-
sion to close part of its operations. First National Mainte-
nance Corp. v. NLRB, 452 U.S. 666, 681-682 (1981); and
Metropolitan Teletronics, 279 NLRB 957, 959 (1986),
enfd. mem. 819 F.2d 1130 (2d Cir. 1987). The Respon-
dent’s dilatory response to the Union’s request for effects
bargaining precluded such bargaining from ocourring at a
meaningful time: before the closure was implemented.
The Respondent failed to respond to the Union’s October
21 request to bargain until its letter dated November 2,

“ The General Counsel does not contend that the Respondent had an
obligation to bargain about the decision to close the materials manage-
ment department and transfer the unit work of that department to a
nenunion facility.
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even though the Respondent had notified the Union that it
would implement the decision on November 5. The Un-
ion’s right to discuss with the Respondent how the closure
of the department impacts unit employees requires that
bargaining occur sufficiently before actual implementation
s0 that the Union is not confronted at the bargaining table
with a fait accompli. Willamette Tug & Barge Co., 300
NLRB 282, 283 (1990). The Respondent’s belated No-
vember 2 offer to bargain was no substitute for a timely
response to the Union’s effects bargaining request, which
would have permiited good-faith bargaining to occur be-
fore the actual closure of the department on November 3,
Metropolitan Teletronics, supra, 279 NLRB at 959. The
parties have indeed stipulated that the Respondent trans-
ferred the materials management department unit work
“without affording the Union an opportunity te bargain
with Respondent over such conduct, and/or the effects
thereof, in advance of such actions.” (Emphasis added.)
We accordingly find that the Respondent violated Section
8(a)(5) and (1) by failing to bargain with the Union regard-
ing the effects of the transfer of the bargaining unit work
performed by the materials management department to a
nonunion facikity.”

3. The Respondent’s dues-checkoff proposal

The parties’ previous collective-bargaining agreements
for units 1 and 1I contained provisions fer dues checkoff.
The parties during their negotiations exchanged various
proposals to replace the expired provisions. The Union
proposed, inter alia, maintaining the existing dues-
checkoff system. The Respondent on October 6 proposed
a new dues-checkoff system under which the Respondent

? We find meritless the Respondent's assertion that substantial ef-
fects bargaining took place via correspondence between the parties.
Much of that correspondence occurred after the closure of the depart-
ment on November 5, which confirms our finding that the Respondent
unlawfully failed to bargain at a meaningful time. We also reject the
Respondent’s contention that it was permitted to layoff or terminate
Row and Cook by the terms of the management functions clause, and
assignment of work clause, that it implemented on October 18, We
have reviewed the terms of each of the clauses, and neither clause
watves the Union’s right to effects bargaining. Challenge-Cook Bros.,
282 NLRB 21, 27 {1986), enfd. 843 F.2d 230 (6th Cir. 1988); and Borg
Warner Corp., 245 NLRB 513, 518-519 (1979), enfd. 663 F.2d 666
(6th Cir. 1981), cert. denied 457 U.S. 1105 (1982).

Member Hurtgen notes that the contract expired on August 3. Thus,
although he disagrees that a “waiver” analysis is appropriate, he con-
curs in the result.

Member Brame notes that the management-rights and assignment-
of-work clauses on which the Respondent relies were not contained in
the expired agreement but instead were unilaterally implemented by the
Respondent en October 18. The Respondent does not contend that its
failure to engage in effects bargaining was authorized by any provision
of the expired agreement. In these circumstances, Member Brame
agrees with his colleagues that the unilaterally implemented manage-
ment-rights and assignment-of-work clauses do not justify the Respon-
dent’s failure to engage in effects bargaining, He finds it unnecessary
to pass on whether the language in the disputed clauses could, under
other circumstances, be read to “waive™ the Union's right to effects
bargaining, or on whether such clauses, if included in the expired
agreement, could be found to survive that agreement’s expiration.

would check off union dues and remit the dues to the Un-
ion, but would charge the Union a service fee of “8% of
such monies collected in consideration of service ren-
dered.” The Respondent subsequently reduced its pro-
posed service fee to 4 percent.

The parties have stipulated that they discussed their
various proposals on dues checkoff at their bargaining
sessions, No agreement was reached, however, and the 4-
percent service fee proposal was included in the Respon-
dent’s final offers for units I and II, presented at the Octo-
ber 8 bargaining session. The Respondent, adhering to its
final offers, declared impasse at the close of that session.
By letter dated October 18, the Respondent notified the
Union of its intent to implement, and in fact implemented,
certain provisions of its final offer. The service fee pro-
posals were not implemented by the Respondent, however,
because it had ceased checking off union dues on expira-
tion of the prior collective-bargaining agreements. On
January 10, 1994, the service fee proposal for both units
was withdrawn by the Respondent entirely.

The parties have stipulated that the Respondent has not
charged any type of service fee for the payroll deductions
it makes for employee contributions to the United Way
charitable organization, health and pension trust funds,
401(k) plans, credit union, or wage garnishment. The
General Counsel contends that the Respondent has vio-
lated the Act by insisting to impasse on a payroll deduc-
tion proposal that discriminates between union dues de-
ductions and deductions for these other entities, by charg-
ing a service fee for the former but not the latter.

The complaint thus alleges that the Respondent’s dues-
checkoft proposal would have discriminated against unit
employees because they were represented by the Union,
which is prohibited by Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act,
and thus the Respondent violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1)
by bargaining to impasse over the proposal.

We find that the General Counsel has not proven that
Respondent insisted to impasse on a payroll deduction
proposal which discriminated against union dues deduc-
tions. In order to prove discrimination it must be shown
that the Respondent charges a service fee for union dues
checkoff, while allowing payroll deductions without a
service fee for similar, nonemployee entities, other than
the Union. See Lucile Salter Packard Children’s Hospital
v. NLRB, 97 F.3d 583, 587 (D.C. Cir. 1996), enfg. 318
NLRB 433 (1995). In contrast, an employer does not dis-
criminate against union activity by charging a service fee
for union dues checkoff while making without charge pay-
roll deductions that are related to an employer’s fringe
benefits package offered to its employees, such as health
care insurance plans or tax sheltered annuity plans. Pay-
roll deductions for such employee fringe benefits are inte-
grally related to an employer’s necessary business func-
tions and are not deemed evidence of discrimination. See
Lucile Salter Packard Children’s Hospital v. NLRE, supra,
97 F.3d at 588-589; Price Chopper v. NLRB, 163 F.3d
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1177, 1183 (10th Cir. 1998), enfg. 325 NLRB 186 (1997).
The parties’ stipulation shows that the payroll deductions
for employee health and pension trust funds, and employee
401(k) plans are without dispute intimately related to the
fringe benefits that the Respondent offers its employees,
and thus do not constitute evidence of discrimination.
With respect to the credit union, the Respondent argues
that it is also an employee fringe benefit, not an “outside
business.” The General Counsel, who has the burden of
proving discrimination, has failed to adduce any evidence
to the contrary. Therefore, we find that the payroll deduc-
tions for the credit union similarly do not constitute evi-
dence of discrimination.

The Respondent’s payroll deduction for the United Way
charitable organization also does not establish discrimina-
tion. The Board has long recognized that an employer
does not discriminate against union-related solicitation by
permitting a small number of isolated charitable or “be-
neficent” acts as a narrow exXception to an absolute no-
solicitation rule, See, e.g., Hammary Mfg. Corp., 265
NLRB 57 fn. 4 (1982); Emerson Electric Co., 187 NLRB
294 fn. 2 (1970). The Respondent by proposing a dues-
checkoff service fee likewise has not discriminated against
deductions for union dues, merely because it permits one
single instance of charitable payroll deduction without a
service fee. We further observe that the Respondent is
tequired by law to carry out court-ordered wage garnish-
ment, and the Respondent’s fulfillment of that obligation
does not constitute discrimination. In sum, the General
Counsel has not shown that the Respondent has sought to
charge a service fee for union dues checkoff, while at the
same time permitting deductions without a service fee for
similar entities. We accordingly find without merit the
complaint allegation that the Respondent’s dues-checkoff
proposal is unfawfully discriminatory. The Respondent
was thus privileged to bargain to impasse over its dues-
checkoff proposal, a mandatory subject of bargaining,’ and
we shall dismiss the complaint allegation that it viclated
Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by doing so.”

4. The Respondent’s pay-for-performance wage proposal

The complaint further alieges that the Respondent vio-
lated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) by insisting to impasse on a
pay-for-performance wage system which provided for
direct dealing between the Respondent and the unit em-
ployees and, in the absence of a lawful impasse, imple-
menting the pay-for-performance wage system, including

& See, e.g., CJC Holdings, 320 NLRB 1041, 1046 (1996), affd. mem.
110 F.3d 794 (5th Cir. 1997).

® The General Counsel additionally argues in his brief that the Re-
spondent’s allegedly discriminatory dues-checkofT proposal is evidence
of bad-faith bargaining. See Alba-Waldensian, Inc., 167 NLRB 695,
716-717 (1967), enfd, 404 F.2d 1370 (4th Cir. 1968); and Atlas Metal
Pares Co., 252 NLRB 203, 220 (1980), enf. denied in pertinent part 660
F.2d 304 (7th Cir. 1981). In light of our finding that the General Coun-
sel has not shown discrimination, however, we find no merit in the
General Counsel’s contention,

the discontinuation of paying employees according to the
wage step increase provisions of the expired collective-
bargaining agreements. For the reasons set forth below,
we shall dismiss these complaint allegations.

The parties’ expired collective-bargaining agreements
for units 1 and II provided employecs, by job classifica-
tion, with annual wage step increases during each of the
first 4 years of their employment. The expired agreements
did not provide for any pay-for-performance or merit pay
increases. During the parties’ negotiations for successor
contracts, the Respondent advanced several different ver-
sions of a pay-for-performance wage proposal.

The Union was adamant in its objection to the Respon-
dent having the freedom to implement any pay-for-
performance wage system that did not provide the Union
an opportunity to engage in collective bargaining concern-
ing the criteria, procedures, timing, and amounts of wage
increases under such system. In response, the Respondent
proposed to set parameters which addressed the Union’s
concerns, and modified its proposal to state that any pay-
for-performance system shall meet certain minimum con-
ditions concerning the appeal and evaluation process.

The Union also complained during negotiations that the
Respondent’s proposed pay-for-performance plan was
“undefined,” because the Respondent did not have a final,
detailed proposal to present. In response, the Respondent
meodified its pay-for-performance proposal to require that
the Respondent bargain with the Union prior to implemen-
tation of any pay-for-performance system.

About October 8, the Respondent presented to the Un-
ion its final offer for units I and 11, which included the
following pay-for-performance wage proposal:

(A) The wage rates set forth in Appendix A are
minimums, The [Respondent] may pay any amount
in excess of those minimums in its sole discretion.
The [Respondent] shall have the right to develop and
implement a pay-for-performance system of its own
choosing . . . . Prior to implementing such pay-for-
perfermance system the [Respondent] shall notify the
Union of the proposed system and, upon request, meet
and confer with the Union prior to implementation no
later than three (3) weeks prior to the proposed im-
plementation date.

(B) Any pay-for-performance system implemented
shall meet the following minimum conditions:

4. Any employee who disagrees with his perform-
ance evaluation may file an appeal in writing within
10 days of notification of the results of the evaluation.
While the appeal process shall be determined by the
[Respondent], it will provide for the right to be heard
and the employee may be accompanied by an em-
ployee of his/her own choosing. The final decision
regarding the performance review and the pay rate
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shall be with the [Respondent], and shall not be sub-
ject to the grievance and arbitration procedures herein,
(C) Scale—see attached minimum scales.
During the term of this Agreement, no employee on
the payroll as of October 8, 1993 shall have his‘her
rate of pay reduced below his/her October 8, 1993
level, so long as the employee remains in their [sic]
same classification.

The Respondent insisted as a condition of reaching col-
lective-bargaining agreements for units I and I, that the
Union agree to the Respondent’s final contract offer,
which included the pay-for-performance proposal.

As set forth above, the Respondent declared impasse at
the close of the October 8 bargaining session. The Re-
spondent thereafter implemented those portions of its final
offers for units [ and [I that do not depend on the existence
of a collective-bargaining agreement to be enforceable,
including the wage provisions set forth in the pay-for-
performance proposal. The Respondent upon implementa-
tion thus abandoned the step increase system of the prior
contracts, resulting in what the parties have termed a wage
freeze. Employees hired after October 18 were compen-
sated under the terms of the Respondent’s proposal ac-
cording to the wage schedule attached to the final offers as
Appendix A. The General Counsel acknowledges that at
no time did the Respondent ever grant merit pay increases
pursuant to its pay-for-performance proposal.

The Board holds that a merit wage increase proposal
that confers on an employer broad discretionary powers is
a mandatory subject of bargaining on which parties may
lawfully bargain to impasse. McClatchy Newspapers, 321
NLRB 1386, 1388 {1996), enfd. 131 F.3d 1026 (D.C. Cir.
1997), cert. denied 524 U.S. 937 (1998)." The pay-for-
performance proposal here, which reserves substantial
discretionary power to the Respondent, is similar to the
merit pay increase proposal at issue in McClatchy News-
papers.

The General Counsel, however, contends that the Re-
spondent’s pay-for-performance proposal differs from that
at issue in McClatchy, and constitutes a permissive subject
of bargaining which the Respondent could not lawfully
have pressed to impasse, because it permits the Respon-
dent to deal directly with employees to the exclusion of the
Union, The General Counsel argues that under the condi-
tions set forth in the proposal, no role is provided for the
Union with regard to the procedures for determining em-
ployee performance evaluations, or the merit pay consulta-
tion and appeal process. The General Counsel thus asserts
that the Respondent’s decision on merit pay increases
would be based on direct consultation with employees,
rather than with the Union as the employees’ exclusive
collective-bargaining representative.

1 Member Brame finds it unnecessary to pass on whether
McClatchy Newspapers was correctly decided on its facts, as he agrees
that it is distinguishable from the facts presented in this case.

Contrary to the General Counsel’s contention, we find
that the Respondent’s proposal does not mandate direct
dealing. Rather, it mandates that bargaining with the Un-
ion take place prior to implementation of any pay-for-
performance system and prior to any employee being
given a wage increase pursuant to such a plan. The Union
at such negotiations would be free to propose that it be
more directly involved with wage determinations than set
forth in the Respondent’s proposed minimum conditions,
and to bargain for and achieve a more extensive role in
merit pay determinations. The Union may indeed at nego-
tiations veto the proposed minimum conditions, including
the provision that the Respondent meet directly with em-
ployees concerning merit pay determinations. We thus
find meritless the General Counsel’s contention that the
Respondent’s proposal constitutes a permissive subject of
bargaining because it excludes the Union from any role in
the determination of merit wage increases.

Accordingly, for these reasons, we find that the Re-
spondent’s pay-for-performance proposal is a mandatory
subject of bargaining, and we shall dismiss the complaint
allegation that the Respondent unlawfully bargained to
impasse over it

We shall also dismiss the complaint allegation that the
Respondent unlawfully implemented merit wage increases
under its pay-for-performance system. The well-settled
general rule is that an employer may, on bargaining to a
valid impasse, unilaterally implement changes in manda-
tory subjects that are reasonably comprehended within its
preimpasse proposals.'’ There are certain limited excep-
tions to the implementation-after-impasse doctrine, how-
ever, including a merit pay proposal which confers on an
employer broad discretionary powers that necessarily en-
tail recurring unilateral decisions regarding changes in
employees’ rates of pay. The Board has explained that
such unlimited managerial discretion over future pay in-
creases, without explicit standards or criteria, would leave
the union unable to bargain knowledgeably on the deter-
mination of employee wage rates and unable to explain fo
unit employees how such rates were formulated. Because
such a circumstance would serve to destroy rather than
further the bargaining process, an employer is obligated,
prior to the actual implementation of such merit wage in-
creases, to negotiate to agreement or to impasse “definable
objective procedures and criteria™ governing raises under a
merit pay proposal.‘2 Here, the General Counsel concedes
that the Respondent never actually implemented or granted

' See, e.g., Television & Radio Artists v. NLRB, 395 F.2d 622, 624
(D.C. Cir. 1968), affg. Taft Broadcasting Co., 163 NLRB 475, 478
(1967); Atlas Tack Corp., 226 NLRB 222, 227 (1976), enfd. mem. 559
F.2d 1201 (1st Cir. 1977).

12 See McClatchy Newspapers, supra, 321 NLRB 1391 (“[I]t is not
the Respondent’s [merit pay] bargaining proposal that [is] inimical to
the policies of the Act, but its exclusion of the [union] ar the point of its
implementation of the merit pay plan from any meaningful bargaining
as to the procedures and criteria governing the merit pay planl.]”) (Em-
phasis added.)
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any merit pay increases pursuant to its proposal. Absent
evidence that the Respondent actually granted merit wage
increases to unit employees, there is no basis for finding a
violation of the Act under McClatchy. "

We further find without merit the General Counsel’s
additional contention that the Respondent was not privi-
leged upon impasse to implement the wage freeze pro-
posal because it was “inextricably related” to the pay-for-
performance proposal. We have explained above that an
employer may not, even upon valid impasse, implement a
merit pay proposal without definable objective procedures
and criteria, because to do so would leave the employer
with unlimited managerial discretion in the formulation of
future pay increase about which the union would be unable
to bargain knowledgeably in future negotiations. These
vices are not implicated by the implementation of the
wage freeze provision by the Respondent, however. There
are no discretionary elements to the wage freeze provi-
sions. Rather, the stipulated record shows that the
amounts of the Respondent’s implemented wage schedule
under Appendix A are fixed for each job classification,
and explicitly set forth in the Respondent’s pre-impasse
proposal. We shall accordingly dismiss the complaint
allegation that the Respondent unlawfully implemented its
wage freeze proposal.

5. The bargaining over health insurance benefits,
subsidies for Jazzercize classes, free coffee service,
and cafeteria discount

Subsequent to the parties having reached valid impasse
as to collective-bargaining agreements as a whole for units
1 and II on Octeber 18, 1993, the Union and the Respon-
dent engaged in bargaining on certain additional topics.
This bargaining included the following four proposals by
the Respondent to: (1) change its health insurance carrier
thereby causing changes in health insurance benefits for
unit employees;'* (2) discontinue subsidies for Jazzercise
classes attended by unit employees; (3) discontinue free
coffee service for unit employees; and (4) reduce the cafe-
teria discount for unit employees. The parties have stipu-
lated that the Respondent provided the Union with ad-
vanee notice of each of these proposals, that they met and
bargained concerning each of the proposed changes as
well ag the effects of the changes, and that the parties had
not reached agreement on these topics. The parties have
further stipulated that they had exhausted the prospect of
reaching an agreement concerning each of these subjects,
and the Respondent declared that the parties were at im-
passe. The Respondent thereafter implemented its propos-
als on these four topics.

"

" This proposal was prompted by notification from the Respon-
dent's health insurance carrier of an increase in premium rates, which
the parties have stipulated would have increased costs to both employ-
ees and the Respondent.

The parties have expressly stipulated that “the General
Counsel and the Charging Party contend that the impasse
on the [four topics] was not a valid impasse because it was
tainted by Respondent’s conduct™ vis-a-vis dues-checkoff
and pay-for performance. We have found above, however,
that the Respondent’s bargaining conduct with respect to
these two topics was not unlawful. We accordingly must
find that that conduct did not taint the parties’ subsequent
bargaining on the additional four topics. We further find
that the General Counsel, by the plain meaning of the par-
ties’ stipulation, has asserted no other basis for finding the
Respondent’s conduct concerning the four topics to be
unlawful. The Board has long held that a stipulation is
conclusive on the party making it, and prohibits any fur-
ther dispute as to the stipulated matters. See, e.g., Kroger
Co., 211 NLRB 363, 364 (1974). We shall accordingly
dismiss the complaint allegations that the Respondent vio-
lated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by: (1) changing its
health insurance carrier; (2) discontinuing subsidies for
Jazzercise classes; (3) discontinuing free coffee service;
and (4) reducing the cafeteria discount.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The Respondent, Woodland Clinic, a Medical Prac-
tice Foundation, is an employer engaged in commerce
within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act,
and a health care institution within the meaning of Section
2(14) of the Act.

2. Engineers and Scientists of California, MEBA,
AFL-CIO is a labor organization within the meaning of
Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By the following conduct, the Respondent has en-
gaged in unfair labor practices affecting commerce within
the meaning of Section 8(a)(5) and (1) and Section 2(6)
and (7) of the Act: (1) failing to timely comply with the
Union's request for the home telephone numbers of unit
employees; and (2) failing to bargain with the Union re-
garding the effects of the transfer of the bargaining unit
work performed by the materials management department
to a nonunion facility.

4, The Respondent has not otherwise violated the Act
as alleged in the amended consclidated comptaint.

REMEDY

Having found that the Respondent has engaged in cer-
tain unfair labor practices, we shall order it to cease and
desist and to take certain affirmative action designed to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

As a result of the Respondent’s unlawful failure to bar-
gain in good faith with the Union about the effects of its
decision to close its materials management department and
to transfer its work, the affected employees have been de-
nied an opporfunity to bargain through their collective-
bargaining representative. Meaningful bargaining cannot
be assured until some measure of economic strength is
restored to the Union. A bargaining order alone, therefore,
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cannot serve as an adequate remedy for the unfair labor
practice committed.

Accordingly, we deem it necessary, in order to effectu-
ate the purposes of the Act, to require the Respondent to
bargain with the Union concerning the effects on unit em-
ployees of closing the materials management department
and the transferring of its work, and shall accompany our
order with a limited backpay requirement designed both to
make whole the employees for losses suffered as a result
of the violations and to recreate in some practicable man-
ner a situation in which the parties’ bargaining position is
not entirely devoid of economic consequences for the Re-
spondent. We shall do so by ordering the Respondent to
pay backpay to the affected employees in a manner similar
to that required in Transmarine Navigation Corp., 170
NLRB 389 (1968).

Thus, the Respondent shall pay its employees employed
in the materials management department at the time of its
closure, backpay at the rate of their normal wages when
last in the Respondent’s employ from 5 days after the date
of this Decision and Order until occurrence of the earliest
of the following conditions: (1) the date the Respondent
bargains to agreement with the Union on those subjects
pertaining to the effects on unit employees of the closing
of its materials management department and the transfer-
ring of its work; (2) a bona fide impasse in bargaining; (3)
the Union’s failure to request bargaining within 5 business
days after receipt of this Decision and Order, or to com-
mence negotiations within 5 business days after receipt of
the Respondent’s notice of its desire to bargain with the
Union;"” (4) the Union’s subsequent failure to bargain in
good faith, but in no event shall the sum paid to these em-
ployees exceed the amount they would have earned as
wages from the date on which the Respondent closed its
materials management department, to the time they se-
cured equivalent employment elsewhere, or the date on
which the Respondent shall have offered to bargain in
good faith, whichever occurs sooner; provided, however,
that in no event shall this sum be less than the employees
would have eamed for a 2-week period at the rate of their
normal wages when last in the Respondent’s employ.
Backpay shall be based on earnings which the affected
employees would normally have received during the ap-
plicable period, less any net interim earnings, and shall be
computed in accordance with F. W. Woolworth Co., 90
NLRB 289 (1950), with interest as prescribed in New Ho-
rizons for the Retarded, 283 NLRB 1173 (1987).

In addition, in view of the fact that the Respondent has
closed its materials management department, we shall
order the Respondent to mail a copy of the attached notice
to the Union and to the last known addresses of its former
employces of the materials management department as of

' Melody Toyota, 325 NLRB 846 (1998).

November 5, 1993, in order to inform them of the outcome
of this proceeding,'®

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board orders that the Re-
spondent, Woodland Clinic, a Medical Practice Founda-
tion, Woodland, California, its officers, agents, successors,
and assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

(a) Failing to timely furnish the Union information that
is relevant and necessary to its role as the exclusive bar-
gaining representative of unit employees.

(b) Failing to bargain with the Union regarding the ef-
fects of the transfer of the bargaining unit work performed
by the materials management department to a nonunion
facility.

(¢} In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing employees in the exercise of the
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2, Take the following affirmative action necessary to
effectuate the policies of the Act.

{(a) On request, bargain with the Union concerning the
effects on unit employees of its decision to close its mate-
rials management department and, if an understanding is
reached, embody the understanding in a signed agreement.

(b) Pay its former employees employed in the materials
management department at the time of its closure their
normal wages when last in the Respondent’s employ from
5 days after the date of this Decision and Order until oc-
currence of the earliest of the following conditions: (1) the
date the Respondent bargains to agreement with the Union
on those subjects pertaining to the effects on unit employ-
ees of the closing of its materials management department
and the transferring of its work; (2) a bona fide impasse in
bargaining; (3) the Union’s failure to request bargaining
within 5 business days after receipt of this Decision and
Order, or to commence negotiations within 5 business
days after receipt of the Respondent’s notice of its desire
to bargain with the Union; (4) the Union’s subsequent
failure to bargain in good faith, but in no event shall the
sum paid to these employees exceed the amount they
would have earned as wages from November 5, 1993, the
date on which the Respondent closed its materials man-
agement department, to the time they secured equivalent
employment elsewhere, or the date on which the Respon-
dent shall have offered to bargain in good faith, whichever
occurs sooner; provided, however, that in no event shall
this sum be less than the employees would have earned for
a 2-week period at the rate of their normal wages when
last in the Respondent’s employ, with interest, as set forth
in the remedy portion of this decision.

' No affirmative remedy is necessary for the Respondent’s unkawful
failure to timely provide the Union with the requested information,
because the stipulated record establishes that the Respondent ultimately
supplied the information.
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(c) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, make
available to the Board or its agents for examination and
copying, all payroll records, social security payment re-
cords, timecards, personnel records and reports, and all
other records necessary to analyze the amount of backpay
due under the terms of this Order.

(d) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at
its place of business in Woodland, California, copies of the
attached notice marked “Appendix.”’’ Copies of the no-
tice, on forms provided by the Regional Director for Re-
gion 20, after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized
representative, shall be posted by the Respondent and
maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the
Respondent to insure that the notices are not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material. In the event that,
during the pendency of these proceedings, the Respondent
has gone out of business or closed the facility involved in
these proceedings, the Respondent shall duplicate and
mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice to all current
employees and former employees employed by the Re-
spondent at any time since August 16, 1993,

(e} Within 14 days after service by the Region, duplicate
and mail, at its own expense and after being signed by the
Respondent’s authorized representative, signed and dated
copies of the attached notice marked “Appendix” to the
Union and to all former unit employees of the materials
management department as of November 5, 1993,

(f) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file with
the Regional Director a sworn certification of a responsi-

7 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of
appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to & Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the
Nationat Labor Relations Board.”

ble offictal on a form provided by the Region attesting to
the steps that the Respondent has taken to comply.

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we
violated the National Labor Relations Act and has ordered
us to post and abide by this notice.

WE WILL NOT fail to timely furnish the Union infor-
mation that is relevant and necessary to its role as the ex-
clusive bargaining representative of unit employees.

WE WILL NOT fail to bargain with the Union regard-
ing the effects of our transfer of the bargaining unit work
performed by the materials management department to a
nonunion facility.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights
guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act.

WE WILL bargain, on request, with the Union concern-
ing the effects on unit employees of our decision to close
our materials management department and to transfer its
work, and, if an understanding is reached, embody the
understanding in a signed agreement.

WE WILL pay our former employees in the materials
management department who were employed at the time
we closed the department their normal wages for the pe-
riod of time set forth in the decision underlying this notice
to employees, with interest.

WOODLAND CLINIC, A MEDICAL PRACTICE
FOUNDATION
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Detroit Newspaper Agency and The Detroit Free
Press, Inc. and Newspaper Guild of Detroit,
Local 22, of the Newspaper Guild, AFL-CIO-
CLC. Case 7-CA-35452

June 30, 1995
DECISION AND ORDER

By CHAIRMAN GOULD AND MEMBERS STEPHENS
AND BROWNING

On October 26, 1994, Administrative Law Judge
Martin J. Linsky issued the attached decision. The Re-
spondent filed exceptions and a supporting brief, and
the General Counsel filed an answering brief.

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated
its authority in this proceeding to a three-member
panel,

The Board has considered the decision and the
record in light of the exceptions and briefs and has de-
cided to affirm the judge’s rulings, findings, and con-
clusions for the following reasons, and to adopt the
recommended Order.

We agree with the judge that the Respondent! vio-
lated Section 8(a)(5) and (1} of the Act by refusing to
furnish the Union with a complete copy of Ernest
King's 1992 environmental audit. The material facts
are undisputed. In 1992, Ernest King, manager of envi-
ronmental affairs for Knight-Ridder, Inc., and Lynn
Straughn, environmental director for Gannett Co., Inc.,
conducted an environmental audit of the Respondent’s
workplaces covering such matters as safety records,
hearing conservation records, bloodborne pathogen
procedures, and emergency response records. The
Union (the Charging Party) requested in writing on
October 11, November 18, and December 30, 1993,
that the Respondent provide it with a copy of the
audit. On January 13, 1994, the Respondent denied the
request, stating, ‘‘Unfortunately, the Ernest King report
is not available. According to the September 27, 1993
Business Monday article, Mr. King would not release
his report.”’ The Respondent did not offer to accom-
modate the Union’s request through other means.
Shortly before the hearing, the Respondent did furnish
the Union with a highly redacted copy of the audit.

I. RELEVANCY

An employer has a statutory obligation to supply in-
formation that is potentially relevant and will be of use
to the union in fulfilling its responsibilities as exclu-
sive bargaining representative. NLRB v. Acme Indus-

! The Detroit Newspaper Agency is a partnership that handies sell-
ing, advertising, printing, and distribution of two otherwise inde-
pendent newspapers: The Detroit Free Press (a Knight-Ridder, Inc,
newspaper) and The Detroit News (a Gannett Co., Inc. newspaper).
The Detroit Newspaper Agency and The Detroit Free Press, Inc. are
collectively the Respondent here,

317 NLRB No. 155

trial Co., 385 1.8, 432, 435436 (1967). The judge
found, and the Respondent does not dispute, that
health and safety matters regarding the unit employees’
workplaces are of vital interest to the employees and
are, thus, generally relevant and necessary for the
Union to carry out its bargaining obligations. We:
agree. Indeed, “*[flew matters can be of greater legiti-
mate concemn.”’ Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., 261
NLRB 27, 29 (1982), enfd. sub nom. Oil Workers
Local 6-418 v. NLRB, 711 F.2d 348 (D.C. Cir. 1983).
Furthermore, the Respondent has contractually recog-
nized the relevancy of health and safety matters. In a
side letter, included in the printed version of the 1992~
1995 bargaining agreement between the Detroit Free
Press and the Union, the parties agreed:

This letter will confirm the parties’ intent to meet
as often as possible to consider, discuss and at-
tempt to resolve all issues relating to the em-
ployer-employee relationship, including health
and safety issues, between the Publisher and em-
ployees represented for the purpose of bargaining
by the Union. [Emphasis added.)

Accordingly, we conclude that the requested audit is
relevant.

Once it is established that an employer has failed to
timely fumish potentially relevant information re-
quested by a union, the employer will be found in vio-
lation of Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act unless it
establishes a valid reason why it did not timely furnish
the information. In its exceptions, the Respondent at-
tempts to supply several reasons: it contends that the
Union had the information available to it but in a dif-
ferent form, that the assessments, conclusions, and rec-
ommendations redacted from the audit are confidential,
and that its confidentiality interests outweigh the
Union’s need for the information. For the following
reasons, we reject the Respondent’s contentions and
agree with the judge that the Respondent was and is
obligated to furnish the Union with an unredacted copy
of the requested audit.

II. AVAILABILITY IN DIFFERENT FORM

Shortly before the hearing began, the Respondent
did furnish the Union with a redacted copy of the King
audit. The redacted copy, however, omitted all assess-
ments, conclusions, and recommendations. Beyond
identifying areas covered, the redacted audit contained
little information of value to the Union. It is apparent
that the assessments, conclusions, and recommenda-
tions are what gives the audit useful meaning. The re-
dacted audit did not contain raw data from which the
Union could reach its own conclusions. Rather, it is
what was blacked out, i.e., redacted, that contains the
essential information. As one of many possible exam-
ples, at page 18 the audit states, ““The environmental
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assessment indicated that The Detroit Newspaper
Agency toxic chemicals emissions were [a blacked out
word] the reporting requirement of section 313.°" It is
obvious that essential information, whether the Re-
spondent was above or below toxic emission standards,
was withheld from the Union.?2 Furthermore, the Re-
spondent did not even furnish the Union with the re-
dacted copy until some 7 months after its refusal. Once
a union has made a good-faith request for information,
an employer must provide relevant information reason-
ably promptly in useful form. General Electric Co.,
290 NLRB 1138, 1147 (1988). We find that the re-
dacted copy of the audit is both too little and too late
to meet the Respondent’s statutory obligation.

The Respondent also contends that the wide variety
of information about environmental, health, and safety
matters it has shared with the Union over the past few
years satisfies its obligation to furnish the requested
audit. The Respondent, however, has failed to show
that this other information duplicates the information
in the requested audit. From all we can tell, the audit
may well have touched on new matters or may have
contradicted other reports. Even if the information
were cumulative, it would remain relevant. Cumulative
information on such vital matters as health and safety
would serve to identify the most pressing problems, to
demonstrate any continuing problems, and to aid the
Union in formulating a rational response. An employer
is obligated to furnish a union with information that
would help the union make an informed judgment
about the problem the information addresses. General
Motors Corp. v. NLRB, 700 F.2d 1083, 1088 (6th Cir.
1983), enfg. 257 NLRB 1068 (1981). Accordingly,
even assuming that the Respondent has previously pro-
vided the Union with similar information, we find that
the Respondent has failed to show that the other infor-
mation satisfies its obligation to furnish the requested
audit,

The Respondent further contends that the Union is
free to make its own safety inspection using the other
information and the redacted audit as a basis for that
investigation, The Respondent, however, did not offer
this opportunity to the Union when it refused to fur-
nish the requested audit. Furthermore, this is not the
form in which the Union requested the information,
and the requested audit is readily available to the Re-
spondent. An employer’s obligation to furnish relevant
information is not excused merely because a union
may have alternative sources for the information. New
York Times Co., 265 NLRB 353 (1982); Colgate-
Paimolive Co., 261 NLRB 90, 92 fn. 13 (1982), enfd.
sub nom. Oi! Workers Local 5-114 v. NLRB, 711 F.2d
348 (D.C. Cir. 1983); and Kroger Co., 226 NLRB 512,

2This one word was imperfectly blacked out and on careful cxam-
ination reads “below.” This was one of the fow instances in which
the blacking-out of the text was ineffective.

513 (1976) (2 ‘“‘union is under no obligation to utilize
a burdensome procedure of obtaining desired informa-
tion where the employer may have such information
available in a more convenient form). Sece also
ASARCO, Inc. v. NLRB, 805 F.2d 194, 198 (6th Cir.
1986) (‘‘availability of the requested information from
another source does not alter the employer’s duty to
provide readily available relevant information to the
bargaining representative’”).

III. CONFIDENTIALITY

A. Timeliness

The Respondent asserts that the information re-
quested is confidential. We reject this contention. The
Board has found that substantial claims of confidential-
ity may justify refusals to furnish otherwise relevant
information. See, e.g., Postal Service, 306 NLRB 474
(1992} (names of witnesses to drug transactions); Gen-
eral Dynamics Corp., 268 NLRB 1432 (1984) (study
made in preparing for pending litigation); Minnesota
Mining & Mfg. Co., supra at 27 (trade secrets); and
Johns-Manville Sales Corp., 252 NLRB 368 (1980)
(individual medical records and disorders).> Blanket
claims of confidentiality, however, will not be upheld.
Pennsylvania Power Co., 301 NLRB 1104, 1105
(1991). Also, confidentiality claims must be timely
raised. Gas Spring Co., 296 NLRB 84, 99 (1989)
(claim belatedly raised and brought up as an after-
thought not upheld). The reason a confidentiality claim
must be timely raised is so that the parties can attemnpt
to seek an accommodation of the employer’s asserted
confidentiality concerns. Tritac Corp., 286 NLRB 522
(1987) (employer *‘cannot simply raise its confidential-
ity concerns, but must also come forward with some
offer to accommodate both its concerns and its bar-
gaining obligation®’); Pennsylvania Power Co., supra
at 1105 (*‘party refusing to supply information on con-
fidentiality grounds has a duty to seeck an accommoda-
tion’’}. Here, the Respondent did not raise its confiden-
tiality claim when it initially refused to furnish the re-
quested audit but apparently first made the claim dur-
ing or shortly before the August 30, 1994 hearing. Fur-
thermore, the Respondent failed to timely seek an ac-
commodation with the Union of its confidentiality
claim. Accordingly, we find that the Respondent failed
to timely raise its claim that the requested information
was confidential,

B. Prepared for Litigation

The Respondent contends that the audit is confiden-
tial because it was prepared in anticipation of litiga-
tion. We disagree. The Board has found that informa-
tion gathered in response to specific legal actions is

3See also Detroit Edison Co. v. NLRB, 440 11.8. 301 (1979) (indi-
vidual psychological aptitude test scores).
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privileged from disclosure. General Dynamics, supra,
1432. The mere potential for litigation does not con-
stitute 2 legitimate claim of confidentiality, New Eng-
land Telephone Co., 309 NLRB 196 (1992). Further-
more, as the Board has held, “*The Party asserting the
claim of confidentiality has the burden of proof.””
Washington Gas Light Co., 273 NLRB 116 (1984).

The Respondent’s sole witness, Ermest King, testi-
fied that the audit was part of the annual audit of safe-
ty matters undertaken in all Knight-Ridder facilities.
Thus, the testimony shows that the audit was prepared
in the ordinary course of the Respondent’s business,
rather than in anticipation of litigation. The Respond-
ent’s suggestion that the Union might pursue matters
arising from the requested audit through litigation or
complaints to Federal or state safety agencies has no
solid foundation. There is evidence that the Union has
brought certain ergonomic matters relating to alleged
repetitive motion stress problems to the attention of the
Michigan health and safety agency. The audit, how-
ever, does not concern such matters. King testified
“no’’ when asked on direct examination whether the
audit related to anything in the area of ergonomics.
Thus, we find that the Respondent has failed to estab-
lish its asserted claim of confidentiality of the re-
quested audit. At best, the claim is based on mere
speculation.* Accordingly, we reject the Respondent’s
claim that the requested audit should be considered as
a confidential matter in preparation for litigation.

C. Self-Critical Report

The Respondent additionally contends that the audit
is confidential because it is an intemnal, self-critical re-
port. We disagree. To establish a legitimate confiden-
tiality claim, the Board requires more than what the
Respondent has shown. Confidential information is
limited to a few general categories: that which would
reveal, contrary to promises or reasonable expectations,
highly personal information, such as individual medical
records or psychological test results; that which would
reveal substantial proprietary information, such as trade
secrets; that which could reasonably be expected to
lead to harassment or retaliation, such as the identity
of witnesses; and that which is traditionally privileged,
such as memoranda prepared for pending lawsuits. See
cases cited in sections II[,A and B, above. The re-
quested audit falls outside these general categories,

The Respondent draws a distinction between internal
and external reports. It states that it did not claim con-
fidentiality for reports from outsiders, such as insur-

4The Union, as well as the Respondent, was contractually obli-
gated to pursuc any safety and health matters through negotiations
pursuant to the parties’ side agreement on the negotiability of health
and safety matters, and, even regarding matters that the Union even-
watly brought to the attention of the state health and safety agency,
the Union first attempted to resolve the matters through direct nego-
tiations with the Respondent.

ance companies and environmental consultants.5 The
Respondent argues that findings of outsiders, in con-
trasi 10 the findings of officials from parent companies,
are not likely to be viewed as admissions of error. The
Respondent contends that internal reports are confiden-
tial because they must be able ‘‘to recommend, criti-
cize, warn, threaten or use any other means at their
disposal to cause Respondent’s managers to achieve
the highest possible levels of health and safety for Re-
spondent’s employees.”

The Respondent’s argument is too sweeping. Much,
if not most, of the relevant information an employer is
required to furnish to a union is internally generated.
Furthermore, the Respondent’s argument is inconsistent
with the whole theory of the Act. Because employee
health and safety are mandatory subjects of bargain-
ing,s Section 8(a)(5) requires the Respondent to confer
and negotiate with the Union on these matters, Thus,
the Act contemplates that achieving the “*highest pos-
sible levels of health and safety’’ is to be accom-
plished jointly with the Union, not unilaterally by the
Respondent.

In addition, the Respondent’s confidentiality conten-
tions are not supported by the record. Ernest King,
who was involved in preparing the requested audit, did
not testify that the audit criticized, wamed, or threat-
ened anyone. Rather, King testified more generally that
he wouid alter the way he put the reports together if
he were aware they would be given to the Union:

Because I write these reports in the manner that
I try to get action. If I write them in a very strong
manner there are a lot of opinions in these reports
based on my opinion of things and T would have
to drastically alter the way I put these reports to-
gether.

King did not, however, testify that he would alter the
substance, as opposed to the tone, of the audit. To this
extent, we agree with the judge’s finding, with which
the Respondent disagrees, that King “‘never explained
how the report would be different if directed to man-
agement alone or directed to management with disclo-
sure to the Union.”

The Respondent also relies on ASARCO, Inc. v.
NLRB, supra, denying enf. in pertinent part to 276
NLRB 1367 (1985), and argues that the requested
audit is confidential because its disclosure, if antici-
pated, would result in the report’s being watered down
or not written. Although we continue to adhere to the
principles expressed in the Board’s decision in
ASARCO, we also find that the Respondent’s reliance
on the court’s decision in that case is misplaced. The
court found {id. at 199) that ASARCQ’s self-critical

5The Union has received such reports.
8 Oil Workers, supra at 360.
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reports, which were prepared after a serious accident,”
“contain speculative material and opinions, criticisms
of persons, events, and equipment, and recommenda-
tions for future practices.”” In this case, there is no
contention that the requested audit was prepared as the
result of any particular incident. Rather, as previously
found, the audit is part of Knight-Ridder’s annual au-
dits of all its facilities. Furthermore, although the audit
made recommendations, there is no evidence that it
contained speculative material or criticisms of persons
or events, King did not so testify.

Because the Respondent’s contentions are unsup-
ported by the record, we find that the Respondent has
merely made a speculative or blanket confidentiality
claim. Blanket claims of confidentiality will not be
upheld. Pennsylvania Power Co., supra at 1105; Wash-
ingfon Gas Light Co., supra at 117. Accordingly, we
find that the Respondent has failed to meet its burden
and conclude that the requested audit has not been
shown to contain confidential information.®

D. Balancing Test

The Respondent contends that the judge erroneously
failed to balance the Union’s interest in disclosure of
the requested audit with the Employer’s interest in
confidentiality. We disagree. A union’s interest in ar-
guably relevant information does not always predomi-
nate over other legitimate interests. In determining
whether an employer must comply with a union’s re-
quest for relevant but assertediy confidential informa-
tion, the Board is required to balance a union's need
for the information against any legitimate and substan-
tial confidentiality interests. Detroit Edison Co. v.
NLRB, supra at 301, Washington Gas Light Co., supra
at 116, To invoke a balancing test, however, an em-
ployer must first prove its confidentiality claim. Re-
sorts International Hotel, 307 NLRB 1437, 1438
(1992). Because the Respondent, as found above, has
failed to establish its confidentiality claim, a balancing
test is neither necessary nor proper.

Even assuming that the Respondent had raised a le-
gitimate confidentiality claim that would require a bal-
ancing test, we would sirike the balance in favor of the
Union and order the Respondent to furnish the Union
with an unredacted copy of the requested audit. In sup-
port of its contention that the balance should be struck
in its favor, the Respondent relies on the court’s deci-

7 An employee died after apparently driving his tractor over a 30-
foot dropoff at a mine site.

8 Contrary to our colleague’s partial dissent, we would not give the
Respondent yet another opportunity to bargain over its asserted con-
fidentiality claims. We have found above that, unlike the situation
in Minnesota Mining, the case relied on by the dissent, the Respond-
ent’s confidentiality claims are unsupported by the record and are at
best speculative. In these circumstances, we do not believe that it
would be appropriate to force the Union to go back to the bargaining
table to obtain the information to which it is entitied.

sion in ASARCO, supra at 194. We find that ASARCO
is also distinguishable on this issue. The relevant issue
in that case concerned the union’s request for an exten-
sive self-critical report the employer made after a seri-
ous accident and for the purpose of improving safety
and preventing future similar mishaps. The court, in its
final analysis, held (id. at 200) that ‘‘access to
ASARCO'’s internal report and self-critical thinking is
not relevant or reasonably necessary to the Union’s
representative duties,”” Thus, the ultimate holding of
the court goes to whether the information was relevant
and does not depend on making a balancing determina-
tion.

The court additionally found (id. at 199) that the re-
port contains speculative material and opinions, criti-
cisms of persons, events, and equipment, and rec-
ommendations for future practices. The court referred
(id. at 199) to testimony that **if ASARCO were re-
quired to divulge these reports to the Union, much of
their contents would have been omitted, adversely af-
fecting, if not nullifying, the report’s value.”’ The court
further referred (id. at 199) to testimony that the report
was made in anticipation of litigation that frequently
arises after serious accidents. The court found (id. at
200), ““The practice of uninhibited self-critical analy-
sis, which benefits both the union’s and employer’s
substantial interest in increased worker safety and acci-
dent prevention, would undoubtedly be chilled by dis-
closure.”’ In addition, the court found (id. at 200) that
the union had all the factual information regarding the
accident available to it by the union’s participation in
the investigation of the accident and the court’s requir-
ing the employer to give the union access to the mine
and the photographs relating to the accident.

In contrast, this case involves an annual health and
safety audit routinely made by the parent corporation
in all Knight-Ridder facilities, rather than a report in
response to a specific health and safety problem, let
alone an accident causing an employee’s death. Al-
though the audit’'s recommendations were undoubtedly
made to improve safety, there is no evidence that the
audit contained speculative materials or criticisms of
persons, events, and equipment. And there is no testi-
mony, as in ASARCO, that the substance, as opposed
to the tone, of the audit would be changed or that it
was prepared in anticipation of litigation. In addition,
the record here fails to support a finding that the
Union had available to it all the factual information in
the audit, The Union was not invited to, and did not,
participate in the audit or accompany King and
Straughn when they made the audit, and the Respond-
ent has not offered or made available to the Union the
records that King and Straughn reviewed. These dif-
ferences from ASARCO are significant and call for a
result different from AS4RCO.
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As previously stated, we find that the balance be-
tween the interests of the Respondent’s confidentiality
assertions and the Union’s right to relevant information
should be struck in favor of disclosure to the Union.
Although we recognize that a union’s interest in infor-
mation about an accident leading to the death of an
employee is powerful, we also recognize that the
Union’s interest here in the requested audit is substan-
tial.? Furthermore, disclosure of the audit to the Union
would not undermine the purpose of the audit. King
testified that his purpose is to ‘“‘get action’’; local
union access to the information would also serve to
“‘get action.”” Although King’s *‘strong” words might,
if revealed to the Union, embarrass the Respondent’s
management, preventing such embarrassment has little
claim to confidentiality, Clearly it is outweighed by the
Union’s substantial interest in health and safety mat-
ters. Accordingly, we find in all the circumstances that
the balance between the Respondent’s assertion of con-
fidentiality and the Union’s right to potentially relevant
information should be struck in favor of the Union.

Conclusion

For the foregoing reasons, we find that the Respond-
ent should be ordered to furnish the Union with a com-
plete and unredacted copy of the requested audit. Ac-
cordingly, we shall adopt the judge’s recommended
Order to this effect.

ORDER

The National Labor Relations Board adopts the rec-
ommended Order of the administrative law judge and
orders that the Respondent, Detroit Newspaper Agency
and The Detroit Free Press, Inc., Detroit, Michigan,
their officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall
take the action set forth in the Order.

MEMBER STEPHENS, dissenting in part.

I agree with my colleagues that the Respondent vio-
lated Section B(a)(5) and (1) of the Act by withholding
the King report in its entirety until after complaint
issued in this case, more than 7 months after the Union
requested it. I further agree, for the reasons stated by
the majority, that the withholding of factual material
concerning workplace conditions is not immunized by
a showing that facts it contains can also be gleaned
from various other sources.! 1 would not, however,
order the Respondent to turn over the complete
unredacted report. Rather, I would order the Respond-
ent to turn over to the Union all portions of the report
relating to the conditions of the workplace except for
judgments on the performance of the Respondent’s
managers or other purely judgmental statements and

# Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., supra at 29,
1 Service Employees Local 144 (Jamaica Hospital), 297 NLRB
1001 fn. 2 (1990).

recommendations; and following the approach of the
Board in Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., 261 NLRB
27, 32 (1982), enfd. sub nom. Qi Workers Local 6-
418 v. NLRB, 711 F.2d 348 (D.C. Cir. 1983), I would
requite the Respondent to bargain with the Union over
a procedure for protecting the confidentiality of any
such matters in the disclosure of the report.

Cynthia L. Beauchamp, Esq., for the General Counsel.
Jokn B. Jaske, Esq., of Arlington, Virginia, and John Taylor,
Esq., of Detroit, Michigan, for the Respondent.

DECISION

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

MarTIN J. LINSKY, Administrative Law Judge. On January
20, 1994, the charge in Case 7-CA-35452 was filed by the
Newspaper Guild of Detroit, Local 22, of the Newspaper
Guild, AFL-CIO-CLC (Union), against the Detroit News-
paper Agency {Respondent DNA), and the Detroit Free
Press, Inc. (Respondent Free Press).

On March 25, 1994, the National Labor Relations Board,
by the Regional Director for Region 7, issued a complaint
which alleges that Respondents violated Section 8(a)(1) and
(5) of the National Labor Relations Act (the Act) when they
failed and refused to comply with an information request
from the Union for a copy of a report of an environmental
audit conducted by Emest King.

Respondents filed an answer in which they denied violat-
ing the Act in any way.

A hearing was held before me in Detroit, Michigan, on
August 30, 1994,

On the entire record in this case, including posthearing
briefs submitted by the General Counsel and Respondents,
and on my observation of the demeanor of the witnesses, 1
make the following

FmDmGs oF FACT

1. JURISDICTION

Respondent DNA is orpanized as a general partnership
under Michigan law. Respondent Free Press and The Detroit
News, Inc. are, and have been at all times material, copart-
ners doing business under the trade name and style of Detroit
Newspaper Agency.

At all material times, Respondent DNA has maintained an
office and place of business at 615 West Lafayette, Detroit,
Michigan, and has been engaged in the publishing operations
of all nonnews and noneditorial departments of Respondent
Free Press and The Detroit News as a unified integrated
business, as agent for, and for the benefit of both newspapers
and is responsible for selling, advertising, printing, and dis-
tribution of the two newspapers.

At all material times Respondent Free Press, a Michigan
corporation with an office and place of business at 321 West
Lafayette, Detroit, Michigan, has been engaged in the oper-
ation of the news and editorial departments of a daily news-
paper.

During 1993, Respondent DNA, in the course and conduct
of its business operations described above, had gross reve-
nues in excess of $500,000, and purchased and received
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newspaper print valued in excess of $50,000, which was
shipped to its Michigan facilities directly from points located
outside the State of Michigan.

During 1993, Respondent Free Press, in the course and
conduct of its business operations described above, derived
gross revenues in excess of $200,000 and held membership
infor subscribed to various interstate news services and pub-
lished various nationally syndicated features and advertised
various nationally sold products.

Respondents admit, and I find, that each of the Respond-
ents has been engaged in commerce within the meaning of
Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

Il. THE LABOR ORGANIZATION INVOLVED

Respondents admit, and I find, that the Union is a labor
organization within the meaning of Section 2(5) of the Act.

1Il. THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICE

A. Overview

The Detroit News Agency (DNA) was formed under the
Newspaper Preservation Act and handles all noneditorial
functions for two Detroit newspapers, i.e., the Detroit Free
Press and the Detroit News, e.g., business advertising, cir-
culation, etc.

The Union represents certain employees of both the De-
troit Newspaper Agency (DNA) and the Detroit Free Press.
More specifically the Union represents:

1. All full-time and regular part-time janitors em-
ployed by Respondent DNA, including working super-
visors and Respondent DNA employees formerly classi-
fied as machinist helpers, heavy cleaners, and cleaners;
but excluding managerial employees, confidential em-
ployees, guards and supervisors as defined in the Act,
and

2, All futl-time and regular part-time employees in
the editorial and business office departments of Re-
spondent Detroit Free Press; but excluding the classi-
fications listed in a document entitled *“Exemptions,”
as updated February 7, 1994; but excluding guards and
supervisors as defined in the Act.

Since about 1990, and at all material times, the Union has
been the designated exclusive collective-bargaining represent-
ative of the DNA unit and has been recognized as such rep-
resentative by Respondent DNA. This recognition has been
embodied in successive collective-bargaining agreements, the
most recent of which is cffective from date of ratification
through April 30, 1995,

Since about 1930, and at all material times, the Union
{Charging Party) has been the designated exclusive collec-
tive-bargaining representative of the Detroit Free Press unit
and has been recognized as such representative by Respond-
ent Free Press. This recognition has been embodied in suc-
cessive collective-bargaining agreements, the most recent of
which is effective from May 1, 1992, to April 30, 1995.

At all times since 1990, based on Section 9(a) of the Act,
the Union has been the exclusive collective-bargaining rep-
resentative of the DNA unit,

At all times since 1930, based on Section 9(a) of the Act,
the Union has been the exclusive collective-bargaining rep-
resentative of the Free Press unit,

it is undisputed that on October 11 and December 30,
1993, the Union requested in writing that the Respondents
provide to it a copy of a report prepared by Ernest King fol-
lowing an environmental audit he conducted in the fall of
1992 at the Detroit Newspaper Agency and the Detroit Free
Press.

Respondents failed and refused to turn over the report in
its entirety, claiming that it is the kind of internal self-critical
report that they should be permitted to keep confidential, cit-
ing the case of 4S4RCO, Inc. v. NLRB, 805 F.2d 194 (6th
Cir. 1986¢). At the hearing before me, Respondents intro-
duced into evidence as Respondent’s Exhibit 1 a redacted
version of the King report. The report consists of 26 pages
and a cover sheet. All or part of 19 pages are blacked out
and wnreadable. According to Respondents, the blacked out
areas of the report cover the conclusions and recormmenda-
tions of Ernest King.

All parties concede that the Union has an interest in health
and safety, but the Union insists, contrary to Respondents,
that it needs to be able to review the King report in its en-
tirety because the contents of the report are necessary and
relevant to the performance of its functions as a collective-
bargaining representative, especially considering that bargain-
ing for new contracts for the employees it represents at both
the Detroit Newspaper Agency (DNA) and the Detroit Free
Press will begin in late 1994 or eatly 1995 as both contracts
expire on April 30, 1995. A purpose of King's report was
““to reduce liability overall for accident and injury.’’

The sole issue in the case is whether Respondents violated
Section 8(a)(1} and {5) of the Act when it refused to turn
over King's report.

B. Discussion and Analysis

Luther Jackson Jr.,, an official of the Union, testified for
the General Counsel. He was a very impressive witness and
I eredit his testimony in its entirety.

His testimony reflects that since at least 1985 the Union
has been very concerned about health and safety issues for
the employees it represents at the DNA and the Detroit Free
Press, Jackson testified, for example, that in 1990 the Union
conducted a survey among the employees it represents and
ascertained that many were suffering from repetitive strain
injurics apparently caused by working in front of video dis-
play terminals (VDTs). The Union also received complaints
about the configuration of the VDTs and the fumiture used
by the employees working at the VDTs. The Union was also
concerned about ventilation, and ashestos detection, removal,
and encapsulation, VDT screen radiation, repetitive strain in-
jury hazards for maintenance employees, photographic chem-
ical hazards, and the Union also wanted a nurse assigned
back into the Detroit Free Press building,

The Union also expressed its concern to management
about new furniture and work stations at the Detroit Free
Press, which had undergone some renovation in 1992. A
number of employees complained to the Union about the
lack of easily adjustable furniture at their work stations, The
Union was interested in the field of ergonomics, i.e., the
science of adapting furniture, equipment, and machinery to
people, and the Union let management know this. In an
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ergonomic survey conducted by the Union some em-
ployees complained about back problems, wrist prob-
lems, etc., caused by the furniture provided to them at
their work stations.

In September 1993, certain maintenance employees com-
plained to the Union about asbestos exposure on the job. An-
other incident which concerned the Union involved a graph-
ics intem cutting himself on the job with a knife and the
issue and concerns that incident caused.

The Union learned that Liberty Mutual, the workers’ com-
pensation carrier for the Free Press, had visited work stations
and done work station analyses. The Union requested and re-
ceived a copy of the report prepared by Liberty Mutual. On
another occasion the Union requested and received permis-
sion from Respondents to inspect OSHA forms the Respond-
ents maintained pursuant to Federal law. With respect to the
Liberty Mutual report and the OSHA records Respondents
fully cooperated with the Union.

In the fall of 1993, the Union became aware from a news-
paper article in the Detroit Free Press on September 27,
1993, that two environmental audits had been conducted at
the Detroit Newspaper Agency and or Detroit Free Press,
One had been conducted by Donald A. Hensel of the News-
paper Association of America (NAA), a trade organization,

~and the other had been conducted by Ernest King,

Ernest King is an employee of Knight-Ridder, Inc,, the
parent company of the Detroit Free Press, and apparently its
top health and safety person. Knight-Ridder, Inc. owns ap-
proximately 29 newspapers, one of which is the Detroit Free
Press.

The Union requested a copy of Donald Hensel's 67-page
report prepared for the NAA, management’s response to
Hensel’s report, and a copy of Emest King's environmental
audit. The Union received a copy of Hensel’s report and
management’s response to it, but Respondents would not re-
lease a copy of King’s report to the Union.

As noted above, a redacted copy of King's report was re-
ceived in evidence as Respondent’s Exhibit 1. The table of
contents of King's 26-page report reflects that the following
subject areas, inter alia, were covered: hearing conservation
program records, safety program and records, waste manage-
ment program and records, bloodborne pathogens, and emer-
gency response program and records.

According to Luther Jackson, the Union wanted a copy of
Ernest King’s report because it was very interested in getting
as much information as possible regarding the health and
safety of its members, because of the prominence of Emest
King, and to prepare for negotiations for a new collective-
bargaining agreement, All are extremely valid reagons.

Respondents would not voluntarily turn over all of King’s
report. The Respondents claim that because it is a internal
self-critical report it would have a chilling effect on Re-
spondents’ inclination to do similar internal self-critical re-
ports in the future if forced to disclose the contents of this
report to the Union. Because the Hensel audit done for the
NAA and the report of Liberty Mutual were not internal self-
critical reports, Respondents readily disclosed those reports
to the Union on its request.

Ernest King was, like Jackson, a very impressive witness.
He testified for the Respondents. The only problem I had
with King’s testimony was his assertion that his report to his

superiors would be different if disclosable to the Union. He
struck me as the kind of professional who would tell it like
it is regardless of who the reader of the report might be. In-
terestingly enough he never explained how the report would
be different if directed to management alone or directed to
management with disclosure to the Union on its request.
King stated, by the way, that he did not cover the area of
repetitive strain injuries associated with VDT use in his re-
port.

It is well settled that “*[t]he duty to bargain collectively,
imposed upon an employer by Section 8(a)(5) of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Act, includes a duty to provide rel-
evant information needed by a labor union for the proper
performance of its duties as the employees’ bargaining rep-
resentative.”” Detroit Edison Co. v. NLRB, 440 U.S. 301, 303
(1979). In evaluating an employer’s obligation to fulfill the
union’s information requests, the Board and courts apply a
*‘discovery type standard," under which the requested infor-
mation need only be relevant and useful to the unien in ful-
filling its statutory obligations in order to be subject to dis-
closure. NLRB v. Acme Industrial Co., 385 11.8. 432 (1967).
Some information in the hands of management is presump-
tively relevant, e.g., health and safety information. As the
Board stated “‘Few matters can be of greater legitimate con-
cern to individuals in the workplace, and thus to the bargain-
ing agent representing them, than exposure to conditions po-
tentially threatening their health, well-being, or their very
lives.”* Minnesota Mining & Mfg. Co., 261 NLRB 27, 29
(1982).

Respondents, as noted above, rely on the Sixth Circuit de-
cision in ASARCO, Inc. v. NLRB, supra, in claiming that its
internal self-critical report should not be required to be
turned over as the Sixth Circuit found that the report in the
ASARCQO case need not be tumed over. The critical dif-
ference, however, is that in the ASARCQ case the court
found that the Union had available to it all relevant factual
information and did not need to see ASARCO’s internal self-
critical investigative report. In the instant case there is no
evidence that the Union has available to it a/f relevant factual
information contained in the King report, Because this is so
and because health and safety are so critical, I find that dis-
closure of the King report to the Union was necessary to and
relevant for the Union to perform its duty as collective-bar-
gaining representative.

The Sixth Circuit in ASARCO reversed the Board which
had found the employer violated the Act in not turning over
the internal self-critical report in question. What could be
more important to the Union than the health and safety of
its members. Turning the King report over to the Union is
not the functional equivalent of the United States turning
over to the German high command the details of Operation
Overlord prior to June 6, 1944, The fact is that when it
comes to the health and safety of the employees the Re-
spondents and the Union are on the same side.

Accordingly, Respendents violated Section 8(a)(1) and (5)
of the Act when it failed and refused to turn over to the
Union in its entirety the Emest King report on the environ-
mental audit he conducted at the Detroit News Agency and
the Detroit Free Press in the fall of 1992,
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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. Respondents Detroit Newspaper Agency and the Detroit
Free Press are employers engaged in commerce within the
meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act.

2. The Union is a labor organization within the meaning
of Section 2(5) of the Act.

3. By failing and refusing to provide to the Union an
unredacted copy of the report prepared by Emest King fol-
lowing the environmental audit he conducted in the fail of
1992 Respondents unlawfully refused, and are refusing, to
bargain in violation of Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the Act.

4. The above-unfair labor practices affect commerce within
the meaning of the Act.

THE REMEDY

Having found Respondents engaged in an unfair labor
practice, [ find it necessary to order them to cease and degist
and to take certain affirmative action designed to effectuate
the policies of the Act.

The order will require Respondents to furnish the Union
with an unredacted copy of the King report.

On these findings of fact and conclusions of law and on
the entire 1ecord, I issue the following recommended!

ORDER

The Respondents, Detroit Newspaper Agency and the De-
troit Free Press, Inc., their officers, agents, successors, and
assigns, shall

1. Cease and desist from

{a) Refusing to bargain collectively and in good faith with
the Union by refusing to provide the Union a complete and
unredacted copy of a report prepared by Ernest King follow-
ing an environmental audit he conducted in the fall of 1992.

{b) In any like or related manner interfering with, restrain-
ing, or coercing employees in the exercise of the rights guar-
anteed them by Section 7 of the Act.

2. Take the following affirmative action necessary to ef-
fectuate the policies of the Act,

(a) On request of the Union, furnish to it within a reason-
able time the report referred to in paragraph 1(a), above.

'If no exceptions are filed as provided by Sec. [02.46 of the
Board's Rules and Regulations, the findings, conclusions, and rec-
ommended Order shall, as provided in Sec. 102.48 of the Rules, be
adopted by the Board and all objections to them shall be deemed
waived for all purposes.

(b) Post at its facilities in Detroit, Michigan, copies of the
attached notice marked **Appendix.”’2 Copies of the notice,
on forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 7,
after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized representa-
tive, shall be posted by the Respondent immediately upon re-
ceipt and maintained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous
places including all places where notices to employees are
customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken by the
Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, de-
faced, or covered by any other material.

(c) Notify the Regional Director in writing within 20 days
from the date of this Order what steps the Respondent has
taken to comply.

2]f this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court
of appeals, the words in the notice reading ‘‘Posted by Order of the
National Labor Relations Board’* shall read **Posted Pursuant to a
Judgment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order
of the National Labor Relations Board.*

APPENDIX

NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD
An Agency of the United States Government

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated the National Labor Relations Act and has ordered us
to post and abide by this notice.

Section 7 of the Act gives employees these tights.

To organize

To form, join, or assist any union

To bargain collectively through representatives of
their own choice

To act together for other mutual aid or protection

To choose not to engage in any of these protected
concerted activities,

WE WILL NOT refuse to bargain collectively with the
Union by refusing to supply it with a complete and
unredacted copy of a report prepared by Ernest King follow-
ing an environmental audit he conducted in the fall of 1992.

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere with,
restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights guaran-
teed you by Section 7 of the Act,

WE WILL, on request of the Union, furnish to it the afore-
mentioned report by Emest King

DETROIT NEWSPAPER AGENCY AND THE DE-
TROIT FREE PRESS, INC.



REVISED {Changes in Bold in Memo and in Attachments 1 and 3)

OFFICE OF THE GENERAL COUNSEL
Division of Operations Management

MEMORANDUM OM-03-18 January 13, 2003

TO: All Regional Directors, Officers-in-Charge,
And Resident Officers

FROM: Richard A. Siegel, Associate General Counsel

SUBJECT: Procedures for Handling Postal Service Cases Involving Refusal to
Supply Information and Procedures for Addressing Conduct Covered by
Outstanding Court Judgments

This memorandum advises the Regions of (A) certain initiatives being
implemented by the United States Postal Service concerning union information
requests and new procedures and revised guidelines for Regions to deal with refusal-
to-provide-information charges.” 1t also reminds Regions of (B) the procedures for
addressing conduct covered by outstanding court judgments.

A. Initiatives Implemented by the USPS and New Procedures and Guidelines for
the Regions

The formulation of the initiatives, procedures and guidelines concerning USPS
refusal-to-provide-information cases follows a review and analysis by Region 6 and the
Division of Operations-Management of such pending cases and discussions with both
the USPS and the American Postal Workers Union. We found that the volume of
these refusal-to-provide-information charges differs from Region to Region. Some
Regions have an inordinate, recurring intake of these charges, despite efforts under
the now-terminated 1997 Memorandum of Understanding between the parties. In
virtually all these recurring cases, while the information sought is ultimately supplied,
the delays in providing it have been substantial. These delays diminish the utility of
the information provided, given the short grievance handling times in the collective
bargaining agreement. On the other hand, some Regions report few cases, prompt
resolutions of these cases, and very little indication of recidivism at the individual
facilities or districts.

We have met with the USPS General Counsel, her chief counsel for labor law,
and the USPS outside counsel on these cases, regarding recurring charges alleging
the USPS’ refusal to provide information. They correctly noted that the USPS with

' This memorandum does not address the refusal-to-provide-information cases covered by the
outstanding complaint in United States Postal Service, Case 5-CA-27954(P), et al.



900,000 employees is the largest employer under our jurisdiction and it annually
responds to tens of thousands of information requests. However, they share our
concerns that, in the future, all information requests should receive prompt and
responsive replies, without the necessity of unfair labor practice charges being filed,
and that any charges filed should be promptly and satisfactorily resolved. In this
regard, the USPS has committed to undertake a number of initiatives to improve its
response to information requests and to unfair iabor practice charges. In turn, we
have agreed to modify certain Regional Office procedures to facilitate the processing
of such charges.

USPS Initiatives

The USPS has made a commitment to enhance its training program for
managers and supervisors with respect to the duty to expeditiously supply information
that is relevant and necessary for collective bargaining, and to underscore that
unprivileged refusals to supply information will not be tolerated. The USPS has
committed that once its labor law offices receive a faxed unfair labor practice charge,
they will accord the matter much higher priority than in the past. If the charge appears
to have merit, the USPS will endeavor to resolve it within 14 calendar days or less,
without any further communication from a Board agent. The USPS has also agreed
that even after an unfair labor practice charge is filed, representatives of the Local
USPS office will continue to consider the request for information, particularly where
they recognize that the information should have previously been provided.
Accordingly, under these procedures, obvious violations should be promptly resolved
and no longer result in substantial delay before the information sought is actually
provided.

Regional Office Procedures and Guidelines

In an effort to facilitate compliance with the Act, new pre-filing assistance and
new procedures and guidelines for processing USPS refusal-to-provide-information
cases should immediately be implemented in all Regional Offices. These new
procedures and guidelines are set forth below.

Procedures

When a Region provides pre-filing assistance, it should insure that the unfair
labor practice charge contains specific information concerning: 1) the identity of the
requester; 2) the person to whom the request was directed; 3) whether the request
was oral or in writing; 4) a description of the requested information sought that has not
been provided; and 5) the general proffered reason for the request (e.g., contract
administration, grievance processing or collective bargaining). If the request is in
writing and available to the Region, it should also be faxed to the USPS along with the
charge. If unfair labor practice charges are filed without the Region’s pre-filing
assistance, it will promptly seek an amendment of the charges to add the information
listed above, unless the charge is already reasonably clear or the additional



information can easily be provided by telephone. The Region will also fax the unfair
tabor practice charges to the appropriate USPS labor law office. A list of the fax
numbers and areas served by each USPS labor law office is attached to this
memorandum as Attachment 1.

Guidelines

We are hopeful that the USPS’ renewed promise to both comply with its
statutory obligation in this area and to promptly resolve those charges that are filed wil!
succeed where previous efforts have failed. In the meantime, we must handle, in a
consistent and effective manner, the cases that are currently on file and those that are
yet to come.

In light of our past experience with the USPS, we have determined to modify
the procedures outlined in OM 01-91, issued September 25, 2001, for handling these
cases filed by APWU. Further, we have concluded that charges alleging refusal-to-
provide-information filed by other postal unions should be treated the same since they
involve the same employer. Accordingly, the Regions are to process all pending and
future refusal-to-provide-information cases filed against the USPS as follows:

(1) Regional Offices should follow the usual policy of increasing the formality
required for the resolution of cases with successive unfair labor practice
charges involving the same issue with the same employer, even if different
facilities are involved.? This policy does not apply where the Region in its
discretion concludes that the USPS has satisfactorily complied with the 14-
calendar day commitment to resolve the information dispute and has extended
any time limits on the filing or processing of grievances as appropriate. In
such cases, the Regions should accept adjusted withdrawals unless the Region
sees a pattern of postponing compliance with the Act until unfair labor practice
charges are filed.

(2) As to charges that are not voluntarily resolved by the USPS within 14 days after
filing, it is inappropriate, absent special circumstances, to continue to accept
adjusted withdrawals in recurring meritorious cases involving refusai-to-provide-
information conduct. Several Regions have already crossed this threshold with
the USPS and the remaining Regions when faced with such recurring

? In making this determination, Regions should note whether the recurring violations are in the
same USPS administrative district. A list of USPS administrative districts is attached as
Attachment 2. If the violations recur in the same district, a smaller number of violations may
trigger the next step of formality than if they recurred in different districts.

3 Regions should not accept adjusted withdrawals in cases involving conduct potentially
violating provisions of outstanding court judgments against the USPS, see Attachment 3,
without first contacting Acting Assistant General Counsef Stanley Zirkin or Deputy Assistant
General Counsel Ken Shapiro of the Contempt Litigation and Com pliance Branch. That
Branch may want to consider pursuing contempt action on the conduct.



meritorious charges should now decline to accept any further withdrawals or
informal adjustments.

(3) Where the USPS has resolved by adjusted withdrawals recurring meritorious
refusal-to-provide-information charges filed with the same Region, particularly
involving the same USPS administrative district, Regions should resolve
subsequent cases only by informal settlements, first with, and then without,
non-admission clauses. Continued violations should be resolved by formal
settliements, even if litigation is the only other alternative.

(4) In all settlement agreements, whether informal or formal, Regions should
include language stating, “the Respondent agrees that this settlement
stipulation may be used in any proceeding before the Board or an appropriate
court to show proclivity to violate the Act for purposes of determining an
appropriate remedy.”

If a Region concludes that departure from the above guidelines is warranted
because of special circumstances, it should first consult with Director Gerald Kobell of
Region 6, prior to taking any action.*

Region 6 will continue to coordinate and monitor processing of USPS refusal-to-
provide-information cases. Region 6 will also consider whether consolidation or
clustering of cases for trial or seeking remedial relief on a wider basis is appropriate.

In order to maintain oversight of these cases, each Region should send Region 6
copies of dispositions (withdrawal approval letters, settlement agreements, draft
complaints, and ALJDs) in all refusal-to-provide-information cases filed against the
USPS.

In addition, please be careful to input all data regarding these cases, timely and
accurately, into the CATS system. Such data will help us monitor the volume of
activity as to these refusal-to-provide-information charges. The naming convention for
all cases involving the USPS should be United States Postal Service. Be sure to
specify that the case includes a refusal-to-provide-information allegation.

As with all charges that are transferred pursuant to the Interregional Assistance
Program (IRAP), refusal-to-provide-information cases filed against the USPS should
not be transferred if it appears that the charge is meritorious. We understand that it is
difficult to determine simply from the face of a charge whether a charge will have merit,
but past case activity may be helpful in making a preliminary determination. In any
event, if a refusal-to-provide-information case is transferred pursuant to IRAP and is
found to have merit, the case should be returned to the sending Region for further
processing, including approval of an adjusted withdrawal or settlement.

* Special circumstances could be, for example, that the recurring charges arose in facilities a
great distance from each other, although still in the same NLRB Region.



(B) Procedures for Addressing Conduct Covered by Outstanding Court
Judgments

Standard procedure in all cases involving conduct violating negative or
affirmative provisions of outstanding court judgments requires that the investigating
Region refer such cases to the Contempt Litigation and Compliance Branch, prior to
taking any final action.® See Casehandling Manual — Compliance, Section 10592. We
have learned that some Regions have taken action in cases against the USPS, without
following these procedures.

In order to assist Regions in complying with these requirements, attached to
this memorandum are lists of outstanding court judgments against the USPS
(Attachments 3 and 4). Attachment 3 lists court judgments involving refusal-to-
provide-information violations. Prior to taking any final action on cases involving
the violation of any provision(s) of these court judgments involving refusal-to-
provide-information violations, Regions should contact the Contempt Litigation
and Compliance Branch.®

Attachment 4 lists court judgments against the USPS involving violations of
Sections 8(a)(1), (3) and (4) other than refusai-to-provide-information.” For any cases
involving conduct, which may be violative of court judgments against the USPS
in other than refusal-to-provide-information cases, Regions should investigate
such cases and if a Region determines that the charge has merit, the Region
should submit the case to the Contempt Litigation and Compliance Branch to
determine whether contempt proceedings are appropriate. When submitting the
case to Contempt Litigation and Compliance Branch, the Region should include
a memorandum summarizing the results of the investigation and the Region’s
analysis of the merits and including a recommendation as to whether the
initiation of contempt proceedings would be appropriate.

If you have any questions concerning this memorandum, please contact
Regional Director Gerald Kobell or Deputy Assistant General Counsel Jane Schnabel.
Questions concerning possible contempt action should be directed to Acting Assistant

® “Final action” includes dismissal, issuance of complaint, solicitation or approval of any type
of settlement including “non-Board adjustments,” or Collyer or any other type of deferral.

6 Regions are reminded that any refusal to furnish information would potentially violate the
judgments listed in Attachment 3; that is, the information requested need not be identical or
even similar to that which underlay the judgment.

T Except for court judgment (4) on Attachment 4, each of the court judgments listed on both
attachments relates only to the specific USPS location noted under the respective court
judgment. However, as indicated, court judgment (4) on Attachment 4 contains nationwide
cease and desist orders and notice provisions relating to Weingarten viol ations.



General Counsel Stanley Zirkin or Deputy Assistant General Counsel Ken Shapiro of
the Contempt Litigation and Compliance Branch.

/sf
R. A. S.
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Release to Public
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